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Rednesday, August 6,1924.
10230 o'alock A.l, |

Court convened at 10230 o'clock A.M,
Wednesday, August 6th, 1924, purauant

to adjournment heretofore taken.

Prasent: Same as before.‘

D R. BERNARD GLUECK,
resumed the stand as & witnes® on bzhalf of the Defend-
ants, abd being further examined in ohief by Mr, B, C,

Baghrach, testified as follows:

MR, B. C. BACHRACH: Q When court adjourned you,
wre relating what you learned in your interview with
Richard Losd., Continue and tell further what he
told you, his rezotions, eto;?

A I then took up with Loeb the Franks orime, and
asked him to tell me sabout it. He reoited to ms in
a w08t matter of fact way all of the gruesome detalls
of the planning sand execution of thig orime, of the
diefiguring and the dieposal of the body; how he
and Leopold stopped with the body in the car to get
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most matter of faot way sbout his doinge and move=
ments immediately following this aoct. Az his recitglk
prooeeded, I was amazsd at the absolutes absence of
any signs of anormal feeling, such ad one would expect
under the clrocumstances, He showeéd no remorse, no
regret, no compassion for the people involved in
this aituation, and as he kept on talking it beocanme
very evident t0 me thsat thers was a profound die-
parity between the things that he was talking about,
the thinge that he was thinking about, and ths thinge
that he olaimed he had carried out, and there beoane
svident the absolute lack of normal human emotionﬁl
response that would fit these situations, and the
whole thing becams incosprehengible to me except on
the basis of a disordered perzonality,

I tried to visualize my own past expe~

" rience in talking with a g;eat meny oriminals of

all sorts, probably about two thousanddf them, and
never befors have I seen such disparity batwxsen onets,
idestion and talking and emotional response to 1it,
except in cases of disoxdered perseonality.

In the ccurse of my oonversation with

him, he told me how his 1ittle brother, of whom he
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sald he was moat'fond of any member of the family,

how thie boy passed in review before him a8 a possi-

ble victim of the kidnaping and killing. Even in

connection with thie statement, he showed tho asame

lack of adequate emotlonal responze to the situation.
I asked him to tell me how he acqounted

for this attitude of matter of factness to all thece

things, #nd he mentioned to me the ssme thing that he
mentioned to one of the other examiners, that it struck
him w8 unusual when he sat in the court room listen=
ing to the testimony of Mrs. Franke and that he ocame

10 explain it to himself as having nothing within him
that might call forth a responss to the situation,

MR, B, C., BACHRACH: Can't you keep your voice up?
Ve have difficulty in hearing.

THE WITNESS: I then to0k up the discussion with
him of his stay in jall, having in aind the back-
ground, ~- the social and cultural background iato
which this boy was born and in whioh he was reared.

MR, B, C, BACHRACH: Let me interrupt you, doctor,.
before you leave thoe othsr aubjeot. .

In the conversation with Richoard Loed

d he day anything aboub who it wae that struok the
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blow on the head of Robort Franke with the chisel?

THE WITNESS: He told‘me all the detalls of the
orime, including the fact that he struock the blow,

Q Now, come back to the sonversation in the jail,

A He also referred to the situation which came
out here yssterday, this peculiar oompact between hinm
and Leopold,

Q Now get to the jail proposition,

A I then took up the question of this stay in jail
and the manner in whioh he was adapting himsslf to
that situation, and =8 I 8ay, in view, keeping in
mind %he background from which he oame, the fact that
he had been used all his life to luxury and refinexent
in all his contacta, that again étrengthcnod my he-
ilsf in hha~peouliar disparity, the poculiar disordsr
of this ovoy's personality.

Heo seened to be perfeotly satisfiesd with
the jail. He told e the whole thing seemed natural
to hinm, He mentioned the fact that he was given
& falrly good looking coat and he preferred a ragged
coat.

I have obeerved his coming to the oxame-

inations, the various interviews I had with him, sad
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oonsidered it a8 one of the iamportant pointe that would
lead me to my conclusion about him, the manner in which
he entered the room, the levity, the perfect matter of
factnoss, the childish playfulness that was evident,

as though he did not at all take in thgseriousneas of

the situation in which he found himself. Even 1if
I had not talked with him any great length of time

the whole impression he mads upon me as I compars &t
with my experiences of disordered people wad obviously
that of a person who was In 2 dieordsred state of some
qort.

I have heen sitting hers in the court-

roon watohing the two boys, koeping in mind the faot

that they have listened to the State's Attorney's
very effeotive delineation of thelzr depravity, of
their ruthlessness and oruelty; that they have lis-
tonad to the dootors raveal thelr innermost thoughts,
thelr lnnermost seorets, detaile of their intimate
1ife; they have aeen and listened %o the witnesses
in thie gruesome {ragedy, and a® I waliched them it
geomod to me that they absclutely did not tske in
emotionally the meaning of thle whole situation.

Once or twice as I see them coming.in
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and going from the courtzoom, as I see them Bitting
thers in a seat, it lmpresses me ae though he were
attending a college play of some sort. And it is
extregely glgnifioant in formulating my opinion
about theee boys, that in the midst of this
acute situation they fail 20 conelstently to show
the kind of ewotional response that you would expeot
of any normal human being,

Q Dig Loeb tell you anything elee, doctor?

A In the course of my ecnversetion with him, while
I wes trylng to formulete my opinion a8 to his emo~
tlonal maksup, I discussed the possible outoome of
this whole situation. We epcke of the possibility
of termineting his life by hanging and he gaid in
& most matter df faoct way, "Well, its too bad a
fellow won't be able to read about it in the news~
papers",

Be talked about what would happen if
after having epent a 1iZetime in prison he should
come out. He wanted to know whether at that time he
could get a complete f£ile of the newspapers. of this
period, =- simply eanotioning my belicf in the dise

cordant eituation between the things we talked about
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ana the kind of feelings that he expresees with refer-
ence to them, I have eéxamined a lot of prisoners
who were 2o0=called hardensgd crisinals --

ER, CROWE: I object. TWe are now talking about

{
these two hardsned oriminals and not Interested in any

others,

MR, B, C, BACHRACH: Q Did you wse any experi-
ence in connzotion with your work at Sing 8ing, in fpg%
ing any conclusion with reference to Riobard Loeb,
in hie emoticnal respénses or lack of them?

¥R, CROWE: Juet a moment, He gave hie qualifi=-
cations yesterday. ¥3 are not intarestad in the
history of two or thrsee thousand other hardened crim-

inals,

MR, B, C. BACHRACH: W%e do not propose to give it,

THE WITNESS: A I could not help taking into
consideration my past experience, in formulating my
opinion about theso‘boya. It ie a thing I put great’
rellsnce upon. As I vay, I have examined a 1ot of
hardened oriminals so-called, have examined a number
of men awalting execution, and neverbefors have I
gcon just such e aituation, The hardened oriminal
shows in every response a kind of crudity. Losb
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is affable, polite and show# an habitual kind of
refinement and yet seems to be incapable of respond=~
ing to this situat ion with an adequate emotional
response,

I then took up with him the quostion of
what ws8 golng on in him mind, and oame upon his phan-
tasy life, as I have alreadylistened to 1t here in
the court room,

He told me about the origin of thng}
phantasles, how they originated with a peraistent
leaning towards ploturing hiamself ia jall, punished,
beatoen, abused, looked on by various psople, and
how he realized even that early a certain emotional
satisfaction in connectlion with these matters. It

is the bveginning of this phantasy 1ife¢ that partiou
larly inprecsed me with abnormsality. He was a
boy surrounded with all comforts and that he should
in his imaginstive 1ife, one might say in his un=-
realized ambition, picture himself in that sort of
situation,

| He t0ld me of the growth of these phan-
tasiez, how they graduvally wers substituted by a

poraistent 1dea, & persistent pioture that occourred
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to hinm of seeing himself as a master oriminal,

having co;mittod what he called the most perfeoct

orime, +the most compleote orime; how he had been at

the head of a oriminal gang direocting their aotivities.
He told me of the experiences sarly in

1ife where from outward observation it hecomes olear

that he was trylng to put into actual behsvior some

of hils phantasies. He told me about his playing

deteotiw, shadowing people, about walking down the
strect a® though he were directing poople to commit
burglaries in various placaes,

I have seen some of his early pictures,
and while I would not siress the photographs of this
child yet I am convinced that the mere fact of having

such photographs especially in connection with this
photograph of the cowboy pointing a pistol that it
is unusual and at any rste indicates an intensity
of preoccupation with that sort of thing on the part
of & youngster whioh ie unusual, to say the least,
He told me how from the very beginning
he derived a great deal of enjoyment end pleasure,
and a certain exhilaration, to which I referred yes-

torday, physioal exhilsrabtion in the Planning of
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connection with the Franks case he seemed $0 have
bsen in it mostly, most complctely with respect to
$this preliminary planning of the detall and pio-
turing himeslf carrying out the sfter effeots.
These phantasies seemed to have baen
very vivid, at any rate he recalls them as having
been very vivid and I cannot escape the impreseion

that they must have exercised a strong psychologioal
fores in the shaping of his personality, in the devel-
oping and in the carrying out of his activities wshioh

is of interzst and whioh has not been brought out
by the other examiners that one phantasy that ran
through a gonsiderable period of time was what he
calls the psrfeot collegian phantasy; in which hs.

pictured himeelf as a junlor in college, at the

head of his olass, the most popular member of the
clsss, good looking, strong and healthy. Aand in my
understanding ofthe value that this phantasy life
had in this boy's developsent, I should put the

sang valustion on this phantasy of the perfect colle-
gi;n a8 I do upon the phantasy of becoming the most
accomplished oriminals

In my sstimation of the situation, what
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a gense of oomplete power, a cense of completenoss;
and the phyeical exhilaration that went with all thie
osrrying on ﬁo some axtent gutisfled this dusire for
pover and complestencss,

I should like %o dwell a little more
on the persistent ocarrying of hie phantasy life into
hie real bshavior and conduot in hig dally lifsz, of
course, phantasy l1life ia a very normal part of the
functioning of every individual, and phanta3y life
is ocommonly in acoord with the kind o£ impreesiona
that an individual has surrounding him, In the
development of the individual there 1s a gradual trans-
formation of the phantasies to west the changing

gituations in c¢nes deveolopewnsnt. Here we see on

the other hand the continuous vivid persistencs of

the same phantasy whioh in 1ts very veginning wae so

rout of agcord with the thinge that this boy came

1q contaot with,

I should ke %o dwell at this point
also & little more upon what he told me with refer-
ence to him beginning to 1lie s¢ early in hie develop-
ment.

He sald to we in speaking of Miss
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these yéare, that while he was very much devoted
to har, her extreme attentiveness, her extreme giving

hereelf to him, the fact that she deprived him from

natural contact with other boys in connection with
bis early realigation of an extreme love for oxcitbe-
ment and aotivity, mads him feel ivkeons and uncom-
fortable in connection with that situation, 1f

he did things that he thought would disple;ae her and
he did not wish to displeasae her, he carly dicocovered
that » gould avold that displeasure by lying to

her about these thinga, How in the coursv of hié

dovelopme¢nt he resorted more and more to lying,aath
& meane of svading a diffioult situation,
| At one time in our conversation duriqé

the examintion he evidently showed a3 devire to giva
we the facts inthe eituution and sald with perfeot
poneaty = phat appeared to me t0 be with perfeét.
honeety -- "Doctor, I really don't know how thias,
thing happened, I have been lying to myself seo
long that sometimes I cannot tell exmotly what ie’
a lie and what is not u lle.*

In his gsneral appearance during my

vér;éus contacts with him, the boy 1lpreeéod ne a¢
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being nervously ill at casae. 1t was partioularly
avident in oonmnection with the exaggerated use of

his facial musculature, with the occasional stammer-
ing, with the hootioness with whioh he told certain
things. Hig color was bad, and altogether I would

iike to mention one point from the examination of
Dre, Hulbert and Bowman, the fact that he still hus
sone of- his baby teeth unreplaced.

From cll of that I am inclined to fesl
that he 18 but poorly grounded in hig general ner=
vous makeup.

How I have exprecaed a few things that
impressed me most in the examination of this de=
fendant,

MR, B, C, BACHRACH: Q@ Are there any other things
th;t impressed youin your exednation that you have
not yet related?

A I referred yesterday to his aarly attitude toward
his own family, It iupressed me ap ctrange that this
boy who had all this attention snd care devoted %o
bim should huve felt fxom the very earliect time in
nie recollsction that he wae not;wanted, that he was

not taken into the fawmily oiroleiin the sage way
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58 the others. That he should have $old hie mother

on one occasion that he wanted to run away from home,

Q@ Havo you novW %old of substantially all the
matters that you remember that you discussed with him,
$ouched upon them?

A Ceortainly the ones thal hgve left the most inm-
presslion upon ne, |

Q To refresh your recollection, dgd ?qp‘ﬁégégggih
talk with him about drinking?

A I am coming to that when I discuse his develop=-
mental hlatory.

I raferred yesterday t¢ the faot which

I consicdered a8 significant, and whlch impressed me

very much in his developament, that although howas
sheltered, kept from froe and normal contaot with
boye of his own age, he vwas puehed at the =ge of
fourteen years and three months, into the setting of

a university crowd, I consicdersd that &8 a moat
unfortunate experience, since with his alrcady ostabe
1ish2d fesling of inisriorlty about himzelf he was
projeoted intoc a situation which demanded wsfxk of him
a kind of behavior that he was quite incapable of

iiving up to.
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He begen drinking at fifteen, and

indulged in other sorte of prowess, the same as older

boys dig in his class; and he had the feeling from
the very beginning that he had to outdo those people
in order to feel that he wae perfeotly at home, and
one of them, I have talkedwith some of his asgocie
ate¢s who knew him at that time, and it seemed that
Sy bis orowd itself he was not taken as a grownup
individusl at all, He himself did not suococsed
in getting that feeling, and all his aotivities in
pursuit of excitemert , of drink, etc., in my inm~
lproéaion of the case indicated a desire on his part
to galn this senee of completeness, in being grown
.
Az I look upon the developmentsl hig=
. tory of this boy, the fact that he was born in the
home he was born in, the faot that he has brothers
yho have not show®n any such tendenocies, the fact that
the Loeb home husbsen known in the special interests
of the problem of ohild educwmtion, == I speak of
thece thinge because I know of one instance where &
lady was invited into the home, &ad an out-of=town

ledy, to show what effort they made in that honms
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"to give the best to their ohildren in their develop-

ment, ¥ith this background in mind, with the

kind of developmental history that has followed in

the case ¢f Richard Loeb, the whole situation becomes
incomprehenaible to me except on the basis of 3 dis-
ordered personality.

I ghould stress the import of his close
and intimate ascociation with his govemess, largely
howover, because 1% deprived him of these¢ natural

influencss whioh must come to every boy in the course

of normal developnent.

I should etrees the early beginning

of theee strange phantasies,whioch in time became

sctuel things that this boy has pureusd; and this

s very important, because in talking with him I

an unable to disocover any kind of purpose in 1life

or ambition in life that one might have expeocted from
& boy growingup in hie background, and with the
educatlonal contaot and facilitiee that this boy has
had. These early phantasies became the smotionn of
hia life, and undoub@edly éxeraised a ocompelling
forces in his dovelopasnt, and in the carrying out

of his oriminal activities. I should stress in
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the,developnent of this boy the f;ot that very early
in 1ife he secretly sought out reading matter which
dealt with oriminal affalrs; he gecretly tried

to identify himself with exciting #ituations; pare
ticularly the book he mentions to me that left a
definite impression upon him, +the Anthony Trent book;

end how from the start there has been euch an increas—

ing intrusion of this phanfasy 1ife upon hie real
-oonduot, that now and for eome ycars past he has

actually walked the streets motioning, carrying out
physioai activities, as though they were part and
parcel of an aotual experlencs; wheregs, baok of
them wae nothing buy thie phantasy. I sm convinoced,

however, that in his development, the final relation

of hia development to the Franke situation vwes made
possible by this peculiar and strange oompact whioch
aroge between these two boys at about the age of
fiftocen,
Q You refer to the gompaot testiflaedto by Dr. Healy?
A TYes, it was signifiocant to me that the first
sexious delinquency that he told me aﬁout, namely,
his dellibverate planning to cheat at cards in bhis
own homs, occurred on the same day when those other

intimate biologlowl phases of the ocompaoct ocourred;
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and how the seriousnesds of hie criminal activities
came into being in conneotion with this compact.

I have seen Loeb & number of times, and have spent

several daye sucoessively with him, andhave observed
him here; and from what I have said here this
morning my impree:ion is definite,

Q@ If you have reachod any oonclusion with reference

to hig wmsntal condition, you may now state 1it,

A My impreseion i& very ‘.definite that this
boy i suffering from a disordered personality,

thatthe nature of this disorder is primarily in a
profound pathological discord between his intellec-
tual and emotional life, ¥e might deaignate it as
a 8plit personality if we will, but that this boy
vhile oapable of orienting himself intellectually
to the situation in his immediazte surrounding, is
quite inoapable of endowling these surroundinge with
an adequate emotion, and that in this sense he may
be looked upon as a disintegrated or not completely
integruted personality and that his actions can
only begome comprehenzible when one keeps in mind
that one i# dealing here with this pathological

gituation,
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-1 would like to say also that if I
atteapt to draw aany definite relation betwe=zn his

makeup and the crime we are discussing here, the

Franks corime, I have a stzong impressiocn that thaese

continuous Phantasiea of his have zocted in a manner

not foreign to the wey in whioh compulsive thoughts,

continuously compulsive thoughte act upon an individ-

ual and in time coms to contrel completely his behavior,
Q How then, dootor, are you ready to begin with

your oxamination of the defendant Nszthsn F, Leopold,

Jr.?
, A)Yés.

' Q You may proceed.

P The beginning of my ocxemination of Lé&pold wes
on July 7, and oontinued for several successive
days. I have seern him repeatedly since then, somo‘i
mornings before he came to court,

The thing that impressed me in my
oy

‘contact with Leopold throughout these exeminstions

wes his extreme mentsl activity, the preszure of umental
aotivity which was evident throughout ell my converw
gation® and telks with him, It iB vexry evident ss

one talke with him that he possesses unusual intelli-
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genoé and that heé has a definitg love, a positive

liking for using this intelligsnce in argumentetion

and in expoaition,
I started out with him by asking him

to tell me about the Franke murder and he too, while
not showing the kind of emotional reaction that oné
would expect, showed definitely a positive intersat
lﬁ iopressing me with the Justifiocation that he

hae developed in his own gind with respect to thiQ
crime, He argued with me that for msny yoars he
has oultivated and adhered to a purely hedonistio
philosophy that 211 action is justified if 1t gives
pleasure; that it was his ambition and has besn for
many years to become a perfect Nietchian and to
follow Nietsohe's philosophy oll the way through.

He argued that as a full justification of the murder
itself as justified in his own mind on the basis of

this pbilosophy. In telling me of the develop-

ment of this philosophy of his it was very evident

that a great source of plessure to him in telling

0f these thing® was thes maxiwation, the enlargement
of his ego. There k was a very evident egooentric

phase, a desire to projeot to a very broad extent
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his part in the cultivation of this philosophy, He

t0old me he had freely expressed this philosophy
smong his friends and acquaintance@, that he argued

at time# with hie teachers in the claseroom sbout
it, and with his parents about 1t, but that he had thia

deep &nd unraaaonable conviction == I say unreasonable
because I started to argue with him on the justifica-
tion and reasovnabloness of this peculiar attitude
toward himself, In ny endeavor to f£ind out how
he happened to come upon that sort of philosophy of
1ife for himeelf, ho told me that very early in life
he undertook deliberately to kill in himcelf enything
which had to do with feeling, With eympothy, with
ordinary humsn responslvenees and that he bad persis-
tently ocultivated this attitude towards himself,
VWhenever in the gourse of the examination,

and espe clally when I talke@ about his attitude

 toward his Tamily with respeot to this orime, he

caught himeelf expreseing & f{eeling o& sympathy for
hic femily, he immefiiately apologized and showed sn
evident desire to show me how it affeoted him, and
started out on his argument to convince me thzt he

¥a0 #umeintsly. Ao ¥Rl d.nd SRY SYMPethY Qs 38 YoRusan, o,
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normel feeling,

, In pursuing this endeavor to discover
what wae at the basie of t - is situation, he said

that very early in life, and particularly at the

age of 8ix, he becawe gware of a certain disftressing
and inimical feoling with regpect %0 himealf, It
goocurrad in counnootion with somy innoocent play active
itias, . He was rowping uround on a couch with one

of hie brethezrs, and that feeling this he was very
mich disturbed about thie feeling which occurred

repeatedly on various occasiona, How he deliber-

ately undertock to kill it and how it gpread to a
deeire on hle part to kill all feeling of emotion,

He told me how he gradually came to
develop as part of the notion of himself that oone
gistenoy 1s & religion with hiw, It ig very
avident in observing him in hilg convexmatione and
in the manner in which he srgusd cbout his philosophy,
that thies boy hee ocome to develop o dofinitely abnore
mal conception of himaelf, of his ego.

I am pexfectly xsady to place that con-
Eaption of his 2go withinthe ocateogory of what we

know as paranoid, ao 3 poranoid conoception of his
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"9g0 I remember that when I askad him whather he

would objeot to having ms detail soms of the intimate

things with reepeot to his instinotive l1life, in a
court room, how he said that he would rather hang

than have me do 8o, That as he 18 now, ho is
atill a Nagpleon on 8t. Helena, despised by a lot of
people, but admired by othera because of the attitude
that he can 1ive through in connection with this

gituation.,

He told me that people will still
have & ochance to consider hiam as posséssion royal
proclifities, although these were directed into
destruqtive channels,
In pursuing my inquiry in an attempt
to understand how this boy developed in the mannor in
.which he did, I found that in connection with his
vory evident intelleotual euperiority that oame to
light early in 1ife, and the very ovident cultivation
of this intclleoctual superiority, it gave him &
starting point for the considerakion of himeelf as
belng different and apart frogothors, How thie
started his peoullarly intensive, «= if not strange,

certainly peoulliarly intensive early pursuite in %he

3 Illinois. Criminal Court. Cook County. Trial Transcript Leopold and Loeb 1696 1924



3r

21897

0ollecting and clessifying of things. How he_spent

Hei nOnl i ne --

hours in effort in gotting ready, for instance, to

go out on his birding cxpsditions. He would sit

up & whole night, 1f he wanted to go off early in the
morning, all tense, ready to go ocut on this expedition,

It is g known fact and he told me
;gbout it, how at a very early age, I think around eix,
;e made 1%t hie effort and business to become aoquainted
with &1l the churoches in hie neighborhood, to inspeot
these churchee, ecae all thers was sbout them,

Also, how he sterted in at this early
age to play with the idos of wanting to know the
msaning of words in different languages, particularly
the word "Yes"®, He asked hic friends snd rols-
tives %0 find out for him from people what the word
"Tos * was in different languages,

| Al11 of this he was certain of tended )
%o give him the fesling of being different snd apart
from others, and this fesling grew on him as he
developed, until now he considers aimself fully as
being 2 unique individual, with a philosophy all |

his own, Juatifying all his Ddehavior and the aoctivi-
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ti@a in which he has #ndulged.

As one obasrves him spesking of his
various delinquencies, ono has the feeling that he

probably has succesded in eliminating eympathy,
compadsion, and &ll of the various {ender feelings
with whioch one is acquainted in ordinary human oon=~
tacts, He spoaks in a most perfeotly matter of fact
waey of the detaile of this orime, In one intezx-
vieWw when the two boys were together, in the couree
of the trial, when pr., White was present, Dr, White
askod Loeb how he felt when Mras., Franks wap on
the stand. Loeb replied ac¢ I have already glven it,
and Leopold interjeoted the quest fong "What do you
mean, dootor; whether he laughed or was sad", in &
emiling sort of way, =~ a oot incomprehensibdle
ability to view this mattor in a cold-blooded purq}&.
intellectusl mannor,

I inquized into his mental life, the kind
‘of things he had been thinking about and dresming
and he revedled to me the onset and development of
his phantasy life as has already been revealed'hé}o

in the oourtroon.

KR, CROWE: Doctor, just a moment. May ve
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take our recess now, Judge? .

THE COURT: We will take & recoss now for Five

minutesn,

¥hereupon & short recess was here.

taken by Court and Cowumeel,
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Court raconvened pursuant to short

recess heretofore taken.

D R, BERDNARD GLUECE,
regumed the stand ae & witness on behalf of the defend-

snte, being further examinasd in chief by ¥r, B, C,

Bachrach, snd testified as follows:

¥R, B, C, BACHRACH: ¢ Dr. Qlueck, just prior to

the receses you were relating the ocnversstions

with the defendent, Leopold, touching his phantaey

life. You may prooscd. \

A I was going %o stert on hieg phentaey life, .
but I should like to refer back for a moment to the
diecuzsion of the graduel traneformation of hie

peraonality,
Q Will you do that?

A His exposition of his philosophy to me, in the

fece of his very svident intelligence, and in the

face of the feot that he grew up in the kind of a

household that he did, having & fine intelligence,

h;vhg 211 the opportunities in the world that he

could imagine, having before him all kinde of posai-

Hei nOnl i ne --

bilities of a construstive future, I asked hiam,
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*Leopold, don't you sse that this reasoning of yours

is leading you to self-destzuction?®  He says,

"Yes, but it does not maske sny difference.®

Then he told me if he went to the gallows

he would like to mske & request of hie fathor to per-

@it him to say wha}t he wishes to say before his

exeoution, that he would like to bold forth to show the
.~ world that he has been consistent t0 the very end

and had not shown any change in his reasoning about

himself anghie place in connection with this situ-

ation.

Now one cannot escape the impression
in talking with this very intelligent active minded
boy that thecse ideas about himself have sctually
assumed & force whioch is very much akin to the force
of a delusion in a personality of s disordered indi-
vidual,
| I dwelt on trying to show him the
two oppoelite phases of his 1ife, what ;ight have hsen
and what actually ie. He comprehended and took in
all thess detaile and yetpersisted with & force,
with & conviotion, with & riohness of ar nt with

Hei nanl i ne - Whiohok. had rnodubsent soqguainted exceptodnd those 1701 1924
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who argued from a disordered mental baockground.

%e then took up for discussionhis
phantagy life, which ha# alresady been refsrred to here.
The thing that impressed me most about thie is, that
this saotive minded and unueuslly snergegtic fellow
has for the past two yoars been golng home almodt
daily, whenever he wae in the olty, and deliberately
rutting himself in a situation where he would allow
these phentasles to go through hie mind, to take
hold ¢f him, I spoke with a member of his family
the other day, who told me that she would frequently
g0 in to eee whether he was asleep, and there he was
tying, doing mksk nothing, awake. I asked him sbout
this, and he says theat he came to deliberately go
and phantasy these various thiﬁgs. They bagan at the
age of nine, He designates thom a8 the king-slave
phantasy, whiob went through all sorts of variations
in the ocourse of hie development; but the significant
thing % there was the question of suffering, wh;oh

was a partof thie phantasy from the very beginning.

" He imagined himself in the role of a siave, and at

Hei nOnl i ne --

times in the role of a king., I am not going into

tho dotaih of this P hantae

3 1llinois. Crimnal Court. Co

but I would like to
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refer to the fact that in his case also from the

very beginning there has come into his existence a

facility to project hla phantasy into reasl life,

MR, CRO%E: Inasmuwh =8 you based your judgment
in part on these phantasies, I would like to have
you go to the detalls.

A ALl right, eir,

MR, BACHRACH: Do that, please, doctor,

THE WITHESS: The story, as I get it, ie of a

king having a #lave and of thie elave saving ghe

king's 1ife on various occasions. How thic glave
12 ofifered his freedom by the king repesatedly but
refuses. He could have his freedom if he wanted

t0.,

That the slave i# bound by a gilt chain,

-and one of these phantasies wag that various kings

vwould have war or combate and in order to settle
their differences they would seleot for these ocombate
their slaves, a slave representing one king and
anothsr s8lave snother king, He piotured himself
in the role of a very strong, very capable slave,

vho alwayg won in these combats,

He told me also in oconnsction with this
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one phant%?y of himself of having been kidnaped and
then rezoudd and then made a slave and brought up by
the king. A3 he told the phantasiee, the history
of these phan%aaies, they went through various trans-
formations in the gourse of their development, but 1t =
was significant in telling thisg how readily -he identi-
fled himself with either role, How his intelligence
and judgment did not seem to help him to see this
dual poseibility of being at one time in one role
and the other time in the other role,

0f course skudents of peycho-pathology
realise what the meaning of this is, that the capaocity
for identifying one's gelf with the.suffcring bond
slave also carrles the oamcity for identifying oneself
rwith Just the opposite sort of a situation,

It was signfficlnt %o me that soms
Yyears ago while at camp he definitely identified one
of the counsellors with a character in thies king-slave
yhantagy. That boye whom he would mset, on tge
street would be woven into this phantasy, That he
elaborated a socheme of branding them, putting them in

& pert of the caate and so forth. All this while
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he was developing this tremendous intellect and this
steady and growing conviotion that he was & superman,
that he was a unicqus personzlity, entirely in control
of 811 situstione and stopping at nothing.,

A¢ I have talked with Leopold I havg
become quite convinced of the veracity of his ataﬁé-
mento,

I say thie because I had & definite
ispressiopthat my contact with him was as intimate
a8 any oontact I have everhad with a patient in my
own consultation room,

He t0ld me of the most intimate detalls
“i?f his life, some of which were referred to by Dr.
Healy here yesterday; snd at times I got an impres-
sion of & oertain wistfulnese with respect to some
phases of this intimate 1life of his .

He $0ld me that in conneation with
beooming aware of this inimical, emotional trend
within him, this imekikskk instinotive trend within him,
he had persistently tried to eliminate it froa his
personality, and that he was irritated, that he wae

uncoxfortable when this feeling took possescion of him,

I then took up with him 2 disowssion
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of his relations with Loeb, and I might say here that

in my study of this tregic situation I can 264 no
way of understanding it except a3 one tries %o
understand the agsociation between the two defend-
ants.

He told me of his attitude twoard Loeb,
and of how oompletely he had put himeelf in the role
of slave in conneotion with him. He said, *I can
illustrate 1% to you by saying that I fell myself
less then the dust beneath his feet®, quoting from

one of the poems of Lawrenco Hope.

*He told me of his abject devotion to

'Loeb, saying that he was jealous of the food and

drink that Losb took, beoause he could not come as
olos¢ to him as did the food and drink,

I should like to dwell again on the
intense, almost maniac type of depressure of mental
activity whioh he sexhibited, the gontinuous alert-
ness, continuous interest in giving an exposition
of his 1deas and his various notions of himself,

In connection with his phantasy 1life,

these mentsl plotures, these imaginings that he went

t%‘l?l‘l‘ﬁ&? glar"nsna# (surrte. ok'&oﬁgnﬂ’g #grgcrp&‘éop% ﬁ?f}eb 1706 1924
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reality for him.
Rsal situations in his environment dlﬁ

not seem to be able to interfers in any way with 14¢;
and his actions, which were based upon the 1ntruaibn
of this phantagy into his real life, had almost the
force, as I sald, of‘dgluﬁional ideas back of
action, ~

He told moe that origimlly, when he
found himself phantasying, a frequent phantasy wos
the oruocifiixion phantasy, where he would #ee people
on & cross, nalled down, euffering,

I should mention in thie conneotion his
characterization of his aunt and his mother, as
having been the most wonderful women in the world in
his estimation, almost Madonna life,

I was very much interested in looking
over & good many of his notebooks at sohool, to
find on the msrgin all kinds of Arawings and & Oharsc-
terigations, among which appeared this picturs of |
the crucifixion. 0f course, those were dons 2@
usual, when his mind was wandering, end not paying
attention to what was going on in the claseroonm,
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the background of this defendant, his personal equip=-
ment, especially with rcepeot to his remarksable
intelligence and the remarkable store of energy that
he hag at his disposal, the fact that he had wmade up
to the age of fifteen, at any rate, a oonsistent,
oongtruotive use of all these capaoities of hie, -
ag¢ I ocompare these with his delusional transforma=
tion of his personality, with this aberrant type of
thinking of himself, and the kind of behavior that
it led him into, I cannot escapa the feeling that
part of this pathological trend in hie personality
vaR g deslire for selidestruction.

He has, as a matter of faot, so effé%&
tually transformed his personality, thet from a
peychological point of view, it is destroyed to all
intents and purposes, When he i8 ready to commit
murder, and commit any crime in justification of
his philosophy.

I am of the impreesion that Leopold
18 and has bsen developing for mome time to that
point and it at present manifesting a parancid pere

aonality in which are the elements of sgpathological

pxagzeration of his ego angd fyndamentelly a profound
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Judgment disorder, because he ocannot see and oannot

be reasoned with a@ to waat this whole philceophy

of his, this wholetype of deveolpment of his, hos

led hin into, characterized as I sald, primarily
by this pathodogioal exaggeration of his ego, by
this delusional type of thinking, and it may be that
he ig in ths way of developing a definite psychosis or
mental disorder of that type.

Now a8 I have indloated the relation
of the lives and oonduct of these tw boys to the
Franks orime is incomprehénsible to =s excapt insofar
as I take into account the relation between these two
individuals.

It muet be remembered that in s curioue

sort of way each ons brought into this relationship

2 background of oontinuous abnormal mental aotivity,
each ons brought into the background the unique die-
tinotion of harving bsen the youngest graduate of their
redpective universities; each has been fed upon

and undoubtedly oconditioned by & ocuricus series of
imaginations which through their persistence all

thie time hzve 2oquired the foxrce of compulsion. The
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thing that brought them together offered each of
them reepectively an amount of satisfaotion which
witLout each other they could not have realized.

To Loeb, the ascoociation with Leopold
meant that he could share his great criminal plans
and secret? and be associated in the aotual carry-
ing out of what he considered a perfect orime with
& highly intellectual humen being who would appreciw.
ate and admire hie prowess in these directions.

It was in oonneotion with this assow
ciation that he came to realige, 28 he told me, the
complete realization §f all this preparatory dream
life of hise,

Leopold found in Péob an opportunity
%0 go the limit in giving himself in sbject

8lavery to this individual whom he idealised &s -

2 king,

HeinOnline -- 3 Illinois. Crimnal Court. Cook County. Trial Transcript Leopold and Loeb 1710 1924



38r

im

*1711= °

Undernsath this there wae the force of that

abnormal instinctive trend which Dr. Healy dliscussed

yeseterday, but as he £x1d in open court, the sctusl

Hei nOnl i ne --

condition of that phase of thelr relatlionship cannot
be charsocterized in any other way than ag ocuriously
childish and immature.

I think that the crime, the Franks orime was
perhaps the inevitable outcoms of this curious coming
together of iwo pathologicslly disordered personalities,
each one of whom brought into the relationship a phase
of thelr personaliiy whioh made their contemplation and
the execution of this crime possibls.

Loeb, in my estimation, is suffering from such
8 profound disoord hetween his intellectual and emotional
14fe &8 t0 be incapable of appreciating the meaning, ths
fesling of this situation.

Leopold is governed to such large extent by
his delusionsl thinking and the force that his phantasy
l1ife has sxercised upon him, plus his aberrant instinc-
tivensss trend that he tco could not have done otherwise
than hes been carried out in connection with this orims.

MR. BENJAMIX BACHRACH: Q Have you relsted 21l the
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natters digoussed with you by Leopold?

A Very likely not. I do not claim to remember all
the matters that I falked about with him. I have tried
to give as conslstent 2 ploture of ny exemination as I
hxve at my dispopal.

Q Now, will you state your concliusion, or yous
opinion, rather, based upon what you have quoted with
refgrenoe t0 the mentsl condition of Nathan F. Leopold
on the et day of Hay?

A Nathan ¥. Leopold, in my estimation, is a defin-
itely parancid personality, perhsps devsloping o definite
paranoid psyohoeis. I have not seen a definite psychosis
of this gort in as young & person as he is. Hig sberra-
tion is cherecterised primarily by this sbnormal pathologi-
cal transformation of hia personzlity and by the delusional
wvay of thinking.

Q@ Doctor, from your experience in your profession in
deeling with percong of disordered mind, state whether or
not it iz common and ordinary to find in suoch persons a
high degree of intelligence existing at the same time as
the abnormallty or disessed condition?

A If]} should give an answer to this question in
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a general way, I should say that it is quite character-
istic of paranoid individuals to have siong with their
digordered mentel stete a highly developed intelligence.
I have had patients who have eluded deteotion for msny
years.

HR. OROWE: Yow, I object to going info a lot of
other caseg.

MR, BENJAMIN BACHRACH: I won't insist uvpon that,
Have you cobazerved among other such psrsons under your
care the s.bi]rity to plan like ordinary intelligent
people without abnoraality?

4 I have obgerved the most ingeniocus and great
capacity to plan among paranocid patients.

Q iHave vou also cbgerved among such péxrsong an
abiiitly to preopere and conceal matters which would
load to the detection of such persons in gsrtain iran-
saotiona?

A I wish I oould quote you some of my patients,
but evidently I cannot; dut I have had paranoid
patients under my observation ——

MR, CROVWE: Walt a minute, doctor. If you can't, doun't.

THE WITRES8: I won't quote the patient; simply say
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MR. CROWE: I gzay, if you cannog, don's.

MR. B.0. Bachrach: You might answer my qusstiof.

THE WITMERS: Yes.

Q Etate whether or not nen of disordered minds and
personalities, sucth as you find with La¢pold, -- ordin-
arily other us: whom you have cous in contact with have
the powex of earrying on sustained efforts with refsrsnse
to study or ceoupation at the aama time showing abno
ities such as you find here?

A I %hisk thtt{ ia & question very largely of degres of
discrder and disintegzation of {the pezs ity tut patients
suffering from menial disordez-— and 90 per cent of my
patients in private practice do sulfsr from mental disorder——
oarry on their activities while they are under itreatmens for
thelr mental disorder. Patients suffering frox mental disordsr
have bsen knewa zepsaiedly %0 be able %o sut & sustained
effext of going ihr college, of 1 ng a prefession,
applying the 1lves %0 all of the Tequi nks of that

Q I will you to state if, in your experiense with
persens aftiicted with s mental disoréder such as you have
desoribed resides in Richard Loeb, such perscns ceuld o
on ihoir affairs while laboring Tsuchdi ant o?
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A In & goneral way, I should say not ss wsll as is
the oage with Leopold. The oharacteristic feature of
the type of digorder which characterizes Loeb im the
disintegration, the discord in the personality, where
the patient has greater difficulty sll along to usa
hingelf as a whole in the carrying out of his tasks,
than iz the case with a paranoid patient.

Q@ Oan such a person prepare his lescons in nchoiil;"
and carry out his duties in the university?

A TYes.

MR. B.O.BACHRACH: You may tske the uitnqnvgl."
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CROBS £  INATION
BY MR, OR

MR, OR : Q When did Lesb %811 you he sizuck the
blows that caumed the dsath heret

A Onone of the dayswhen I ¢  nsd him &% the
jail early in July.

Q FHave you got that in your notes?

A P,zam:ly.

Q Show it to u I mean the notss you are reading
frcm.

A 1 wes not reading that from these notes.

Q Thy net?

A Besause these are the notes that I took in oen-
neotion with the examination of lLeopold. I hed & 1iitle
book for each.

Q. Whem did you puk 3 in this book?

A X them.

Q fhow 1t $0 me.

4 I am going to ses whather I have i%. I have hexe
& Doks he » "The Franks murdex”,

Q Let me see 137 (Witness note to ¢ 1.)

Now rasd the nete— I an Bg you, rstand, doestor,
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for the note that Losb told you he sotually struck the -
blows-- wlll you read the note thai eays that?

A TViell thie is the note I have with refersnce to the
murder, -- "Profound lack of adequate emctional responge
in pressnce of intaoct intelligence”.

Q and that conveys to your mind and ought to convey
to my mind and to the ocourt's mind that Loedb told you
that he struok the young Franks boy four times on the
head with 2 chixel?

A 1 didn't ssy he told me he struok him four times

. on the hesd with the ohisel.

¢ Well, that he struock hix on the head.

A Yes, it conveys to my mind the absolute convioition
thet this note refers to thet tims when I discussed with
hiz the details of the nu;@pr.

S Is that the only note that you have?

‘A That is the first one I oams across, I don't know
if there are any others. '

Q All right, now walt & minute. Is that the only one
you found %o date showing that Losh told you that he
struck the blows that ocaused the death?

A B0 far -- 1 am looking for some mors.
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Q How will you read that sgain beocsuse I didn't

quite get 1t7
A .This note?

Q Yes.

‘A It is number 10, headed, "The Franks murder,
Profound lack of adequste emotionsl responas in
presence of intact intelligence.® TNow I am certain
this was & sufficient notatlion for ms. |

Q@ ¥ow will you look through your notes and sec
whether you made a memorandum to the effect that
Loeb told you he struck the blows that caused the
death here?

MR. BACHRAOH: I ssk that he be permitied now
without any further questions to go through his
notss and ses 1f thers is any memoranduws in thers
and state when ho gets through if he finds oms.

THE COURT: Let the state's atto take wp
ncms other question and during recess a$ noon the
doctor oan go through his notes and when he ro'l:ug%q'
he can point it out io us.
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MR. OR : Xo. I don't want to do ?bg.t, your honor.
I don'é want thezs notes %o be in the doetor's posssssion
for an hour and & helZ. I insist thet it is iwporiant
¢ h, your honor, that he now £ind the note.
THE OOURYT: Well, 1f we do ibet I will suspend $ill
3 ter to two. Y will no% waste hel? gn hour for
nothing. We will suspend until & ter to two and
at that time the dootor can point out in his notes if
he has $hat there.

Fhezeupon a recsas wag hers

taken to 1:45 o'oloeok P.M.
samg day A % Gth, 1034,
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Wednesday, Rugust 6,1934,
1245 otclock P.N,

Court convened pursuant %o adjournment
heretofore taken at 1:45 o’clock P.M.
Wednesday, August 6th, 1824,

Pressnt?! Same as bafore.
DR, BERNARD GLUED K,

resumed the stand for further oross examination by

Mr. Crowe, and t4stified as followa?

MR, CROWE: Q During the noon recess have you
been able to find the note you sald you made to %the
effect that Richerd Loeb told you he struck the blow
or blows cauding the death of the Fran£;' boy?

A TWothing more specific than I read you.

Q You swid in your direoct examination that another
phantasy of Riohard Loeb was that he desired to excel
in college and be the leader of his junior olass,

R TNot quite; that he fancied himsslf to bs the
perfect collegian, as he calls it, to be at the
head of his olass, the moet popular men, eto,

€ 4And you took that phantasy into consideration
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A TYes,

Q What is ambition?
A The pussuit of oertain definite ends, is one way
of defining it.

Q In a young lawyer, is the desire to becoms a

lsading nember of the bar, or a judge, & phantasy

or sn ambition?

A I% way be both,

@ Whioh is it7?

A TY% may start as a phantasy and terminate in a
dofinits healthy pursuit of an ambltion,.

Q Well, when the thought first CGoours to a young.
lawyer that he would like to be the leading member
of the bar, then it ié s phantasy?

A TYes, maybe nothing else than that,

Q ind 1f he aucoedds in beooming the lesder of the
baxr, then it becomes an ambition?

A If he pursues in accord with his phantasy &
certain pursuit.that would bring him to the end, yes,
he lives it out in ambition.

Q vwhen the thought first ogours to & young laXyer
that he would like to be & leading member of the bar,

that is a normal thought?
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A Absolutely. N

Q And a healthy thbééﬁf?‘

A Absolutely.

Q What in your judgment, doctor, is the notive for
thie crime?
A Vell, on the part of whom?

Q On the part af either of them, or both?
Al don't know that there was a direot aoctive

for thie orime. I do feel that 4n the oase of Loeb
the realization of the phagtaly of a perfect crime
had in his mind probably the motive of complete
power, potency.
Q How about Leopold, what was his motive?
A1 don't know that he had any.
Q You made a pretty thorough #tudy of the faots
“and olroumatances of this crimg, dida't you?
A Yec sirx,
Q And you don"t know that there was sny motive that
aotuated Leopold at all?
A I don't know that there was eény specific motive,
Q Did you ever hear sbout the Ten Thousand I0llars?
A Yes air.
Q Did you read the letter that these boys composed
Heinanl i ne -- $OANERY 8RA.BeBL 0 MBaFXQNKST anscript Leopol d and Loeb 1723 1924
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A I bvelieve I did.
Q Telling him that if he wanted his boy back he

would have to get the ten thousand dollars in certain

denoxinationa?

A I have.
Q Do you know anything about that? That thia is
a striotly commercial propoaition, do you remember

that ?
Al think I do,

Q@ Do youknow about the plan to get ¥r. Franks
over to the drug store and telephone him there to

g to the train and throw the money off?
A Yes mizx, '

Q Do you know the details of how they threw the
newspaper tightly wrapped and tied from the train

to #e2 where thé Ten Thousand Dollars would go?
A Yer gir,

Q Do you know also that after they had telephoned
the drug store twioce and were told that Mr. Franks
had not come there, when they sem the headline of
the newspaper on the newstand, Loeb sald to Leopold
that they had better give up the idea of getting
the money, and Leopold first insisted that they make
.

further sffort to get the money?
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A 1 don't know that I know of that.
Q VWell, assume that that ie a faot?
A Yea.

Q Don®t you think the desire to get the ten thousend

dollars 18 a motive here?

A T don't know whether it is the motive for the
crime as you put it,

Q Well, do you think it is & part of the motive?

A It may well have bsen,

Q Would the further fact that Leopold needed
soney to satisfy his desire to gamble and live
high, fast, — would that lead you to believe that
tizore wds somsthing in the Ten thouwsand dollars ,as

& Kotive?

MR, B, O, BACHRACH: One moment; I objeot to

that because of the faot that there i# no basis for

, that in the evidence. The only basis for that was

Hei nOnl i ne --

in the opening statement of the Statets Attorney

that they needed money to gamble with,
MR, CROWE: I said Lecpold,
¥R, B, C, BACHRACH: Yes, Leopold,

MR, CROWE: Q Well, would the fact that the evi-
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denoce shows that the =money used in this venture,
four bundred dollars, was Losb's money, that he

gave 1t to Leopold, the money to open the account
‘in the bank of one hundred dollars wes Loeb's money
and he gave it to Leopold and Lsoypold’s desire to
| ocontinue in an effozxt to get the money after the two
tedlephons calle, and sfter seeing the hexdlines, =-
vould that not lead you to helleve that Leopold xxza

was actuated by a doesire to got his part of that
ton thousand dollars?

A 1 don"t mow, He may have bsen.
Q Would that be s phantasy?

A Yo,

Q That would be reality?

A Yes, that is aotual bshavior,

Q You do not think they were unkind in making
Mr, Franks believe they wanted ten thousand dollars,
a0 you,; that they were Just fooling Mr. Franke,
%het the ten thousand dollars did not mean anything?

A 22 It doesn®™ 1look as though they did,

Q Beforeyou talked to the defendants, what was
your 1dea as to why they committed this orime?

A I had no definite idea. I was very much inter-
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estod when I read about it, a8 I am in all unusual
human behavior, and the only idea I had was that
the nevepaper statements did not probably tell
the whole astory. '

Q Did you not say that it was incomprehensidble %0
you that two boys so situsted could have comumitted

this crime?

A Yes, on the faocte that I knew befors I exsmined
then,

Q Anga after talking %o them you camd to the ocon-
olusion, on account of their brilliant opportunitics

of being useful oitisens, they must have a diseased
mind, or they would not have committed the orime?

A 1 came to the conolusion, on the basis of all
the things I have testified to, yes,
Q Did you ever hear the expression "The black lAhup
in'a family"? ~
A You, I have,
Q Wouldn's that fit this case?
A I don't know that 1% does, There {9 .no def=
inite msaning to black shesp as applisd generally.
I have known black sheep shem' I found to be insane.

Q And then you knew s number who ars ssne?
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A Idon't know as I know a numbr..
N Q You know of a nuxber? |

A Yes, I know some.

Q You know ¢f & number of men who staried out in:
1life with every promise of being useful citigens who
diesipated their opportunities, took to drinking
and gambling and deserted thelr wife for eome locse

]

woman?

A Yes,

Q@ Md they were 2ane?
A Well, they had psychological factors at work

which might explain the situation,

Q When Benediot Arnold who enjoysd the confidence
and esteem of hia fellow ocitizene betrayed his country
for position and monsy and destroysd his 1life or
his reputation in that manner, was he a paranoid?

A I don®t know.,

Q Was he sane?

A I don't kmow.

Q What ig your judgment of Judes Isoariot?

MR, DARROW: We objeot tothat question, your Honor,

THE COURT: Co ahead, The dootor I don*t think
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THE WITHESS: I don't think ®o, your Honox,
MR, CROWE: What wae that? I didn't got it.

(Reporter resds the remarks of the
Court ) .

MR, CRO¥E: Q Assume, doctor, for the purpose of
this question that Leopold and not Loeb dld the

actual killing, would that ohange your opinion as

to Loeb?
A As to Loeb? I don't know.

Q TWell, assume it. Assume that is the faot. What
1s your conolusion as to Loeb, would it be the same

as it was or different?

MR, DARROW: I object to that, unless 1t 1s confiresf
4 to the condition of his mingd.

MR, OROVE: Q I am willing to acospt that amend=-
ment, your oconclusion ae to the oondition of his
mind,

A Assuming that Leopold did the killing, I don?t
think that faot in itaself would change my opinion
about Loeb,

Q VWould it change your op*pion about Leopold? -

A T don't think 1t would,

Q TFow, you have come to the conclusions that you
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have by subjective sysptoms, haven't you?

A Mnd objeoctive attituds and behavior.

Q@ 2 You have notsd the subjective symptoms or
thimgs that are told you by the patient that you
ocannot sge, the truth of which you helieve?

A Yes,

Q And objeotive symptous sre thinge that any

peraon can see?

A Not necessarily.

Q That the average person cen sée?

A Notneocoessarily,

Q Well, what are they?
AI think I see objeotivs phenomens differently from

the aversage person, I seq# them with eyes trained
to the observation of human conduot.

Q You sppke about the conduot of the defendants
in the court room since the trial began, Up until
Saturday of last week theyindulged in a good deal
of merriment, did they not, laughing and joking?

A I do not know ;baut the time slemsnt. I have
not specifically in mind what they did up to »

cextain day and what they have done since. But I have
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of them,

Q You did not make sny note as to whlen they Wer5,‘
lsughing?

A Xo,

Q You remember the State's Attornsy commenting
upon the fact that they were behaving in sn “n';““f'*

ingly manner, laughing sand sneering?
A I think I have heard that,

Q From that point on have not the defendants

refrained from that demeanor?

A I don't know,
Q TYou have not seen them laugh, niﬂg or ﬁfgir

this morning, have you?
A I nave seen them. I 2es them now.

Q Laughing and sailing?
AT ses them with » fzoe of levity.

Q Xow? . L Yes,

Q Have you noticed any differense in their demeanor
8ince their laughing snd sneering was commented on
by the State's M;torno)"?

A1 don't know that I have p?’g,“gp. able to pl}f’goedr.:k
by any time element. |

Q BEave you noticed a change?

Hei nOnline -- 3 Il+i n0|Is. %’%‘ngl E&H' (%&%‘Eun;yh%!, %ranscri pt Leopold and Loeb 1731 1924



lar

Hei nOnl i ne --

-1732-

Q Have you or not noticed e change in their de=

nsanor

AL aon’t know that I can definitely distinguish

between what they did up to a gertain time and what
they have done since.

Q You basg your opinion partly upon their de-
meanor?

A Yes,

Q And you now ocannot state whether or not there

has bsen any change in their demeanoz?

A I cannot,

Q@ You stated that one elemdnt that you considered
in arriving at your opinion was the absolute cold=
blooded msnner in which Loeb went over the details
of the czime with you?

A I don*t know that I used those partiocular words,
but what I wanted to express was the absence of
adequate smotional response.

Q 4nd also on the fact that he told you that
when Mrs. Franks was on the stand he could not feel
any sympathy?

A TYes,

Q FHow did Loeb know $hat he d4id not have the
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proper fesling within him when Mre, Franks was testi-

fying?

A I suppose the sam way as anybody else would,

Q@ Then he i8 not different in hise emotions than
anybody else?

A Thatis not neocessarily #0.

Q@ Or in his reactions?

A That is not necgeszarily so.
Q@ Do you think that Loeb has lees emotion than

Loeb?
A1l dontt know that I want to maagure it by lese or

more. What I have in mind ie adequate or appropri-

ate emotional reasponse, I may venture the opinion
that in ny contaocts with Leopold I have found an
elenent of positive interest and zeeponsivencas
in connection with certain situations, that I was
not aware of in my oontact with Loeb,

Q In other words, you obeerved mors interest 19,
Leopold than you did in Loed?

A Yes, on the whole,

Q Anqd interest is emotion?
A Well, it is actuated by some feeling, yes.

Q By emotion, FHow, assume, doctor, that when
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Loe;b was brought into the LaSalilo Hotel and qQuestiocned
by the Stute's Attorney, and was told by the State's
Attornoy thatthe gleeses found at the scene of the crim
belonged to Leopold, ho gasped, showsd anxlety and
fear, and asked for water, and says, "My God, that
is terrible® or words to thaet effeot, does that indi-
cato emotion?

A 1% indicates capacity for emotional responsa,

Q Adaquate to the situation?

Al gon*t know, I don't know the details of the
situation,

Q I have just tried to tell them to you; that the
State's Attorney told him, *Richard, the glaases
found slongeide the body belonged to your friend,
Nathan Leopold."

A Yee,

Q  And then he responded as I have described, Is

.that an adequate response emotionally? |

AT don't know. Some people might have £a1n1:e,’d;~
soms pecple might have responded ditferently; I
don*t know whether it is adequate, It is sppropri-

ate if he shoved fear and sppreheénsion,
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Q Assuming that later, the following night,
of Descoration Day, he was {old by the State's

Attorney that not oniy were the glasses found st

the socene of the crim,e the propsrty of Leopold,

but that aleo Leopold's chauffeur had t0ld the truth
about ke the ocax being in the barn or in the
garago, and thoe maid had told aboul t'he Undezwood
typewriter, mad that the Stute's Attorney had enouga
of evidence %o prefer a charge o0f murder againat
Lesopold, and detailed one or two other evidential
faotos that he had, that he orled, that he had to be
supported, he manifested great conosrn and fed®

and talked about his family, and had to be given
water; would that indicate emotion?

A It indicates capacity for emotionzl respox;’g%o‘,?

Q 4And do you think it wae adequate or appro-
briato under the ocircumstsnces?

A It was appropriate,

Q And that later on the following day witﬁ%tho
authorities and the other defendsnt, after visiting
the seocond place desoribed in their oconfessions,
that he fainted?

A Yeos,
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Q And bad to be 1ifted up and put in an automo=
bile and taken to a hotel and put to bed, does that
indi cate omotion?

A Yos, Not neoessarily, howsver, solely emotion.
The falnting port of it we have evidenoe, we have
a record that the boy, Loob, has had fainting attaocke
in the paut; I hove not been able to define
the situation, and I have not spoken of {t, It would
not neceosarily indiocato o rosponae %o emotions,

Q@ 1In your previous question you wanled an illue-
tration, if I had one, whore he fuinted, That le
why I gave you that one.

A Well, I aldn't -

. Q@ Yow, aspume, later in the afternvon of that day
after he had rested, slepi, ate, he asked me to cull
up hie mother snd talk to her on the phone, and
the voloe broke, and he cried, would that indicate
gmotion?

A Tes air.

Q Assume further that all the time that the defend-
sent, Leopold, was in the custody of the suthorities,

that is'the State's Attorney, that at no time Aid he
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faint, or zt no time did he show fear?
A Yes, |

Q ¥®ould you still persist in your opinion that
Leopold is more esotional than Loeb?

A That is not my opinion, sir,

*Q@ You think Lsopold ie the more emotionel?

A That is not my opinion, sir,

Q- Well, whioh is the more emotional?

A I told you in reply to a Question that in my oon£abt
with Leopold he showed a more active interest, and
later on I sald, agtuated by emotion, but ycu are sek=-
ing me the question ae to who has the greater emotional

control.

Q Well, now, dootor, you are taking into consider=

ation in basing your opinion as8 to the mental atti-
tude of both of these defendants many thinge that
they $o0ld you.

A Yes,

Q That is, about their boyish phantasies, their
oriminalistic tendenoies, their stealing this end
gtealing that, their piotures that they had taken
and their attitude since the commission of the orime,

Fow, assumé that the State's Attorney who hae had
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twenty ysare of experisnce in handling oriminals,
whose business it ise to handle them, talked %o

these boye for aseveral days sand thet for a day, 2 day.
and a half, they maintained to him that they had
nothing to do with this orime and told him an 2libl =-
and I might add that convinced the State's Attorney
and experisnced police officers that they did not
have anything to do with it =- and that after that when
evidence wos presented to Loeb telling that suffiocient
evidence had been acoumulated agelnst Leopold to charge
Leopold with the murder sad that the State's Attorney
intended al®so to charge him with the murder becausse
he 3344 ke had been with Leopold; and sstums that
Loeb showed this emotion that I have desoribed and
immediately began %o blame Leopold for originating the
conspiracy and placed the responsibility of the aotual
Xi)lling upon him; assuxe further that immediately
upon Leopold being told that Losb wae talking that

he bsgdn to telk and blamed Losb foy conceiving the
orime and actumlly committing the murder; that they
becams 80 bitter towsards each other that they wouwldn't

4

eat or speak together for over & day following that,

3 Illinois. Criminal Court. Cook County. Trial Transcript Leopold and Loeb 1738 1924



19x

Hei nOnl i ne --

-173-

and that each one of them freely told all the de=-
taile of the orime a2 you have read them in the news-
papers and heerd them in court, and freely accom-
pénied the authorities to the various places whers
the ovidence could be found.

Assume further that Loeb made this
argument to Leoplld snd the suthotities when Leopold
sald that Loob had originated the crime and had
actually committed the killing, saying, "Now, Ican
convince you that I am right, You dldn't know youny
Franke and I did. s wanted to get him into that
car in the front seat, so that he could be killed
from behind. If he didn't get in we were going
to wait for another time, IZ & were not at the
wheel, how oould I have got him to wit alongside
of me? He wouldn't have sat alongside of a
stranger at the wheel. If the front door was open
and I nas&}n the back, and the side curtalns were
up, he wouldn?t have seen me, 80 you must admit I was
driving ¢the car."

Aseume further that s chauffeur testi-

fied that shortly before the boy was picked up he
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had recognlizod Losb as driving the car. Is thgii
&ny reason that you know of why they should not
have told the State's Attorney ths matters and
things that you gsay they told you, which you
have besed your opinion upon, with all that in
oind?

A When do you mean, that they should have .
told.you the matiers they t0ld me?

Q ¥hen they were making their oonfeseions, and
showing the various places where I could gather

the evidenoce.

"A *hat matters do you refer to?
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Q Well, sbout their boyish phantasies and all these
nattérs that you think sre matters of extenustion.

‘A Yes, I see ® good rsason. You wsre no% interested
in studying their personslities.

Q Was that the only reason?

A You are a prosscuting attorney, and I an a phy‘si,cs_.g‘.z;\.

Q Is that the only reason?

A That would be sufficient reeson why they showld not
tell you about their develiopmental history. Did you ask
thew about that?

Q I asked them %o tell me everything that led wp tqf
this orime, and what their motive wes.

A Tould you have expectsd them to tell you their
developrental histozy?

Q VYhen they were talking and confessing, I expeotsd
they ware telling we all about the orime, and when they
$t0ld ms that ths £10,000 was & large part of the motive,
I didn't think they weze fooling sither Mr. Franks or
nyself when they wrote that lettier.

4 I dontt want to ask you any more questions, or turn

thig into an ar nt, but I would liks %o ask you whether
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other prisoners wvho have confassed to you have given you
their 1ife history.

MR, Omﬂz When I take the gtand, dootor, I will let
you snd Mr. Derrow exanins ms.

THL WITRESS: Well, I just wanied to know.

(This exchange brought a ripple of laughter
from the spectators.)

MR, OR : Q@ IXIZ these things they told you about,
their boyish phantasies, their oriminal proclivities,
their degensracy, wers not trus, you would form a differ-
ent conslusion would you not?

A Yes, and I very likely weuld have some inkling that
they were not trus.

Q They did not 1ie to you?

A T den't balieve so.

e Ihor%z asked them, they pexverts, they denied
i%. VWhat reasen thoy at that tims, after having
confesned o a murder, for denylng such a ohildish delin-

g

quency as perversion, as Dr. Nealy characterises 1t?

A The reasont that any ressonabls man would havs,
in telling ) % sort of thimg to anoiker man.,

Q Vhen t}ho defendant lLeopold said to you that he would
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Tather hang then have the world know that he was a
parvert, you believed him, did you?

A 1 don't know that that was very much of a diffevense.
I have known pseple who Lolt that way.

Q@ Xo. Did you belisve him when he siated that he
would rather hang then have you tell the world that hs.
was & poxverd?

A I don's know that I aid.

Q@ Don't you knew that hs teld you that for the purpose
of qualifying you as a nitigating witness?

A I don't know ibas.

Q You think that these men are co ¥s 10ars, 48
you net?

A T den't thimk so.

Q Do ysu Dr. Whiti>wes mid ' ‘' when he sald that
they 11‘!;71
AT s Ame 4. I @4 M -

thing about Loed.
q@ Do ymu th that they are liars?
A Yes, I Leed dtfiewity —~
Q HKew absuil Leop 7
A X dmn't so about Leepels, .
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Q Yon dontt thirk he is a lisx?

A Well, he may bs a liaxr, but I don't know that he
is a congunmate liar, |

Q@ Just a plain ordinary liaz?

4 He may be, very well.

(This caussd further lau{ghtex from the gpectators.)

R, OROVE: I am glad we haye found something ordinary
about these supermen.

@ Now, you know from wha{ you have heard in court here
that he has 11led to everybody except Dr. White up to dats,
and the reason he ooulé'. not lie to Dr. White was that Dr.
Vhite could read his mind as & surgecn reade & body with
an x-ray; and you have not any ides that he would be ®
unkind as to 1ie to you in order to escspe the galiows.

A I don'{ know just exaotly how to answer that question.
You put 4t on a basis of unkindness -

MR. OROWE: 1If you ot answer i¢, that 1s all.

MR. DARROW

Wers you proceeding to answer 1%7

THE WI B88: I was.

MR. O : @ Oan you snswer it

MR. DARROW: I objeot, he iz msked & question ~—
MR, CR : Q Gan you answer the question, dootox?

3 Illinois. Criminal Court. Cook County. Trial Transcript Leopold and Loeb 1744 1924



35 @174 5=

THE WITNESS: Repeat the question, pleass.
(Reporter repests the gusstion)

THE WITEESS: A I said I ocould not answer the question,
the way you put 1%, by saying that he would not be so
unkind to me. I gave you my impression, ny honest impres-
gion that I don't belisve he hes lied to ne.

MR, ORO¥E: @ lNow, doctor, you have stated that
Leopold has talked about sulcide s number of times?

A J¥o, sz,

MR. DARROW: I don't belleve he did.

¥R, OROWE: Q You were talking about who, when you
sald that.

A T eald that Losb, I think -- I don't know tha%t I
mentioned 4¢ even sabout Loeb, but I do Imow tha.:t Losb has
t0ld me ashout depressions in whioh he contemplated suicide,
but I dont't know that I have testiflied to that partioular
point,

. @ Dooter, one of the dlstinguishing things that you
have related haa been sbout the fesling {that Loeb had,
thet as’a boy the folks did not like him, he was not
wanted theze and fel# lonesoas. That is an unusual

som?
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A It is an unusual thing for a ochild to eZpTass that
gort of a situstion,

Q Dootor, don't you know it ias quite common for all
boys, or nsaxrly all boys, around & cerialin age, t0 Zesl
that théy eTe not wanted at home, and they went %o rum
awey, and then when they are rich, oome back and mgke the
folks 21l sorry for the way they treated them?

A T don't think that that is common, sir. There is a
certain longing and restlessnezs and wanting to gel away
in ccnnection with puberty. Thie thing that he told me
antedated puberty by a number of years,

Q How 0ld was het

A About nine or thereabouts.

Q@ Dostor, do yo u remeuber the ploture that wag
quite popular some years ago, sbout the 1ittlo tot
sitting down and saying, "Hobody loves me. I'm golng
out in the hack yard and cat worms; two mmooth ones

and oné wooly one’?

4 I don't know that I remember the pioture; I
rousmdber the saying.

Q Well, do you think.that 11ttle tot was & parsnoio

with surdexrous tendencies?
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A TNeither was this little tot.

¥R, CROWE: That 1is w=ll.

REDIRECT EXAMINATION

BY 4R, B, C, BACHRACH,

MR, B,0,BACHRACH: Q@ Just a few questions., You
have testified that you have vhserved the conduct
of thesa two boys in the court room?

A Yeseir,

Q 4Apd you drevw gortain significsnt inferences
Lzrom that oconduot?

A Yoe girx,

.Q Doctor, during all the time that this bearing
has been going on, ie it your opinion that Richard:
Loob understands what is going on here at this
hearing?

A Yes sir, intellectuzlly he does.

Q And Fathsn Leopoeld, the same?

A Undoubtedly,
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Q Would the fact that the State's Attorney at
any part of thie hearing celled partioular attention
to conduot of either defendant as to laughing and
sneering, would the fact that that thing ooourred
and that thereaftexr uigkk either one of these defends
ant® changed thelr oonduot in thio.respeot, bz of
any significance?

A Not much,

MR, B, C., BACHRACH: That is alle.

MR, CROTE: That ie alle

(vitness exoused)

MR, DARROW: Mr. Crowe, Your Homor, laboring
under the impreszion that thls oross examination
would take much longer, I arranged to have the lay
wltnesscs ocome tomorrow, quite a number of them
coming, and I did not 1like to hove them combd and
go avway again. A2 o consequencs, ve have not ,

" got them here, snd I am going to ask the Oourt if we

ke cannot adjourn at this tizde, and we will expedits

mattere tomorrov.

MR, CROWE: I osn sppreolate from the length of
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time I consumed in other examinations that counsel

was probably warranted in thinking that I wae going
to take up & great deal mdre tinma.

MR, DARRO%: That iz the only reason,

THE COURT: A1 right.

MR, CRO®WE: It iz a fair request, your Honor, and
I have no objection,

THE COURT: VWitneusoeg that the defense expeoted
could not g2v here in tiame this afternoom, and ﬁofh
gides have agrved that the case nmay go over, We
will suspend now until tomorrow morning at 10330

ofclock,

Whereupon an sdjournment wes here
taken to 10230 o'clock, Thursday

AM., August 7th, 1934,
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Thursday, August 7,1934.
10:80 otcloock A.M.
Court convened at 10:30 o'olock A.M. Thursday,
August 7th, 1924, pursuant to adjournment

heretofore taken.

Preqent: Same as befors.

t
i

After a brief conference betwsen Court and
Counsel, Judge Caverly made the following

announcenant:

JUDGE CAVERLY: Counsel on both sides have asked
me t0 give them a 1ittle time this morning in which
to oconfer. If they agree it may save two and probably
tp;ea days time in this trial.
Ve w11l suspend now for thirty‘q;pgtepkfbr

that purpose. Counsel may retire.

(Whereupon a recess was here taken for the °
purpose of conference of Counsel on both

sides.)
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Cowrt convened purasusnt to recess hereto-

fore taken.

‘M AX 8 CEHRUATER,
called as a Witness on behalf of the Dsfendants, having
been first duly sworn, testified as follows:

DIRECT EXAMINATION

BY 4R, DARROW,

MR, DARROW: Q Where do you live?

A 5461 Everstt, Chicago.

Q How old are you? 1} Twenty-one, ‘

Q What 1s your business? | A Jobber t:oiE
lhousehold goods with Robexrt M, Sohrayer & Company.

Q@ Robert M. Schraysr is Jour father?

A Yes,

Q How long have you been ﬁi{x "B}J:g“igggfigg

A About four months, .

§ Where wers you before tha:fé:t | A &iveref’ﬁ*ﬁr
of Michigan, I gradusted there,. |

Q Do you know Richard Loeb?

A Yes,

Q How long have you known him?
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A I met Richard Losb in 1914, in the University of
Chicago High School, but I did not know him, t0 meally
know him until the fall of 1931, when I met him at the
University of Michigan.

Q How wall did you know him?

A I knew him very well.

Q Did you live in the san;e building?

A Yes, for a oconsiderable time, in the fra.ten}i,ty'
house at Miohigan,

Q@ And you met him daily?

A Yes,

Q Dld you observe him a8 t6 the mestion of ner)v?;';:a‘,"?

A Yes sir.

Q that did you observe?

A Wy I observed that he was very nervous practically

~ all the time,

MR, CROWE: I objedt.

MR, DARROW: Q How —-

MR, CRORE: Wait a minute, I object and ask that the
enswer be stricken out as a conclusion,

THE COURT: It may go out at the present time,

MR, DARROW: Q State what you observe in that regard.
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A 1 observed that a great deal of the time he was,
nervous physically, hands moviég -

MR, CROWE: I object. Wait a minute, That is a con-
clusion and I ask that it be stricken.

THE COURT: That may be stricken. Go ahead and tell
himwhat he did. You started to say something about his
hands,

MR, DARROW:  Yes,

A His hands moved in Quick short movings and he had a

twitohing of the face, mouth; walked rapidly at lntex-

. vale back and forth, pacing the room very often.

Q How was he as to drinking during that time?

A At the time I knew him at Michigan he drank a little.
At times he drank -- well, hs drank a great deal at
one occasion, He used to drink quite & bit on special
occcasiohs,

Q Do you know anything about his fainting?

A He fainted several times at Michigan. I myself
witnesses him faint twice -~ I myself witnessed him
faint three times and I remember the occasion of him
fainting once or twice other times when I dldn't

see him,
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MR, CROWE: Wait a minute., Strike that out. I move
to strike that out, your Honor.

THE COURT: That may go out., That is that portion
where he fainted Where he didn't sse him, Those
where he saw him himself msy stand.

MR, DARROW: Q 1In reference to this nervousness,what
did you ses about his smoking cigarettes, as to the
method?

A He smoked a great deal.

Q In what way?

A Well, he smoked --"he seemed t0 have a very nervous
‘hold of the oigarette and puffed quiockly end long puffs,

MR, DARROW: Q How was he as to responsibility?

MR, CROWE: I object, ‘

MR, DARROW: Q What did you observe as to his respon-

 Bibility?

THE COURT: TYou can tell what you observed and what
you saw,

MR, DARROW: Q  What you saw?

A As $0 his responsibility?

Q Yes.

A well, at all times he was not at all responsible
/
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MR, CROWE: Object. A conclusion,

THE COURT: 7You cannot arrive at any conclusion., That
is forpthe Court to arrive at. You can tell what you
saV and from that the Court will arrive at conclusions
from the evidence that is glven,

THE WITNESS: Well, I -- |

THE COURT: Tell what you saw, what did he do, it
anything? ‘

MR, DARROW: @ Describe him?

A He was a type of individual whom we did not trust
a great deal.

MR, CROWE: Oh, no., I object., A conclusion,

MR, DARROW: Q Did you have conversations with him
and hear him in conversation?

A Yeos sirx,

"Q How Was he as %o oo;l‘cke'ﬂ‘l;,r'a.tiéii.; fqllowiﬂ"g;'aﬁﬁ"ig;r
line, or whsether he was able to do it or did 1t?

A He very often in an argument mbssed, seemed to go
off on a small point and argue on something that was
not of importance, was not the main toplc of the argu-

m@nt . (Y
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stricken. THat is his oonbluéq.on as %o Qvllxzé‘th'er’?‘i‘d\'
was important,

MR. DARROW:  Well, more or less of course --

MR, CROWE: No, tell what the argument was,

THE COURT: Sustained.

MR, CROVE: What point he went Off on. 'Let us judge
whether it 1s important or not. - a

MR, DARROW: Oh no,

MR, CROWE: A great many things you say I don't think
are lmportant, and & greal meny things I say you do
not think are lmportant.

THE COURT: Q OCan you tell us What argument ﬁgft.
made at those timss? .

A No sir,

MR, DARROW: Q You assoolated with him constantly day
by day, didn't yqu?' |

A Yes,

i
'

Iy y'
) .
R

\ [ Wyt o ~C",:l '“'s:b'«, 5 .ol
Q In your fraternity He was a senior, was he?
A Yes sir,
Q And you were a senior?

A fres sir.

Q@ Do. any things that they characterize as egrivileﬁes
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g0 with being a s‘Qﬁior?
| A Yes,
Q What? J
A One privilege 1s the privilege of being a mentor
over a freshman, having charge of a freshman and being
responsible for that freshman,
Q And is that given seniors?
A Thet 18 glven 40 practlically every senior,
Q Wes it glven to Dick?
A No sk,
%R. CROWE: Wait :,ai."n};qujta;. I o‘pjl?zqt‘. ‘It‘:ig ii@gg;’%;og%rh
‘4al. ’ ¢
MR, DARROW: I will ask why.
MR, CROWE: It was not given to all of them.
¥R, DARROW: He says practically everyone, He oan
say tha;.t.
MR. CROWE: I know he sald practically, but not
all of then.
MR. DARROW: dJust a minute., Let me follow that up.
Q Was thers any other one that that was not given to?
A& Yot that I know of,
THE COURT: I will let the answer stand.
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THE COURT: Q By whom were these privileges given?
A The heagd of the house, together with the advice
of the executive committee,
Q@ Wwhat do you msan by the head of the house?
A The president of the house,
MR. CROWE: The fraternity.
THE COURT: Q Of the university?
A No, of the fraternity house.
Q And with the advice & the committes, yhu say?

A Yes,

MR, DARROW: Q Id you know about his reading?

A Somewhat, yes sir, - |

Q VWhat was 1t?

" A Well, he was known as a reader of dime novels and
detective stories,

Q@ What did they call hin thers, if you know?

ﬁR. CROWE: I object. |

MR, DARROW: Do you object to that?

MR, CROWE: I object to that, it is immaterial what
he was ocalled.

MR. DARROW: IWQ will follow 1t up with hls apparent
liking of the name,
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THE COURT: They were nicknames, were they not?

MR, DARROW: Yes.,

TH COURT: We all have nicknames,

MR, DARROW: But we don't have the same one.

THE COURT: I think I will sustain the objection.

MR, DARRO®W: @ Did you ever notice his laugh?

A Yes, |

Q How was that?

MR, CROWE: Walt a uminute,

A He laughed heartily,

MR. DARROW:! Q@ And was it with ref;e's::"e'pp;e ‘to any.
speclal things, or how was that?

A It seemed -~ |

¥R, CROWE: Wait a mbment. I object. State what |
he laughed heartily at that you remember,

MR, DARROW: He cannot tell the exact times or exaot
ocoasions or how many times, but if it was a nervog;
reaction -- |

¥R, CROWE: I insist if we are going into the laugh
we ought to get the reason, If he heard the experts
testify I would laugh with him heartily., I insist ks

we ought to know the occasion of the hearty laugh.
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Mﬁ. DARROWi: It would be impossible to state all the
occaslons.

THE COURT: Q Wasthat uniform with him?

THE WITNESS: It seemed to be, yes.

MR, DARROW: Q How ﬁas it as to his laughing, was
1t at humorous things or at anything that came along?

A He seemed to laugh at a great meny things fhax
were not humorous. |

MR, CROWE: Just a moment., Are there any other lay
witnesses in the roon?

MR, DARROW: I don't think so.

Q In your assoclation Withhim and obsarvation'of him
during the time, did you form an opinlon as to his
maturity or chlildlshness in reference to his ysaras?

MR, CROWE: That should be from things that he has
obssrved. What he has in the back of his head, we
do not know.

MR, DARROW: I understand that 1s not the law.,

MR, CROWE: That is the law, -

MR, DARROW: He has the same right to give an opinion

MR, CROWE: Just on matters and things he has re-
lated to the court.

Heinonline -- 3 I MRyoi DARROW" OothtOogeb(barll'Tri al Transcript Leopold and Loeb 1760 1924



127 p.1761

MR, CROWE: Absolutely.

MR, DARROW: A member of the famlly can say if a
person is sane o2 insane,

MR, CROWE: Based upon facte that he has related.

MR, DARROW: I insist that is not the law,

MR, CROWE: I am willing to present authorities
on that,

MR. DARROW: We can present them too0,

MR. OROWE: In other words, it is a conolusion, A man
could come in and say, "In my opinion, that man is
sane or insane", and walk off the stand. You have to
give matters and things upon which they base thelr
opinion 80 that the court or jury can come to a con-
clusion a8 to whether thelr opinions are correot or
not .

MR, DARROW: I insist there is not any question but
a lay witness, the assoclate of a person or a member
of the family or anybody else associated with him
being perfectly competent to glve an opinion as to the
sanity or insanity of anybody. I am not asking that
but I am asking along the same lines, If your honor

hes some doubt I will find some authorities and bring
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them in at two o'clock.
THE COURT: I will let him enswer subject to
Mr. Crowe's objection which I will rule on later.
MR. DARROW: We will present authorities,
‘ MR. CROWE: Read the question,
(Questi;n read by the reporter)

THE COURT: I will let him answer subjeot to your

objection., I do not think they are bound to give

Hei nOnl i ne --

every detail upon which the witness! opinion is based.
The court has a right to cross examine,
MR, SMITH: It is not a question of senity or
insanity. |
MR, CROWE: The question is, "Do you think he aoﬁé@‘
ochildishly?" That is a oonolusion. He ought

to tell the chlldish acts.

THE, COURT: You can a8k him. I think the oourt %Eé
the right to give the weight to the testimony of |
each witness that he thinks it is entitled to. If the
defense puts on a witness and he testifies to certain
things and the state orose examines him and draws forth
certaln other factethe court has the right to give

the welght to What the witnees says that 1t is entitled
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(T If the court considers it ies a matter that
should not be taken into consideration in mitigation
he wWill simply eliminate it bubt I think the authorities
gay that a lay witness can testify to any of those
things from constant assoclation with him and things
like that they have a right to tell. I will strike
it out if they cannot sustain it with authority, but
in matters of this kind the state can oross examine.
I will let it go in subjeot to Mr. Crowe's objection and
‘heve the authorities presented at tWo o'clock.

MR, DARROW: Q Just go ahead and answer that,

A My impression was he was very childish in his actions,
' Q I don't know whether you stated, I think you did,
but there seems to be some question about whether Dieck
vas zkXimsd allowed the responsibility of being mentor
to any freshmen?

A No sir, he was not allowed that responsibility,

Q Did you ever hear him in argument with the other
boys? '

A Yes sir.,

Q@ Did the boys take occasion to argue With him on’

various matters?
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A Yes sir,

Q In what way?

A Well, ofttimes would argue with him on things
that were more or less lrrelevant or foolish, for the
purpose of getting him --

MR, OROWE: Welt s minute; I object; that ls a oon-
clusion . Let him state What the arguments were and
who started them.

MR, DARROW: He had better not tell all the arguumsnt,
had he?

MR.CROWE: Well, let us find out wha,‘aL he can tell.
THE COURT: Let him answer, subject tc the same
rulings This testimony is only as it eppeared to him,

He doesn't conolude that this man was this, that or

the other thing. This is how he appeared to him at
the time it was said, thie is how he eppesred to

him, end the oross examination along that line will

show Whether or not it will appear to me in the same wep
He has a right to say how things appeared to him, but

he ocannot glive his conolusions; he cannot sey &

man wWas insane.

(
MR, CROWE: <@. Darrowyouldn’t let bim,
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THE COURT: He can say he appeared this or he
eppeared that or he appearsd the other,

MR, DARROW: Maybe I would and maybe I wouldntt.

THE COURT: EHe ocould g not say the man wag insane,
but he can s&y that he appeared thus and so to him,
I think I will let him anewer, but it will a.l;l. be
subjeot to your objection later on, Mr. Crowe,

MR, DARROW: Q You remember what that Question
was? 7You had not finished it?

A No.

MR, DARROW: Read the question and anewer as far as
;}e has gotten with 1%.

(Whereupon the Question and aneWer 'l
were here rsad).

Q Now, go on.
A TFor the purpose of getting him into an argument, He
argued rather strenuously on things that sometimes
amused the rest of ue. ’

MR, CROWE: You are haviné some trouble to keexf:"f?om
laughing, aren!t you?

THE WITNESS: ©No sir,

MR, DARROW: At who?

wrncnine - APt JROUE; | T imaging ot $he defences .. ..., i isn
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MR, DARROW: How was he —— well, your imegination
is active,

Q How was he as to common sense affairs?

A In common sense he was far inferior to his own in-
tellect, ae far as book learning was concerned, He
was a good student, but he did not seem to have the
logical common sense that went with it,

Q How was he as to being practical?

A Rather impractical,

Q Did you form any opinion as to whether he was
‘normel or abnormal, based on your entire acqueintance
with him and all you ea¥ and heard?

A T felt that he‘ﬁas -

MR, CROWE: No, eanswer the Question.

MR, DARROW: Q Firet answer yes or mo.

A Yes, |
" Q What wes 1t?

A 1 felt that he was inferior to the other fellows
of his --

MR, CROWE: No, no; enswer the Question, was ﬁg
normel Or abnormal?

THE WITNESS: I answered the Question, yes, he was
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Abnormal.

You may ocroes examine,
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CROSS EXAMINATION

BY STATE'S ATTORNEY CROVE.

MR, CRO¥E: Q Do you remember being questioned in
the State'!s Attorney's office about Loeb?

A Yes sir,

Q Was this Question asked you, "Yes, there is noth-
ing about his actions or anything else, that would in-
dicate to you that he was anything but a bright young
chap", and did you answer as follows, I"At that tine,
yes,"

Ind then you were asked this Questiqn: .

"Perfectly sane and normal®, and your
ensyer wast

"He seemed to me at that time to be perfectly
sane and normal."

oA

Were those questions put tﬁq,:@qu‘ ?{ld d;)d{'\,*xgu.
50 answerd | | |
A I don't reocall.
Q Will you state that they were not put to you and
you did not 80 answer? ‘

A No, I don't recall., I can't say either way. .

Q Is your recollection good?
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‘A Generally very good.

Q Do you remember being questioned in our office?

A Yee sir.

Q Do you remember being asked ae to whether he was
sane and normal? 3

A I remember being questioned as to whether he
was sane., |

Q And normal?

A I don't remember that,

Q And you answered:

"He seemed to me at that time to be per~

7d~'{
¢

fectly sane and norma.l“?\ T e

A I don't remember that.
Q You won't say you didn't say it, will you?
A No, tut I won't say.

Q How old are you?

A Twenty-one.

Q And how old 1s Loeb?

A T believe he 1s nineteen.

Q What f£raternity do you belong :k‘c,»?

A Zete Beta Tau,
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Q And whet kind of a fraternity 1s-£h;£f'

A Jewish fraternity.

Q I mean -- I didn't went to go into that,

A A General fraternity.

Q A generel fraternity?

A Yes,

Q How do you gst }nto that fratern;tyy ~ How are mel-
bers taken in? | o

A Elected by the body.

Q I kmow but what is the prooess?

A1 don't care t© answer that.

THE COURT: What 1s that?

MR, CROWE: What i the process?

MR. DARROW: I suppose that is & fraternity secret,
Maybe you shouléhot go into that closely, Perhaps you
can get 1Y some other way. _

MR, CROWE: Q When & man is brought into the fra-
ternity, who vouches for him? -

A Every brother of the fraternity.,

Q Every one of them?

A ves sir,

Q And bvefore he is brought in he is What you term
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A fes sir,

Q By rushed you mesn thet his name is proposed and
he is watched end.investigated for a oconglderable
reriod before he is elected?

A Yes sir, |

Q And he is brought into the house :Eor lunch so0 that
everybody can get acquainted with him?

A Yegsir,

Q To find out Whether he is = desirable member?

4  Yes,

Q TYou don't elect any nuts, do you, to the fra~
teinity? that you know of?

A Not that we know of,

Q How long a time is a man rushed?

;& It varies.

Q I know, but what is the usual length of time?

:A 1t varies from a day to a year, two yea.rs.

Q How long was this man rushed? |

A Avout two and a half months,

Q He was introduced to all the members? -

AT believe 80, yes.

Q Brought %0 the house?

A Yes ®ir.
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Q Had dinner at the house?

A Yes,

Q And all that was for the purpose of giving you an
opportunity to find out whether he was the kind of
man you wanted in there?

A Yes sir,

Q And after Bwo and a half months investigation and
observation, you concluded that he was a normal, decent
fellow, is not that correct?

A TWe concluded he was the kind of g fellow weo wanted
to take in, ‘

Q@ You didn't want a foolish person in there, did you?

A No.

Q TYou didn't want an abnormal person in there?

A 1 don't know what you mean by abnormel in that
sense.

Q You said he was sbnormal. What A0 you mean?

A I mean that he — I said I mean in certain ways
he wWas not normal but not in all ways, He wee not.
entirely abnormal.

Q You are a university graduate, aren't you?

A Yes,
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A Yes s.ir.

Q@ Mr, Darrow asked you whether he waes mbmormsl and
you said yes, Now, do you knov what Mr. Dexrrow
meant by that?

A 1 assumed he was referring to the questions that
preceded, so far as his responsibillty was concerned,
Q How many members of the fraternity were there at'
that time?

A Probably twenty-eight,thirty.

Q And how were the other twenty-eight autside of
Loeb, were they normal?

A In most Ways, yes. o

Q Are you normal?

‘A I don't know.

THE COURT: If you don't stop that hilarity and laugh-
ing back there I will oclean out the courtroom. This
is not a vaudsville show. The State's Attorney has
a right 1o oross examine this man and he has a right
to answer., Behave yourselves back thers or I will

ckaen out the courtroom.

MR, CROWE: Q Mr. Witness, I note you say that

Loeb was nervous and his hands twitohed?

Hei nOnl i ne --
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A 'Yee.

Q And he laughed?

A Yes,

Q Since you have been on the stand you have moved
your hands around your chin and your mouth and down

~ around your sides and you have crossed and uncrossed

them, and you have been smiling all the time, haven't
you?

A Yes,

Q Ves he any'more nervous than you are now, at
ag;y time?

A I think so, yes.

Q@  What causes you to smile all during this examineg~
tion?

MR, DARROW: I object. I have not observed mE he did.

MR, CROWE: He Jjust sald he did.

MR, DARROW: Well, I had not observed its.

MR, CROWE: He smiled from the time he got on the
stand. WVhat caused that? ,,

MR, DARROW: I object to the qQuestion. If he émiled
unduly I didn't notice it, and I have been looking at

him,
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MR, CROWE: He has given a laugh a8 an lndication
of abnormallity. I want to know about this smile,

MR, DARROW: The Question 1s: What caused you to
smile all the %ime on the witness stand?

MR, CROWE TYes, what caused you to smile all the time?

MR, DARROW:I &bject to the question,

MR. CROVE: Q You regard this as a solemm serious
proceeding, don't you?

A Yes,

Q There is nothing humorous in it &0 you, is there?

A Occasionally, yes,

Q Did Dick ever laugh at anything a8 solemn as this
proceeding 18 while & member of the fraternity?

Al can't answer that. I don't remember that.

Q Dick was the youngest member of the fraxerniﬁy,
wasn't he?

A When he was at school? -

Q Yes. |

A He was the youngest in his class, certainly., I
don't remember whether he was youngér than soms of
the freehmep. I doubt it.

Q. There was never any effort after you had all inves-
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"  %tigated bim for two and a half months end taken him
in the fraternity, made to throw him out, was there?

Y

A No sir.

Q So that anything he might have done did not cause
any oriticism, official criticiem of the bod'y?

A There wae a oritiocism tut --

Q No officlel criticism? |

ATl don't know what you mean by rofficial oriticism”,

Q Did the fraternity as a fraternity ever censure him
for anything he did?

A Yes,

Q Wwhat?

A Drinking for one,

Q Did you have a meeting for that purposs?

A To censure him, you mean?

Q Yes,

A We had a meeting of the executive committee of the
housa, Which is supported by th; entlre house.

Q And @14 you pass a resolution censuring him for
drinking, by the executive commlttee?

A Yes six.

Q Can you get a copy of it?
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A No sir. I don't bedieve so, Pe:clfafé%é;.j;,

Q@ TWhere are the records kept? o

A In Ann Arvor,

Q Did any other boye in the fraternity d:;}?k?
| A Yes, |

Q And soms of them got Arunk?

A Occasionally.

Q A great 'many of the studént' body generally drink and
get drunk?

A VWell, I would not say it in that way. I would say
gggasiona.lly some did.

Q A large percentage of them drink?

A A large percentage of them drank at 'l:inli'ééf;i

Q And a great meny of them got drunk? |

A I would not agree to that,

Q When you boys got together in the fraﬂgei:niﬁ:jr:“'h:dfii'é_fé,‘
you kidded each other a great deal, didn'f@ysqj‘ia

A Yes, | e |
Q #nd you would kid Dick, you and the rest of tHem, -

]

end Dick and you would kid the, otherst - |
. A Yes,

Q And you would have kidding argumentsé' ‘

{
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G
Q Are those the arguments you are referring to?
A Yes six, many of them.
Q So there is nothing undsual in that?
A No sir,
Q You remember being in the State's Attorney's office?
A TYes gir,
Q Being questioned?
A Yes sir.,
Q On June 9th, 1924, about five twenty-five P.M.
A I remember the date,
Q Were you there more than once for the pﬁfBE%E‘aﬁ\
belng queetioned?
A No, just once.
Q Mr. Savags, sitting behind me, and Mr. Smith, con-
ducted the questioning?
| AT think Mr., Savage did entirely.
Q Were you asked this question by Mr. Savage and
did you make this reply, talking about Loeb:
"And you used to se® him daily, referring
t0 Loeb?
A Yes,
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"A Not him in partiocular? TYes,
Q But all the members of the fraternity?
A Yes,"
Were those questions put to you and did you make those
answers?
A I can% remember exactly.
Q Did you say thet in subétancé?
A It is trus.
Q Did you say that in subsetance?
A Yes, right there.
Q Why right there? Are you afraid of the other stuff?
A1 am afraidof nothing, no sir, |
Q Well, those duestions were put t0o you and ;\;'ouun'a‘.'i(iej
‘those answers, 1s that correct? |

A Yes ,

u Q ’Fl;en Were you asked the question: .
| "Now he was & few years younger than yc‘5u
at that tinme?
A Yes,"
Is that correct?

A Yes sgir,
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Q Then were you asked:
"What impressed you most of all was that be
Was an exoeptignally bright fellow",
and you ansWered:
"Yes",
A’ That is true.
~Q The next question is:
"That g Loeb. You sald you thought he
vas g little young and some of his ldeas might
havebeena little different from what yours
were during that time and some of the older
boys, is that right",
and you answered:
"Well, yes."
A Yes sir,
MR. DARROW: How long 1s this going to take?
MR, OROWE: Not very long. L
MR, DARROW: I am golng to submit he has a right to
look at it. Will 1t take him long to look at 1t7
MR, CORWE: Like to look at what?
MR, DARROW: At mﬁi& statement i1in the State's Attor-

ney's office that he is being exemined on.
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MR, CROWE: He has no xright to look at thiﬁ}

MR, SMITH: 7You can refer to this,

MR, CROWE: I will let you sde 1t,

MR. DARROW: If you are seeking to impeach a Witness,
you introduce what he sald at some other timo and
place, then he has & right to look at it. It does not
follew but what he m;ght have said something else in
connection with it. I don't know that he did. I haven't
seen it. That is why I am asking him whether it is long.

MR, CROVWE: There are only a few more questions on thle
line.

MR, DARROW: Mey I ask, have you read all of 1t?

MR, CROWE: I have got about five more Questions,

MR, DARROW: What I mean is, did you read every
Question?

MR, CROWE: No, there are some referring t0 other
matters. I &m not going into some referring to Leoﬁold.
MR. DARROW: Whet I am getting at is this. You folks
are Honest people. I don't doubt you at all, A wit-
ness has a right to look at a doocument if he is érosa

examined on 1t.

MR. OROWE: This is not a document, your'Hﬁﬂbr.
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*\Mﬁ. bARROW: Any testimony;

MR, CROWE: Suppose I did not have this reduced to
writing at all., Haven't I right to ask him didn't he
tell Joseph Savage and Milton Smith certain things
in response to certaln Questions? This‘is_nof a
document.

THE COURT: No. I can see wpat the counsel for the
defense olaims, There might be some other questions
in there —

MR, CROWE: I am perfectly willing to put his en~

_tgre gtatement in,

THE COURT: That is all right,

‘MR. DARROW: I asked him in good falth., If he says
there is not anything that will modify i1t, I will take
his Word foxr 1%.

THE COURT: Yes,

MR. DARROW: But the rule is to show it.

THE COURT: Suppose, for instance, there were t@ﬂF

L

dqueetions and answers there and you only selected

yhree -

MR, CROWE: I am perfectly willing to put the entire
document in,
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THE COURT: But I am tTylng to streighten out the
position Mr. Darxrow takes. Suppose there were ten
questions and answers and the State's Attorney only
puts five to him, andthere viere one or two of the
other five that would throw an entirely different light
on the sltuation. If that were true, he would huve
a right to see them. But Mr. Darrow says he will btake
your word for i%t, and if that is all there ls to 1%,
that ends it.

MR, DARROW: 1If there is nothing there that will
modify 1t, I will take your word for it,

MR, CROWE: Q You said you thought he was a little
young and some of his ideas xaxa might have beens little
different from what yours were during that time and
some of the older boys? Is that right, and did you
answer: "Mell, yes"?

A TYes esir. I think that is right.

THE COURT: Sggak up, we all Want to headr What ydﬁ
say, ‘

MR, CROWE: Q fTs that right?

A That is right,

Q Ind then were you asked this Question:
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36T AYou laid tp%ﬁ to 'hig age’,
gnd did you answer: |
"I did at that time, yes."
A Yes,
Q Then were you asked this question, "Well, you-do
now, don't you?"™ and you ansWered:
"Well, I" —
and you were interrupted with this question:
"There is nothing without taking the
crime into consideration®
and you answered:?

"Before the orime, I will say so"

.
{
s
b

%ﬁa'theh‘ﬁere you asked:
"There is nothing about his actions or anything
else that would indicate to you that he wgs
anything but a bright, young cap",

and 4id you answer:

A

"at that time, yes:
Py T8 e

’
[

-

» 18 that correoct?
A I think so,
Q And then were you asked this Qquestion:
"Periectly sane and normali"

And dld you answer:
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"He seemed to me at that time to be-perf’)
feotly sane and normal",
A I remenber that,
Q And then was this question asked you:
| "And he seemed to be above the average intelli-
gence for hig years and for a fellow who could
git down and hold & conversation on moet any
subject, is that right",
and did you ansver,
"Yesg",
A T think eo.
Q' And ‘then vere you asked:
"Hold an intelligent conversation®,
and you answered:

"Weg",
Is that right?
A I think so,

Q Leopold was up there &t the same time, wasn't he?
A VWhere, at Michigan?
Q Yes,

A He was there one year, the first year.

Q You knew Leopold?

A 851ightly.
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Q{‘wa, you want to help a fraternity brother out,
don{t you?t N
A Not in this cese particularly, no sir,
Q@ Well, you have an obligation to help one enother,
haven't you?
A I have no obligation, not in this case, no, there
~1s no obligation,
Q But there is a general obligation?
A Not as affeots orime, no sir,
Q You are very friendly with him aren't you?
A Whent?
' 'Q . Now?
A I haven't seen him for some timg.“
Q Well, the last time you saw him you were very
friendly with him?
4 Yes sBlr,
Q Have you bﬁ?nﬁévéf‘%é‘jgil‘tbﬂiééﬂﬁiﬁ%f 7;”
A No sir. |
QR, CROWE: I think that is all.
MR, DARROW: M2y I look at that just & moment?
(Whersupon State's Attorney Crowe handed
typewritten manusoript from which he had
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MR, CROWE: If your Honor ple&se, these are the
memoranda of the State's Attorney, I am perfectly
willing to introduce the entire statement in avidence,
but I am not going to let Mr, Darrow look at our
memos .

MR. DARROW: Well, I was only looking at the part you
read, |

MR, CROWE: If you don't think I read this correctly,
when we oome to impeach this man, I will put the
stenographer on who took 1t and wrote it out, and
let him read his notes,

MR. DARROW: I will tell you, it is not necessary
for me to say that I don't think you read it
correctly, I wouldn't do that, but we have & perfect
right to see it, I am not going to insist on a formal
ruling on it right now,

MR. CROWE: It is a private memorandum ma;ie by the
State's Attkrneyts office,

MR. DARROW: No, 1% is not, and in the future I shall
object to any question from any dooument without it
belng 2ubmitted to the witness first if that is

the situation,
17
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THE COURT: Where there is & stabement of that kind,
questions and answers put to & witness, 1t ie similar
to the evidence taken at a coroner's indueet, If
there are ten questions and answers —-

MR, CROVWE: They are entitled to have them all.

'HE COURT: Yes,

MR, CROWE: I am willing to give them all to them.:.

THE COURT: That is all we can ask., If there
are no others, it does not make any difference. But
sometimes Where there are ten tuestions put and:
seven asked here on impeachment, the answers to the.
other thres, if there are three, might modify the
testimony or might change the testimony someWhat as
to one of the questions that was put, Thgt is the oﬂ;y
reason for seeing them all,

MR, CROWE: You haven't a right, your Homor, to go,
into a part of a oonversation ang attempt to keep |
the balance of it out. Mr. Darrow ie no¥ asking .
for all he told --

MR, DARROW: I don't think you h%YQmS§?‘?9"£1§ht;

MR. CROWE: Wait a minute, |

MR, DARROW: All right, surely.
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MR, CROWE: Your Honor talked about cornner's minutes,
Those are public dooumsnte, and I have no more right
to them than Mr. Darrow; Dut any private papers Mr.
Darrow has, they are his papers, and I haven't a
right to inspzot them, and he hasn't a right to inspect
any papers I have in my offics. Thoee are my private
papers in my own office, in my own files. He can
a8k after we get through, now tell everything else
you told the State's Attorney, and when the stenographer
gets on t0 impsach the statement, he can ask him to read
the entire statemsent. That I am perfectly Willing to
have him do.

¥R, DARROW: I don't think it admts of a question,
I don't think 1t needs to be deoided now, bub no
laWyer can present any dooument in writing to any
Witness and esk him whether he said so and so without
submitting the doouments.

MR, SMITH: We are nct submitting the dooument,

MR, DARROW: I didn't say you are, I say you cannot
ask him the questions Without submitting it.

MR, SMITH: We are not submitting it. We are simply

asking & question ’&mit.
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MR, DARROW: Vell, you cannot ask e Question frou
it without submitting it.

MR, CROWE: I am not offering it, I am asking him
did you say this. If he denies it I will pub the
stenographer on to read the notes, or I can put
Mr. Savage on to testify to this, This i8 merely a
question and answer.

MR. DARROW: You don't get my point.

MR, CROWE: VYes, I get your point, This is not a
document, but a memorandum,

MR, DARROW: You haven'!t a right to use any doocument
or memorandum without showing 1t to us.

THE COURT: There ign't any dispute about this witness,
He has no issue with the answers which he did remembsx
and the others he said he did not remembser, Asked
direoctly whether or not he did or dild not say those
things, and he said, no, he did not do it. Thers
doss not seem to be very mich controvsrsy here. Now ,
ask him 1f there were any more Questions,

Were there any other questions asked you
in the State'!s Attomey's office at that time, that
you now remsmber?
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A Yo sir, I don't remember, I don't recall the
questions the State's Attorney asked me,

MR, DARROW: I want to re-examine the witness
a 1little, and I will not bothsr with this question
with this witness, bubt in future I widl probably insist
on his showing any document before he asks questions
about 1t.

MR, CROWE: How perfectly absurd. Suppose before
exanining a witness I make some notes, so I will know
what questions I want to ask him, iz that a document
I have to submit?

MR, DARROW: That is not this case. This is a
Question where what he sald at some Other time, which
was written down, is to be used to contradiet his
testimony, and he has a right to see 1t., I donlt
think we need to raise the question now, but if you
want to raise it now, I think either ofus can find .
authorities before two o'clock.

THE COURT:  All right. 1Is there anything further
of this witness?

MR, DARROW: I want to ask a few questions,

THE COURT: Go ehead.,
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REDIRECT EXAMINATION
BY MR. DARRCYW.

MR, DARROW, Q How did you happen to be taken to the
state's attorney's office?

A 1 was taken down there by two poliliosmen.

Q By a pallioeman? \ You were sent for and taken ri’lght
at the time?
Ygs, sir.

Did you know what you were going for?

> O P

They didn't tell me, but I had an idea.

Q And you did not know that you were going until a
policeman came and got you?

4 They called me up first and told me to come down
and I paid I couldn!'t, and so they came and got me.

Q Where did you go, where did he take you? '

A It 1s in the orimidal court building, I believe
¥r. Grows's office.

Q How many pecple were there?

4 At first there ware four, Mr. Crowe, Mr. Savage,-
Mr. Ettleson and myself, and then I was moved to another
room with Mr. Savage, Mr. Bmith and a stenographer, I believe.

Q@ V¥ho questicned you?
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A At firet Ur. Bavage led the questioning. Ur. Crowe
agked me a couple of questions, &and Mr. Smith later on
asked a few questions.

Q Were you asked the questions as soon as you got there?

A Practiocaslly, yes, sir.

Q Did you have any chance to occnsider your aoquaintance
with Loeb and what had been saild betwesen you and Loeb and
his conduct in the fraternity house and all those things,
before you were questioned?

A Very little.

Nobody went there with you?
No, sir.
You consulted with nobody?

No, sizx.

O O O

And you were pulled in by the officers without any,
chence to consider it at all?

A TYes, sir. |

Q@ And you have had plenty of chances to consider 1t .
gince?

A Yes, sir.

Q@ And you have done it?

A Yes, sir.

MR. DARROW: Tha
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3 FEOROSS EXAMINATION

BY STATE'S ATTORNEY CROWE.

MR, CROVE: Q When you were coming down, you saild you
had an ldea of what you were coming down for?

A I didn't know just what it was. I supposed 1% {r@s
in connection with this case.

Q In conneotion with your acquaintance with Loeb and
Leopold, didn't they tell you over the phone?

A TNo, sir,

Q@ TVThat did they tell you over the phone?

A They told me I was wanted aé Judge Crowe's offioce,
and I asked what for, and they sald they didn't know,

Q THow, when you got down there, there were a number
of other fraternity brothers out in the hall?

A I am not sure, I think there were sbout one or tWo.

MR, SAVAGE: Q Ringer?

A I don't remember,

MR, OROWE: Q 7You don't require an hour or a week to
answer & question as to what kind of a men an intimate
friend of yours is, do you?

A Generally, no.

Q 4And we agked you gbout Losb you honest answers?
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A As well as I could, absolutely.
MR. OROWE: That is all.
MR, DARROR: Just one other question.

o s v an e ™
1]
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5m RE-REDIRECT EXAMINATION
BY MR. DARROW,

¥R. DARROW: Q@ Was there anything else said by resolution
or aotion, by way of censure, except drinking? VWas there
anything said ebout immaturity, or dont't you know?

A Do you mean, was there any censure by the house?

Q Yes.

A We often disoussed his immaturity in conneotion with
not allowing him full senior privileges.
| Q Do you know whether 1% appeared of record, or do:}'t
you know?

4 I don't know.

MR. DARROW: That ie all,

- e T o ., s’
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en RE~RECROSS EXAMINATION
BY STATE!S ATTORNEY OROWE. /

MR. OROWE: Q XNow, weit. Your discussion of his
immaturity wee on account of his being younger than the
regt of them, thet 1s 1t, ien't it?

4 I think that was probebly the main reason, one of
the reasons.

Q Certainly. And you didn't like to see a young lad
like that drink?

A Vell, we didn't specify a young led, no. Any lad.

Q@ I know, but his immaturiiy, when you diecussed it,
was on acocount of his being younger than the rest of them?

A VWell, we didn't go into it at that time. It might
have been, but we didn't know.

MR, CROWE: A1l right, that is all.

MR. DARROW: Q Was it on account of his youth in years,

or on account of his immaturity, his conduct, action and
appearance?

A 1 think 1% was the latter.

MR. DARRO¥W: A1l right, that is all.

(Witness excused.)

— - - -
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LORRAINE NATHAN,

e witness called on behalf of the defendants, having been

first duly eworn, testified as follows:

O P O P OH PP O O FGK O P O P OH Fr O

Hei nOnl i ne‘; -

DIREQCT EXAMIRATION
BY MR. DARROY.

Will you give us your name?
Lorraine Nathan.
Where do you live?
5318 Ellis Avenue,
What is your father's business?
Quaker Lace Company.
Will you give us that again?
Quaker Lace Company.
What ig your age?
Eighteen.
You are acquainted with Richard Losbi
Yes, I ax.
How long have you known him?
Since November, 1921.
And how well have you known him?
Very woll,

You used to go with him to parties and dinners?
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B8m Q And how often were you in the habit of seelng him?
A Vell, he was away at school so I 4id not see him only
when he came in at week ende.
Q You knew him before he went to school?
4 To.
Q Where was he when you firet got eoquainted with him,
he went to Ann Arbor? |
He went to Ann Arbor, yes.
Were vou oalled to the state's attorney's office?

I wap.

YQG, I did‘

-

A
Q
A
Q You say you ﬂrat.prlt him in 19817
A
Q

How often did you ses him between 1931 and 19337
-4 It is hard to say, when he was away &t school, I saw
him occasionally week ends on an average of a week end
‘svery two months.
Q How about vacation time?
4 Yes, I did.
Wae he frequently &t your houss?

Q

- A He was.
Q@ VWexre you ever at his house?
A

Once.
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Q Md in general, what was the character of your

assoclation?
A Just school day friends,

Q Did you go to dances and parties?

N
A We did.

Q Mnd to lunches and dinners?
A Yo.

Q What does your family consist of?
A Mother and father, two girls and a boy.
Q Did you observe any difference in him the different

times you saw him?

A Since June, the darly part of June, ;aaﬁ, I Baw .
& complete change in him,

Q And where did you ses him at that ti@é?

3

A He was at our honme,
Q Tell whab you observed about.him at that time,

A For a unlversity graduate he was unusually infan=
tile in his behavior, I thought.

MR, CROWE: If your honor please, thgp’ié éJéoiéiﬁr
gion and I move to strike it out,
| THE COURT: She may tell what he did.

THE WITNESS: Upon occasions, one occasion I remenber

distinetly he came in and I am positive he had not been
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' arinking, he took introductions %o some guests he

Hei nOnl i ne --

had not known very flippantly and that was not his
custom of doing. He then started dancing down

the middle of the room and at that time we wers passing
goms chocolates and he put his thumb into each one

of them to find a hard-center one and he did this

in all seriousness and then he went out in the recep-
tion hall and tried on all the hats of the guests,

I thought this was rather pecullar, becauee he had

not been drinking at all and I told my sister that I
thought Dickie was acting --

MR. CROWE: That should go out,

MR. DARROW: Q What did you think?

A That he was acting rather idiotically and my sis-
ter said "That is not idiotic, he must be cuckoo®,
and she explained the difference between insanity and
being idietic as she knew 1t,

Q And did anything else take place at that time?

A He used to walk out of the @&oor, and then he would
comé back and say, "Lorraine, your mother may need
this", and he had taken some ornament out of the house
we had not seen and he did this in Q rather serious

WaY s

Q Did you see him again after theat?

3 Illinois., Crimnal Court. Cook County. Trial Transcript Leopold and Loeb 1800 1924



-1801-

Yes, I did.

How often?

I saw him, I thinl; it was in February, February 29.
¥hat did you observe about him at that time?

- O > O P

He was very unemotional, as I recall the event, and
he sald, he did not remember having acted that way.

And how long did you see him that time?

Well, we had a date that evening.

What 41d you do?

We went out riding because we were quarrelling.

ok O r O

fhat were his actions then?

A He drove rather recklessly and did not seem to care
what came in front of him and if people were passing in
front they had to dodge him, he would 2ot dodge them. I
pleaded with him to go slowly and he did not seem to take
heed, did not sesem to realize he was racing.

Q Do you remember his going to Birmingham?

A Yep, that was in June, 1933.

Q@ Did you see him at that time?

A He came home from Ann Arbor before he went to
Birminghem and it was from that time I first found him to

be anything but what I thought him to be. He was irrational
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and irresponsible I thought at that time and he left for
Ann Arbor. Ve had quarrels. I told him I found puch a
ochange in him that our friendshlp could not be enything
but elster and brother and he resented that and seid he
would not consider it and to walt until I took the initla-
tive and reconsidered ny attitude. He left for Birmingham
that night and when he came back he phoned my sister in the
morning and asked her to intercede for him. He phoned me
Xakiex later and we made a date for the followlng evening,
S8aturday night. He came over and he looked rather haggerd
that evening. He hed been in Birmingham and he seemed
nervous and he twitohed his 1lp and he was quite nervous.
W2 stayed at home that evening, it wae quite and 1
did not want to go out dancing.

Q Did he write you about this, or was it at & later date?

A VWhat are you referring to, Mr. Darrow? \

Q After he returned from Birmingham?

A No. He called up my sister in the morning to ask her
to intervene, and then he phoned me later. He didn't write
at the time. |

Q Was he away a while after that?

A Yes, he left for Oharlevoix,
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Q VWhen did he see him again?

A The next time I saw him was the latter part of
September, when he oame back from Charlevoix,

Q How was he at that time?

A He soted very irrstiongl, and he was very 5ab§ish at
that time, and infantlle, I thought.

Q Did you form sny opinion during these times that you
were with him, about hlis condition?

A Well, I thought he was irresponsible and irrationsl
at times,

Q@ How was he as to cﬁildiahness or ag to immaturity?

A Vell, he had graduated from the university at a young
age, but this was not apparent in his general behaviour.

Q@ Did you o cate with his pecple about hie actions?

MR, OROWE: I objeot.

MR. DARROW: Q Well, did you have any conversation with
anybody about him, about the condition of his mind, without
stating what 1t was?

MR. OR : I object.

THE COURT: 8She may anewer.

MR, DARRO¥: Q@ Did you have any conversations with

anybody ebout the condition of hig mind, you don't need to
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state what 1t was?

A VWith my mother.

Q@ Do you know anything about his drinking?

A He had drank heavily, but he wes not intoxloated
in ny presence.
| @ Do you remember his calling, ebout February 2lst,
and you going out driving with him?

A TYes, he called for me at school, he had just returned
from Charlevolx for about a five-day visit, and he ocalled
for me at school and took me home. He wae more composed
at that time than I hed seen him for e long time,

Q What year was that? |

A This year, 1984.

Q And how was he the next time you saw him?

A The next time I saw him he wae still infantile, that
was the Sunday that I releted about his teking thon' intro-
\dgotiona to the people so flippantly, -and aoted in a childj.qﬂ«‘f
manmer.

MR, OROWE: I move to strike that out, your Honor, as not
responsive.

MR. D ¢! What part do you mean?

MR. 0 : A1l of it.
1ol ine PEE) OURT £ WG She YaR a1 whioith PN tITEN “tingegl it
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How he appeared and acted in her presence, is perfectly
oompetsnt for her to testlfy to, but her conclusions that
he was infantile may go out. |

MR, D W: @ When was the lest time you saw him?

A May 6th.

Q 1May 6th was the last?

A TYes.

Q@ From your observation of him and your assoclation
with him, what he said and did, what did you think of him
as to whether he was balanced or unbalanced in mind, or
normal or abnormal?

A Well, I didn't think that these infantile tendencies
had anything to do with his being abnormal. They were
personal oconclusions,

MR. DARROW: You may oross examins .
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OROS8 EXAMINATION
BY MR ORORE.

MR, CROWE: Q Dootoz, you haven't gtated anything — oh,
I beg your pardon. You haven't stated anything sbout a
eplit personality?

MR. DARROW: I objeot to the question.

THE OCURT: Yes, strike i1t out.

MR, OROWE: @ Did you observe that?

MR. DARROW: I objeot to the question.

THE OOURT: Yes, strike it out. The objection is

sustained.
MR. OR : Q Dick was fond of you, wasn't he?
A I presume 0.
Q And you were fond of him?
A I was,
- Q Wnat?
A I was.
Q 4And still are?
A Xo. Tot in that way.
'Q In what way?
A I am not fond of him.

Q Vhat?
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But from that time on you have been going with each

other wp until May 6th?

A

O > O > O PP O

No, occasionslly I would see him,

Well, occasionally?

I would gee him, but that didntt meesn anything.

Being & lady of courss you wouldn't lis to help Dick out?.
I ghould may not. \

And you wouldn't lie to the state's attorney?

I did not.

Do you remember being down in the states attorneyts office

on Juns 27, 1924, and in the presence of your mother, your

slaster, Mr. Allen, the short writer, and Mr. Bavage, making

gome statements there?

4

Q
A

Q

I do.
You were telling the truth there, were you not?
I war.

Do you remember this question being asked you: "Q Was

there anything sbout Richerd® (reférring to Loeb) "that impressed

¥X you as being peculiar in any way?*

MR. DARROW: Now, just a ninute —

A

Yos, alr,

¥R, + Q And you snswered "Hever®?

A Yes, I did answsr that way.

Hei nOnl i ne --
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MR, DARROW: UNow, just a minute. I objeot until the
witness is shown the testim‘ony. |

KR. OROWE: B8he 1s not entitled %o i%, your Homsr, thiin
iz my private memoranda.

UR., DARROW: It is not your private memoranda. 8he oame
down to your office at your request, and you took her state-
ment, snd you are asking her whether she made these statements
down thers. '

MR. OROWE: And she sald she did,

MR. D W: How, i1t is a perfectly plain proposition of
law, that you should show the wlitness, before the questions
are ssked, the gtatements from whioh you propess to read.,

MR, CROWE: FNo. That is not the law.

Q@ VWas this question asked you?

THE COURT: dJuet & moment.

MR, OROWE: Well, I will show it to her (handing statement
to witness).

UR. DARRON: Xow, I want her to read the statement through.

MR, CROWNE: No, che is going to read the questions and
answers thet I put to her.

MR, D W: TNo, I objeot to that. 6She is entitled to read

hdr whole statement.
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MR. CROWE: No, she is not entitled to read her whole
statement.

MR. DARROW: Well, now, you and I disagree. If the Court
egrees with me, that is all right, but if not, I will bring
in my authorlties.

MR. ORCWE: We have had s0 many new rules of law advanced
by ¥r. Darrow in this case, and I want to ask if we have got
to u.ﬁoint where we cannot show that & witness has deliber-
ately committed perjury by statements made at another time?

MR. DARROW: 1I object to that.

THE COURT: B8trike 1t out of the record. She has ﬁot

testified yet on cross examination.

MR, OROWE: ALl right.

THE COURT: I am inclined to rule with the states attorney.
This is not a public document, 1% is not a signed doounsnt,
If it were, you could ask her if that is her signature, and
then read any question to her that was put to her. For the
purpose of lmpeachment, if she made one stgmempnt in the
states attorney!s office and mnother one here, I think the
states attorney has a right to show whether or not that
questlon was put to her in his ofiice, and if she denies 1%,
then he cen show it by the shorthand man who took the notes,

1f necessary. But, however, it 1s very near to the regular
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adjourning time, and rather than have any wrong done to
elther side, or having the record not straight, I will
le¢t you submit your suthorities at ten minutes %z of two.
Wie are adjourning ten minutes earlier, and themx I will
have ten minutes for the authorities, and we will procead
with the oross examindtion of the witness at two ofclock.
At ten minutes of two I will look at the authorities, and
at two o'clock we will resume with'the teatimony.

MR, OROWE: I agsume Mr. Darrow will p;oduoe'hia
authorities, Lie having the affirmance of the proposition?

THE OOURT: Yes.

MR, OROWE: I also want the Court to advise the witness
that ehe is not to talk with anybody with reference to her
testimony, during the noon recess.

THE COURT: Very well. &She understands that is the :
instruction of the Court.

We will now adjourn untill’  o'clock this

TR U I
afternoon.
811811000,

" ¥hereupon an adjournment was here taken by
Court and Counsel to 1:50 o'clock P.X., Augﬁat
7th, 1934,
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Thursday, August 7th, 1934,
1:50 o*clock P.M,
Court conwvened at 1:50 o*olock P.M. Thursday,
August 7th, 1934, pursuent o adjowrnment

heretofore taken.

Present, same as before.

MR, DARROW:  TYour Honor, I have been Working on

this through the luncheon hour eand I have not found
an Illinois case, I have run down the enoyclopedia of
evidence in which I find that it i8 in some states
that it is sufficient to show the witness writing, per~
wmitting him $0 inspect it.

In some jurisdioctions it is optional with
the lmpeaching party to ahgw the vwriting to the wijc\-
ness or to read various parts thereof.

In Alabama Where the writing is read to tﬂéﬁ”
witness it must be read to him in its entirety.

In other jurisdioctions to establish a founda-

tion the writing must be shown to the witness,

It is proper, however, &t the qurest of the

assalled witness to read the writing to him, VWhere the
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witness cannot read the writing he is entitled to
have 1t read to him,

MR, CROWE: Well, there is not any doubt about that,

MR, DARROW: I do not think there 18 any difference
although I have not found a case to the point in Illiw
nois, Where there 1s a shorthand transcript the
suthorities do hold that the shorthand transoript may
be read, but I have not found Where the questiion was
ralsed as to the right to inspect it fdret,

Where the testimony is taken down by a sten~

)

Ographer at the time the Question is read from the

minutes of the stenographer as transcribed and of courss

there might bs some things in it that would qualify
the answer. It seems to me the witness should have

the right to inspeot it,

THE COURT: The Court will sustain his original
ruling, that they are not entitled to inspect it, but
I will ask Mr. Crowe if he cross examines the witness

upon part of his statement that he ask hinm ever ything
that was put to him,

MR, CROWE: The rule is this, as I understand it,

and 11 is in line with yow Honor's decision that
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I ask him, "Did you not on a certain occasion and
in the presence of certaln persons --

giving the time and place, make a statement
to this effect,"

After I have done that it 1s proper for Mr, Darrow on
redirect to ask the witnees to stats the entire
conversation, ae he recalls 1t, and when we get to
the proposition of impeachment and put the stenogra~
pher on, Mr. Darrow can then go intc the entire
conversation, but at this time all I am obliged to
do is to ask as to those matters upon whioch I intend’
to impeach.

THE COURT: I think you are right,

The record will show that the objection '
of the defense is overruled.

" en an W
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MY S:S LORRAINE NATHAN, |
then resumed the stand for further examination gnd"'
testified ae followa:

CROSS EXAMINATION
(Continued)

BY STATE'S ZTTORNEY CROVE

IR, CROWE: Q You ere Mige Lorreine Nathant

AYes, I anm,

Q The same young lady who testified this wmorning?

A Yes,

Q I will ask you whether or not, Miss Nathan, on
Thursday, June 37th, 1834, at one thirty P.M. you
were not in the office of the State's Attorney of
Cook County in thie building and in the presence of

your mother, Mrs. Jennie Nathan -- is that her name?
A Yes, it is,

Q@ And Mise Rosaline Nathan, your sist‘:é;'?
:,:\.,‘Ye’s.

Q 4 oowrt reporter named E, M. Allen, you were not
asked the following duestion by Mr, Joseph P, Savage,
Who 8its behind me, and if you did not make the fol-

lowing answer, referring to Richard Loeb:

"¢ VWas there enything about Richard that'
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A I enswered "Yes". |
Q@ Now, wait a minute, and did mot you ahswei- "Never"?
A Yes.

Q Were you not then asked:

®"Q Just what Would you think of him?"

And did you not make the following ansver:
"I thought he was & most manly character®?
A I did, |

Q Was not the following question asksd you: "

"Q  You thought he %as an idsal yowng
fellow, is +that right"?
And did you not answer "Yes sirx"?

A I suppose I did,

Q "Q More of 2 mannish man than the average
young fellow of hls age who is running |
around?"

And didn't you answer,
"Yes, sure"?

A I don't remember,

Q Were you not then asked:

"Q He was more of & young men than he was
a boy?" |
And didn’$ you answer:

"Yes, he was very mature in his ideas."
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A I don't remember,
Q "Q Very brilliant",
and did you not answer?
"Very brilliant"t
A 1 ad.
Q "Q Mnd a gentleman at all times"?
.. Ahd a1d you not enswer:
"A A perfect gentleman"?
AT dig,
Q Were you not then asked:
"Therg was nothing, there was never anything
about hlis actions that would lead you to

velieve that he was anything other than &

gentleman”?
A T did,
"ITQ‘And did you not a.ns#ég:
"No sir™?
A1 did.
Q Were you got then asked:
| "Nor was there nothing about his conversation
that would lead you to belisve that he wae
anything more than a gentleman",
and did you not answer?:
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A Y aid.

Q "And his conversations were rational at all
times, is that right",

Ignd dld you not answer: ‘
"At all times"?
A1 don't remember. I suppose I did,
'UQ Were you not also asked:

"Q He was just the same as any other young

fellow that you might be in company with",
égd did you not answer:-

"Yes"?
A T believe I did,
Q Well, will you state that you did or did not?
A VWell, I believe I did. I don't remember exactly
avery Question,

Q Were you not then asked?

3

"Q His conversations vwere famiona;f
aid.did you not answerx, |
*Rational"™?
Al dan't remember.,
Q TWers you not then asked:
"Q And logioal",

and did you not ansver:

"Logloal"?
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A I dontt remember,
] "Q Did he talk on!alppaﬁ any subjeot",
and 4id you not answsr:
"Yea"?
ATl believe I did;
Q was this Question not asked yous
"Q Did you ever hear anyone say anything
that would be detrimental to Richard Loeb;
and did you not answer:?
"No"?
A I aid.
, “Q Were you then asked,

"There is nothing that you oan think of

now that would change your opinion other
than thie happening of May 31st, of
Richard Loeb being other than what you
considered an intelligent youngman®,
-and did you not answer:

. "No"*?

A I did.

Q@ And were you not then asked this question:
"Q Perfeotly sane and perfectly normal in
every respect"?

A 1 did.
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Q And did you not answer;..‘
"Perfectly sane"?
Al did.

Q Dickwrote a great many letters to you, didn®t he?
A He did.

Q And after the murder his brothpr called for them
and you gave them to him?

. AT d1dn’ give them to him; my sister gave them to bim.
Q Your sister did., Was this duestion asked you in

the State’s Attorney?s Office at the time and place
agd in the presence of the persons heretofore indiocated:

"Did he ever express hls ldeas to you at

~ any time while you were talking to him,
EAR

4

* Richard?"
| "A Diok always deld the most ldealistioc
' views on life, Hig ideas of a girl were the
 wost besutiful that anybody would Want o
. lmow, I dm?t know of anything that seemed
X peculis in ‘any ¢f his ideas"? %
W s .
| ﬂ’.Q were you iying in the Statels Attorﬁ:eyfé'afficef ldr‘
are you lying now?

MR, DARROW: TJbbject to that question.

THE COURT: Oh yes, |
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REDIRECT EXAMINATION
BY MR. DARROW,

MR, DARROW: @ Do you know whether the stenographer

took down all your answers?

A He did not. Mr, Savage would say, "Plsase omit
this®, when he wished.

Q@ Do you remember any particular thing he

sald to omlit?

A VWhen he was trying to convince me of things other-
wise than what I believed my statement to be true.

Q@ Do you remember what the subject of it was?

A No, but he tried to sway me from my opinions many
a-time,

Q Did you say anything more to him about Dick's
mental ocharacteristics? |

A No, but my sister did.

Q Vhile you were present? |

A Yes, I think ske did.

é How did you get down 10 the State?s Attorney'!s
office?

A By a subpoena for the Grand Jury.

Q And did you go to the State's Attorney!s office
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or thé¢ Grand Jury?

A I went to the Grand Jury first, and there was no
Grand Jury, and so we were told to go to the State's
MAtorneyls office.

Q Who told you to go there?

A Some man that directed us.

Q TVwas thers any Grand Jury in séé‘sié‘i‘z’ft“
A

No.

Q But your subpoena called for you to go to the
Grand Jury?

A It d4id.

Q Do you know who t0ld you %0 " to the Sffg,'tga,!,g

Attorney's office?

-

A BSome man in the building we asked where we could

see Mr, Smith or one of the Assistant State's Attorneys,
| Q How long before you got the subpoena before

'y,oﬁment downthers? -

@ Ve got it, I believe, on a Monday, I don't remem-

ber the exact date, but I was 1ill in bed, and my folks
, called up to have 1t extended for another day.

Q You were 111 in bed at the time?

AT wag.

Q And then you went down the next day?
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Q W%ho did you find at the Statels Attorney's office
when you got there?

A Mr, Savage, and then Mr. Sbarbaro came in,

Q You had never thought anything about these Gues-

tions before you went there, had you?
A ¥o, I had not. ‘
Q Since that time have you gone over the details’

in your own mind of what happened betveen you and
Richard?

A I have, Mr. Darrow, and the reason I did not g

" into detail was because I thought those were personal

questions, and Would pertaln to our Quarrels, and I
did not wish t0 go into those details.
Q Was there anything said by anyone in their

presence, either you or: your sister, directly about

Dick?s mental condition?

A Tes, my sister sald -~

MR, CROWE: Valt & minute, I object. Put her
sister on the stand and let us cross examine her,

MR. DARROW: I am asking her whether anything Was
said -~

MR, CROWE: No, she is starting to tell what her
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sister was supposed to have sald, .
MR, B, C. BACHRACH: If the Court please, I think
we are entitled to the whole of the conversation.
MR, CROWE: Oh, the whole of her cconversation ——
THE COURT: dJuet walt now,
MR, B. C, BACHRACH: W%e have called out only partse,

THE COURT: tf thers is anything more, young lady,

you noW remember, if there was any duestion put to

you or any answer you gave to the State!s Attorney

at that time that is not in this record, you can tell

ug what the question was and the answer you gave thereto,
THE WITNESS: I don't remember, yowr Honor,‘beoause‘

I wae Quite nervous at the time, and I just came from

a 8ick-bed.
MR, B, C, BACHRACH: The pgint is this, if your

Honor please:  the question Mr. Darrow asked was, if
in her presence her sister stated something as |
part of the same oconversation,

THE COURT: 7You can put on her eister and thenif
there is any attempt to lmpeach her sister you can
put this young lady back agaln. They may admit
what her sister says, if anything.

MR, DARROW: Q Miss Mathan, did the State!s Attorney
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read to you ell that fdﬁ séid there?

A No, he dild not.

MR, DARROW: I would 1ike %o see the balance of it,
¥r. Crowe,

MR. CROWE: No, let her state what I did not read.

MR. DARROW: I would like to see the balance of it,
If I can®™ get 1t we Will have to leave it as it 1s.
1hax ie all,
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RECROSS EXAMINATION®

BY MR, CROWE.

MR, CROWE: Q 1Is there anything that you said at
that time to the Statels Attorney that you haven't
’told,‘that you reme nber?

A I don't remember, I sald I was in a nervous state
at that time.

Q Who did you talk to during the noon rqqeéé?‘

A To my mother.

Q Who else?
A To Mr. Glassner.

'Q Who else?
A And my sister, That isall,
Q Who is Mr, Glassner?

" A He i8 gupposed to be a counsel for the defense,
MR, DARROY: B8hall I state who he iBs?

YR, CROWE: Q He is one of the lawyers for the ‘des.
fgglli, you understand?
" MR. DARROW: He is the young man who has bqaniﬁyéé;
tigating for —- | |
R, CROWE: Wait, I am asking her, Mr. Darrov,

Q He 1s one of the laWyers for the defense, you under—

stand, is that right?
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A Yes, I do. |
Q Did you talk to the defendant Richard Loeb?

A Yes, I spoke %o him,
Q Didn't you tell him, "Dick, I am sticking with you?r™

A T 4id not,

MR, CROWE:  All right.

i e e s
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REDIRECT EXAMINA ION
BY MR. DARROV,

MR, DARROW: Mr, Glassner 1s a young man Who

has been investigating in this matter, as far as
wWo Know,
Q Do you know Mr. Glassner? .
- Al did. |
‘I Q Before this time?
A No, I Gid not,
MR. DARROW: That is all.

K

FE ,& |
(Witness excused) .
a i“r "::éz
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EDWIN MEISS,
called as a Witnese on behalf of the Defendants, having
been first duly sWorn, testified as follows:

DIRECT EXAMINATION
EY MR, WALTER BACHRACH.

MR, WALTER BACHRACH: Q Will you state your name?
A Edwin Meiss.
Q@ Where do youlivs?
A Cincinnati.
Q What is your businessg or occupation?
A Reporter on the Cincinnatl Inquirer.
Q Were you et one time & student atthe Up%vg;qﬁﬁ%é;.
¢f Michigan at Ann Arbor? )
A Yes,
Q When did you graduate from that institution?
A In 1923, June,

Q D0 you know Richard Losb, one of the defendants ;h
‘this case?

A Yes,

Q Did you know him at Ann Arbor?
A Yes.
Q@ When &id you first become acquainted with him?

A In October, 1931l.
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Q@ T%as he then a student st Ann Arbor?

A He had entered as a student. 3

Q@ Did your acqueintanceship with him continue from
that tims until the time you graduated from Ann Arbor?

A Yes,

Q During that period of time wcre you a member and
officer of the Z,B,T. fraternity?

A I vzs a member end in my senior year was an officer.

Q What office did you hold in your senlor year?

A Presldent, '

Q was Richard Loela member of that fraternity during
the period of your incumbency of the office og
president?

A Yes,

Q Was your friendship with him quite close?

A Quite close,
'Q During the time that you knew himet Ann Arbor

'did you have occaglon to observe him at frequent 1nte£~
vals?

A T was With him every day virtually,

Q During that pericdof time state whether or not
you ever eaw hin faint?

A I saw him faint three times,
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Q Will you tell us when wae the firet time that

ocourred?

A The first fainting was at a time when a group
of boys jumped upon hiqhﬁd bore him to the flooxr and
then they stood up and just &8 he was aboul to ralee
himself up he fainted.

Q Do you know whether or not they inflicted any
injury upon him at that time?

A They did not,

Q Will you describe his condition when he fainted

a8 he gppeared $0 you, how did he look?
A Viell, he was pale, I don't remember exactly ho¥ he

looked, bis exact condition. I remember he fainted

and I was present when he fainted and his face was

pallid and then he was carried from the room,

Q Do you know how long he was in that condition

:Jﬁ?proximately? '
'u‘A Approximetely three minutes; I should say.

Q When was the next time he fainted?

& The next time he fainted wasduring initiation,
directly after initiation.

Q What wes the character of that initiation?

A That wae a physiocal initiation.
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Q And what wae his condition or how did he appeer
to you at the time he fainted on that occasion?
A BSimilar to the first tims.

Q How long was he unconsciogs thent?

A1 am not sure, but /I don't think it was any
longer than the first time, .

Q How long an interval elapsed betwesn the first
fainting episode you have describsmd and the seoond
one?

A 1% vas at least a week afterwards,

Q When wae the third occesion he fainted?

A At the conclusion of the formal initiation,

Q How long after the ssoond fainting episcde you have
described?

A Approximately a week.

Q What was the character of the function which took
place at that time?

A The function wae purely a formal ceremony,

Q By that you mean what, describe it in a general.
way.

A The reading of the ritual.

Q Was there anythingin the way of physical force
applied to Richard Loeb at that time?

A There was no force whatever, In fact at that
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time he was in a Tuxedo, formal dress.

Q Describe how that thing took place at that tiie;

just what happened?

A Well, it was merely the conclusion of the

‘ceremony and he fainted away,

Q How did he appear at that tinme?

A. Similar to the other two tiumes.

Q

Did you notice whether hée eyes were opened or,

closed at that time?

A Neo, I did not.

Q Rxad Do you know how long he wes in that condition,

in’ an unconscious condition?

A

Q

I am not sure, he was carried upstalrs,

Can you give me some approximate ideal
Approximately three minutes, I should say.
Do you know who carried him upstalrs?

In that instance, I think ¥r. LeWy d{dﬁ

Mr. Leonard Lewy? -

Yes, I am not sure of that, btut I thinkvsgw

And those are the only falnting episodes you call
. i ‘o )"ll

ﬁow recall?

A Yes,
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may have noticed 1ﬁ his menner of speech?

A He spoke in a jerky fashion, Vhen he spoke, hé‘
spoke fast and he would utter his words in a very basty
manner, & jerky manner, He would not speak in a
smooth and free manner, whigh is the usual way with
individuals,

Q In his conversation ﬂaqfhis talk 10g16$1 or 1¥;93&
lcal? |
. & Hewould fredquently argue on matters which were
not relevent. When we were speaking, when we were
eargulng on a certain subject he would not infrequently
take & different aspect of the subject and stick to that
with the result that his friends credited him with --

MR, CROWE: Walt a moment. I object to his
friends ——

THE COURT: Yes, sustained,

MR, BACHRACH: Q You gay he would stick 'boua'%é;&n;?y
. < S Foay N '~‘,u/. T '[

LR

£y
'

vhen he started out?

A Hestarted out and would ineist upon arghing that
point.

Q VWhat relation, if eny, didthet point have to

the general subject of discussion?
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A+ It was usually some minor point vhich did not matter
in the main argument,

Q YNow did.you notice any signs of nervousness in
Richard Loeb other than you have already described?

A Yes,

Q Pleasse $ell us What they zre or were?

A He would always walk hastlily. He would pop into
the room, In coming upstairs he would take two or
three steps at a time and run. He very seldom walked
in the manner which is customarily done. Even when he
lounged he would flop down in the seat and all of
a sudden he would jump up. In smoking he would tggp‘
what is known as a drag -« |

MR, CROWE: Wait a minute, Wait £111 a Question
has been asked,

MR, BACHRACH: Thaf is a part of the g Xxx answer

to the question“that I put to him,

Hei nOnl i ne --

" MR, CROWE: Read the question., All right, Go ahead.,
I withdraw the objection.

A He was zzxxxzu nervous in smoking in that he took
& qQuick heavy drag and jerked the cigarette from hig
wouth, When he was arguing he would walk back and

forth, he would walk to the end of the room and sud-
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denly jerk around and walkback in the othexr direction
and keep that up. He didn't sit still very much.
MR, BACHRACH: Q During that pericd of time how
did he appear to you as to whether he was ochildish
or adult in his mental opersatione?
A He appeared childish.
Q Can yougive us some 1nc;déhts td'ilj.us\tr‘é,t’é. ‘ng\féq |
answer? | |
A On occasions when things of importence wers to be
done, on any edcasions where anything was to be done
which reduired cooperative effort upon the part of
his friends and himself he would becoms over-anxious
and in his zeal he Would beocome annoying t¢ his friends
and to myself in attempting to carry out his share,
. Q You haed a system of mentorship at that university
at thet time? -
A Yes,

¢

Q 'That was conducted by the ffaternify?
| A Yes,

Q Was there such a privilege of mentorship conferred
upon memwbers of your fraternity, senior members of
your fraternity?

A
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g6r
& guide or mentor to the activities of a freshmen in |
view of the immaturity of the freshman as he came
into the unlversity.

Q WVas the privilege of mentorship given t0 Richard
Loeb?

A No sirx.

Q Why not?

A Beoause I appointed the mentors, so I can say "
that I considered that he was not able to act as &
gulde to a freshman,

MR. WALTER BACHRACH: Q Why not?

A Because he did not —~ his actions were not such ?5
would incur the respect of a freshman,

Q Actions wWith respec t#t to what? Chilé;shnegq?

MR, CROWE: Let him tell it,

A To judgment,

MR.WALTER BACHRACH: Q During that time were there’
occasions when sometimes a senior had two wards, as:
to mentorship?

A That year several had two and one had t hree,

Q Do you know Whether the exeoutive council dur-

ing that period of time censured Richard Loeb for

actes of a childish character or conduoct of a childish

HeinOnline -- 3 Illinois. Crimnal Court. Cook County. Trial Transcript Leopold and Loeb 1836 1924



- a7r

Hei nOnl i ne --

1657

Cn

characgter?
A During a perlod of time he was --
MR, CROWE: Just & minute. Yes or no,

A Yes sirx,

MR, B®ALTER BACHRACH: Q Now, will you tell us
¥hat the occaeion was for that action on the part of
the executive committee?

A Because of hie enjoyment — because of his wish
to conduct himself in this manner, that ie, oonductiﬁé
himself as unbecoming an upper classmen. A% cne tinme
his upper class privilegss were taken from him, and he
wag considered for a period of time as an under—c;agg
man in the fraternity.

Q Do you remember the occasion of his graduation
from‘the University of Michigan?

A Yes sir.

Q Was he the youngest member in his class at that' |
time? A The records state that he was,

Q Do you know whether or not he cut the co¢mq§qg@§hf
exercises?

A No, I do not,

Q You don!t know about that?
A No sir.
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OROSS INATION
BY MR. OROWE,

MR. CROWE: & TWow, Mr. Witness, I understand you to say
that Richard Losb's mouth twisbed, and he talked in a slow,
jerking way, and not fluently like other people, and you
considoered that a bed sign?

A I sald nothing — I didn®t say his face twigted.

Q@ Or his mouth?

& Or his mouth twigted. I made no statement of that
sort.

Q That did twist?

A 1 no statement that anything twisted.

Q@ VWell, what was it sbout hls speech?

A I said he gpoke fast and jerkily.

Q And you speak slow end jerkily, don't you?

A Perhaps. I never noticed it.

Q Tow, the first time, Dick fainted, a orowd of ‘Boys
Jjumped on him, is that correct?

A Yeos, sir.

Q And Diok was the yom:;cgeet fellow in his class?

A Tes, sir,

Q@ So &1l the boys who jumped on him wers oldex than
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No, sir. :

Were the majority of them older?

I am not sure.

¥hat year was he in when they jumped on him?

He was in his junior year.

And what class were the boys in that jumped on him?

Three classes, senlor, junior and scphomore years.

And Dick gradusted there at the age of what? 8ixteen?

I don't know.

Well, he was the youngest man in the college to graduate?

Yes.

O P HOH B OH B O > O B O

Now, are you qulite certain that instead of fainting, that
he was not knocked out at that time?

4 Yes, sir.

@ How do you know?

A Of ocourse there is a v possibllity that that my v
the oass, but a mmber of other boys —

Q Mo, no, how do you know? What is the rggggé? g

A That i» my obmervation.

Q@ TYou observed & number of boys jumping on thia little

fellow hers sixtecn ysars of age at that timet

A He was the pgame height.

HeinOnline -- 3 Illinois. Crimnal Court. Cook Obunty. Trial Transcript Leopold and Loeb 1839 1924



om

1840'

Q@ 4nd as the result of being jumped on, he lost
consciousness. KNow, you don't know as a matter of feot
whether he fainted or whether he was knocked out, do you?

A I did not eay, —— I said that he was golng to get
up when he spuddenly fainted.

Q@ When he was initiated in the fraternity, you say
that was a physioal initiation?

A Yes.

Q@ Did they have & goat there?

4 I don't know,

Q@ Well, he was not used —

4 In what senset? In what sense?

Q (Continuing) — very gently, was he?

A He was used no harder than any of the ks other boys
who tock the initiation,

Q@ I know, but the initiation was not a gentle affair.
It was a physical initiation, adminigtered by a lot of young
college boys, was it not?

A Yes, glr. It was supervised —

Q 4nd do you know whether --

MR, DARROW: Let him finigh his answsr.

UR. ORO¥E: Q GSupervised by who?
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A It wae supervised by several graduste students in
college.

Q Oh, yes. Who were members of the fraternity?

A Yes.

Q Fellows who were about twenty-one, or two or tﬁ%éﬁe',
who happesed to be present at the time?

4 Two men who were about twenty-four, who were in
medical school, were thers.

Q@ Oh, you had a couple of dootors there to see that
1f they did knook him out, he could be revived again, is
that 1t?

A I don't know. I haven't thought that 1t was.

Q Then you carried him upsteirs, was it one of these
dootors that carried him up, that you had on hand?

A I dontt remember. The dootors were emall, and I
d}oﬁblt if they could have carried him.

'Q Well, did the dootor attend him?.

A I imagine so.

Q VWsll, you have presty rough initiations when you have
$0 have a couple of doctors present to see that you don't
kill anybody?

A I didn't say that the dootors ware present to see that

Il one' 'wad k1116l . " Thé*Qottdrg’ weré prEssit bedatse  they
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were living in the fraternity house and were members of
the fraternity and were attending the university.
Q@ A1l right, now, the next time he falnted was at
another initiation at the sems fraterniiy, is that correoct?
A Yes, sir. The mame initiation, but a different rituel.

Q@ Descrlbe the inltlation sc we can find out whether

there wag anything in that that would cause a boy to feel

faint?
A I don't care to do that, sir. I don't feel free to.
Q@ TWas that on the same day?
4 A week later.
Q Of ocourse we have got to take your word whether it

was & faint or another knoock-out. You wontt describe the

" initiation, will you?

A I will describe 1t to this extent —

Q@ Will you desoribe everything that was done,

A" I will describe it —

Q@ o, no, will you desoribe everything that was done
in that Initlstion?

A Fo, I will not describe everything.

Q@ All right. Now, the time Diock was cengured, that was

for being drunk, wasn't 1t?
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A There were several occasions on which he was
censured.

Q Well, he was censured for beim drunk, wasn't he,

A One &&e time he was censured for being drunk,

Q You dontt regard drunkenness as a childish Shantasy,
do you? Or a childish'attainment?

ATl don*t know. It may be in somé cages,

Q Now, before you take a fellow into the fraternity
there, you rush him, as you say, for some time, don't
you?

A Ve oonsider him, yes,

Q And by rushing you mean that you inveetigate
him and observe him very closely to see that he iz the
kind of a fellow you would like %o have in the frater-
nity?

A Yes sir.

v
I

Q Tou aid that in’Loébts G4EE, AlENE TEH
A Yes sir,
Q You had asbout twenty-eight members?-

A Approximately,

Q And they all investigeted?

4 Investigation wae made, yes, and all the members’
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became aoquainted'witﬁ him,

Q 7Yes, ke 18 brought up to the house for dinner,
snd he is introduced to all of the fellows so that
before you take him into the sacred precincts of your
fraternity, you are satisfied he is the kind of a
fellow you want in there?

A Yes sirx, )
Q Now, you do not take in your fraternity boye that

are mediocre, do you?

A Not if we can help it,
Q@ You try to get the pick of the college, don't. you?
(A Yes sir, |
Q And you took Dici in'aftéi"inveéﬁfééting hin for
& long period of time?
A Three months,
Q 474 he was unanimously elected as & mémbex ?:
A He wes elected as z membsr,
Q He was not blackballed by anybody, -}}ays‘ﬁé% :
A I am not free to say. |
Q Well, I will withdraW that. He was elected after
three months of investigation by twenty~eight men who

wanted to get into that fraternity the pick of the
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college, that is true, isn't it?

A He became a member of the fra’cemify after considg-
eration by those twenty-eight men,

Q@ Well, he was elected, was he not?

A Yes sir,

Q Now, what year was that?

A His junior year. o

Q I know, but What year was 157

A December of 1921,

Q@ That wae three years ago, end he is eighteen years
old. He was fifteen years of ags then, ies that right?

A Yes, I suppose,

Q Now, the average fellow thet goes to college after .
he gets out of high school is eighteen or ninstsen years
of age, isn't he?

A Yea sir, I think so,

Q Generally., Ien't a reason that you did not p’uf”
this boy as & mentor over freshmen, that he was three.
or four years younger than any of them? Now, isntt
that a fact?

A He wasn't that young when he was a senior,

Q He was sixteen then, is that right?
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A Probably, yes,

Q And the boys that he would have to bose Would be

boys of eighteen or nineteent?

A That fact had not been held against men previously,

Q Well, it wus a fact bere thatlif he were a mentor,
he would have to have a fellow that was two or three
yeard older than he was to look after?

A The reason he was not appointed —-

Q No, that is the fact, ien't 1t?

MR, DARROW: Just a minute; 1let him finish his answer.

A The reeson he was nct appointed a mentor, as I pointed
out, -

UR. CROWE: Q No, not the reason, but it is a
faot if he was appointed a mentor he would have %o be
the mentor of some boy twe or three years older than
he was?

A 48 I remsmber at that time, there were boys in the
house who were younger than Blxteen, or at deast younger
than eighteen, and I am quite certain that Tthere were

gon® Who were sixteen,

Q Who are they? Who vas younger than sixteen in

Ii

| your fraternity house at that time?
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Q@ What was he at that time?

A He was a freshman.
Q Freshman? Somebody else had him, didn't they?

A Yes eir, one man who hadthree,Mr. Schrayer.

@ So this young fellow who Was sixteen had a mentoz,
didn*t he?

A Yes sir,

Q  And Dick, Who was sixteen, did not have a mentor?
A TYes sir, but this men was & freshpan, and Diock --

Q YNow, wait = minute,

MR. DARROW: One moment, I object.

MR, CROWE: The boy of sixteen had a mentor.

MR, DARROW: I want my point ruled on, that he has a
right to ffgish his enswer,

THE COURT: Let him finish his answer. .

MR. DARROVW: Finish your answer,

THE WITNESS: This boy Klein was a freshman just
entering college from High Sbhool; bhe had had no exe
perlience In college, and that i the reason for which a
mentor is supplled, in order to guide him, and Losb
had been four years in college or wes in his fourth
year in Cocllege, and had been through the mbll,

MR, CROWE: Q ULoeb was a junior when he entered
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into the fraﬁernity end into the c::'llége”?

A Yes sir,

Q S0 that wae the first year he wWas in college?

A Yes sirz,

Q In Ann Arbor, Schrayer, that was his first year
also, wasn't it7 |

A Schrayer attended the University of Michigen for |
four years, - .

Q Oh, Schrayer had four years experience there, and
Dick only haed one?

A Dick attended the University of Chicago for two
years,

Q No, I am talking about A%n Arvor. I em talking
about Ann Arbor? |

A Yes sir,

Q And in the fraternity?

A ves sir,

Q Mnd Dick did not have a mentor, and Schrayer atd?

A Dick was not a mentor, and Schrayer was.

MR, DARROW: 7Yes, you are wrong. Dick was not a
wentor, end Schrayer was, He had three of them,

MR, CROWE: Q When Dick graduated from coliege, he

wag 8till a member of yow fraternity?
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A Yes sir.

Q And is yet?

A Yes g T,

Q You say another queer thing was that when he went
upstalirs, he ran up instead of walking up, taking a
couple of steps at a time?

A That was something I remarked, yes sir,

Q That was very unusual in a young boy of sixteen who
wags extremely athletic and fond of athletics,to run
upstalrs, taking two stalrs at a time? That is duite
unusual, ien't 1t7

Al don'™ know,

Q Well, it appeared unusual to you, and you remember
it all this time?

A That i1s why I remembered it, six.

Q Have you ever seen any other young fellows Tun .

 upstalirs?

A 1 think I have done B0 once or twice, but not qil
the time.

Q Well, you did not do it long enough %o let it become
& phantasy with you or a peychosis?

A I don't know,.
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'}m. WALTER BACHRACH: I objecttb that question.

THE COURT: Stiike it out. ©Objection sustalined.

MR, CROWE: Q You said that when Dick was coopera=
ting with other boys in doing something, he was over-
anxious to help, and 1t appeared to you to bs childish?

A Yes sir, '

Q Now, just give us a specifio instance of something
that he a1d? |

A In ths preparation —= in preparations for enter-

talning guests over a week-end, or things that reduired

preparation ==

Q Give me a specific instance, 'Tell me some partio-
ular ocourrence where in his over-zeal and anxiety
to hélp you, appeared to you to be childish,

A 1In a football game in the house —— I mean it was
held in the yard, but among members of the house he
was 80 Aanrious to conduct the affairs of the game
and to show othexrs how to do it, although he was not
overly proficlent himself, that he incurred the dis-
pleasure of his frieﬁda.

Q A8 a matter of faot, you did not like Dick in
Bobool?

AT liked him,
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Q Yes, Woil, I guees that is all,
¥R, WALTER BACHRACH: Is that all, Mr, Crows?

MR, CROVWE: I think =0«

- oam am wm N o,
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REDIRECT EXAMINATION

BY MR. WALTER BACHRACH,

MR, WALTER BACHRACH: Q Whioh is the mentor, the
one who has charge of another, or the one who is in
charge?

A The one who 1e in charge is the mentor,

Q@ Are you willing to let us know What 1ls the general
cheracter of the initiatory rites whioch you have referred
to, on the oocasion of Dick's having fainted?

A Yes sir,

VR, OROVE: Unless he gives it all, your Honor, it'
is & matter of oross examinetion., I don't want
merely & part of it. |

: MR, WAITER BACHRACH: We don't want all of their
seorets, is all; we don’t want all of the secrets of
this organization.

MR.CROWE: I want the whode of it, or none of it,

MR, DARROW: Oh mno, you don't, That is all it is for,
is just to show the general character of 1it,

THE COURT: Yes, shoW the general character.,

MR. WALTER BACHRACH: Q What is the general ocharacter?
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A The generdl oharacter, as I sald previously, Waé
purely a ritual ceremony; and it was with the pre-
sence of a member of the college who is also an honor-
ary member of the fraternity, and the members were

garbed in formal clothes, and nobody wae touched dur—

ing that oeremony.
Q Well, the reason Why you hesitate? to give us
the information in detail about it 18 because such’
exerolees are secret, is that right?
A yes sir.
Q And you desire tohave them kept so?
A Yes sir,
MR, CROME: Of course we don't know whether there
was something sald to him that scared him in those exer-

clses,

MR, DARROW: The State ought to have the benefit of
the doubt on that.

THE WITNESS: I think twelve others who Wers iAifs '
iated at the same time did not faint,

MR, WALTER BACHRACH: Q He was one of twelve
who were belng initliated together? |

A Yes, one of a large group.
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Q At that time was Stanley Leﬁy a member‘of the’
fraﬁernity? |

A No sir,

Q Viere there any bpys menbers of the fraternity af
that time who were younger than eixteen?

A I would have to lock that up.

Q You don¥t recall now, I mean, freshmen or class-
men?

| A T think as I mentioned, I don't recall exactly.

Q That is alle If a man is a member of the
graduating class and he has a freshman under his care,
which one of these two 1s the mentor?

A The mentor is the senior, the one in the graduating. .

class,

MR, WALTER BACHRACH: That is all.

(witness excused) |

‘Whereupon a short recess was here taken

py Court and Counsel.

v
_— e ol M e e WS
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Cowt resumsd pursuant to short

recesg heretofors taken.

J O H N A BT,
a witness called on behalf of the Defendants, having been
firsp duly sworn, testified as follows:
DIRECT EXAMINATION

BY MR, WALTER BACHRACH,

Q What is your name, please?

A John Abt,
' Q Where do you live?
w‘A 5317 Greenwood.,
Q@ You are a student at the University of Chicggo?‘.

A Yes sir.

Q At the present time you are studying law?
/

JA Yes gir,

Q Dia you gradisté thon the ‘aoadéntc aepartHELt:,
last June? ﬂ

A Lagt June,

Q Do you kgow the defendant Nathan Leopold, Jr.?

A Yes sir,

Q How long have you known him?..
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’

Q Was he s student at the Chicago University at: -
the same time that you were, when you first knew him?

A Yes sir,

Q And how well did you know him?

A The firet year I knew hip very slightly, Then he
went away to Michigen for a year. When he cane
back last year I knew him better, quite well.

Q During that period of time d4id you have oooasioﬁ'
to have lunch with him and have discussions With him
from time tO time?

A TYes, during the last two years.,

Q Did you have any discussions With him during:
that period of time relating to hle philosophy o;’
life?

A Yes sir.

Q Will you please tell us the substance of those,
conversations?

MR, CROWE: I object, your Honor,

YR, WALTER BACHRACH: On what groﬁ:iéi’?"

THE COURT: No. It is competent,

UR. B,C,BACHRACH: We would like to be heard opthat,

briefly,
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MR, CROWE: Ask him what hls politics Weie.

MR, B, C, BACHRACH: We want to show -—ame you ruling
in our favor, your Homnor?

THE COURT: Yes, Tell us, young man,

A His main thesis was that pleasure was the sole
emblem of all conduct,  Whenever he contemplated an
act he would weigh the amount of pleasure, balance it
up againet the amount of pain which he thought he
would get out of it. If the pleasurs was greater
than the pain he would do the act., If not, he would
not, That was hls sold method of determining what
his conduct was,

MR, B, C, BACHRACH: Q When & d you have yqui;irst
conversation with him along this line? |

A Last autumn,

Q Did you have more than one conversation of that
same general tenor?

A Yes, we had very meny.

Q Did youln your conversations with him at any time
disouss the Nietzchean phiiOSOphy?

AI don?t know that we @&id specifically, but we did

refer to it, certainly,

Q Did you ever discuss the superman 1dea ln connec-
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tion with Nathan Leopold?”‘
A Yes,
Q Tell ;s just what Nathan Leopold sald about that,
A He was discussing the subjeoct of his relations to
his friends, and sald that as far as his friends were
congerned, they were simply means to ends, an& he used
them for the amount of pleasure that he got oul of
them, and as soon as a frisnd ceased to glve him plea~
gure Or provoked him in any way, he Would have no
remorse in throwing him over, no gratitude in friend-
ship with the one exception of a boy he regardsd in
- the 1ight of a supermen, a boy who could do anything,
until he got caught, and as soon as he made a mistake
and got caught he ceased to be a supermen, and re-
turned to the levél of ordinary mortals and he would

be on the same status wWith other friends,

Q Did he refer in that connection to Richard Loeb?

A I asked him who the boy was,and he said Dick.
Q Do you know the dsfendant, Richard Loeb?
A ?es.
Q@ How long have you known him?
A I have known him for seven or eight years, I think,

~

Q@ Have you known him well during that period of
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A Wo were freshmen in high school together, and T

knew him very well, |
Q Did he on eny occasion disouss With you the ques-
tion of stealing?

A No, he did not discuss it with me.

Q@ Did he maks refersnce at any time to the ease with
which pockets could be picked?

A Yo, not in words, I remembsr seeing him on several
occasions call my attention to tha fact that he was
about to take something out of a boy's pocket and
then proceed to do it.

Q Some other boy's pocket ?
A Yes,

Q How 0ld was he at that time?

A That was seven years ago.

Q That would make him twelve?
A Yes,

Q@ On any occasion did you see him steal?

A I remsmber on one ococasion we went t0 a shop on 55th
Street and he went in, and I think made some small
purchases, and then -—= I did not know it at the time --

but after we got out of the shop he showed me some
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_small article he hed taken, I don't remember whether it
was a pencil or vwha®, and I asked him if he expected
to take 1t back, and he said he would sowe time,

Q Did he at that time take it back?

A Not as far as I know,

Q How 0ld wae he then?

A About the same age,

Q Eieven or twelve?

A Yes,

MR, WALTERBACHRACH: That is all,

ol . em e
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CROSS EXAMINATION

BY MR, CROWE,

MR, CROWE: Q Tallfing about Leopold and his philos-
ophy of 1ife, as he expoundeqit to you, 1% indicated he
was self-centered and selfish?

A Yes, )

Q And egotistical?

A Yes,

Q You regarded him outside of that as a normal person
who talked ratlonally and intelligently?

A Tes,

Q 4And he discussed this particular philosophy of his
with intelligencet?

A Very intelligent,

Q The same as if another person were Zymfsmy discussing
lﬁhe Darwinlan theory?

A Yes,

'Q Thers was nothing unusual in his behaviour or his
gpeech?

A Except the radicalness with which he adhered to
that dootrine, the radicalness of the doctrine.

Q@ The same as an anarchist would tell you what his
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A Yes,

Q Outside ‘of that it was a normal, reticnal discussion?

Q\?es.

Q Loeb, when he Was eleven or twelve, picked a few
boys'! pockets?

A Yes,

Q Did he give the stuff basok to them?

A I think he uwsually did, yes,

Q He merely wented to show you how smart he was,
the same as he would do a griok?‘

A 1 don't know what his motive was,

Q He just showed you how easy it was %o plck a
pocket, and then he gave the stuff back to him. Now,
I don't suppose wWhen you were a boy you went arowmd
with fellows that went barefooted and whosa folks were
not as well situated financially ae your parents? and
who usad to steal a watermelon occaslonally from a
wagon or in front of a store?

MR, BACHRACH: I object to the question, if your Honor
please,

THE COURT: Let him snswer.

AT don't recall ever having.

¥R, CROWE: Q Your friends didnl!t bhave 5o 8584l .o
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watermelons, if they wanted one thelr folks pouggtf
1t for them? |

MR. DARROW: Or pick a pocket, either,

MR, CROWE: I guess that lsall.

THE COURT: Thatis all, young man.

(Witness excused)-
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ARNOLD MAREMONT,
was ocalled a8 a witness on behalf of the Defendants,
having been previously duly sworn, tegtified as folles:
DIRECT EXAMINATION
BY MR, DARROW.
MR, DARROW: Q Wh;t is your name?
A Arnold Maremont, |
Where do you live?

5316 Ingleside Avenus,

Student at the University of Chicago.

£
'
0
)
)

Q

).}

Q 4ind yowr business?

A

Q Are you engaged in anything now during vacatiéﬁgg?

A Yes, I am doing some work at the Charity Camp, ,
boya work,

Q For some charitable society?

A Yes, the Young Men's Jewish Charities, .

Q Aind you wer; called ab a witness by the Stéé@%g
while ago, several days ago?

A Yes,

Q What department of the university are yoﬁfinf

A The law school, |

Q Do you know Nathen Leopold, Jr.?
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A Yes,

Q How long have you known him?

A About four years,

Q And how well have you known him?

A Juet intimately for a short time during the last
school year.

Q Have you discussed with him his philoszhy,o§‘
life? o

A Yes,

Q@ And you knew his visws on that question prior 1o
May 218t last?

A Yes,

Q How often have you discussed them with him?

A Well, in the fall of 1933 and the early part of

- the winter we had lunch together on an average about

once a Wweek for a period of about four or five weeksp
and after that time we Epexx spent a number of after-
noone together, mainly talking philosophy.

Q What were his views of philosophy?

A He had various views, he was mainly an individual
hedonist,

Q Tell them what you mean by that term "hedonist"?

A He believed in his own happiness regardless of
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anyone else’s right, as far as he was concerned,
anything that gave him bhappliness, and that the only
wrong he could conceive of was something that did not
give him happinsss regardless of anyons else,

Q@ Did you hear hia taly about his favorite authors
on philosophy, or do youknow what school he belonged
to as a philosopher or thought he did, rather?

A He belonged to the Hedoniet School of Philoeophy,
as much as I know philosophy.

Q Did you hesar him talk about a superman?

A Yes, he believed in a superman, believed in the pos-
8ibllity of a superman,

Q Wbat did you hear him say about the superman?

A He felt that logloally men were born with equal
intellects, and starting out with the imbeclle and
the feeble-minded and the man with a very good ming,
ﬁe thought one must reach where some man would have
& remarkebly better mind thean anyone else, and carry-
ing that to a logteal end, there must be one man who
perhaps Would have a perfect mind, and to approach that
stage where he would have that remarkable mind, that
would set him off from the rest of the world's
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minds, tize minds of the ordlnary people,. |
Q What did he say about the duties of obligations of
a superman?
A He felt that the superman should be the law giver,
because after all he had the super intellect, he
ﬁnew more than the other men., Therefore, he would be
the one logteal marf to be in & position to make laws,
and therefore he should make laws t0 sult hlmself,
to satisfy hls own nseds regardless of man made laws.
Q Did you discuss Nietgzsche's philosophy with him?
AT don't know that it weas discussed by him, I think
that I have attempted as best I can to explain
nis attitude towerd the Nietzsohe and supermen phil-
osophy.
Q Nietgsche was a superman philosopher, wasyhe gdt?
A Yes, 8ir, as much a8 I know of him,
Q What 4id he say was the measure of r;ggyfaﬁd
wroﬁg for a superman? ”
A What was right? Do you mean what would be riémt
fo r the superman or what would be wrong for the super—

mant

Q TYes.
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A Merely what he thought was right and what he
thought was wrong,

Q Without regard to eny othsr eystsm of philosorhy
08 morals?

A Yes sir. Of course that would have soms limitations,
--A guperman would have dafiniye ideas I imagine, he
sald, toward life.

THE COURT: Kzep your volce up so we cean all hqag
you please.

THE WITNESS: Yes,

MR, DARROW: Q Were you present in class when he
asked questions azk of the dean about the sﬁperman?

A I imagine I was present, and I just fainly recgl;
the incident.

Q The dean was lecturing on torts.‘

A The Question was asked of Dean Hall, I think the
question asked of Dean Hall was whether or not it Wleg;
be wrong for a suﬁerman to commit a super orime, that
is whether or not his attitude toward right and wrong
should not be taken cognilzance of in fixing his punish-
ment or fixing bis gullt for committing & certain offense,

Q Did you ever have any discuesion with him as to
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pleasurey

A Yes, I think we discussed that, and he said that
one could do anything as long as it give him pleasurs,
as long a8 it would at no time prove a boOomerang and
give him displeasure, ' In fact, he made the statement
one afternoon that if it gave him pleasure to go out
and murder somsone it would be perfectly all right
in his philosophy to go out and murder a person,
pmovided of course he were not apprehended for the mur-
der and forced to suffer punishment.

Q Do you know how long ago that was?

A 1t was some time in the fall, I imagine it ﬁ%%ydr
in Noveuber, |

Q Dié he ever say anything to you with reference
to Richard Losb and his view of him?

A Yes., On one occasion, regarding his superman

philosophy, he said that in his estimation there was

Hei nOnl i ne

one man that he knew that approached the supeiman
stageand that man was Richard Loeb., He said he
arrived at that conclusion by finding out what %to his

mind the certain number of atttibutes a supsrman would

have, and in taking judgment of any particular indi-
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those of a superman and found out hoy close they came,
and he found out that Riochard Loeb came nearest
to anybody that he evepmet or expected to meet.’
Q How was Leopold as to being self-centered, egoistic?
4 He was very egocentric., Practically all the
time that I was with him, in ordinary soolal conver-
sation, he attempted by any sort of ruse poseible to
monopolize the conversation. It didn't make &Ry d4if~
ference what was being said or what was being talked
about, he always attempted to get the conversation
revolving around him so he could 4o most of the talking.
Q@ How wes he a8 to intellect, in a book way? |
,‘A Practically a wWonder.
Q How Was hs in the practical affairs of 1ife?

A I never had any regard for hig\axtitudes, his

judgment practically at all.

Q You x» knew all sbout his attainments in an intel:;

X
leotual way, I suppose; you have heard &ll that?

A Yes sir,
Q And knew something about, 1t?

A Yes sir,

Q Did he tell you anything about what he had done
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in order %o get new eXxperlence?

A Yes sir, Ve talked of that. He said he would try

anything once to find out how much happiness it gavs

him, because to carry out his philosophy conslstently,
one had to try everything to see what gave one the
greatest happiness, and when you found what gave you
the greatest happiness you wanted to do as much of
that as possible,

And along that line I think I recall an
incident where he told me of the excitement in attempt-
ing to do what they call surf flying in Hawali vhen

he was ovsr there last summer, and whioch} according
to his description of it, was a rather dangerous thing
to do, simply to find out what the experisnce was.

Q Do you know what it wes, how it was done?

A As he described it, it wes something like getting

’
in a high wave and trying to ride with it & or against

it on a board. I don't think I ocould exactly reocall,

Hei nOnl i ne --

Q And did he tell yoyabout eating strange dishes

or the like of that?
A I think he seid he tried —- he was willing to try

anything once to see whether or not he enjoyed, and hew

3 Illinois. Criminal Court. Cook County. Trial Transcript Leopold and Loeb 1871 1924



1872
63r

much he enjoyed it.

Q Did he tell you anything aboutbr call your atten-
tion speocifically to anything happening at 63rd and
Cottage Grove?

A I think early in the fall, talking of different
experiences, of different foolish things that one éid,
I think he told me of an incident where he and Dick
Loeb got drunk one night and sat down on the corner of
63rd and Cottage Grove begging pennies. Yes, he
told me that himeself.,

Q Did he tell you whyt? |

A well, at the time I think 1t was attributed tgﬁéigfj
fact he wes supposed to have been drunk,

Q Well, that is not the way I have got it. You are
undoubtedly right.

MR, SMITH: That is not the way he 1s supposed to,
sayit, you mean? |

MR, DArrow; That is not the way I understood it to: .
have been donse.

Q How about his drinking?

Al don?'t think I was ever with him at any time tﬁat
he was over drunk, & recall an incident last Christ-
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mas during the vacation, a oouple of nights before
vacation, shere he made a statement one night that he
had come to such a pass +that he absolubtzly had to
partake of alecoholic stimulants in order to fall a
asleep and in order to keep his mind active during
the day. He sald he was drinking all the time just
to kesp going, could not get alongy without it.

Q Did he say directly anything abous his being & super-
man in connectinn with that?

A He thought he wes at a relative stage -— he thought

his mentality was a great deal superior to the ordinary

 person.

Hei nOnl i ne --

Q That is himself?
A Yes, his mentality., Of course he dld not think he
wag as olosge to being a superman as Dick 4id, by his

putting him there.

Q Did he tell you anything about the "will to powsr"™

and the fundamental desire?

A I don't understend what you mean by that question?
Q Did you get that last question?
A Y think I heard it, but I —-

Q The will to power; that is a Nietzsohean eiprﬁééioﬁ,
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is it ndt?v If you do not recall, all right.

QI don't exactly know what you are referring to,
by "ill to powszx",

MR. B, C, BACHRACH: I don't hear you.

A I don't exactly undsrstand whet Mr. Darrow is
asking there. Perhaps he is asking -~ no, I don?t
understand 1it, |

MR, DARROW: @ I am asking in reference to Niet-
z8che’s idea of the "will to power"™, whether that
w&& discussed,

@ I don' think the term was ever used, that I
recall,

¥R, DARROW: That is all.
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OROSS EXAMINATION
BY MR. CROVE.

MR, OROWE: @ ©Now, did you glve Mr. Darrow all the
information he has got 1n the notes that he has got those
questlons based on?

A TYes.

Q@ TYou did not give him the will to power, dld you?
A I dont't know whether I did or not. MNost likely 1
did not, otherwimse I would have a recollection of 1it. 1I.
did not glve him that information in the form of those
questions. I talked to Mr. Darrow and the questions he

asked me are s tions of our conversation.

Q When you talked to Mr. Darrow he asked you much the
same questions as he did now?

A TNo, he didn*t ask me any ques‘hionﬁf.

Q@ Did you do all the talking?

A Mr. Darrow asked me whether or not I knew anything
that Babe Leopold had told me that would have a bearing on
this case, and not knowing whether 1t would or would not,
I practically gave Mr. Darrow the information that I have
just given in the reooxd.

Q,' Yhen did you talk to him?

rementine G T aked "o “Mr . DErRoW £1red UWo "welki &0, T thitik.
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'@ You talked to Milton Smith, an ageistant state's
attorney, on June 10th, didntt you;l

A Yes, sir. That 1p one of the various times I talked
to Mr. Smith.

Q TYou didn't teil Smith a.nytﬂinfg about these thaories,
did you?

A Mr, Smith at no time ever asked me anything pertinent
to that.

Q i¥m Darrow didntt ask you anything about it either,
did he? He asked you what you knew.

A MNr. 8mith asked me a very pointed question at the time

I was in the office and I answered the question as best I |

could.

Q@ You sald the reason you did not tell Smith was that
Smith did not ask you about these matters. I understood
joﬁ elso to say that Darrow did not ask you anythiag at all,
except one question, "Tell me what you know that might hav;
a bearing on this cage."

A' Yes, sir.

ﬁr. DARROW: 1Isn't that enough?

‘MR, R ¢ Q Then you did tell Mr. Darrow these things

" and you did not tell Smith?
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4 Beocause Mr. Smithesked me an entirely different
question and I anewered his Question as beet I could.
Mr, Smith called me &% in one morning from the uni-
versity —--
Q Well, you have answered 1t now, At the time you
talked to Smith in the State's Attorney's Office
on Tuesday, June 10th, 1934, at ten ten A, N,, there
was present with Smith and yourself a stenographer?
A Yes sir.
Q Talking about Nathén Lsopold, Jr.,wHXx this
Question asked you: |
| "Now, outeide of his brilliancy, what you
could naturally call his super-education,
have you ever had any rcason %o believe
that Leopold was anything else but a
perfectly rational, normal young fellow?"
ﬁéé'that question asked you?
A I donst exactly recall, but I think the Question
amounted to about that.,
Q Mnd your answer wes:
"I have no apparent reason to believe that,no.¥

A Just exaotly.
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"did you have an opinion as to whether he
was sane or insane",
and you sald,
"Well, casually knowing him, I would regard
hinm to be & sane creaturs";

A I don' think that was exactly my answer,

Q Will you say it was mnot?

A Yes, T think I would say that there were a few words
that were left out of the answer, May T state my
reason for saying that?

Q Fo,

MR, DARROW: I will ask Xk him about it then,

MR, CROWE: You can go ahead later,

Q Now, this philosophy —— well, you know Loeb also?

A Casually,

Q 4And he was apparently & very rational, %z normal
youg man algo?

A He was apparently rational,

Q Apparently rational and normal?

A Apparently, yes,

Q You regarded him a8 rational and normal, didnTt you?

 A I never particularly cared for hinm,
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Q@ I know, but you regarded him as rational apﬁ”
normal, Whether you carsd for him or not?
A I regarded him as apparently rational, Yyes.
Q And normal?
gd&pparently normal, Yyee,
Q Yee, Now, as to this philosophy, you and Leopold
were both studying philosophy, or had étudied 1t?
A Yo, I have never studied philosophy. You mean
academical phllosophy?
Q Yes,
A I never studied philosophy.
Q Well, have you read any booksf(
A Yes, I have,
Q While you have not studled it in school, you have
studied it on your oan account?
)A Yes, in a rather haphazard mannsr.
Q And you ueed to gzt into philosophy discusﬁioﬁ?&’
A Of a nature, yes,
Q Bome people believe in the Darwinian theory and
soms don't, isn't that right?
A Those who are competent to believe or not to
belleve, yes,
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guperuan proposition? -

A Yes, there are,

Q IMd in these discussions of the doctrines laid
down by these philosophers, Leopold adopted the Niet-
gochean theory? |

AYes sir.

Q And that is a well-recognized theory of'philésophy?

A V¥hat do you mean by recognized:?

Q Well, it is a well-known theory among students of
philosophy?

A Most students of philesophy get to it sooner’o;:
‘later. |

Q Yes, I say, it is well known., It is nothing new'’
or novel that originated withLeopold?'

A No, his application of it was,

Q It originated with this philosopher?

A His application perhaps was a little dif;erﬁékf?ﬁ$€y
the philosophy itself was not new,

Q Now, Leopold could carry on a very intelligent
discussion, . couldntt he?

4 Mostly a monologue.

Q Of course, I will admit that he 1ikes to ocoupy
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the center of the stage moet of the time, Dbut wbile
he was talking it wes a sensible dlscuesion of that
particular subject?

A Yes, as much as I could m& e of 1t,

Q@ As far as you could understand? And all you
‘could gather is that he had adopted a wrong philosophy
so far as you wers concerned, is that all?

A I never gathered anything from our discussions excebt
What he told me.

Q He did not believe that there was a parfect
man ?

A Dp you mean existing?

Q Yss,

A No, I don' think he ¢ver believed that in this
staée there ever was a perfeot man exlstied,

Q And he thought according to evolution where you come
up from an idiot and then a person of slow or littie
mentality end a gradual deveddpument,

MR, DARROW: We donit come up from idiocy.

THE WITNESS: I dentt think we ever discussed it

from that angle at all.
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MR CROWE: | Q Well, you did say something about
the person of very poor intellect and the men of very
supkrior intelleoct,

A That w=8 not by the Darwinlan theory of evolutien,

Q I amnot trying to classify it, but I am talking
about a discussion you hzd in which that matter wes
referred to,

A I don' think you exsctly wderstood what I éaf&’
before., I sald that he atteumpted to ghow there must
De & superman intellectually and in othsr ways by

saying you etarted out with one oreature who is abso-

'lutely nothing, for example, an imbeclle, and then

you have the wan who has more intellect, and then the

man who has still more intellect, and where golng on

up to the toﬁ you mu 8t have & man with the greatest

intel lect who muet be the greatest man.

Q That is like & Napcleon or A;exande; tﬁga

'Gngat?

A That all depends on what your conceptiocn of the
guperman would be,
Q Would you consider Napoleon, Alexander the

great or Shakespere as supermen?

A I don' know, I am not well versed in the super-
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man phllosophy, and I have never gone as far as putting
men in the stage of supermen, neverthought of it.

Q And then he thought ths smartest men, getting down
to language which we all understand, -- the smartest
man ought to be ruler?

A Smart in the =ense of what?

Q Intellectt averything?

A Meaning all-around atttibutes?

Q Yes,

A Yes, he thought he should be the law-giver,

Q Well, that is a pretty sound dcotrine, ien't i%7
If we picked out the smartest men and the wisest, Wa‘
ought to let them run us for a while?

A If there was such a possibil}ty I think it would
Ve logical.

q Certainly, There is nothingwrong in that, is
’fhere? ix If you were golng to pick out a ruler,

you Would plok the wisesty brightest man in preference
- to a man of very mediocre attainments?

A I don't know what you mean by wisest} do you mean
mentaily the smartest?

Q@ In every way?
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MR. SMITH: The perfect man.

THE WITNESS: Well, that philosophy would perheaps
be an all right philosophy if it were loglcally possible
or practically poesible, but it has no’practical end,

He admitted there was no such thing as a superman
actually.

MR, CROVE: Q Leopold did?

A Yes, that it wae not poseible,

Q@ TYes.

4L Supermen was imaginetivs,

Q Well, of course we all agree there is not, but if
we did have one of those fellows, his theory, that
he ought to be the ruler, would not be a bad one,
would it7 ’

A If everything else in the universe conformed
td that, of ou rse. O0f course if he set himself
ughs a ruler because he thought he had the intellect),
of course it wouldntt go so very well,

Q VWell, the only difficulty you can find with Lsopold’s
diecussion 18 that he was a little bit over-educated, out
at the Chicago University in dangeroue dootrines, ien't
that about all?
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told me.
Q Well, mow, isn' that about the situation, that
he weas over~fed with a lot of dangerous doctrines

by professors out at the C%icago University, thet

srenot practical?

A I don't know Whether I would say thatbecause I
know other men who say the same thing, and they ars
not at al1ll in the same predicament that he is in,

Q Oh, you know a number who have the same theory
as Leopold, that didn't want to go out and murder
peopld, do you?

A’ Yes, but they are different types of cresatures,

Q Certainly. And bhe only difference is that theyars
not murderers, and he is?

A No, they were different entirely. Their makeups

were different entirely, they were a different makeup.

Q Certainly, They have a different makeup,’othef{$ 
wiee 1f they had the same makeup as him We Would
have to try them when we get through with this
cage, 1f we ever dot? That is all.

— o e

MR, DARROW: Just a& question please,
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REDIRECT EX AMI NATION

BY MR. DARROW,

MR, DARROW: Q Now, you Were asked Whether you said a
certain thing about Leopold in the StateTs Attorney's
office, looking him over casually, as to casually, you
would say he wWas sane? What was 1% you sald there?

MR, CROWE: Apparently.

MR, DARROW: What?

MR, CROVE: Apparently.

MR. DARROW:  Apparently or casually,

MR, CROWE: From & casual acquaintance with h;p.'

THE WITNESS: I don't undsfstand.the question.

MR,DARROW: This is Leopold I am speaking of now,

THE WITNESS: Yes, I undestand that.

MR, DARROW: Q Mr, Crows asked you whether you made
a cortain statement, and you said they didn't have
you reported correctly?

A Ex No sir. I very distinotly recall thé question,
the substance of the question, and my answer wae, that
from & casual acqQualntance he was apparently sane,

Q Did you express any opinion gourself as to Whether

he was sans Or insane at that time?
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Q@ And were you asked for any opinion as to whether
you thought he was sane or insane, on the day yo.u were
there?

A The question was only &g —
| Q@ In the states attorneyts office.

A TYes. The question was only as Ur, Crowe read it,
in substance, whether or not on ¢ acquaintance I
thought he was gane, and I pald apparently I thought he
m\s/};ane, meaning of course legal sanity.

MR, CRONE: Who are you talking about?

MR. DARROW: Leopold.

Q@ You didn't exprese any opinion as to his a.‘bnormé.l:lffy
or any of that kind of thing?

A Yo, sir.

Q@ Did you ever have one?

A 0Of a nature,

Q From your acquaintance with him what would you say as to
the character of his mind, as to whether he 1s abnormal?

A Will you repaat that question, if you will? -4

Q What do you say from your acquaintance with him, if you
have an opinion, as tb whether he is normal or abnormal at
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A I don't know in what sense you are mk asking that
question. Do you mean legally whether or not he oan
distinguish right from wrong?

Q VNo, I don't mean legally. I didn't ask you, excep-
ting the question of normality? That is notﬁ_ 3. legal term
at all. If you haven!t any opinion, why, ane;rer that way.

A WVell, in & sense I have an opinion, yes.

Q Vhat i1git?

A I don*t think he is perfectly normal in the sense of
being, completely, just like all the rest of us. As I sald
before, here was a fellow, as I knew him, who was intellect-
ually marvelous, intellectually & genius, perhaps; dut
practically, as fam as common horse ecnse goes, he was
nothing, absolutely a nullity, he amounted to nothing. That
is not perfeotly ordinary.

Q@ You didn't know Diok Loeb very well, did yout

A Juet oca Lly.

® You had no opinion on —— no basis for formiqg a'?
opinion ag to him, had you?

A Nothing except by hearsay.

Q@ But yourself, I mean, you had none?

A To, eir.
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@ Now, you were pomewhat familiar with Nletzche?

A Imeg very superiicial way.

Q EHis ldeas of the superman, that is Leopoldt!s ides
of the superman, involved thosze who were in the nature of
supermen, being a law unto themselves, did they not?

A Yes, sir,

Q@ And whether it was Nietzoheism, you don't know,
or whather it was his conception of it?

A I don't know whether I do or not,

Q@ And he put himself in the category of those who should
do as they pleased, if they could get a sensation out of 1t?

A Yes, sir.

Q@ That was his philosophy?

A TYes, sir.

A MR, D W: That is a.lll‘l.

-
- es M s e = s e
i ‘
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RECROSS EXAMINATION
BY MR. CROWE.

¥R, OROWE: Q You say that intellectually he -was a wonder
and practically not so good? ’

A TYes.

Q That do you mean by "practical®, do you meen in the
practioal affairs of 1life?

A The ordinary passing judgment, any ordinary thing"
that ocourred that does not require book learning. For
example, the estimation of people which is slmply s matter
of experience and good horse sense, what you think of a man
whether to trust him or not te¢ trust him. |

Q@ Well now, who did he pase judgment on, that\ you
remember?

A VWell, he passed judgment on an innumerable number of
pecople, you realize that we were together a great deal.

Q I know, but name me one that he passed judgment on where .
he ghowed hs had no horse senes, &g you B&Y.

A I cited that —

MR, CROWE: I want to thank you for introducing the ‘Engligh
language back into the g +trial agaia.

THE WITNESS8: I introduced that as & hypothetiocal instance,
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Q Give me one fellow he passed judgment on that
would indicate he had no horee¢ fenss,

A T don't think I cen, I eimply used that as a
hypothetical instance,

Q Take a boy going to collegs Who is making the
progress that he ils making in colleges Who outside of
his colleglate Work starts in to make money to maintain
himeelf and establish himself as Leopokd did =
he had three ornithology clasges, didn't he?

Al don't know sxactly. I think he Had sonme,

Q@ Aesume he had three and thers are approximestely
thirty-eix people and he had four lessone & week
I belleve, and he got three dollars a piece from eachl
of the thirty-six, that wss not such a bad businese
for a young cocllege fellow,

A I don?'t think that was a matter of business as

- far as he was concerned., I don't think he was par-

Vst

ticulerly interested in makiﬁg money from what

he %old ne,

Q But he kept on collecting the three dollars.

A I don't know whether he did or not,
Q Assume that he collected that, that was pretty

good businees judgment,
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4 I don?'t know, Perhaps the services were wWorth
ten dollais and he was only getting three dollars,

Q And if he did not have a chance to take the
clags out hehad a substitute at one dollars and fifty
cente and he got hle dollar and a half;  that 1s pretty
good businese judgment,

A Perhaps his knowledge af his relation to the
gubstitute was ten to one. I don't know anybne who
I have talked With about ornithology who says they
knew Zx¥Exxex® anywhere what he knew on the subject.

Q I know, but just answer if you can?

A I can't,

Q A man who gets an;ther fellow tc do work for half
of what he gets isn't a very bad business wman, is he?

MR, DARROW: I objeoct,

MR, CROVE: All right, that is all,

THE COURT: If that is all with this w1;¢ese?§111 suepend

now until tomorroW wmorning at 10Q:30.

Whereupon an edjournment was here
taken to 10:30 o'okock, Friday, August:
8th, 1934,
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Friday, August 8th, 1934,

10230 oYolosk A.M,

Court convened at 10:30 o'oclock A.M,
Friday, August 8th, 1934, pursuant to adjourn=

ment heretofore taken.

Present, same as before.

THE COURT: I wantto say to tho members of the press
here thet from now on none of you will be pesrmitted
to come in without the carde that have been given to
you., You are not treating the ocourt fairly. I had re-
ports two day#s ego about your coming in without cards
yourselves, and giving your ocerde to others. Anyone
who has not got a card will not get in here, and

they will not be given anothsr cerd, and if you 4o not

‘stop 14 1 will take up all of the cards that there are

and report to your employers, the publishers of the
gifferent newspapera, that you folks have imposad upon
the oourt,

There were at lsaet fifty peopls here yqeter-“"

day who caz8 in on cards that you boys had given to
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them, That i»s not fair, I should think you men
would have honor enough not to do such a thing as that,
I have given you,every foot of space ws have in the
courtroom, and I have glvsn youthe use-of all my
rooms on the outside, and still you do not do what
is fair,

If I catoh anybody doing this any more I
anm going to call up the publishere of the paper and
ask 1f they wont do something about it; and if they
dontt Stop it, I have & way of stopping it myself.

I will put fifty nore policemen at the doore and then

none of you will get in. It ie not fair to do
this kind of thing,

Mr, Bberlff, permit no one tc remain in the
room Who ha3s not a card, I1f anyons has given hie

card away, that is bis fault, and not mine,

THE COURT: You may procsed, gentlemen.:
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DRe ROBERT BRUCE ARMNSTRONG,
& witness called on behalf of the Defendants, having
been firet duly sworn, was examined and testified as

followo:

DIRECT EXAMINATION

BY MR, DARROW.

MR, DARROW: Q  Whatis your {fizmo please?
A Robsrt Bruce Armetrong.
Q Where do you live?
A Charlevoix, Michigan,
What is your profession?
General praotitioner of medicine.
How long have you baen & practitionsr of medicine}
Thirty years.
At Charlevoix?

Q

A

Q

A

Q

A At Charlevoix, yes.

Q Where dfl you graduate?
A University of Michigan,
Q Do you know Richard Loeb?
A I do.

Q How long have you lnown him?

A Saveral years.
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Q Did you ever have occasion to see hims

AT did.
Q Vhen was that? A The summer of 1930.
Q Where was it?

A A% the Charlevoix Hospifal.

Q@ You are connected with the hospital?
A1 am.

Q And that was what gummer?

A In 1eaq;

Q What brought him there? A As the result

of an accident.
Q Automobile?

A Yes sir,

Q Any special injuries of fractures or anything |
like that?

A No,.

Q How lungﬁng he thers in the hospitAI?Kf

A He was in the hospital several hours. |

Q Then he went home?

A He diaq,

Q You may state what happened as to any faiting

epplls he had during that time?
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‘Q Diﬁ you espscially remark %him or notice them?
A I aid.

Q You say he didn't have any injuries?
A Ho. Ho peroceptible, '

Q W%What did you think a® they were normel or éﬁnordql
for & psrson in that situation?

A 1 thought they were the result of the acoldent
‘He wes in. | |

MR, DARROW: That is all,

MR, CROWE: That is all, dootor.

(witness oxoused)
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LEONARD | mei,
6;116d 28 & Witness on behalf of the Defendants, ﬁqv;ﬁh
been first duly eworn, testified ae follows:
DIRECT EXAMINATION

BY ¥R, WALTER BACHRACH,

MR, WALTER BACHRACH: @ State your full neme, pleas@®

A Leonard Lewy. | -

Q Where do you live?

A Madison Park Hotel,

Q What is your business?

A Msnufaoturere agent,

@ Do youknow the defendant ?

THE COURT: How do you epell your last name?

THE WITHNESS: L-guy=y.

MR, WALTER BAPHRACH: Q DQ you know the defendant
Riochard Loeb?

A Yee wir.

Q How long Bave you known him? .

A Bince 1931,

Q You werc at one time a student at éhe University
of Michigan at Ann Arvor?

A Yee sir.
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Q ﬁag he a student there at the same time?

A Part of the time, yes sir.

Q TWere you both members of the Z.B.T. fraternity?

A Yes #ir,

Q Did you during your attendance at that upgye;pipy
have occasion to observe him frequently?

A vyes sir,

Q As respeots his characteristiocs?

A Yes sir, ‘

Q State whether or not you have ever sesn him faint?

A Yes air, I have seen him faint.

Q When was the £irst time you saw him faint?

A The first time I saw him faint was at the Chiocago
Beaoh Hotel.

Q ¥hen?

A On a Hww Years! Eve two years ago.

Q Will you desoribe that ocoasion, please?

A Yes gir, we wers in the lobby and Richard seemed
to drop on the floor and fazint. Another man and I
ploked him up and put him on a pool table that was
right off the lobby and stretchsd him out. He qppeared,
rigid and seened to Lroth at the mouth,

Q Did he froth?
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A Yes sir, he did.

Q Did he have any limor?

A Yes slr, he did.

Q How long wes he in that condition?

A About ten minutes is my recollection,

Q Then what ococurred? A Then he cams out
of the faint and we went into the dining room, and I
had quite a 1ittle time restraeining him from — well,"
he wae more or less pugneacious; he wanted to beat up

a couple of the waliters that were in there,
Q Was that the only time you saw him faint?
A No sir.

Q What other time did you see him faint?
A I 8av him faint at the formal initiation at Ann-

Arbor.,

Q How long ago was that?
A In Maroch, 1933.

"'Q Now will you desoribe that ocoasion?
A Richard fainted on the flooxr, was picked up and was
carried upstairs. He became rigid whils they were carry~

ing hiam, I d1d not follow them upstairs.

Q Did you notice whether his eyes were open or closed?

A TYes sir, his eyes wers open,
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. Q@ What wa® the ocondition of his eyes?

A More or less staring, of a glasey nature.

Q Was thereany other occasionon which you saw him

faint?
A No sir, I did not,

MR, WALTER BACHRACH: Cross eXamine,
YR, CROWE: Your fraiernity <=

MR, DARROW: Wait a minute.
MR, WALTER BACHRACH: Q Ae s result of your obsere

vation of Riochard Logb -- well, I will withdraw that
gusstion. How intimately aodquainted were you with
Loeh?

A As a freternity brother I was comparatively inti-

xately acquainted with him, I knew him Quite well

‘aftoxr he got back to Chicago also.

Q How freduently dld you see him?

A Quite often. In fact, every day while we were

at Ann Arbor and several timee while we were in Chlcage.

In faot, quite often.,

@ Did you notice what kind of literature he wus
Teading during that periocd of time?

A At Ann Arbor?

Q Yes,

A Rell helggad(%mt

41 1inors.~cimna urt.

gotive storiose, he Tead litera-
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ture that was highly illustrative,
Q vhat do you mean by that?

A Well, it was more or less very high narrative, He

liked adventiure and things of that kind.

Q How did he appear to you as respect® being ner-
vous or otherwise?
A He was very nervoua,
Q Will you tell ue in what way: that wes manifested?
A Especlally in the movement of his hends; twitoh-
ing of his fage. In smoking a olgarette he would
Jexk 1t; Dbefore taking it out of his mouth he would
taks long inhalations of the smoke, And he was ner=~
vous when he was in the room, In the room he was fidgety,

and walked around.

Q 1
¥as there any question sbout conferring the privi-

lege of mentorship on Richard Loeb at Ann Arbor?
V A. That was after my time.
Q Vvere there sny other evidences that you observed
| in regard %0 his nervous condition, shile you were there?
A In his argumente, 1f you wish to call that en Vi~
dencs of nervousness, he would fix the pin points inen
. A

argunoh'cl. and be very vehemsnt in his argument on
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those small points,

Q How was he with regard tobsing childish or adult in
his conduot or judgment?

A I alway? thought he wae more or less childish,
0f ocourse, I took it that he wae young, and that was
my main reason for feeling that he was ohildieh.

Q wes Richard Losb regarded as a proper subject
of responsibllity by the other members of the frater-
nity?

A 1 cannot say for the others, but for myself, I

did not regard him a8 responsible,

Q For whet reason?

A On account of his childishness, more or le8s, . -

MR, BACHRACH: That i@ all,

.
W o ' o
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CROSS EXAMINATION
BY MR, CROWE,

¥R, CROWE: Q Hie ohildishness wae due to his

youth?

" A In my estimation,
Q He was one of the youngest fellows up there?

A Yes sir.

Q Ho entered at fourteen?

A FHot Miohigan,

Q ¥ell, he entered University at fourteen, and the
average is elghtesn or nineteen?

A We have men entering Michigan at sixteen,

Q@ I know, but the average is eighteen or ninetesn?
A Yes,

Q Id this ohildilhmu you atttibuted %0 hu youth?
A Hora or less. '
Q Wew Years Eve, when he fainted &t the ﬁb’t,él—,,g‘l.r\;,',jg

time 0Of the night was thet?
A Just after twelve o%clook.
Q Dikussd to like to drink?
A He d}d- |
Q Did you drink a 1little yousself?
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“Q You wers having a New Year's celebration?

A Yen, |

Q And Dick was drunk, wasn't he?

A He vas,

Q D he pases’ out on socount of being drunk or ‘d1d
he faint?

A That I don't know,

Q And this stuff that came out of his mouth wes a

drunken vomit or froth?

4

A Froth.

Q Had he bsen drinking beer or ohampagne? '
AT don't know, He vomited after he frothed at, the

mouth. * |
Q He started to drool firat, and then vomited?

A Not immediately sfterwards.

Q How long was it between the froth and the vomit?
.. A, T can't say in minutes, but it was a 1ittls while.
:Q,- .You were drunk yoursdlf that night, were you not?

A¥o, I hada 11ttle in me, but I wasn't drunk.

Q /nd at that tims you attributed Dick's oondition
%o the fact that he drank too much? '

A At the time, yes.

Q And if he wae not trying to put in some kind of a
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fanoy mental defense here, you would still think 1t was
s drunken passout instead of a faint, would you not?

A Probably.

Q Thia formal initiation where he had his tuxedo on;

he was drunk that night, too, was he not?
A No.

Q You did not drink up at college, did you?. -

A TNot bvefore the initiation.

Q Afterward?

A Probably.,

Q Diok might have put one over aWid had his before the
initiation, might he not?

i o

AI doubt 1to : ' o '

' Q Dick drank eo much up there that he was censured

for being drunk, was he not?

A That wes after I was there. I graduated in 1923.
Q TYou are better versed in drunken oonditions than
you sre in mental conditions? You know more about,
drunks than you do about mental diseases?

MR, DARROW: I objeot,

MR, CROWE: That is all,

(¥itness excus ed)’

- M e %
)
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BERNARD KOLB,
'pallad a8 o Witnese on behalf of the Darendan'lcs, having
been first duly eworn, testified a# follows:

DIRECT EXAMINATIOK

BY MR, DARROW,

" MR, DARROW: Q What is your name?
A Bernarxd Kolb.

Q where do you live?
A 5101 Woodlawn Avenus,

Q VWhet is your business? h I am in the
cloh‘hing businecs,

Q TWhereaboute?

A Harvey & Comrany, 13739?9@@? Btate Street 5\

Q Do youknovw Richard Loeb?

A yes sir,

Q How long have you known him? .

A I have known him for about thres y’o‘va:‘ré.

Q@ And whers did you know him? A I !é.v! ‘bin, i}.
the University of Michigarn mainly. :

Q@ Was most of your acQuaintance W1£hpiin ut the URivere v
#lty of Hichigan?

A ges sir,

Q ¥%ore youln the eanme fraternitg that he was
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A Yes sir,

Q@ And how often did you neelhim?

AT savw him every day, several times a day.

Q Did you notice anything in reference to hie ner-
vouenesay '

A Yes 8ir, I noticsd he wes Quite nervous,

Q Whet did you notice in that regard?

A I noticed twitchings of the face snd nervous move-
ments of the heads, walking.

Q@ How long a period did that cover?

A It covered all the time I knew him.

;Q Did you notice what kind of hooke he had, if 49§3a

A He read entirsly deteotive magagines, novels,

X&Q How was he as %o responsibility?
A In practical mattere ho was very irreaponsible.

Q Wae he sllowed or permitted to be mentor of any
froshmen?

A Yo air,

Q Tou fredueatly obqung“h;m, of oQgﬁqc,lggg;gégﬁf

A Yes sir,

Q How about drinking?

A He drank at certain times quite heavily,

Q Did you ever eee him faint?
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| A Yes sir.
' Q Wae that ot the initiation time?
A yes sir.
Q Did you ever see him faint any other‘time?
A No eir,

Q How ®Was he a8 to carrying a subject consecutively
in bis mind, or going from point to point?

A He usually jumped from one point to anoOther, was
rather impulsive, never carried one point of conversa-
tion for any length of time,

Q How did you regard him ae to responeibility, as to

6h11d13hneea or maturity?
A 1 regarded him as very childish, very young and im-

mature. |

Q %as that entirely on account of his qgg, or on
acoount of his actions and his mind? -

- A On account of his actions and processes. of thought',
" MR, DARROW: You may orogs examine.
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CROSS EXAMINATION

BY MR, CRORWE,

MR.cﬁdwﬁé Q He was very young, wéiﬁ‘tﬁiéﬁy

A vyes sir,

Q Youwould expect & very young man to act a8 a
very young man if he was normal, wouldn't you?

A Under certain cunditione,

Q You expeot a boy to act as a boy, dontt yuu?

A You expeot a college man to act as a college mant

Q Regardless of his age?’

A Well, regardless of his age there were meny men,
in the university as young as he wa3 who acted far
¢older,
| Q Now, what do you expect fzom a-boy of fifteen Who
is in & university? Do you expeot him to act like

& nan of twenty-five or like a kid of fifteen?

- A T expeot him to act as he ls.

Q Certeirly,  Otherwise he would not be mormsl,;
would he?

A That is poseible.

Q This time you ms¥ Dick faint, when wase that?

Wae that at the physical initiation?
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Al sa% him faint both at the ppy!ioal and at the -
formal,

Q At the physiocal initiation, that was pretty rough,
was it not?

A It was an ordinary physical initiation, yes.

Q The ordinary kind of a physioal initiation that
& lot of college oung fellows give another one?

A The pame kind that vwe give to all, yes glr.

Q@ Did you have = goat thare?

A No sir;

Q Did he faint or was heknooked out?

A He fainted,

Q As a reault of the treatment he got?

A I could not say what the causo was,

Q That i3 what you thought it was?

A Not exaotly, no. There. were ==

Q A% the time ~-

MR. DARROW: Wait, Lot bim finish his snswer.

MR, CRORE: Ko,

Q At the time, what did you think it was due to?
A I could not imagine what 1t was dﬁe to. I thbught

it was very unusual.

Q Row, at the formal he fainted again, did he?
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A yes sir.

Q Was he drunk?

A No sir,
., @ How do you know?

A Positive of it. I gaw hiﬁ all day. He hddzno |
opportunity to drink. |

@ You followed him around all day long?
A I saw him, He was right in the house with nme,

Q And he had no chance of taking a drink without

you knowing 4t?
A He might have,

Q What?
A H2 might have, but AI don*t think so,

Q@ He used to like to drink?
A Yeas,

Q This wis a big night for him?
A Probably wpas.

Q Don’ you think 4% wss a night that a fellow who
$iked to drink would figure he ought to have a littie
celebration,

A He might have afterwarde, but not before the
ceremony.

Q ©Oh, you had one afterwards, did you?
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A No, we did not.

Q At the physiocal examination they had used him so
rough he had paseéed out; that wae a week bsfors, was
it not?

A Yes sir,

Q Don't you think that it belng a big night in
Dick's 1ife and he not wanting to faini the next time,
thought he would get a few bracers and probably took
& oouple tco amany and paesed out,

A I think he thoroughly understood therewas no

physiocal duress put uvpon him.

Q Did you notioce whether he was figidi;.
A No eizr, I did not,

Q You could not tell whether he wae rigid or stiff?
A No.

MR, CROWE: Thet is all,
MR, DARROW: That is all.

‘(E;tnobl cxop@gd&)‘

v ' LI 4
D g r@ wm o
¢
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"THEODORE SCHIMBERG,
oziled a8 a witnest on behalf of the Defendants, having
been f}rat duly sworn, testiflied 23 followes
DIRECTEXAMINA IOK
_ BY UR, WALTER BACHRACH.
Q:uﬁpat'is your name?
;ﬁﬂficodore Sohimberg.

Q ¥hero do you live, M¥r. Sohimberg?

A 4734 Michigan, |

Q What 12 your bueiness?

A Student,

\ Q@’ﬁdre‘l

A University of Chicagov

Q Taking an aosademic sourse or apeoial ooﬁééo?

.A Aoadsmio.

;‘Q Whendo you expect to graduate?
:g‘ Thln coaing June,

T,R DO you know the dtfend&nt Richard Loob?

\ ﬂ th #ir.

‘fQ‘ ﬁgy long havd you known him?. |
'*’A:I have knosn him w61l in the last yea#. I'Héﬁ?
kno¥n him before that for about three years.

Q Were you a student at the Unlversity of Chicago at
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fhe time he was s student there?

A This last year, yee salr,

Q Did you get pretty well soqutinted with him during
that period of time? |
| AT think I gdiqd.

Q During thet pariod of time did you notice his
characteristios with respect to his being nervous |
or otherwise?

A Yes eir.

Q TNow, washe nervous?

A T thought he wasz,

\VQ That did he do that indicated that he was nervous?’
"A ¥ell, he seemed to be at a teneion constently,

MR, CROWE: I didn't get that.

A He secemed t0 be at a tendicn consiantly. He amoked
in a very peculiar fashion, snd he smoked very muoh,
constantly. He was just ~- I don't know how to
ozplain 1%, but he was o my mind a veTy nervous indy-
vigdual,

" MR, WALTER BACHRACH: Q ¥as he in the habit of
frequentipgg the fraterntiy house here?

A Yes.

Q Whet is the name of the ffaxernity?
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A Zeta Beta Tau.

Q Did you notice anything peculier in his conduct
when he came into the fraternlty houss?

A well, I should say it was pescullar. There were
meny times When we were unable to tell whether Dick
was drunk Oor sober,

Q@ Why?

A Wwell, I don'v know why. It seemed that his actions
zost of the time were s0 ochildieh, and we were in the
habit of eeeing him drunk & gpod.dcal, that there were
many time2z we could not tell whether the boy waz2 drunk
or whether he was sober,

Q Were there occasions when you were able to
ascertain he wag not drunk when he aoted in that sanmse
way?

A well, we generally had controversiesz. We would
be sitting in the house playing a game of bridge and .
Dick would walk in and one or two of us would say he
12 drunk again and one or two of us would say no he
is not, Half of the time 1t would work out he was
drunk, Half of the time it would work out he weas
sober; he was sober,
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| Q Did you call at the State’s Attorney's office.

A Yes sir, I did.

Q Did you tell the State’s Attorney what you
thought about the oondition of Richard Loeb about his
being normal or a.bnormjal?\

AT bvelleve I did.

Q W¥hat did you tell him?

A I told him I slwaye thought Dick was --

MR, CROWE: Wikt a minute, 4if your Honor please,
this is not ocxoas examination,.

MR. WALTER BACHRACH: What do you think about 11‘:
nowtr

THE COURT: Aak him what he thinke about it.

THE WITNESS¢ At preaen%f

MR, WALTER BACHRACH: Q Yes.,

A ¥hat I sald in the State's Attorney's offics?

. MR, CROWE: No, no,

MR, WALTER BACHRACH: Q No, what do you think as.to
his boing normal or etnormal st the present time?

A I think he ies abnormal.,

Q Did you tell that to the Statefe Attorngy?

¥R, CROWE: Wwalt a minute, I object. Thie isnot
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ﬁal,qALgEn.BAcgﬁgpﬁ€ That 18 all’.

- W™ o W

* CROSS EXAMINATION
BY MR. CROWE,

\\ , v ¢ H“'}JL"
'MR, CROWE: Q .You sre a fraternity brother of his?.

A yes eir,

Q You ssy sometimes Dick ueed to sot peouliar or
childish?

A Yez sir.

Q What used he to dot  Tell us’

A He used to sot like a ochild,

Q I know, but I know & lot of children that are well
bshaved and I know othere that are not.

A But you can tell thsy are children by their actions,
' Q I know, but what did he do that made you think he
was childish?

A Well, just his natural bahai1§r. Héfiigéfifﬁag
like any of the rest ofthe follows,

Q ¥o, no, no. What did he do? You are playing
bridge, and ha comes in. Kow, tell me what Dick did
that made you conclude that hewss ohildieh?
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A Oh, he did a lot of things. I can't remember —-

QT ﬁnow, but tell me one of them?

A The fact that many times he would make off he
wa8 drunk when he was sober, To me that was a very
childish act,

Q How did you know he was merely mazking believe?
How did you know he was not drunk? )

A Beocause we ascertained it,

Q By wat method?

A By finding out that the boy had not been drinking,

Q HNow, how did you find that out? I know & lot.of
women Who would like to know some prooess by wh%oh,,,,
they could find out whether it is true or not, | |

A In the first place, I -~

MR. DARROW: Just a2 minute, p(;.l,eq.ao.

MR, CROWE: Q What did you 4o to £ind out th\alt h‘bri\
w8 not drunk? |
| MR, DARROW: I suppose the first part of that 1"0‘» |
not & Question, 1s it?

MR, CRO®E: Q Allright. F¥hat did you do to i’in'd'
out that he was not drunk when he pretended to be drunk?

A On several occasions --

Q What did you do on any ocoasion, on sny one
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occasion, to find out that h& was not drunk when he
acted a8 1f he were?

A On one perticular occasion ve ended up in a bridge
geme, and we were sure Dick Waen'; drunk bscause¢ he
played his regular game,

Q@ Did you ever eee a man who was drunk play poker
or bridge and win money at 1t ?

AT didn't ey he won money; I eaid he played his
regular gene.

Q Did you ever see a person who was drunk play cards
end play a goéd game?

A I never have.

Q If he had a few drinks -in him =-

A He ien't drunk. There is a difference.

Q Whet ie that standard; ho¥ meny drinks do you
have tghave bafore.you are drunk?

A It all depends on the person.

Q When would you say a man was drunk?

MR.DARROW: I object. I do not know that he is an
expert on the suﬁjeot, and 1f he were it would not
be compstent,

MR, CROWE: He says he can tell when you are fools

ing and when you a

B8
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ER. DARROW: In this inatance.

MR, CROWE: Q@ When would you s2y & man wae drunk?

A Thut 48 a hard Question t0 snsewer,

Q VWhat else wae there about Dick besides pretending
that he was Arunk when he was not drunk, that mede you
think he was ohildiash?

A The fact that he couxddn®t etiok to one subject
long enough t© follow out an argument. He would talk’
very disconnectedly, “s though he vwere thinking of
something far awey, like 2 child,

Q OGive me an illustration of a conversstion that
you had with him, and tell me how he started it out,
and then how he drifted off?

A I don't lmow whether my memory i@ that good or
not, but I will try. I remexber in partiocular convere

eing with Dick on an attempted change in the rushing
rulee at the University of Chicugo. By started to

talk abqut that subject, and I was in the middle of
& talk, when Dick interrupted me and wanted to know
if I were going to the basebsll game that afternoon,

Q Maybe Dick wasn't interested in what you wers
saying, and was getting kind of tired of it?

A That is & poseibility, butl don't think so
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‘l causd that was one of the things that was nesarest
to Dick's heart at that time.
Q What else did he say in that conversation bew
#ldes asking you 1f you wented to go to the ballgame?

AT don't recsall,

‘)Q Dick couldn't #it down any length of time; he
ygntgd to get up and walk?

Al don't know about that, He was nervous, as I
said before. That might have somsthing t0 do With his
nervousness,

Q Did you read his confeseion in the newspaper?

A.Rot very much; a part of it,

Q And the part you read he stuck to the subjeot pretty
well, did he not?

A I guess he had to.

Q Otherwise he would have drifte& off and asked me
whether I wanted to go to the ball game?

A If he knew you were z haseball fén.

_ MR, CROWE: That is all.

-

(Witnees excueed)

" '
ﬂ---'--
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M A X WETGSTER,

called as & witness on behalf of the Defendants, having

been first duly sworn, testified as follows:

DIRECT EXAMINATION

BY MR, WALTER BACHRACH,

MR, WALTER BACHRACn: Q Your name is Max Wester,
and you live at 555 East 50th Strest?

A TYase,
Q Tou are a lawyor in the emplok of Newman, Poppenhausen
and Stern?

A Yes,

Q You have already been cgiiﬁégas.a'ﬁfﬁﬁéée‘Hyﬁﬁggl
State's Attorney?

A Yes,

Q You testified you wore a tutor of Hathan Leopold,
Jr., for about fivo weeke?
A ‘I was,

Q During tbe time you were his tutor, did yqu.hi#é;
cccaeivn 'to discuse with him his philosophy of lifétj

A1 did not,

Q Did you have eny ocoagion t0 discuse With him
the subjoot of cu;erman?

A I did not,
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Q Do you remember the 2let of May, 19341 the date of
the kidnaping of the¢ Franks boy?

A Yes,

Q Did you tutor Nathan Leopold, Jr. on that day?

A The following day.

Q And on the day before?

A Yee,

Q Did you discuss with him any examination Questibx;a
later on in fhe waek?
A I aia,

Q During those several days, did you notice any unusgual
or heightened emotions in Nathan Leopold, Jr.?

AT did not,

MR, WALTER BACHRACH: That is all,

MR, CROWE: No ocroes examination.

(No cross examination and Witness

ﬁqpud) .
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WALLACE BROCEWATY,
called s & Witness on behalf of the Defendants, h?ﬁﬁ‘g
been first duly swozn, testified a3 followe!
DIRECT EXAMINATION

BY ¥R. DARROW:

‘MR, DARROW: Q Your name and addrecs?

, A Wallace Brookway; 333 Latrobs Avenus.

'Q What do you do?

A At the present time I am editing some books for
the Government,

. Q Have you been a collegs student?

P

A Yes, but I never took my degree.
Q ¥what department did you attend?
A Arts and literaturs,

Q In Chicago University?

A Yes,

Q. o you kmoy Nathan Lésere, T
A 1.

Q How long have you known him? .

A  About .four years.

Q How well have you knopn him?

A Wot intimately; as well as dﬁc\hdadiintuﬁoo‘ifﬁﬁh‘
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Q Have you talked with him or he with you on dues-
tione of philosophy?
A Frequently.
Q And about supexmen?
A Occasionally.
Q what have you hearxd him say about his® philosophy?
A ¥hen he spoke I didn't pay particular attention %o
the importance of what he said, beoause I knew that 1t
wag o customary thing for psopde to frequently speak
of Niatgschean philosophy, €0 I don't know how sexi-
ous the things she said were; but I kno¥ he speake
Qith great favor of the philosophy a# the sort of |
thing that would guard one's 1ife, and he expressed ’
adniraticn for the supermen type, and in fact con=
nected himself with it occaslionally.
Q Did he say anything about the rules or moral
"‘.l.'awvn, or any other, as to the superman?
A I don't bolicve they existed for hia,
Q He told you they did not exist for the 2uperman?
A They did not.
Q How often did you talk with him about these sub~-

jeots?
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eions of any importance.

MR, DARROW: That 1e all, you may orves examine,
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CROSS EXAMINATION

BY MR, CROWE,

¥R, CROWE: @ When he was diecussing the superman,
you did not pay any attention 1é@ that?
A No,
Q Beoause you have hoard alot of students discuesing
supexmen'?
A Frequently,
Q And none of them have committed & murder 8ince
those discussions, have they?
A I don't know,
Q You have discussed 1t?
A Frequently,
Q Ypu do not regard that =8 & peculiarity in you?
A1l don't take it very seriously.
Q You oconsidered Leopold the finest man you ever
came in contact with in the university, did you not J
A One of the bast intelleots; perhaps not the
best, but one of the bast,
¥R, CROWE: That is all,
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REDIRECT EXAMINATION
BY ¥R. DARRO¥ .

MR. DARROW: Q Did the boys generally take the
dlecuseion of eupermen the same way that Leopold
didz Did they pgenerally take the dlecussion of
the supermen and his obligation, or did you, in the
same way Leopold did?

A My views have ohanged rather since then.

Q@ Do you know how he took it, as to whether he

took 1t seriously?
A I think he took it very geriously,
Q It wae one of his favorite topics, was it not?
AIt was,
Q And he expressed it as hie own opinion, d;d he ngt?
A He dig,
MR, DARROW: THat is-all.!

MR, CROWE: That ig alia

(Witnees exoused )
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BTANLEY LEW Y,
called as & Witneee on behalf of the Defendante, having
been first duly eworn, testified as follows:?
DIRECT EXAMINATION BY
MR, WALTER BACHRACH,
Q@ Your name 18 Stanley Lewy?
A Right.
~Q were do you live?.
A 1Idlewild Country Club, Flossmore, Illinois,
Q What is your business?
A Student.
Q@ Where?

A Univeristy of Miohigan.;
Q How old are you?
A\Nineteen.

Q Were you a atudent there at the time Riohard Loéd
wes a student there?
A I Wﬁo

-~

Q Were you 2 member of the fraternityttat he wae &

member of? i

Al wue,

Q Did yougget Well acquainted with him while he was
there?
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Q TVere you able from your @ssooclation with him 1o
have the opportunity to observe him very oerefully?

A& 1 d¢id,

Q Did you ever see him faint?

A& I did,

Q VWhere?

A It wae on a Sunday morning in the parlor of the
fraternity bouse; Dick walked in and for no reason
at all spparently, dropped on the floor.

Q@ Vhen was that?

A 1933, I don't remember the exact date. .

Q +was it the epring of the year, the fall of'fﬁﬁ&
year, or winter?

A 1 don't remember.

Q You cannot £ix the time any closer than 19237

‘ﬁ It was probably in the spring but I am not sure..

Q Before the summer recese?

A Yes,

Q How long wae he unconscious?

A About & minute.

Q Are you able to describve his fainting conditiom

any more than you have?
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A Yee., He was =- well, he fell on the floor and we
picked him up and laid him on one of the sofae and he
laid there apparently rigid aad hie eyes were open,
I remember very olearly. There was ¢old ewoat on
bis forehead. FHis complexion, of courso, w&8 very
gallow, very pale.

Q TWhat time of day was 1t?

A About eleven o'clock in the morning,

Q@ Do you know whether he had b:zen drinking?

A I think not.

Q VWae there any evidenoe of drinking on him?.

& No.
Q@ Any odor of liquor?
A No.
Q Your anewar is'no?
A No.
Q Did you aver see any signs of nervousnede in him?
A I notloced soveral times -=- that is praotiocally -
all the time, a vory nervous twitching of his 1lips,
& nervoud quick movement of hls fingers, while his
laugh, 1% showed signe of nervousness, It veemed to

bs artifiolal. For that reseson I took it to be a sign
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of nervousness,

Q Vhat do you meen by artificial? Can yougive
us & little more light on that 80 we can understand it
just & little better?

A VWell, it wag a hearty laugh, yet 1t did not seem
to be caused from something purely humorous, It
was, -- well, just artifiocilasl.

Q Hollow?

A Yes,
MR, CROWE: You describve it, Mr. Bachrach. You
know 1%,

MR, WALTER BACHRACH: I vasn't there. I cannot.

MR, CROWE: Well, you know hetter than the witness.
Go ahead and desoribe i%.

MR, WALTER BACHRACH: Q Now were there any other
signgbf nervousness that you observed?

£ No, I don't belisve 80,

Q You were a freshman while Loeb was a senior, were

you not %

A Right.

Q ¥hat was your &ttitude toward his judgment ot that
time?
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A TFrankly, I did not respect his judgment as I
would an ordinary senlor.

Q Why1t

A~ Because of apparent ohildiehnesgs, - I was a fresh-
man; Dick was a genior, The usual thing to do was
to respect & senlor,

THE COURT: Keep your voice up.

THE WITRESS: A freshmen generally respacts a
senior becouse he ia older and beceuse his judgment should
be batter. I did not consider Dickie's judgment an
awful lot better than mine, and for that reason I
didnot rezpect his good judgment.

Q@ Do you know whother or not hs was entrusted with
the mentorship of any other student?

A No, Dickie was the only senior in the houoe at'

‘'that time that wae not given therprivilege of being

a genior,
Q A mentor?
A A mentor.
UR, WALTER BACHRAC: That is all,  Croes exemine.

.
- W e -
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CROSS EXAMINATION
BY ¥R. CROWE.

MR, CROWE: Q You did not think his judgment was
an avful lot better than yours?

A That 18 right.
Q That 18 right, isn't it?

A Yes, ‘

Q You think your judgment is pretty good?
A No.

Q@ No? Don't you think your judgment is any good?

A Well, it 1s fairly good, yes.

Q Ae good as the average boy of your age?

A Yesr, |

Q You don?t think you have got a peychosis, dpﬂygg}‘:
of a phantasy? | |

A No. .

Q@ You think you are a normal average boy?

ﬁ Average,

Q Average, And you thought that Dick'e judgment
was not much better than yours?

A Right.

Q 4And Dick and you #re the same age?

A Divk Was older in experience.
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Q Oh, I xnow, but he and you were the same ggq;
he was Yineteen and you are ninetesen?
A That is right.
Q No, you are & little bit older themn Dick., You are
older than Dick?
A Right,
? Md the younger man'; judgaent was just & little bit
batter than yours? That 1s correot, is 1t17
A It should be.
Q Aad it was?
A His judgment better than mine?
Q Yes, you have just said it was a 1ittle bit béffqr‘
than youre?
MR. DARROW: No, I objeot to this, Let him answer,
¥R, CROWE: Q His pudgrent was a 1ittle bit better
than youre, wasn't it? ’
A Fo, that is the reason that I did not necessarily
regpect his judgment,
Q Bscause he was a 1ittle bit younger than you and
you did not 1look up to him ee you would to a senior
who wWas older than you?
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Q Now, that is the whole situation, isnlt it?
A Yes,

MR, CROWE: I guess that is all.

THE COURT: Ve will have our uaual recessg now, gene

t lemen.,

MR, DRRROw: Just one question.
THE COURT:* All right.

MR, WALTER BACHRACH: Q 7You did not respeoct him

bscause he was a senior and you were a freshman, is
that right?

A Right,

MR, WALTER BACHRACH: That is allw

MR, CRORE: That is all,

(Witness oxoused)

Whersupon s short recess was here taken

by Court and Counsel,
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Court reconvened pursusnt to

short recess heretofore taken.

Mr, CROWE: HMay I recall for one question the

last witness, Yr. Lewy.

THE CGOURT: Yem, bring him in.
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an
STANLEY L E ¥ Y,

resumed the s tand for further CROSS EXAMINAT ION by

MR. CROWE, and testified as follows?

MR, CROWE: Q This Sunday morning at eleven
ofclock or around eleven, when Dick fainted, you
were in the fraternity house, were you?

A Yes,

Q 1Is that the first time you eaw him that morn-
ing?

A Yes sir,

Q And he came in from outside?

A Yes,

Q You don't know whether he was out all Saturday
night and Sunday morning drunk, do you? |

A No, I do not.,

MR, CROWE: That is all,

(¥itness exoused).

HeinOnline -- 4 Illinois. Crimnal Court. Cook County. Trial Transcript Leopold and Loeb 1940 1924



481 \ -ié’n;l-
om

HARRY BOOTH,
a ﬁitneas called on behalf of the Defendanta, having
been £irst duly sworn, was examined and testified as
follows:
DIREQT LXAMINATION
BY MR, WALTER BACHRACH,
W. BACHRACH: Q VWhere do you live?

4930 Vincennes Avenuse,

IR.
A
Q@ You are 2 law student at the Univeralty of Ohicago?

A Yes, I sm a law student at the University of Chicago.

Q Do you know the defe %, Nathan Leopoléd, Jr.?

A Yes, I knew him as a clascmate duﬂng the last year,
at the University of Ohlcago.

Q@ VWere you in the pame clags in oriminal law out there?

A Tes. Ve were not only in the game olams in oriminal
law. We were in all our oclasses together, I think practi-
ocally all of our oclasses together during the past year.

Q Do you rTemsmber s discussion of a murder case in &
eriminal law olass in which Nathan Lecpold, Jr. took pari?

4 Yes, there was a discussion of a murder cese, and
Nathan Leopold made the rerark that sn individusl who

committed a orime -~ he meant 1t in reference to himssll—

ei nonl i ne NORA DOE BERRSsATi1lR he. held Tesponsiblse, by. s00iety ... that
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491
he himgelf felt 1t was 2ll 2ight to do, end it would
be perfeotly 211 right.

Q@ That he thought it was right, and it would be
all righ%?

A Yers.

@ Did you ever hear him diprouss Nietgsche, or the
gupernan ides?

A He digousmsed Nibilism with me, and sadd he was &
Hihiliet, that he felt no restraint st all co far as
auwthority was conoerned, and that he belisved in destruo-
tion merely for the end of destruction.

Q Do you. remember any question of Nietzsche and the
superman?

A To, we never went into a discusdon of Nietymche
and the guperman, though I knew that was his philosorhy.
I had a general ides that he mistntorgretod Niotzeche,
and that he nerely accepted one phase of the HWietzschean
philosophy.

@ Did you agree with hinm in hisg sttitude toward
Nietzache or the Kietzachean philosophy?

A  No, I would not accept the Nistzschean philoascphy,

beocause the founder of that philogophy was insane during
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a good portion of hig life. Nictzsche himself died in
an incane asylum, and there is 5 good dezl of evidence
to the fzot thet he was ingane during the portion of
hiz 1ife in vhich he wrote a good many of hig lwmportant
woTkK 8.

MR, ¥. BACHRAGH: That ia all. You may cross examine.
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OROBE EXAMIKATION
BY KR, OROVE.

MR. OROTE: Q Dont't you know it is impropar for a
witness for the defense to use the word "insane"?

A I was not awaro of it.

MR. DARROW: Objeotlon.

THE QQUAT: Bustained.

MR, URQWE: Q Alil of you young f;allowc who wont out
to Chicago University were famlliar with this Nietzschean
philosophy, were you?

A 1 don't know vhether all of theu are,.

You weze?
To & cextain extent.

You know all about Nietzsohe, too?

- £ ¥ O

1 know a few outstanding facts, as far as his
pesrsonal life ic conserned, and I have a genersl idea
of ths cupe 1des.

Q And a great of your classmates talksd aboui.
the Nietzschean philosophy, and the sups ?

A Yo, I should say that & grest many of them do not.

Q How many have talked about it, or studied 1%, that

you know of?
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A I doubt waether two per cent of the studente of
the University of Ohiczgo hdve spoken about the Nietzschean
philosophy,

} How aboul your law olaps?

A O the law class, I ghould sey that the percentage
would not be much greater. There are only a very few
studsnts that are famllisr with philosephy of any type.

@ Those who have studled philosophy were faaillicr with
the Nietzechean thoory?

A I couldn't wvouoh for that. The Nietzschean theory
is just one small phese o0f the entlire f£ield of philosophy.
It is not regarded very sexriously by the professors of
philosophy at the University of Ohicagze. .

Q@ And yst they teach it7

A I took a course in philosophy at the University of
Chicago where liietéscho was mentionsd, I took a course
in contemporary thought duriang the Wiseteenth Century, and
Rietzsche having lived during that period, his name and his
works were mentioned by the professor of philosophy.

Q Vhen was i% Leopold wap talking about this nurder
to youtl

A I should say during the spring quarter, when we
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attended the oriminal law olass togethar.

Q@ In April or Mgy?

A I should say much earlier than that; perhaps ¥aroch.
It wae Just a discussion that arose in the law oclass. -

Q@ Of thim year?

A Yes.

Q That was after he had definitely planned and
doolided he was going 1o commit & murder? i

MR. V. BACHRACH: Objection.

A I don't know,

MR, ORQWZ: Q Have you followed this casme?

A 1 have.

MR, DARROYI: I object. The record is here.

THE UQURT: Sustained.

MR. OROWE: Q Rk Him expression was that if he
conmitted a murder, he thought it would be ell righ$
for him to do, but not for the rest of you?

A Thet was the impression I got.

MR. ¥. BAGHRAOH: @ 1In your philosophy class,
Nietysohean philosophy is treated merely historical,
and not as a correct dootrine?

A It was wersly touched upon fo; perheps a few
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A Oh, yes.
MR. VALTER BAOHRAOH: That 1g¢ all.

MR, OROTE: That is 21l.

(The witness was excuged).
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HERBERT J. WEBER,
a witness oalled in behalf of the defendsnis, having
besn first duly sworn, iestified as foliows:

DIREUT EXAMINATION

BY KR. DARROW.

JR. DARRCGY: Q Give us your name, pleass.

A  Hezhert J. Viehez.
Q Where do you live, Mr. Weber?
A ladison Park Hotel,
Q@ That is in Chicago?
A Yes, gir.
' @ South side?
A Yes, gir.
@ How o0ld ars you?
A 'lwentiy.
| Q What is your businm’qp.
" A Btudent.
Q Chicago Unin:sit‘y;?
A No, sirx.
Q There?
A

d University.

Q@ Were you formerly a student at Chicago University?
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Q Do you know Nathan Leopold, Jr.? ' -

A Yes, sir,

Q How long have you known hinm?

THE OOURT: Talk louder, will you please, £0 we oan
211 hear you. |

A Three years.

MR, DARROW: @ How well do you know him?

A Ve wers preitty intinste the first two years we
were aocquainied, during the summers when I wag home.

Q TWhat years were those?

A 1921 and 1923

Q Have you discussed various questions of philosophy
and 1life with him?

A Yes, esir, several times.

Q@ TWerse you familiar with his views of the Nietzachean
philosophy?

A TYes, sir.

@ Vhat have you hesrd him gsay in that regard?

A ¥hy, he hag sald that he doss not thimk thers is
any such thing as right or wrong, az far as socisl
obligations are concernsd. He believes that the indiwid-
ual's welfare is the sole thing of imporiance to hinm.
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'Q Have you heard him diesou2e the supsarman?
A Yee @in
Q@ What have you heard 4Him say in reference to that?
A He bassd hia whode philosopby ¢f the superman
theory on thie, that is, that avery coreature all over
the World and through all time has always made a practice
of 1living off the smaller oreatures and mankind ia
the same. The bigger mon are able to live off
the emaller men. !
Q You are familiar with the Nietzschsan philosophy
arg you?
A To soms extent,
Q Andwhetherhe had it twisted or not, the superman
philoszophy 12 the one specially that Nhetgache has
i written about, fan't it1?
A1 don't think ho has interpreted it ocorrectly, by
any means,
Q I beg pardon?
A1 don't think he has correotsd the Niatzachean
philosophy by any means,
Q No, but he was a philosophsr of the superman, was
he¢, not?

4A| I E&? &lr S
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Q@ And your idea wae that Leopold had not interpreted

it coxrrectly?
&k Yoo sir.

Q How muoch time -- or ebout how often did you dis-
ocus® thia Question with him?

A There were several times; two that stand out most

in my mindg.

Q How wed it as to his sericusness in refereunce to 1t?
A Oh, he ceemed enbtirely serioue 2bout it.
Q Did he ever speak of himself to.yOu 38 3 BUpPS Y=

mant
A By inference I inferved from all he said that he

thought he himszelf was one of the top notchers at

any rate,
Q@ Did you ever hoor him speak of anyone elée as
a superman?
4 Not llterally. Ho sajidtthat Dick Loeb, he

thought, wa8 about the moet wonderful man in the wofig;’

| Q How often Gid you hear biwm speak of Dick Loeb? |
‘A Well, this one tims in particular, I think,

Q What did he say at that time?

A That was With reference to hisgoing to the University
of Michigan from the University of Chicago,

Q Wag 1t his general theme vhen you Were talking
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with him, this subject of Superman and moral obligs-
tion and lack of 1it7

A ves sir,

Q How is that?

A Yes gir, We frequently disow sed that very thing.‘

Q How was he as to whether he wis egocentrio?

A Entirely.

MR, CROWE: I didn't get that,

MR, DARROW: Q ¥%as he egocentric? Wha would you
say about that?

4 I think he was entirely egocentrio,

Q You had discuesed thie matter with him somewhat ag) |

to the superman and his i1deas of him?

A ves oir.

Q You have stated your views to him, as he did to

you?
A To some oxtont.ﬁ
Q And argued With him about his interpretation 9;1‘
Nietzaohe?
A ;es sir.
Q Is he a boy of positive convictions on that subject?
A Seemed to be very definite about it.

Q 48 to his correct interpretation of Nietzeohe, you
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and he disagresd?
A Yes sir.

Q And as to his correct interpretation of 1life?
A Yes sirx,

MR, DARROW: You may oros@ examine.
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CROBS EXAVMINATION

BY MR, CROWE,

MR, CROWE: Q In other worde, he etruok you as
& very conceited, egotistical fellowd
A Yes,

Q@ A sort of a high-clase state of depravity?
A Of what? |

Q Depravity, where he had made up his mind a8 a
confirmed oriminal, that he had 2 right to do aa he

pleased?
A He thought he had a right to d as hs pleased.

MR, CROWE: That is all.
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REDIRECT EXAMINATION
BY MR, DARROW.

MR, DARRO¥: Q Did you regard it ag a question
of depravity or a question of his philosophical ideas?

A To e of course it always scemed a question of
philosophiocal ideas.

MR, CROWE: Q@ Since then you think it was & form'
of depravity?

A I think it was the basis for it, yes sir,

MR? DARROW: Q That i3, you think that whatever
he did grew out of those philosophical 1deas?

A Yes sir, that he could see no moral obligation
to his life,

MR, DARKOW: That is all.,

1 "
,
L S e ws e )
' it N

s \
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RECROSS EXAMIRATION

BY HR, CROWE.

MR, CROWE: Q Hie philoeophy ie an explsnation
and an excuse in his mind for whst he has done,
is that eo?

MR, DARROW: To that we objeoct -~ well, go on.

A 1t is more & beeis for i1t, 1 think he built wp
his 1ife from his philosophy rather than building
his philosophy dowa to his conduct.

MR, OROWE: Q Csrtainly. And he exouses his
oriminal act, on account of his philoIOphyf

MR, DARRO¥: I obJect to that, unless he has tll%?gr
with him since,

THE COURT: Yes, objection sustained,

MR, CROWE: That is all,

THE COURT: Q Have you taikcd”iiyhfhinuginbe“a@ﬁﬁ@ﬁ
it, since this time?

A Ho sir.

MR, CROWE: All ripghts

(Witness excused).
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THE COURT: Ve willsaorten matters by suapending
now until two ofolock, and that i@ what we will 4o,

We will suepend now until two o'clook.

Whereupon a recess wae here taken to
3300 ofclock P.,M, same day, August

8th, 1924,
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Fridey, August 8th, 1924

2:00 otolock P.M.

Court oonvened at 2:00 o'clock P.M, Friday,

August 8th, 1934, pursuant to adjounrment

heretofore taken,

Present, same as before,

DR HAROL D S, HULBERT,
o03lled 28 a Witnese on behalf of the Defendante, having

been firat duly sworn, testified ae follows:

DIRECT EXAMINATINON
BY MR, TWALTER BACHRACH.

MR, WALTER BACHRACH: Q You are a physiolan and

,psycniatnat?

AT am.

Q Whers do you live?

AT live in Ouk Park,

d W®ilil you please tell us what your education has
been?

A 1 gradusted f£rom the University of Michigsn in 1914,

from the departmeat of medicine and surgery,
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Q Whathss been your professional experience since
that time?

Al took thrse yeares post graduate work in nervous

and mental diseasee at the University of Hichisan,

wag on the faoulty at that time, Then I was nent by
the Rogkefeller Foundation, National Committee of
Mental Hyglene, to Tennessee, to make a aurvey of the
cars of neuro-psychiatric casse in the Tennesszees insti-
tutiona, inoluding the penitentiarlies, county jaile,
poor farme,

That was interrupted by the war. The firet
1

‘day of the war I entered active service in the navy.

For & 1little over a ysar I was at Creat Lakes, I wal‘
the neurco=peychistrist at the Great Lakes; organiged
the first psychlatric unit that the navy ever had,
Vo oxamined som® foxrty=thres thousand or forty-nine
thousand zan a8 to thelr mental fitness for nasval ser-
vioe,

Then the navy department sent me to sea, and
I was on the U, S, 5, Leviathan for about & year.

Q In what capacity?

A I was the neuro-peyohiatrist on the Leviathan,

'and ny duty was to bring homs the neuro-psychisatrioc

Hei nOnl i ne --
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casaes from France and England that developed in the
army, and altogether I brought home in my wards about
three thousand such cases,

Aftor I recovered my health, I was at the
Chicago State Hospital for a period of mohkbhs, and
then entered private practiocs in Chicago, where 1 am
nov practioing; pracbioing @leo in Aurora, at the
Brendecke Clinio.,

Q During your professional life have you hed occa=
gion to make neuro-psychiatrio studies of numerous
individuale?

A Many thousands,

Q From that experience are you familiar with the
methode employed in determining the mental condition
0f individuals?

AT am,

Q ‘Did you make an examination of Nathan Leopold,
Jr. and Riohard Loeb of a neuro=-psychiatric nature?

A T d1d4. |Monday, June 18th I sew the boys for
the firet time, cmdh I have sesn then twelve i{imes
since at the jail, and I have seen them two days

here in court.

4 11linois. Crimnal Court. Cook County. Trial Transcript Leopold and Loeb 1960 1924



~196l-

Q Hsve thosze examinatione been repeated and ex=.
tenaive?
A They have,

Q Vore they mede under favorable oonditionl at
the comty jeil?

A Ver vy favorable for s jail examination,

Q Did you have assoocisted withyyou in the m.;ugg"g,
0f your examinations anybody else?

ATl aid; Dr. Xarl U, Bowman of Booton was With me
during this psriod of twelve examinations, and ve
worked together on the neuro-psyochiatrio phasa.

Dre Es V. L, Brown of Chiougo was with me on the eye
exanmination of the two boys.

Dr. J. J, Hoore of Chicago was assoociated
with ue in the pathologiocal study, partioulsrly the
laboratory phases, and vas assisted by Dr, Swaa,

Dr. Blaine of Chicego was associated with -
me, and Dr. Darnell was asscoliated fith ne in the
X=-ray examinations which weé made.

Q TVere any of thess men who wore sssocisted with
you in the making ¢f such examinations other than DIr.

Bownan, neurc-psychiatriete?
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A Thdy aré not.,

Q Or Peychiatrists?

A No.

Q Pleage tell us firet in 3 general Way the various
¢xaminations thet you made of the defendante in thie
oaze,

A Can I refer to my notss?

Q VYes,

A The examination consieted primarily of the study
of the famlly history, the pzisonal nintory, a hiastory
of the asscoiatde the boys met in their lives, the
sacadsnic history, thelir ohildhood history, their emo-
tiona} history, o physloal and neurologioal examination,
en investigation into thelr oriminsl life, partioularly
the Franke ceee, and observation and examination of
their subseQuent behaviour and reaction; & neurow
psychiatric examination,

Q Under the head of physical and neurologiocal ex-
suinstion, will you etate generally What tests
you made?

A We pade & physioal examination, 2an examinati;n

of the centrel nervous systen; 2 speociel exemination
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for bssal metabolism, blood pressurs, the blood sugax
test, Waeserman, blood physics, blood chemlatry,

a urine examination sugar tolerance test, and Xeray
examingtions.

Q Under the head of psychiatrio examinetion, what
partioular subjeotes Aid you addrees yourself to?

A To their intelleotus]l attainments; to their
emotional resctione; to thelr memories; their
attitude toward their environment; their attitude
toward thomselves; thelr attitude toward eaoh other;
their balance; thelr Jjudgment; their inner mental
1ife; their compulesions, 1f any; <the dogree of
the balance of thelxr maturity, and the effeot of
their inheritance or truining.,

Q@ Vere the reeuvlts of your cxaminations of
Nethan Leopold, Jr. #nd Riohard Loeb incorporated in
reporte signed by yourself and Dr, Caxrl M, BoWman?

A They vwero,

Q there those roports oubmitted to Dra. William A.
ﬁhite, William Hoaly and Dr, Bernard Glueock?

A They were.

Q@ Who have testifiod here?
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A Thay were.

Q Now, I will avk you to state Just what you did
in making your exemination of Richard Loeb, defendant
in this oase,

A Ve exanined or rather interviewed pereons who
oould give ue & history on thie boy's reletives ==

MR, CROWE: W¥hioh boy?

¥R, WALTER BACHRACH! Rilchard Loeb, I am addressing
myself to, Uir. Crowe,

¥R, CROWE: All right. 1

THE WITNEES8: The rslatives, the governess,
associaton, =~

MR, WALTER BACHRACH: Q By governess, you meaniiiss
Struthers?

A lMrs, Bishop, formerly Mise Struthers, yes #ir.

Q Nrz. Bigshop. That ies the same person who has
been referred to here a3 Mise Struthers; and also
Miohiumpa.

A Michiumps, liss Etxuthers and Mre. Bishop are
the same pereon,

Then we examined the boy himself as des-
oribed in these various thinge I enumerated, physiocel,
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neurologioal, laboratory and mental, and examined the
two boys relations to each other,

Q Aes a result of your investigation into the family
history, what facta did you find, agaln referring to
Richard Loeb, one of the defendants in thie case?

A To amcertained the names and agee of the rela-
tives that were living, and those that were dead
and what they died of., The only thingof eipmificance
that ¥Xe found that had any neuro-psychlatric impor=
tance in the case of the family history of Rioherd
Loeb vwas the faot that during the pregnancy whioh
terminated in the birth of Richard Loeb the mother
wad not well, She had soveralasute infections, par-
ticularly strepitococous infeotion, and frontal sinu-
gitus or inflammation of the accessory air pssaages’
of the nose located in the forehead.

¥R, CRO¥E: Dootor, will you repeat that, please?
I was talking here and did not catoch it.

MR, WALTER BACHRACH: 1Let us have the reporter
read it,

(Vhereupon the reporter hereé read .

the ansver of the witness),
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Q Now, in oconnection with the personal history
of Richard Loeb, what facte of eignificance did
you find?

A A He va® a weakly ohild until he wse four and
& half years of age, at whioh time hie tonsils
and adenoids were removed, and he inoreased elighily
in strength, but at about the age of nine he began
to grow strong and hearty.

He has never fully matured. The first
body haire appearsd at thirteen, At fourtoen they
wers not well davelopad,

Q Will you please keep your volce up. They can't
hear you around here,

AL At elghteen hie volce waa »till changing, He|
needs to shave about twlce a weok.,

He had whooping cough, moasles, nuzps
andinfluense 2ll before he waa five years of age.
Vhen he.waa nine years of age he had some eye trouble
from whioh he reoovered. He himself has had
freduent atiacks of fzrontal ainusitise.

He has hed one intestinal operation, Thg¢§;

wag recently, tWo years ago.
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He fainted during an initiation osremony
while he was at achool. He hes had several falls,
but was aot unconsoloue, sicept an acoident when he
wag fifteen, in Charlevoix, Uichigwy whero he wmas
treated by two physicians, Iir. Greensfeldler and
Dr. Armstzong, following which he vias not well for
geveral days.

& about the age of tweslve he stammered
gome, particularly when he was With other gtammerers,
He never fully recovered from this stasmering.

During the laat two or three years he had
tremors of the face, which havs been increasing,
and no% thece troemors are noticeable.

He hae hed considerable dental work in
gtraightening the teeth, He still has threeof
his wviolduoy or baby teeth, and the adult or middle
tecth have not baen revealed, as shovn by the Xeray,
nox have they erupted, He xx¥x has dlways boen
somewhat oold=bloodsd.

He ¥aars more oclothing and more blankets
’thantha aversag® boy d4ooe,

MR, CROWE: Q Doctor, do you mesn by cold=-blooded
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phyeical cold-blooded or emotional cold-blooded?

A T mean he had a subnormsl temperatzre, In hie
early 1life he vwase rather weak and lacked endursnce,
but, ae I said, about the age of nine he began to N
be strong enough to play with other hoys snd compete
with then,

MR, WALTER BACHRACH: Q What faocte did you as-
certain a8 the result of your investigstion as to the:
governese that he had?

A Thigs governees --

Q By the way, did you see her?

Al did., This governese was & Canadian lady with
very strong ideas of discipline and of punishment.
She had the oonventional ideas of rearing children,

She read a great desl to him, and it was
lazrgely dus to her tutoring and reading that he ade
vanced s0 rapidlyat aschool,

He prefoarred her oompany to that of boys,
and she rather tended to excluds ¥rom his life normsel
contaote with other boys.

The books she read to him were the better
olass of books which oould be read to children. Dickens,

Ben Hur, the Rise and Fall of the Dutch Republioc,and
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gome others, Q

She was so 8trict in her punighmenta that
he found to evade punlahaent for his misdemeanors
he must lie and decslve her, 80 he did acquire the
habit of lying to evade punishment, and this habit
of lylng hae grown do great that at times he lies
noW when there is no advantage to lig.

She did not pundsh him with corporal punishe
ment,‘but her punishmente weres thoroughly severe snd
prompt.

"I obeyed her to the minute, to the eecond,
her word was law®, the boy tclé ma,

She remainod ag governecs and tutor until
he viag fourteen years of age, or when ho entered
collsge, When she left he tended to breax loose, he
#said; he felt her influence no longer bound him
and he tried to live the life that other frechaen
at oollsge were living, though they were four years
older than he was, on an average.

Q I hand you a fhctosraph, which I ask be marked
Defendante’ Exhibit 1 of this date, and I ask you to

etate if ths woman on this photograph is & repooduwstion
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of the Mrs, Bishop or Mlgs Stxuthers whom you saw and
%as the nurse or the governess,

MR, CROWE: Juet 2 moment, I object,your Honor, %o
introducing photographs of people who might ba witnesses,

MR, WALTER BACHRACH: A photograph taken years ago,
when Richard Loe¢eb was a child, a vary smsll child,
Obvisusly we cannot bring beck ¥ise Struthers whe had
besn the governess, and 2anable the court to o=

THE COURT: Oh well, let it go in., Overrule
the oovjeotica,

MR, CRORE: It is mso ridioulous,

MR, DARROW: I objsot to the comdent.

MR, WALTFR BACHRACH: The Court saye you may angwer,
A It 18, yes,

MR, WALTER BACKRACH: %@ offer thie in evidence, if
the Court pleasze, at this time,

Q Né‘, with reepaot to there facts, of the relatione
of the governese to the life of Riohard Loeb, I will
aek you to & state whether most of theee faotaw Were

obtained from Mise Struthere as well as from Richard

Loaeb, the defendsnt?
& They wore,about equally.

Q Uhat faota did you ascertain with reference to the
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ackdemic history of Richard Loeb?
A He viag tutored by his governcds from +the age of

four and a half to sevan,

He then entered third grade.

He finishsd seventh grade at twelve, and then
entered the University Sohool at Hyde Park, in the neigh-
borhood of hie home, and graduated from high school
after two years 2tudy, at the age of fourteen, He
seoured extra oredite in CGsrmen and French, and took
summer courses in hietory and also & specinl Latin
oours e, After gradueting from bigh echool at fourteen .
he entered the Univereity of Chicago,

Hie first two years =t the Univeraity of
Cbiougo he took the reglar €ourse and lived at honme,

Hie governese was still with hia during part of the
first year in college, and still tutored him,

He entered the University of Michigon as
& junior vwhen he was ecighteen ycars old. His
oredite from the Universzity of Chicago wers out, 8o
that it was necesgary for hinm to take #some extrs courses
at Michigan.

He graduated from the University of Michigan

1)
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at eighteen and rooceived ooneidarable notoriety
ag the youngest graduate they ever had., He 4id not
recelve goholastic honors,

During the summer at collage he played most
of the time,

After his first year at the Universlty of
Ohicege, he started a coures in history during the
sumnmer, but discontinued 1t becauss he lost interest.

The next aummer he t¢ok several oorresponé-
onos fourses bhut soon dropped them.

Ater gradusting from the University of Mich-
igan he re-entered the Univereity of Chicago in the
graduate depsrtment and etudied Ameriocmn and Europesn
history.

During the last three summere,at the sumner
home in Charlewoilx, he 414 some studying; for one
sunmer he had & tutor, and he took some ocoxrespond=
ence courees, He caid he received higher grades
in college thanbe aotually 4id receive,

hotually he was intellectually lazy, and he
8lid through his studies with as little effort as pos=

gible, and with falr grades. He elected oourses whioch
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were along the lines of least resistance.

His major work was in history.

He vae asked what teachers had the moat effect
on his 1ife and he named eeverals The ocutstanding
teacher of them all wae Professor Ullrich Phillips,
of the Univereslty of Miohigan, profeesor of history,
who wag & @outherner, and & very pleasing perconality,

The thing that stande out most in his mamory
wad his studying of Clay-and Calhoun, and the spsech
on nullification.

He mentioned many other faoulty pursons, yux
they had no pronounced offeot on his mental life.

He was asked if any of the historical char-

acters Wore & pattern for him, thet he rather 1doliged.

He said no,

He did admire Roosevelt, and when ho was
& oy he managed by correspondence to get an autographioc
gsignature from ¥r. Roosevelt, This wae in comneotion
with Richard'e magagine, a magsszine he and ereveral other
1ittle voys had published in their childhood,

The movemente in history that particularly
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appealed to him were the Amsrican Revulution,
and the frontier struggle in America.

He was planning o study la¥, and he had
congidered etudying history, making that a life
work, but he wug not intsrested enough.

He had no very definite 1ife plan alonéw

AN

gdﬁoational linea,
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Did you discuss the Franks case with him?
Yos.

Did he tell you who struok the fatal blow?
He did.

¥ho, did he say?

That he aid.

O > O > O > O

Did you exanine h;lm ag to the details of the
Franke case?

A To some extent,

Q Did you observe hig reactiong during the course,
of his telling the details of that matter? |

A I did.

Q Vhat did you £ind es to his reactions, as to
whether they were no reactions, or & departure or
deviation from the no ?

A THe seemsd %0 be quite interested in desoribing the
planning of ihis oxrime. In hig deseription of the orime
iteelf, he was extremsly indiffereni, and in describing
ths pain that hs brought to the families involved, he
ssemed quite indifferent. He had no remorze; he was

interssted in the orims as a technical thing, and not asz
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en emotional thing. He had no adsquate emotional
reaction to 1%, after, nor at the time,

Q@ Did he disouss with you the motives for the
orins?

A He did,

Q@ VWhat did he gay about that?

A For ysars his contemplationg had bsen along
oriminalistioc lineas, and thers had been graduvally
developing in hin an axbition to perform a perfeot
crime, one which could never be solved. One where
he of all the world would have knowledge of the
details and no one else, except possibly his confeder-
ate would be aware of the innexr mso g of the crime.

In early childhood he wae sirongly ispressed
by & story of kidnsping in s book whioh he had read,
and the orims of kidnaping sesmed to hinm to be the
maxinus orime, and there had been growing, as I sald,
an ambition to commit a kidnaping and make it a perfect,
nyeterious orime; and the carrying out of this asbition
which had been fostsrsd in his oontonht::lons was the
motive of the orims.

Q Did he 211 you how wmuch money he had in ths Lanks
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at the time of the Franks crimet

A I think so. I think 4% wes avound $3,000. I
am not sure about that..

Q@ Did he discuss with you the part thet the obtain-
ing of the money played in the commlission of that act?

A I don't sxaoctly undsrstend you.

Q I am talking about it with respect to ite being,
a notive or otherwige.

A In the plenning of the orime which took several
montks, the kidnaping was the wain feature, and most
of hls thoughts dwelt along thet line. Towaxrd the
latter paxrt before the orime was committed he considered
the 1dea of & ranscn as part of the piloture of a perfect
orims, becauns a kidnsping without ransom would not
appesl to the averege perscn as & normal crime, if there
iz such 2 thing; and he then toward the last developed
the idea of a ransom, and the ransom d have to bs.
collsated 4in some way whioh would protect him from
identifiocation.

The ransom was not a primery motive in his

thinking about the kidnsping, but was one of the latex
deviloped motives.

4 11linois. Crimnal Court. Cook County. Trial Transcript Leopold and Loeb 1977 1924



Hei nOnl i ne --

-1978-

Q@ Addressing yoursslf now to the subject matter of
his reveries or phantasies, did he tell you what they
‘were? |

A He did.

Q Will you go on snd tell us the substance of his

oconversation with regpect to him phanitasien or reveries

-0r daydresus?

A These phaniasies or yeverieg or day dresms, con-
templations, ponderings, call them what you will, usually
occurrad between the time he retired snd the time sleep
came over him.

There were thres typical réveries which he
e a4 in from ghout the age of ten and which persisted
until the present tims, which is an abno 1y long tims
for reveries te eontimis with an individual; u 1y they
are sned mush earlier.

Ns aalls these pleturizations. The 2irst of
these picturizations was of himeelf in jall, stripped of
his olothing, bsing shoved around and whipped, and there
vas xush self-pity but no fseling of fear. He asid, *I
was abused, bus 1% was & very pleasant thought. The pun-
| 1 fioted on me in jall wam pleasant, I enjoyed
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being looked at through the bars beocsuse I was &

famous criminsl,®

From thie there later developed the idesa
that he would booome & oriminel and his revexrles turned
toward being a master oiminal,

A soms¥hat later phantasy was that of being
& frontierssan or ocoFboy, He actualiy lived these
phantasiee out a8 far as he oould., He would huddle
up under the bed olothing and ilmagine himself in a
shed vhose walls were lmpregnable to bullets,

The third type of phantasy was that of being
aideal fellow. He plotured himself as belng ex=
tremely good-looking, rich, athletlo, a great foot-
ball hero, and & member of a oocllege fraternity.

His master mind oriminal phentasy was the .
predominant one in his inner mental 1ifs and he
oarxisd this thing out in actuality when he could.

He played the game of shadowlng, watohing peopls on
the street, One tims he spent several houre watohw
ing & beggar vwoman go in and out along an alley.,

He shadowed Others. He would Walk along the street

and nake geetures with hie hande, when he was alone,
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imagining himself as tho leader of a oriminal bend,
signalling. "This ie a good house to rob, DBetter
leave this one alons®, and #o on,

He concentrated rather in hie phantasles
.on the planning rather than on the exescution of
the oriame,

In hig oriminal revexries he vwag always the
leader of a small band, he was nover alone, he had
never any desire to join a largs gang of oriminalas
and assume & subordinste position.

The besis of his oriminsl phantasies was
on the literature which he read at & tender age, books
which his governess did not know he had posseseion of,
One 18 surprised in roviewing his reveries and 20
forth to see how few new ideas he devsloped, how
stereotyped or ooppsr=plate or similar, wers the 2
repetitions of the various events in his oriminal
phantasies,

Q TVWere these phantasics of the normal type o0f abnor-
mel?
A .Abmormal in two ways, One, the nature of them.

Usually phantasies are of a rather noble nature. Seocond,
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they porgisted muet to0 long in his likfe and wore 20
vivid that he was oompelled to darry out in action
sone of his phantasies,

Q Now, Dogtor Czows saye that all boys have phanta=
sies, Will you tell ue, dootor, the difference bestween
the phantasies that Richard Loeb had and those which
Dx, Crowe says the ordinary boy has?

¥R, DARROW: Do you mean Lawyer Crowe or Dr. Krohn?

MR. CRO®E: Thank you for the compliment. Imitation
ie the moet eincere form of flattery,

THE WITNESS: I have not exemined all boys, but
all boys that I have examined and taken up this
question of phantasy with, I find that it is charso-
teriatlo of you to indulge in phantaey that ia
normal, sand phantasies usually are given up,

A personx during his phantasy realiges that
he is day dreaming, and the average person says,
"Yes, I have vivid imegination, but Ican snzp out
of 1t.°" They do not affe¢ot hie later oconduot. This
boypyas abnornal in that they did affeet his condust.
He was not able to snap out of it, to use the phrase.
He tondsd to carry his phantasies out into actuslity,
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and sctually tried to ocarry out his phantaey. fﬁat
wes abnormal,

MR, WALTER BACHRACH: Q  Was thexe anything else
that would indicats that they wers abnpyasl, that 1o
with respect to the characber oﬁ them?

A His phantasies are oriminalietio, Moet phantasies
are of nobls charaoterietios, of service to othars,
winning public approval,

Q In & normel individual what relation to the
rhantasles beax %o tha environment?

A Phantasieg usually ars an escape from the environe
ment, normally.

Q@ How 4f at all do %they ploture environment?

A Under ideel, unoritical, extravagent ciroumstances,

Q Are they uwsuslly of a morbld character in norsal
individuals?

A Phentasie# of worry in all pereoné usually are,
but in young persons phantaeles ueuwally ar¢ not
worbid.

Q ¥ow, will you go ahead and gontinue to tcll ws
what you were told as to the phantssies, or have you

coaplated that?
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A Oh, rather.

Q T¥hat did Richard Loeb tell you with rospsot to
his subsedusnt bshaviour and resction after the 33rd
day of May or the 3lst of May, 19347

A After the killing they returned the car at
four thirty snd wen% totheir Own homes, he said, He
disocussed the ocase with his family., He got quite
& kick out of it, to use his phrase, in discussing
this with his family. That his motheyshculd eay
that the oriminal who d4id this should be tarred and
feathered, and she gald thie to him, and he was the
oriminal, and she did not know 1t, "All that tiokled
ay sense of humor, to think that she was saying this
to her own son."

Be was & 1ittle worried about his father's
silence, His father was a little quiet; he won-
dered if his father might suspeoct anything,

He witnezses & part of the funeral in tha.i-. he
bappened to pass by the house at the time the ocoffin
Wwas being brought out to the hearse. He said he
did not do it purposely, he jwst happened to be

going by, but he experienced mo remorse except when
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bright=faced boys, he folt & 1itile bit uncomfortable.

He denied asending flovwers,.

A% no time has he dreamed about this orime,
or has his sleep bzen disturbed in sany way.

Following this orime, he continusd his ordi-
nary life, meeting his assoclates ae formerly.

After the glasses vwere found and he felt
that he might be suspected, he attempted to bulld an
alibi, and ho thought the planning of his alibl was
a very interesting thing. He got a great kick ==
excuss me, he got a tremendous kick from reading
the neswepaper accountis of th; orimé and from discuss-
ing it with the variouws wmembers of the community,

&1l of whom wers intensely interested, because none
of them knew What he knew about 1it,

In the county jail he seeus to bs not
unocomfortable, although he is & boy from & Welleestab-
lished family.

At the time I first sxamined him he had a
jall bedbug dermatitis, or skim eruption, and 1t
never bothersd him, He never even ocommented on it.

Ho enjoys the limeligat but he spsaks mo-
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deatly,

In jail he wvats and sleeps well, and from
my previous examination and observing him now I don®t
think he has lost in welght. It wos interceting to
observe that ecosetimss he wouwld go to sleep during the
peychiatric interview if yuu ners talking to his
afgocizte and not binmzelf,

MR, WALTER BACHRACH: Q@ s that during hie ggyohif
atzio interviewt

L Year,

Q Or durirg the neurological sxamination?

A W%ell, during 2 blophyaical or chemical éexamina~
tion of the other boy.

Q Did you make your peychlatrioc examination of the

boys together oxr separately?

A BSometimez separately and sombtimes together, as
o matter Of saving time,

He took a lively interest in the jail,-Qo
observed., He very quiokly caught on to jaill slang,
"1 think so and so will get the streei®, was & phrase
of hid, and he vas rather contemptuous toward his aesos

clate for not knowing 80 much oriminzl slang.
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He wae not absolutely frank towazd us.
As far as I can determine, he never told us anything
Which was not true, but he kept back & lot of things,
and in that sense he lied.

Ho felt that bis orise wes exiremely clovar.
He knew 1€ would meke & thrill in the newnpagérs. He
had been quite disappointed previously, he ptated, in
that some of his minor delinquencies, 3uch as throve
ing bricks through glass windshields or standing
car® had nsver been published in the newspapera,

He said he had no hatred to_ward the boy,

Q Toward which boy?

A Robert Franks, That he had not planned on any
partioular boy. They oonsidered 3everal, They
oonaldered one boy in particular, but his fathor wae
80 tight he would not give up the money if the boy
vag kidnaped, %0 they gave that up,

They considercd kidnaping thelr own fathers.
They considered kidnaping Losdv's younger brothsr,
Toway, but gave those up becauss they Were not prace
tical; there would be no one to furnish the ransom

woney and the whole family would have t0 congregate
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at the time of trouble and it would be impoasible to
go out'and get the ransoas money even if it had been
produoced.

Q Did he ever disoues with you the dueation of
k1lling his sesociate, Nethan Lsopold, Jr.?

A He did,

Q Twhat did he eay about that?

A He bhad & rabther ohangeable attitude toward his
assooclate, mostly one of affection, but at times
1esd B0, He said, "I have always been sort of
afreld of him. - He knew too much about we, k&= and
he knew* -- meéaning his usscolate knew == thay Loel
wa@ not truetwortiby entirely. He had often thought
of sheoting hiis aseociste becmuse he wes a bad influ=
ence upon him, He goes on to e¢xplain ¢his by

' saying, he means that he never oould have ocurried out
his orime? alune, but ho required an assoclate to be
with him, and thersfoxe his cowpanion, by being his
ssscoiate, was & bad influance upon him, He vwag
sonewhat afreld hic assoclate might betray him. He
hsd thought of pointing & revolver at his assoclate

and shooting bim, ®But the idea of murdering a
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fellow, especially alone -~ I don't think I could
have done 1%,* he sald, "but 1f I ocould have snapped
ny fingere, and made him pass away of a heart sttaok,
I would have dons it."

Another reason¥hy he never murdered his
asecolate was that he felt he would bs suspected,
they having been such close friends, He never mads
any attempi to dispose of his associate,

He aleo freduently contemplated euiocide,

At one time he suggested that the two boys play poker
to see Which one should commit suioide. If there
vere gome simple and graceful way of committing
gulcide #hich would not let people knov hs had com-
mitted suiclde, he would have done it, but he would
not have done 1t so people would recognisge it,
because that would have bsen & stigms on the family,
Ho has not sericusly considersd suicide since his
arrest . He haz not heen depreassed,

Q Addressing yourself now to the physical and neurce
logical examinations As I understand you, you say
you took hia blood preesure?

A Yea.

Q Tell us the result of that test?
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" A gystoldo, 100; Diastolic ©5. Blood pressure 35.
Pulse rate 88 tv 93, I think I have another {inding.
Q Did the result of that teet in any way indl-
cate a deviation from the normal, as far as blood pree-
gure iz cooncerned?
A It isc below normal.
Q Is thut the cnly test you made?
A Mother one Waus; Bsystolic 100 and disatolio 60,

Q Did the result of that test doviate from the

normal?
AThat is below normal,

] Q@ You said you took a basal metabolism test, Sﬁ&ﬁg'
what that ie, and ite purposof

A The baeal metabolism teet is & chemloal test %o
determine ths rate ot whioh the body tissuecs oxydige
the food which the body has ingestod, and givea us
an indication of the vital forcesz of the body.,

The test ie done in & technical way by
having the patient appear without any breskfazt and lie
Quietly for an hour in loose clothing, breathing into
aﬁ.apparaxue'whioh has been clamped %o the mouth, the

noke having besn shut tight, to messure the oarbon dioxide
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The carbon dioxide is absorbed by some of the
chemicals in the test.

Ve must coneider a persons age, his welght,
his helght, his pkin area, hie temperature, his pulse
rate, hie xsepiration.

This has 2ll bsen carefully tabulated in
thoueande of cases and charts have been prepared and
ve are able to ocontrast the resulte obtained in any
one patient with what would be normal for that patient
oonsidering his age, welight, eto,

The metabolism teet in the case 0f Richard
Loeb on June l4th, taien under ideal clroumetances,
wa® ninus seventeen percent, whioch is abnormally low,

Q What does such an abnormally low basal metabe
olien result signify in the individual?t
_ A A dieorder ¢f the endoorine glands and the sympath-
é¢tic nervous system, It i one phase of mediosl
evidente to indicte that there ie guch & dissase of
the endongines and sympathetic nervous systen,

Q You made & sugar tolerance test, & Vasserman test,
& blood physioce test, & blood cheamietry test, & urinalyeis,

and & urine after glucose toste. I will now ask you
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to @tate generally whether the results of those
tests were negatlive or positive.

A The Waeserman was negative,

The sugar tolerance test was somewhat high,
but not abnormally £0.

The blood physioce showed hiam to be fomevhat
anamic, thers being 5,570,000 red cells, with aJoolpr
%i index of (77,

Q There is no significance to that, is there?

A Some anemla, but not pronounced, Ths blood chenm-
iotry, noneproteld nitrogen in the blood, was only
8lightly high, 37, the normal being from 35 to 35,

Q You need not give the specific on“oxocpt those
that are significant, that show soms significance on
his personality. If they were normal, just say so.

Mf, CROWE: No, give them all to us, beosuse I
would like to know whether he is ninety-five percent
normal or not.

MR, WA TER BACARACH: The State's Attorney hasgs asked
for them, (o ahead and give them, |

A There were fifty-six volumes percant of carbon

dioxide in the blood, the normal value being sixty=-five
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percent. The urine exXamination choved a specifio
gravity of 1034, with olear transparency and amber
color, aolde reasction, no albumin, nc sugar, no indi=-
can, no casts, but thsre was muoue present, and a few
epithalial oelle, == of no aignificance.
¥R, CROWE: That throws consideralle light on this
nuorder does 1t not?
THE RITNESS: No,
MR, WALTER BACHRACH: I object to conunsel intexw
rupting.
Q Did you make an x-ray examination of Riochard Loeb?
A vwe did,
Q Have you the x=ray pie plates here?
A I have,
MR, CROWE:  Did you take them yourself, dodtor?
THE WITHNEBS: Just a nmoment,
MR, CROWE: Yhat is your snswer?
THE WITNESS: I say, juat a moment, until I get
Loeb?s separasted from Leopold's,
MR, CROWE: Did you take them yourself? Before
we go any farther with the x=-rays, did you take them

yourself?
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¥R, WALTER BACHRACH:  Just é momént,

MR, CROWE: Wait, now,

¥Re WALTER BACHRACH: I will eddress myself %o that
question,

@  Werc you present when thess X-raye were taken?

AT wasd,

Q Did you look through the fluorcscope into the body
end the variocus perie of the body of Richard Loevat the
time these x-raye wers tzkent

A T dia.

@ ©Did you 386 by looking through the fluoroscops into
ths body znd the various parte of the body of ﬁichard
Loab, wmhat you now see in the x=ray plates you now
hold beforz you?

A T dia.

MR, CROWE: I object, He has not qualified as an
expert In x-ray. The proper way to introduce the
photojraphe 18 to have the person who took them take
tha ntand and etate how they were taken,

MR, WALTER BACHRACH: The supreme court has held it ia
Proper.

MR, CROWE: No, the aupreme c¢ourt hus not and you
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oinnot produce a decision to sustain you,

THE COURT: Q You have taken x-ray® yourself, doctor?

A 1 wap present when these wore taken, 1 marked
the plates with my own wetoh chain and they arc the
same insignis as the x-ray. I carried the filws to
thedaboratory; I was with them while thay vere de-
veloped in the dark room and I recopnized on these filme
at that time the same pethology I had recogniged in
the man's okull a half an hour or so befora,

THE COURT: You may go ahead, dootor,

A We took x-rays of the skull, face, xek¥y wrists,
thorax of this boy,

MR, WALTER BACHRACH: Q Now addreraing youreelf first fo~
the thorax, which, ae I understend it, 42 the ohest
cavity ww

ATt is,

Q ie there any deviation fxom the normal on théf.
Xeray shown?

& Very little.

)
Q Is there any shown by that z=rayt
A Very 1little. The heart seems to be rather of a tuhé; |

lar type, not broad.
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ﬁR. CROWE: Now, if the court please, if we go into
thdog, I would like to submit to your Honor an suthor-
ity showing an x=-ray photograph cannot properly be
introduced in eviQence with this kind of a foundation.

Thie wWitneeg will probably be on the stand
all afternocon and I will present that decision to
you in the meraning.

THE CODRT: ALl right. If you do, I will strike
it out,

IR, CROVE: All right.

THE COURT: You osn move to atrike it out now or at
the closo of his testimony,

MR, CROWE: Let it go in subject to my objection
and I will preaseht the authority in the morming.

MR. WALTER BACHRACH: I will also state to the
oourt that the beat of authorities under this kind of
proof ¥%ill not bear out this contention, and that,
ssoondly, if Mr. Crowe were right, he w could bring
in the men who aotually took thex and put him on the
witnese stand.

MR, CRORE: That 4ie what you should do,

MR, VALTER BACHRACH: He is here in Chicago.

MR, CROWE: Bring hia in,

4 11linois. Crimnal Court. Cook County. Trial Transcript Leopold and Loeb 1995 1924

1




39r «1996-

YR, DARROW: What is the use of having %o work in
hot weather?

¥R, CROWE: I don't have.to do the work.

THE COURT: The doctor may testify aubjeoct to
the Stabtel's objection,

I will rule in the morning. If you have
got the authorxity to show me, I will be gulded by it.
Procosad, dootor.,

A The x-ray film of the ohest shows the hearlt to
be rather tubular in shape, No grcat aignificance,

MR. WALTER BACHRACH: Q Address yowiself to the
X=ray film of the ckull.

THE COURT: Ve will take a recwse now fox five

minutss,

Whereupon a short recess was here tukon

by Cuuxrt and Cowneel,,
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Court reconvened pursusnt 4o short
recess haeretofore taken,
HAROLD B8. HULBERT
resumed the stand as & witness on behalf of the defendante
and being further exsmined in chief by lir. Valter Bachrach
tectified g5 follows: (
MR, CROWE: I withdraw the objection. .
THE OOURT: The objection of the state's attorney 1
withdrawn, he gays.
- MR. WALTER BAOUHRACH: @ Doctor, will you itake the x-ray

film again of the skull and tell us what your findings are
with rempect to that film?

A Ve toak two z~-rays of the skull. The mellatursica
ie normel rize.

Q Tell us whet the sellatureloa im,

MR, OROWE: Do you know?

MR. WALTER BAOHRACH: Yesz, I know.

MR, OROWE: Wellf

A The aellatursioa 1s the bony oradle of the piltuitary
glend underneath the brain. The x-roy showe 2 great deal
of dental work and reveale the absence of the lower left

second blsoupid tcoth.
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iz MR. WALTER BACOHRACH: @ Is that a baby tooth?

A Fo, 1% shows the adult tooth is not there. The
pmaller x-ray of the face and jaw shows the same con-
dition. Sevsral tseth are missing. It is diffiocult
to determine the prssence of the bhaby or deciduoune or -
uilk teeth etill persisting, although a olinioal ex-
anmination of the mouth shows the presence of thess baby
teeth, and that was confirmsd by some dental filws which
had been previocusly taken and submitted by the family
physician a year ago.‘ I cannot testify these are the
teeth of this boy, although I was told they were.

The Jg-uy of the wrigt shows no pathology, oz,

in other words, shows nothing unusual for a boy of his

age. i

Q TNow, have you before you some negatives or positives,
rather, of the dental z-ray films?

A No, I have not of the dental.

Q Havse you o_f the skull?

A I havs of the sella.

MR. WALTER BAOHRAGH: I will have these marked defen-
dants' Exhibit 3 of this dats.

(Fhich said dooument was marked ao
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@ Thig ploturs ic msde from the z-ray negative
whioch you already identified, is it not?

A It is. I was presenit when it was made in the
daxk room and later during the furthsr development,
cutting, and s0 forth. These never loft my pouseasion
and these are prints of the region of the sellatursioca
and pineal gland from this film, to make it casler to
study.

@ Will you indicste to the court where the sells~
turgica is and whet 1ts relation ie to the pineal gland?

A (Exzhibiting book o the court.) I have marked in
ink on this page, on this half, the sellstursioca, 3¢
you can #£2@ Up here -

VR, OROWE: Taik a little louder.

A I have marked on the lower half in ink the region
of the sellatursica, sc he can tell from the upper ’
here, to interpre$ ii. Tou will notioce there is no
pineal shadow. Thers is no shadow. There 12 no
of the pinsal gland in this boy.

MR, WALTER BAGHRAGH: Q What does the abssnce of the
ghadow on thiz film or this positive ftakon frca the Mim
indicate with respect to the absence of & pinesl gland
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in Richard Loeb? ’

A It indicates the pineal glend in Richard Loeb
is not calelfied.

Q@ Is that a normal or naturally normal condition
in a boy or young man of 18 or 197

A It should not be ocaloified at this age, and it
is not caloified in ttils oase.

MR. OROWE: Q 8o 1t is normal, doctox?

A It should calolfy at about 30.

Q@ Bo this is normsl?

A  Yes.

THE COURT: Q 1Is that of Loeb?

A TYes, sir. It ic different of leopold, a different
type of fellow.

MR. WALTER BACHRAOH: § As rosuli of your physiocal,
naurologioal and plyohia’;ric sxamination of Riohard Loeb-——

MR. OROWE: ¥ow walt a moment. Have you told what the
neurologiczl examination was? |

A Yo, I have not, |

MR, CROWE: Let us have that firei, then.

MR. VALTER BACHRACH: All righ%.

Q@ Give us your explenstion as %o what you found or -
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tell us what your findings were with respeot to the
neurologiosl examination.

A The physiocal and neurologicsl examinstions were
combined.

Q Tell ug vhat you found from th“c‘%u examinations.

A In Richard Losb we found a well developed, well
nourished boy, 69 inches high and 143 pounds in welight,

vith a elight but musoular distfitution of the hair.

The akin werm and molat. There were bandages on
the 1lcit kneo. He had hurt himeslf recently in an
1ndoor baseball game in jeil, and he had "beg-bug*
dermatitia on the arms and lege.

There was gome ourvature of the spine, the
tenth dormal vertebra being curved anteriorally.

The sénse of smell was intaot.

At to the eye examination, I have done that
two t'imu, and I oan combine them. Distance vision
is not as sharp as it was cne or two years ago, Pupils
round, even, equdl snd two and shalZ millimeters in
diameter, and they do react to light and in acoommodation.
The near point is two inches, The tactile tension is

normal. The right vision is better than {the left.
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Heither is quite up to normal, due to a spasm of the
ciliary muscle. The diecs are normal. The retinal
arterial light streaks are more msrked than normel,
but the arterice nick the veine to only a moderate
degren. The intra=ocular tencion ia right 33,
left 3L.5, the normsl being from 15 to 35,
The form field and the red fielde are approx=
imately normal in outline,
If you want the figures I can glve them to
you, or hera im a chart.
MR, CROWE: No, In other words, h¢is a healthy
normal boy?
¥R, WALTFR BACHRACH: 1 object.
THT WITNESS: I didn't say that, I say his oyezo
ghow no abnormality.
iR, CROWE: Go ahoad.

THE WITHESS: Tha extra ocular movementa of the

‘eye are noxmal. One noticee in his face a cortain degres

of movenment.-of the faclal musoles, The othex oranial
nervee are normal, ¢xcept that there are trempre of the
tong\lﬁn

The reflexes phow no sbnoruality.
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Hig galt Was normal except his llumplng on
bigs hurt left leg.

Hend grasps normal,

In the neurolegical examinetion, nothing
unusual wag brought out 2xcept th2 inasxr and front
part of both legs, aboub the middle {third, the sense of
touoh and the sansgse of hest 18 gomevbit dimdnlahed or
impeired, but ir e8till intaoct.

The olinical exawination ¢f the wmouth showed
scne deciduous or baby taseth that were epoken of
previouoly.

- The hsart and lunge vVere negstive.

He had a fow enlurged lymp glands,

The thyrold was not palpable,.

MR, CROWE: TUhere were the enlarged glands?

A Inpguinal, or in the groin. The thyroid was not
palpabls; I could not feel it, He did hove marked
dexrmographia,

R, WALTER BACHRACH: Q Does that complete your
neurclogiocal examinpation?

4 Tmaes Those were the oasentlal findings.

YR, CROVE: You have got your witness maying that
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MR, WALTER BACHRACH: Q Dld Richerd Loeb in the
course of your interviaws with him discuss with you

the means to be employed in the killing of Robert
Franke?

A Yes,

Q After the striking of Robert Franks on the head,
what meane were to bs enployed by which the death was to
be &ccomplished?

A It wae planned to strike the boy on the head from
behind with a taped chisel -- being taped to protect
the hand of the wieldor -= tc rendsr him unconsoious,
thon %0 take him to the oulvert, and there to strangle
the boy, whoever he might be, each of the two young
men holding one end of the strangling xope; then
to strip the body of all merke of identificstion}
clothing, to obliterate chemically any other marks of
idertification, and to place this body in this oulverty .
where it would remein forever, or until it had dise
integrated.

Q@ Did Richard Loeb tell you whether or not etrangu-

e
lation had ooocurred?

L He dids

Q Did he tell you whether there was strangulation
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A He t0ld me that the boy was struck several times
with the chisel, and died in the car, and there
wa® no noed to strangle the body at the culvert.

Q And as & result of the various oxaminations made
by you and described by you here, are you able to,
and have you formed an opinién as to the mental dondition
of Richard Loeb on the 213t of May, 19347

MR, CROWE: Walt a moment. Have you finished all
of your exminaﬁi_ons?

THE RITNESS: No,

UR, CROWE: How about the psychiatrio?  Give us
that, pleaee.

THE WITKESS: A In the inner mental life of thié\:
boy there has been a terrifioc struggle, becauss of
his physiocel frailnese when a small ohild.

Hs felt wuch inferior to the other children
with vhom he a@scolated, and he could not compate with
theu in their games on even terms,

Thie eense of inferiority was very distreesing
to him, He did not asscciate much with other ohildren,

being largely With the governesa, or alone,
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He indulged himeelf in thoughta wherein he
was superior to others, and achieved in his inner wen-
tal 1life the superiority which was denied him in
actual 1ife. This superiority over others found its
greatest oubtlet in his contemplstion about ecriminalisnm.
Ae & moester oriminal, knowing more thananyone elae,
he was supexrior to thoee with whom he would have to
ssdooiate, Thie oonflict between his inferiority
and his supsriority remained in his inner menital life,
but affocted his 1ife in contact with others, causing
him to dewonstrate Whexrever he could his superiority
in knowing more than others, or over others.
MR, CROWE: Are those all tne examinations you made?
A Praotically all.
MR, WALTER BACHRACH: Q@ pHave you given praotioalli
all of your-psychiatric findings?
A Yes.
Q I will ask you whether or not_as s result of these
examingtions whioh you have described here, you are
able t0 form and have formed an opinion as to the

mental condition of Riocherd Loeb on Mgy 3lst, 19347

A I have,
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Q@ T¥hat i thst opinion?

A Ny opinion is that the man is not normal physi-
cally or mentally, and there is a2 close relation be=-
tween his physical abnormalities, largely of the
endocrine system, and his msntal condition; that
intelloctually he far eéxcells the average boy oi his
age; that in matsers of emotion he is muoh inferior
to the average boy of his age; his emotional reactions
being those — I estimate, becmase I cannct msasure
== 0f & boy of about nine or ten, certainly less
than & boy of puberty; and in matters of judgment
he is childish. The discrepancy between his Jjudgment
andhie emotionsé On the one hand, and his intellectusl
attainments on the other hand, is a greater discrep=
anocy than ve find in normal persons, and theregore I
am forced to oconclude that he is mentally dissased.

¥R, CROWE: Walt a moment. You have not given any
1llustration of his judgment at all,except the ocome
miseion of the corime,

MR, WALTER BACHRACH: 1 suggest Mr. Crowe postpone

his cross exsminatidén until I finish.
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MR, DARROR:  And his mrgument &180. |

THE COURT: Let the defense get through with the
witnese before you oross exaamine,

MR, WALTER BACHRACH: Q Addressing yourself now
to the defendant, Nathan Leopold, Je,, I will a8k you
td atate in a general way whethexr you mads the zame

" kind of sxaminations az you made of Riohard Loeh,
88 descoribed by youu here?

THE COURT: T wss golng to 3ay, if ¥r. Crovwe had |
goms specific que«tion with refsrenca to what the
doctor hog just stated apout Loeh, you may anguwer
that question; but your general oross oxamingtign,l
ghould be defexred. |

¥R, CROGE: I merely wanted hin to glve me all of
the thinge he based hia Judgment on.

THE COURT: Do that on oroses,

¥R, CROWE: But he has given all except in the. .
matter of judgment, 0f his Jjudgment he has givon
merely one 1llustretion, and that is the commleeion
of the crims 1tself, Tt ic not croes examination.
I meely wented to get the foundation upon which he
bases hie opinion,

THE COURT: Maybe that one illustration is what he
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(¥hereupon the queetion was here read
by the ocourt xepoxter)

A Uuch the same,

YR, WALTER BACHRACH: Q TWhat significant faots
did you find a2 t¢ Nathan Lsopold, Jr. with respect
to the family alsboryt

A Thers sre many inctances of nephritis, or Brights
Disease in the Leocpold family, pérticularly on the
mothsr'e gide, She had a nephritis herself which
wags S0 sever thsat ohe spent most of her time in bed
during hier pregnsncies, to prevent s miescarriage.
She wae particularly observed by ths phyzicisns
during thoss pregnancies, for fear eclampeie would
develop., Albumen did gppear in the urine. Con-
vulelons did not occuwr, She never recovered from
this nephritie, and remained & nephritic the reet

- of her 1ife, an invalid, and died seventeen years
later, without subseduent pregnsncy., In his e-
well, that ie 3ll on the family hiotory\that is of
any significance.

Q  that fact did you find with respeot to the
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A His precociousness or rapld sadvance has been

morkedalmost from birth,
He sat up at three monthe; he laughed
when he was four weeks 0ld; he laughed aloud defin-
itely when he was twslve and & half vweeks 0ld; ke
took his first step when he was three months old;
gsid a few words when he wesbetween four and five
months old. His first teeth eppeared at eight
months; when he was one year 0ld he hed six teeth,
He walked whenhe was fourteen months old. He started
to #chool when he Was less than six years old, N»x zand
his sohool reocord I will take up later under his
academic history; but it hus also been precocious.
As & ohild he vwas bright and zlext, but not sirong or
ruggede In ohildhood es wWell &6 in infancy be
was freQuently siock with galtrg}’toltinal disturbances,
Whiokh wWere marked with fever, headaches, and wvomiting,
80 he wor on & limited Giet most of the tims or muoch
of the time,
At nine yesrs of age his tonsils were removed,

Previous to thet bhe had lackedenergy; be had no de-
sire for outdoor sports, He wae? inferior to other

boys, and he realiged it.
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Following the removal of his tonseils,
there was a marked improvement in his physical condie
tion. He phrased it himeeli by saying, "Before I
had ny tonaiiﬁ out I wae a girl, After I became
like a litile boy." He then had more energy
for esporte, but he nover did acquire muoch liking
for them nor much &£kill in eports,

He had soveral minor eioknesses in childe
hood, whooping cough and measles, mumpa. When he
was thirteen yeare old he began to grov unususlly
rapidly., He had baeaen somewhat undersizsd before
this time. Adolesgence or puberty started at
thirtecen and was fully completed when he was four=
teen,

¥hen he was fifteen hé beoarme quite over-
weight asd reduced fifteen or twenty ponds by dieting.

As 3 ohild he had frequent attacks of nose=
bleed. He has zlways been extremely sensitive to
physiocal pains and ho showed instability of his
blood vessel control., He has had several attackes of
ekin rash., He 13 sensitive as to certain 2zE foods,

He has had an unusually great thirst for water which

4 11linois. Crimnal Court. Cook County. Trial Transcript Leopold and Loeb 2011 1924
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has subsided recently. He has had an wnusuvally great
appstite, whioch has subsided in the last few months,

He 1s quite disposed to headaches and
gastrointestinal trouble. FWhenever he has a sligh%
fever ne has profound headache. ﬁe got glamses to gee
4f they would relieve the headashes, but they did not.
His teeth have not bsen good, Hia slesp is asometimes
troubled but not unusually so.,

In athletloc activities where he could
set his own pace, #uch a8 taking & long walk or a hike
az or tramp or in birding, he ocould do well, but if
he had to compete with other boys at the pace they
set, he was not strong enough to keep up and never
hag besn,

In 1930 he had several sioknesses in rather
close succession. One was identified as chicken pox,
but of & peculiar or atmormal form where he had s
very pronounced fever, but the rash was very late
in coming out and two months later he had a relapce.
of measles,

He had measles for the second time,

Furing these sioknesses hehad a high fever

and he had involvement of the central nervous system;
4 11linois. Crimnal Court. Cook County. Trial Transcript Leopold and Loeb 2012 1924
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there were twitchings, there vas rigidity of the
neck, andthe head was thrown stiffly back, things
Which are suggestive of meningitis,

Within the next two monthe after that he
devedoped more of the skin disesases, one a case of
glant urticaria and one a case Where the skin pesled
off, exfoliating erythemia,

He is particularly sensitive to pain. A
8light pain wlll make him sweat, feel weak a2nd faint.
Hie skin condition viag also pronouncad when he had
gcarlet fever in 1931, He hae shown vasomotor
inatability and dermopathology skin inferiority.

He hos the so-called neuro-ciroulatory asthenia,
or & nervous Weeknese, ussociated With weeknose of the
heart and blood vessels, He has dsveloped a rather
morbid fear of phyeical distress.

MR, CROYE: TDoctor, ®ill you give me that last c}f‘ﬁﬁg:,’._
I did not aquite get 1t?

4 TJeuro-ocirculatory aethenia.

MR. CROWE: No, about the morbid fear.

THE WITNESS: Morbid fear of pain inflinted on himself,
For example, when I took goma b1ood from his ear fox

a blo
lood phyeios examination the boy alwost fainted, .

4 11linois. Crimnal Court. Cook County. Trial TranscCript Leopo
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not from the pain butwhile I was getting ready.

MR, CROWE: He doean't like the idea of being
hanged?

THE WITNESS: That 18 another Queetion.

MR, CROWE: All right.

THE WITNESS:  Both the dootor and the nurse that
examined him a2 well &8 myself and Dr. Bowman all agree
that he i very sensitive to physical pain,

This vesomotor instability, lack of blood
ve#sel tone, has been shown by his recent sicknesseah
He hae had sinue infection and rhinitis and a very
pronounced congestion 0f the inside of one nostril
would aprear in a short time and alméet suddenly
digappear to repppear on the other side. In
, other words, it would be turbinated congestion fi;gf

on one slde and then on the other..

MR, WALTER BACHRACH: Q Do these thinge indicate

an instability of the nervoue system?
A They do, of the sympathetic nervous system,

Q Address yourself now as to the faots you ascer=

tained a8 to his aoademioc history.

A Yes. The firet two years this boy went to sohooi

Hei nonl i ne - D@ WOREs %O M. gAr)d % 800001 o1 2 This 20ha0d shas chesns 1024
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a go~sducational school and now became a girls!
8chool., There was noW one other boy there at this
game time.

He entered school when he wae five years and
gleven months old, and after two years in this
school he was tried out in @ publio school but he
did not get along wsll and the family put him back
in the girls' school for the rest of that school ysar,
A nurse always aocompanisd him to and from sohool
until he was eleven yeare o0ld.

When he was eight years of age he entered
tbhe publioc school system, enterpd in the low third and
wa8 soon put in the high third grade. His progrese
continued ordinary until he was in his fifth grade,

when his teacher Mrs, Marsh,took an interest in hinm
partioularly because of his interest in ernithology

or birding. She arrangsd 20 that he could skip

a grade. He finished the public school in the

mlddle of the year when he was elovcn‘%@%@%% old

and he immediately entered the Harvard 8chool by teking

examinations, and thus advenoing himeself another

half year,

MR.CROYE: You mean eleven yeare instead of 11 months,
don't you, dootor?

i nontine -8 | VEENESSS . I£.1 eaddudl monthesT meaat 1 VeRrRPTBdnk you.
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All during the time he was going to school he
realized he was not like other children, that his parents
were wealthy, <+they lived in a better neighborhood than
most of the children, and that he alone had & nurse who
acocompanied him to and from ochool.

He continued in the Hervard Bohool until he
was aboutl 15 yeors of age, in 1920, By taking extra
studles and exeminations in German, he found he would
be eligible for college. Vhile he was abt the d
sohool, he had a burning desire for Greek, as he expressed
it o me, and he took for one year Greek, insiead of
French, which he should have taken.

He was alwaym at the head of his claps. He
made very few close friende. He got along plessantly
wlith the others. One reason why he made few closs friends
is that he advanced in school more rapidly than his class
rates.

In ths Sohool Review of 1930, which was the
annual studsnt publication, where there were comments on
the various members of his olaes, I read the following in
relation to Nethan Leopold, Jr.:

"The pressnt junior olase 1z indsed a good orowd.
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Under the leadership of s0 and 80 ag class president
they have bocome distinotly a soclal orowd, not omitting
the great Nathan.!

In another place this is in quotations:
"0f courses, I am the greoat Nathan, vhen I open my lips
et no dog bark.*® \

And in another plmce, o poem gpezks of the same
peraon:

"And go our list of Juniors hasm,

At last been briefly told —
%ith one axception only, it's
The mighty Leopold."

And snother place it referred to him 20 "Nathen

Lsopold, the orazy 'bird’ of the school. The avicular
C nember of the f£ifth claes iz forever harping on birds,

thelr sdvantages, and their iwitterings, known in all soos,
bird persdises, and bipedded creature communitisez. ‘'Flea'
has not found much diffioulty in covering hig yet un-
sprouted wings, and iz always up %o 'Cimicioc! mischief.®

"1¥ieat, to leave the riﬂg.oﬁ;;lnm. - 1 the
proud owner of a large museur of birds, buge, antiquities

. and lats war souvenirs. A favorite remark of this orazed
\%\ Hei nOnl i ne
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geniug every other Monday morming: Oh--—={ Only
Sixteen A's."

After he left the Harvard School he attendsd
the University of Chicago for one year. Then he went
to the University of Michigan for one year at Ann Arbor.
Following this he raturned to the University of Chiocago,
living at home. Altogether he attendsd oollage three
and a half years, raceived & Bachelor of Philosophy degree
and Phi Beta Xappsz at 19. f!e then took one texm of post
graduate work, and this laot school year hes heen gtudy-
ing law at the University of Chicago.

His major work in college has been in the
languages; English, Germen, French, Sanskrit, Russian,
Latin, Greek, Modern Greek, Oscan, Umbrian and sc on.

MR. W. BAOHRAOH: Q What did he tell you as
t0 his inner 1ife, hiw innsr mental 1lfs, hip phantasies,
day dreams, reveriss?

A His roveries, as he calls 1t, began at the age of
five, when he gaw hig brother in military uniform. He
1dolized his older brother. He was greatly impresssd
with this uniform, and the idea of having a body of men

undexr ©0 4 appealed o him immensely, and he began

einoniine 4@ indulge dnephantasiesof belngsincharge-0f.s hody«0f
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men. This phantasy was soon changed %o the very
Marked revexry of the king and slave revery. The
origin of this revery apparently dates from the

story of B8%. Ghrigtopher, which was $0ld him by &
governess, when he was about 2ix years of age.

Abou% ninety per cent of the tiwxe he egtimates that
he took the role of slave in this king and = slave
TeVeTy .

MR, CROWE: Mr. Bachraoch, if the Court pleage, I
don't like %o interrupt, but I would likes to get that
story now. 1% is the beginning of this phantasy.

¥R. ¥. BACHRACH: Q Go ahesd snd give 1%, doctor,

MR. OROWE: Will you give 1%, doctoxr.

A The story of 8%, Christopher?

MR. OCROWE: Yen. That 1g, ac he told it to you.

A It is all mixed up with sonms other stories the
same nurse 10ld him. Let me take that w under
"Governess®.

Mi. OR ¢ All right.

A Robin Redbreast story and other such legends.

MR. CROWE: That is all zight.

THE WITHESS: He preferred to play the rols of slave

4 11linois. Crimnal Court. Cook County. Trial Transcript Leopold and Loeb 2019 1924
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in the king—-slave revery. One time he figured that he,
as plave, saved the 1life of the k§ng, and the king was
very grateful, end offered him hig liberty, but the
slave refused 1%, but the king made hig 1ife very com-
fortzhle. At ong time at 2 king's banquat he lay at
the fset of the king and saved the king's 1life, and from
then on, although the other slaves precent were chained
heavily, he was chalned very 1ligh¥ly vith a tiny gold
chain vhioh he could easily have broken.

Sone timas he would be champion for the kimg.
His reveries did not always appeal to his logical wmind.
For example, in one revery he flgured he overpowsred &
thougand attaockers with guns and he had none. He knew
that was not logical, =0 he did not think along that
partioular 1line.

In anothar phantasy he with some othars were
shipwrecked. Iis alone could play the plano, so he was
made & noble, and the othere of the ehipwrecked marinsrs
weze made slaves, and he was given a asleve of his own,
and the slave was gxamisi branded with the eign of &
crown, or & gesl on the inner aspsct of the oslf of the

leg near the front.
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This king-slave phantasy continued until he.
wae over cighisen ysars of age, and he rang in a great
nany changes on it, and it bzcame the basie of a
congoious aubition %o becoms the perieot slave of
soagons who was superior to him, i1f he oould find
puch & one in the world, in the line vhere he himself

was most superior, namely, in intelleot. Oonsolous

©of his o —

MR, CROWE: Doctor, Just a minuts,

(The attorneye conferred with the
Oourt for a few minutes outsids
of the hearing of the stenographers.)

MR. W. BAOHRACH: We offer in evidenos now Defe ts!
Exhibite 3 and 4, 3 being the Bo -Hulbert Repors as
t0 Riohard Loeb; snd 4, being the Bo -Hulberi Report
ag %o Ha Leopold, Jr.

MR, OROWE: There is no obflootion.

THE COURT: No cbjection? All right.

MR. W, BA OH: These arse the reports thet were
submitted o Dr. Willism Healy, Dr. William White and
Dr. Be d (lueck and which they tesiiified to in their
X tion as enferring into the findings that they

Hei nOnl i nem.l I%“‘r’nainblgm& h’”l Trial Transcript Leopold and Loeb 2021 1924
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THE OQOURT: THey may go in.

MR. DARROW: Then I will offer & copy of a bank
deposit =tatement, some checks, of the oondition
of the bank account of Richard Loeb, the defendant
Richard Loeb, &and heve 1t marked Exhibi¢ 6.

MR. OROWE: Yesp, by agrsement.

MR. DARROW: And it may be stipulated by agreement
that it chall be considersd in evidenoce.

THE COURT: All right, it shall be so0 ordersd.

MR, CROWE: They have another one as to Leopold, and
I will agree that that go in the game wmay.

MR, DARROW: Before you get to that, I also offer an
affidavit of the oashis® of the Charlevoix County Bank
of Miohigan, showing the amount of money that Richard
Losb, the defs t, had on deposlt on the 12th of MHey,

— 1934. ‘That shouvdd be the 3lst.

THE OOURT: If you agree it is the 3lst, you dan,
change it.

MR, OROWE: I don't know. Doss it show in your bank
statement?

MR. D :+ Let me have that bank statement. Thip

covers i3 because 1% says that this balancs remeins
Hei nOnl i ne mmd &% rgp’t&mt. ngkmg/. Tri al qgi‘!(,:l!t %&)ﬁol d and Loeb 2022 1924
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THE COURT: All righ%, they both may zo in.

MR. DARRO¥: And this shall be merked Exhibit 8 of
this date, and 1t is stipulated that it nmay be ocon-
#idered in evidence.

MR, OROE: And the same stipulation 7ill go with
the other bank avcouwdi?

THE COURT: There will be one zession to-morrow of
two hours, £from 10 until 12, instead of from 10:30
to 12:30. One session to-morrow, being Ssaturday. Ve

will suspend now un$il to-norrow at 10:00 o'olook.

Vhereupon an adjournment was here taken

0 10:00 otolook A.M. August 9th,1934.
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Saturday, August 9th, 19234,

10200 otolock A.M,

Court convened at 10:00 o%clock A,M. Saturday,
August 9th, 1924, pursuant to adjournment

herstofore taken.

Present, same as before,.

DR/ HAROLD S, HULBERT,
reaunsd the ctand as o witness on behalf of the Defendants,
having been pravicusly aworn, tostified as folloys:

DIRROT EXRINATION |
(Continued)
BY MR, WALTER BACHRACH.

IR. WALTER BACHRACH: Q At the adjournmont hour yese-
terday, Dmotor, you were telling uo whai HNathan Leopold,
Jr. t0old you a8 to his inner memtal life? Now, will
you oorttiinue your answer, in tho glving of which you
vere interrupted on yesterdsy by the adjournment.

Jou wore telling us gbout his king-slave
revery or phanbasy.

A Yes, I roorll that.
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Q And that the origin of this revery dated from
tho story of St, Christopher, vhich vas told to him
by o pgovernesse Whoen he wac cbout olx yeers of apo,

How, Will you continuc from thet point,
pél.ea.se 1

A There wore many pheses of thls king-slave phentasy
ox revery or contomplation. ’The general theme re-
neined bbout the samo, Ho wae the role of the slave.
Ho was tho perfect slave of the mont powerful or most
porfoot king.

He engaged in this phantasy for long or
ghort perlode for mony yoaxs. He continded 1% ixpv'»
to the ago of eightecn,

And this phantasy had set tho pattemm of

his ambition 1n oonsoious 1ife 4o be the perfact slave

of ths moat porfeot person, if he couwld find somoone

Hei nOnl i ne --

mers superior to hlmself in the line of his own superi-
ority, noamely, intellooctual.
He found suoh & superior, he felt, in Richard
Losb, Who hed graduated fzom college at an earlier
&go than he himself had done. He had al¥ways been

& lonesomg individual, never having had close friends,
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always desiring one, and he of fered Richard Loeb his
friendship and sought Richard Loeb's friendship,
because he thought Richard Loeb was hie intellectual

superior; he wanted to be LosbYa ®perfect slave"

in any way that Loeb should reduest, even to the

point of kidnaping, murder, or anything else.
His phantasy of ®*kingwelave" made him particulzrly

guggestible to anything whioch his Yelected king®

should suggeet, He had considered other men

in relation to thie Xkinpeslave phantaey, and had found
no one who parfectly filled the bill. He coneidered
some of his teachors, some of the minor offiocials

a% bueiness academier where hz had been and so on,

for the role of this king, but none of them had bsen
gatiafactory, Richard Loeb, however, was, That

is about all thers ie on that ¥king-elave® phantasy,
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Q Did he tell you of eny other phantesies?

A There wore no cther importent phantesies in
his 1lifo., Thore wore no owximinalietic phantasies,
Thare Was the minoxr phantasy of being a handsome
abbractive pereon of tha Hort Shuffner & Moxx type.

Q@ OzxdAnarzily wholt io the offeov of phantasies
on gperson's conduot?

A "The solf is fod and fachionced by what Wo contome
plate, adanivo, lovo ead do", Bishop Spalding sald,
and no ond has ever #ald it bettor;  and hio phantasios,
contemplations, adwiration of certain things mada him
vory largely vhst he 4z, and made him do thoso thinge
vhich he hes done. a

Q Did Yathan Lsopold, Jr. dlscuso with you reli-
glon, the development of religlon in itnelf, and his
attitude toward relipion?t

A Yos,

@ Toll uvs whak he told you shout that?

A Mig z3liglous 14Fo has boea voxy unusual, DBocause
0f his intellootual preocoocity he was ready for ocon-
firmation before he wes old onough to be oonfirmed, and
when he wes 014 cmough, hé did not carz %o be,

He only had one vreli-gious fescher whom he
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acﬁnired, Rabbl Hirsoh, if I recall correctly,

As a ohild he beocawe interested in the
various ohurches in his neighborhood, and by the age
of 8ix or seven he knew all of the churches within
a mile radius of his home; he Imew thelr arohitsc-
ture; he knew their theology; he knew their form of
woxship., He liked to oclassify churohes. Vhen he
Wag gbout 8ix he had this 1little burse Paula who told
hin of the lives of the faints, and that Interested him
tremendously, She was interestoed in his lmowledge of
churches,

He visited a ochurch in Duluth one time when
the famlly were there, and a stained glase window
of the Hadonne sesmed to be a ploture of his mother, and
he attempted to identify himsolf with the older child,
therc belng two ohildren thexe, probably the Christ
child, and St. John the Baptist, his cousin,

Ho attempted to identify himself with the
elder ohild. There are the two children, probebly the
Chirst Child snd St. John the Baptist, his oousin, and
he identified-himself with the older child and called

it Jeous, the older brother,
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There has been confusion in his mind as %o
the differencoe betwean his mother and the Madonna
and himself and the Chryist, He does not frankly say,
"I am Chwziat" but he does say that he is the superior
person of the World,

These roliglous idess and perplexitles have
continued for many ysars, and I hed occanion to Observe
his college notebooks which he has been keeping for
the lact two ozthree years,

Q Notebooke as to what?

A His college course.

Q My partloular course, law, for example?

A Somg in lav and some othors in oconomics and others
in languagee, and his notebooks weroe filled, border and
top and blank pages with sketohes and s great many of
these skeltches wers of a religlous nature, and in the
front of one of his notoebooks, dravn long before this
eplecde begany 1is a ploture of 2 man crucifieds This
man does not resemhle himself partioularly ox resemble
Chrigt, It is & figure of & man, Ho has dra¥n
many ploturocs equally indefinite labeled with his own

name and there are a great mony other plotures in his
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birds, people, soenes and objects like bottles, birds,
Indians, & numsrous list showing even during his school
attendancs his inner mental life pushed itself through
his conscious control and attracted his attention .
cuaging him to do those thinge.

He learned the Lord's Prayer in as many
isnguegos &8 possible, I have seen it in hle notebook
in four different languagss.

Q MNay I interrupt you there and ask you whst
reazmblance is there if sny between them sketchss in
the notebooks and the phantasy life or dasy dreams?

A These sketches were not in relation to the olass-
room subjects, They wore inspired by hime inner
mental life, by hie phantasy.

Q That i an expression of hia phantasy?

A Yes, they are signifioant of it, interpretive-

‘of 1%,

Q G ahead, dootor,

A In his religlous atudies he was intensely intere
ested in classification, as he wag in other things,
%00, and he finally found fault alth God and ae

far «3 he vas concerned he abolished God because God
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R3kes mistskesa, God made a greal mistake when he

took his mother, sn almost perfoct women end left
others not so pexrfect.

He then became¢ an athelet, and athelsnm is
gsomething thet troubled him for soms tine, This
is definitely shoun by the fact that he preferred
to reglster at the University on the admission card
where he gave his namo and asddress and vhers religlon
ig glven to be fillicd in he prsferred to regleter
"Atheist ™,

He finelly concelived 1life exieting without
eny God, just 2 natter of mechanlicc, and there being
no God there le no right or wrong per s8. He is
very eincere in his beliof beoause he hae scted it
out,

MR, CROWE: Keep your voice up, doctor,

MR, BACHRACH: Q@ Did you asoertain from‘him what
the effeot of his mother's death was upin his menta}
1ife?

A He said his mother's death changed bis entire phile-
osophy of 1life. He ssemed to loae inapiration-after
her death, and he never did adjust himeelf normally
to the Wozld nor %o himself after her death,
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Q Did he tell you when she died?

A She disd about two yeazrs ago, I understand.

Q What did he tell you, if &nything, as to the part
that languages played in his mental l1life?

A He was greatly interested in the oclassificetion
of languages, Hic interest in classification
began before he knew but two languages ., He wae
a bilinguist as 2 ohild because ho had & Cerman
governess, and they talked English &n the home, As
& child he collected birds, butterflies and bugs, aand
an older man t0ld him that birds should bs classified
in speclies and in families in genersl, Herstofore
they had been to him ordinary things, and this idea
of olassification impressed hin tremendously. He
bagan to classify every thing that he oould, and that

is why he oclassified the churchee when he was euch

& 1little ohlld,

Vhen he began to study lengusgee he found that
languages oould be classified, words ocould be classified

and this f£itted in with his previous sirong impulse

‘to oclaesify thinge and it becams his ideal in education

to study those things whioh wers non=eaottionsl, such
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as various languages, thingo that oould be oclassified,

and he hag specializaed in languages and has probably

a Working knowledge of a dozen different langusges,

and he attzined high grades al school in his languages.
I kaow he ia gompetent in languago? insofar

ag I can interpret becauds I azked him to aake a

memorsnduw for m2, ons whioh he wroke in Frenoh worde

uting Sanskreit ocharscters so thal 1t could not be

read by sonmekody vlse chould ha drop it bofore he had

time to give it to me,
MR, WALTER BACHRACH: Q TWhat effsot did this

teadency to claselfy have upon his mental life, this

tendenoy baing carried out, What affaect did that have

upon his inner mental 1ife?

A His tendsnoy to olassify thinge led him into
a wage of fragments of philosophy from this author
and that author,

He has attempted to olassify his philosophical
knowledge. It does not stand closs 2orutiny., He
thinke 1t does, The net result ie that he has
abolished the ordinary clsssification whioh most of
us =2coept 28 Yo what thinge are right and wrong,

what thin ® any pexrson ghould 4o, what are the

i r\ 18P0
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eibilities on one and whai are the duties one should
render to others., Thesshave all been sacrificed bew
cause of his desire to cleesify, from thle salad of
philosophical studiesr,

Q  W%hat did he say to you, if anything, asg to

his attitude touwerd friends?
A He has bhad no closc friends, He was not strong

enough to call foxth their aduiration for hle boyish
activities, llke most boys do, Ho exceeded him
friends educationzally, He rapldly cutstripped them
at school, He hes never made a full confidantaof
his fzmily, any of his family, bas had no closa friengs,

He has alway® desired & friend, but that friend must

fit in, he felt, with that king=sleve phantasy whioch
hed been the keynote of hie inner mental life.
Q Whet, if anything, did he say to you as to his

tendency tovard seolusivenese?

A He sesid he wanted to make friende but he found
he could not. He wae very soneitive t0 the critie
olsm of others, he oould not stand 1%, so he bhore

himeelf in a way whioh would put him above oritiocism,

Q THat dld he say to you 2g¢ to his mopde?

A He preferrsd to live & nonwemotional 1life, if
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he coulde His idesl wes & cheer intelleotuslimt.
0f oourse, his makeup made 1t rather easy for him
not to bs en smotional perason and eéasy for him to
inhibit the further deovelopment of those emotions
which he had, He does not have sWinge of mood,
He does not have the depressione %that Loeb has, for

example. He doos not have periods of sexhilaration,
His mood i@ more or less level, and rather shallow,

He has no strongly developed emotions,

Q@ vhat did he say ae to his philosophy?

A His philosophy of life ie that of sheer selfish-
ness. He felt that anything whioh he could do
which would bring himeelf happiness was the proper
thing for him to do, that the rules and oustouns
and la¥# and oritioisms which hold ordlnary men did
not apply to him, becauss he was so superior to the
SVeragoe person. The only serious mistako he
could make would be & mistake of intelleot, Ho
tried to bolster this up by @aetations fxom verious
authors he had read. It was not very impreszive,
because 1t did not have the ring of normaloy.

Q Kow, sddressing yourself as %o his oriminalistic

tendencies, I will ask you %o stats whether you dis-
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cussed ¥ith him suck tendenoies?

AT 4id to some extent, yes air,

Q What did he tell you about them?

A A3 a small child he sBtole Some stamps fxom
his couain's atamp collestion,

MR, CROWE: Fhat?

A As a small child he stole some atamps from his
cousin'e stamp collection while he vwas siok, this stamp
book being loaned to him %o entextaln him, Hi§
governess helpeéd him in thie and later when ho —

MR, W ALTER BACHRACH: Q At that point{ did he
tekl you what his reactions to that aot were at that,
tins and what they have continued to be aince?

A ¥hy, he thought thet was a&ll right. He wanted
the stamps but his governess threatened to expose him
to the family. Bhe rather blackmailed higland that
left him more or less m§ under her influence,  About
the same time he was collecting ociger bands, He
stole one of his brother's neokties, and traded it
off for some¢ clgar bands.  When his brother found
out about it and took him to task, he sald, "That's
ay tusiness." There was no remorse for i%, no

ohagrin, no¢ hurt pride. In ghildhood Ms dslinduenogies
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were all pstty and minor. I think he told wme he
stole some frult from & Greck fruitstand onoe,

The first planned delinquency was when the two boys
agreed to work out a 2ignal for cheating at oards,

at drldge, Hie agsociats propomzed it, snd he emplls
fied the plan, The boye were not keen anough to

vork oub & good systom, and it wee not 2 success,

and they loet money by it, mo they gave it up.
With hls assooiate, they engaged in many delinquenclez,
such af driving around the oity, throwing bricks
through windehields of parked autcmooiles, sending
in false fire alerms.

They 2tols two automobiles, and set fire
te a shaok., He bhad no sense of gullt in relation
tc thie, He was not thrilled by the orime, he
wa® not thrilled by the menance. Ho merely dia
this becauee his asaociate euggested 1t, and any
suggestion of hiz asscoiate Wagpractically law to
bim.  There was no emotional reection to it. He was
intolleoctunlly aware of %the risk of being apprehended,
but that did not deter him, He built up no fear in

relation to being apprebendad,
Q@ Did he disouss with you the burglarizing of &
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fraternity house at Ann Arbor}

A Yoo

0 What did he say aboub that?

A The two boys planned to go to Ann Arbor, and rob
a fraternity housa on the Saturday night after ons

of the big foothall games.

Q ‘Were either one of the boy® members of that
fraternity?

A Yee, They planned to0 rob two fraternity
houser; first, the fraternity house of the fraternity

to whicn Loeb nslonged, and then to go over to the
fratoernity house to which Leopold had belonged., They
did rob the frateinity houzo to which Loeb had
belongsd, and then Leopold inslsted that they rob
the seoond froaternity house, but Loeb had ne great
interest in that; he had acoconplished the paripf
the plan that was of major intereet to him, Thay
attempted to rob the socond fratarnity house, but
were not successful bvooause they hear psople gnoring
there, and thought they aight Lo epprehended,

Q@ Did he tell you what wnas taken from the fra=
ternity house of the fraternity of which Losb %aa

8 membherxr?

A Lote of trinkets and minor jewelry, knives,
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Watches, eighty=seven dollers in cash, a typowriter
and a kodak.
Q Did he tell you when that burglarly twok place?

A TNovember of last year during the football

season,
Q Can you give the exactdate?
A 1 doubt it,
NR. CROVES During the Marine Corps-Michigen game,

THE WITFESS: I don't know whut dete that wes.
MR, WALTER BACHRACH: O Did Leopold discuss with

you the Franks ocasae?

A He did.

Q Did you go over the various details with him?
A 1 aid,
Q
A

Did he tell you who struck the fatal blow?
Indirectly, in that he ®aid he couldn't have done
'$t.
Q Did he discuse with you the plan that the boys
had as to &ocomplishing the death of Romert Frankg?
A TYes,
Q Was that the same as you have already related
¥ith respeotto Loeb?
A Ths aaae,

HeinOnline -- 4 Illinois. Crimnal Court. Cook County. Trial Transcript Leopold and Loeb 2039 1924



1?7r

16

Hei nOnl i ne --

= 2040~

Q@ whet if anything did he tell you as to hie
subsedquent behaviour and reactions? What were hi:a
reactions as they appeared to youfl

A In jatl, in disoussing this crime, he fook
partioular pains to be accurate., There was no other
emotvion of any kind, neither ohagrin, remorse nor
discoumfort at being ian jall, and no apprehension
ag to hls future. I asked him what his plans were.
He said, "Rell, I can't tell what wy future will be,
hut I would prefer to get aarried and settle down.®

@ Did you disocuse with him the duestion of
hanging?

A Yess,

Q that did he say?

A He sald that the end of 1ife 18 the end of all,

thet one might as well hang as not, and that if
his family would feel badly about it, they ehould

disoWn him before he should be hanged.

Q Did he show any emotionel dicturbance when you
discussed the Yuestion of hanging with bim?

A Nons that I could see,

Q Did he shoW any emotional dieturbance vwhen you
discusged the Franke ozgce with him, or he with you?

A BHe said that at the time of the murder he was
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ﬁpaet, and said, "My God, thie ie ewful,®
Q My Questlion ig as to the %time of his telling
you, Did he then show any signs of emotionzl die-
turbanoce while ne was teluting hiz atory to you?
A No eir, He weg futercsted in getting the

details cxact., That waes tho only smotion he showed

of any king,
Q@ Did he disours with you his behaviour subseduent

to Who houlclide?

A Yes,

¢ Tell p8 what he told yeu abut that.,

A He reruwed his ordinary activitiss, hiz olaecBes,
his tutoring, his aocial conteots ze bzfora., He

waf 2 little bit annayed by hle esesoclate taking suoh
& great iunterest in the homicide, snd tallkiang with

others about it. He realigzed when hig glaseee had
veen found that suspicion might point to him, snd suge
gested thet nothing be done about it, but to lie low,
4% his companion's insigtoncs they worked
out an alibl, #hich has beer/desorined, whiob did
not atand up.
He denled any feeling of rzemorse; ststed

he had no feellag of having done anything morally
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wrong, beoguse he does not feel that there ie such
a thing as morals in the ordinery 2ence ¢f the vord,
«nd acthing that hs could dodould he morally wrong,
according to his ovn standard of morale, a2 applying
to himself, He sald he was dleinciinad to coamiy
anovtner suca crime, nut from a 33138 of remorse,
but bzcaucs it Wwould be imrossible to plan & perfeot
erime intellectually, He eaid he had no enjoyment,
pleesure, corro¥% or grief fTom tke orime.

Ho does not 1like t0 see peovle euffer; L1t
makes him uncomforteble, It 1e not sympatny. He
hags noticed on Gocasions with very smell childrec,

\Qpan they wetz in tyouble, almont a function of his

lachrysal glanda,

YR, CROVE: What doee that msan; that he conld

not cry?

THE WITNESS: Host of us Would eay that tears
would coms in ouxr eyemR, but bhe ie & verbaliet, and

talke at greaelt length, end usoe rather exsel phrazgzs,
He said he would alzoet notlce & fupeticen of his lache
rymal glandgs,
¥R. WALTER BACHRACH: Q That is the term he uesd?
A That is hie own, "I Xzu alaost noticed.”

MR, CROWE: I wanied to gst Jjust what that meant,
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THE WIT NESS? That meant that he almost notloed
Yeare in his eyes.

MR, WALTFR BACHRACH: O  What dia he tel! you
wasthe motive for the Franke homicide and kidnaping?

A It was a desire on the part of Riohard Loeb to
gommit 8 perfect orimo, and a desire on his part to
do whatever Richard Losb wanted him to do.

'Q Is that the only motive that he told you?

A There wee nothing personal abeut it, no reason
why they selectsd Robexrt Franke,  Thure wee no
notive of epits or revenge., Later ou in the plan-
ning of the oriue there was & decire to get & rans
gom, beocuuse it would bu an oxpzsoted paxt of any
kidnaping, and bacause they could use the nmeney,

FFivo thousand doilars is five thousand dollaxa?®,

he psatd,

Q Did the obtaining of the money form any orimary
objaect in the commission of the Lidnaping and the
homiolide ag far ae Nathan Leopold, Jx. Was concerned?

4 It was scooundary in point of time in thoixr plan-
ning, woo one of the reasons for carrying it out,

but Leopold had the deeire to pontpons this kidnsping

'1ndef1n1ha1y if bhe oould. He wag ocarrying out
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the plan of the other, but when he oould delay it a
bit, he wanted to, expscting that he Was going abroad

in June of this yesr,

Q@ Did he plan to gp abroad in order to got away
from the oconseQuenbee of hiz orlme, or hed that plan
origlnated in his mind befoxet

A He wanted to go abraad for the travel, and he
thought 5 would be a good thing for him to be away'J

from this asecoiate who suggostions verns often so
morbid. He bad planned to go abrozd long before he
bad committed the orime; in fact, bhe had set no
definite date for the crime wmntil a week or =o
before.

Q Did he say anything about his father having

t0ld him that he could have scme three thousend dol-’
with
lara /which to make the trip abroad?

A T don't know. There was romething said to me
by the boy about wanting to take eightesn months
abxoad before he rtudied lew, or takex a trip sbroad -
after he bad finished his 1laW course; and I amnot
sure how it was decided; Wt he had tho expeotancy
during last winter of going sbrozd this June. I don't

know about the three thoussnd dollars for the trip,
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Q@ Did he discuss with you the attitude of his
family with respect to letting him have money for

his wants?

A Ho wae always well supplied; he felt thatthe
family were vory generous with him, but he vwould like

to have & greater amount of money in his own name
in the bank, However, he alvays hadmore than enough
for his own needs,
Q@ Did he have any immediate need for any money at
the time of the Franks homiocide?
4 Yo, he sald not.
Q What were your psyohiatrio observations so
far =28 Nathan Leopold, Jr. was concerned?
A One was first impressed with his intellectual
develop=ent. He appears to have the intelleot of
& nan thirty years of sge who has been a student all
his 1ife, and boing oOply twenty years or less of ags,
his mental development has besen extremsly precocious,
One is next impresseéd by the disparity between his
intellootual developmant and his emotional life, be~
cause there i3 an erotional poverty compared with an
intelleoctual wealth, and the discrepancy hetween thess

two 1s extreme. One was greatly impressed by the
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vividness, the intensity, ths duration and the
characteristics of his phantasies, cintemplations or

reveries, and the effect of thess phantesles in fash-
ioning hie pereonality was obvious, as soon as we
knaw thelr ocharacterieties, namsly, the kinge~slave

phantasy, w«hich is hiw own phantaay. His judge

ment i8 that of a ohild, a« rather nioe obediont

child who wWill do what hs 13 to0ld when he ia direoted
to, He has many supersitione which he has not

cutgromwn, but 1t 1s diffioult tc determine how wuch
thoy are sssumsd, Or how real they are to him,
Hio sense of inferiority, which dates buok

to bis physicsl inferxiority ss a chlld, When he wae

¢0 frail, and hae pareisted ever since, and the
duel between that and the satiefying sense of superi-
ority which he acquired from hie intellectual devel-
opnent, shoved an inner mental confliot of patholog-
ical ifimportance,

MR, WALTER BACHRACH: Q By pathologloeel do you
maan sbnormal?

A Yesz, the eame word, His desire to cleoseify
things, to lcad a non=emoticnal life, to be an intele
lootualist, vae greater than we find in the average

youth; hie religioues perploxities ond the way he
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solved or tried to solve hie religlious probleme or

perplexities which many young persons have, but the
normal person doea not arrive at any result that

he did, because the normal person has more emotion,
better judgment and iess intelleotuality in teying
to solve thnlg problem.

His final opinion of himself ae the Supreme
being of the world is definitely abnormal,

It was interesting to observe how his phy-
#lcal oonatitution colored his thought®? and his
agtions, His indifference Or lack oi emotionazl
feeling of any kind toward the orime, his lack of
horror at contemplating such acrime, his lack of
oritiqus in being led into &uch a orime When he
had no prisary desire himself, his lack of emotion
subsequent to the orime in relation to the orime,
are dafinite evidences of an abnorzal mental atate.-

His interest in himself 1s pronounced, The
fuee he made about the trifling medioal procedure
we did in order to get material for our teste was
all out of proportion with their importance. The
average person does¢ not think so much of himself

as 10 make 80 much fuss about heving a drop of dlovd
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taken from the ear, for example, or a blood proﬁéurp
test taken.
¥R, CROWE: Dootor, pardon me. While you are on
that, ®1ll you no¥ enumorate the various medical
tests you gave?
A After I finishthe psychiatrist opinion, yps,
| MR, WALTER BACHRACH: Mental tests?
24 ,

MR, CROWE: Medical tests.

MR, WALTER BACHRACH: I would like to take that up
ag & separate matter.

MR, CROWE: £1]1 right, Just go ahsad, then,

A Hie oonfusion of his mother with the Madonna
and himself a8 tho supreme being of the world being
above all man-made la¥s show a lack of disorimina-~
tion which is surprieing in a person of his intellsco-
tual alertnese and & is & definite sign of mental
disease,

MR, WALTER BACHRACH: I might suggest that I am
coming to a point now where I want to take up tgp
queetion of the phyeiocal examination.

THE COURT:  §s the Doctor through with ﬁﬁ'il.lin%k

THE WITNESS: Yes, I snswered that.
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MR, WALTER BACHRACH: He 1s through with this

particular line now,

THE COURT: All right, you may have a five
minute reocess,

Whersupon Court and Couneel here took

& short recess,
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Court reconvened pursuant %o

gshort recess heretofore taken.

¥R. WALTER BACHRACH: @ Before we get to the
neurologicel examingtion I wlll ask you to mtate
whether Nathan Leopold ever t0ld you of having offered
to sell his share of the ransom money to his .ocmpanien,
Richard Losb?

4 Hot to me, he did not, no, 2ir.

@ Refarring to both the Loeb boy and the lLeopold

boy, I will ask you to state what you found with

reference to their complementary relstionship.

Hei nOnl i ne --

A Thesze boys grew up --

MR. OROWE: May I interrupt. It is agresd that the
letter from Foreman Brothers National Bank signed by
Harold W. Held, suditor, and the stetemsnts, the five
statements for Jamuary, Fabm, Mgroh, April and May
may be received in evidenoe by sgreement ss defendants'
Exhibit 1 of 8/8/24.

MR, WALTER BAOHRAOH: Progeed, dootor.

A These boys grev up as individugls until aepprozi-
nately fifteen yeads of age and hsd no effect on each
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other, and I doubt 4f they knew each other at all well.,
The relationship and friendship has been of less than
four years durabtion and sfill persists. Eazch boy fels
in&@@qu&ﬁs %0 carry out the 11fe he most desired wléss
he had scme one else in hisg 1ife to complement him, to
compleéte him. Leopold on the one hand wanted & superioxr
for a companion, Loeb on the othsr hand wanted someone
to sdulete him for o companion. Unless ihese two boys
had the same constitution whioch they had, unless thope
boys had had their own individusl eiperiences in life, the .
present orime oould never have been commitied.

The poyohlatriec cause for thiz is not to be
found in either boy alome, but in the inter-play or inter-
weaving of their two personalities, their two desires,
caused by their itwo constitutions and experlencen. This
Iriendehip between the two boys was not altogether a
pleagan® one to elther of them. The ideas that each
proposel. to the other were revulsive. Theix friendship
wag not bazed so much on desire as on need, they being
what they were,
| Loeh 4id not crave the conpanionship of

Leopold nor did he reepeot him thoroughly. But he aid
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fesl the need of someons #lseé in his 1ife. Lecpold
d1d not 1ike the faults, the oriminslism of Losb, but -
he did need someone in his iife o carry cut this
king-slave ocmpulsien. Thelr judgument in Lotk cases
was not mature encugh $o0 show them the imporiance of
trying o live their own lives and not leading & life
with this close friendship.

Thelr emotions, suwh as they hed, werse so
diverss that they did not fesl atirasted to each other
for their personality worth, nor did thelr emotims
permit them to repsl against eash other., They tock
¢ach other sovsewhat as a makter of courss.

MR, W. BACHRAOH: @ Did they discuss with you,
bothk of them, thelr patheloegiesl sex 1ife?

’A To a vezy alight exitent.

Q VWhat was disolosed to yeu ss to the xﬁmtipm,gg'; |
Richard Losb to that part of their relatiomship?

A He was disgusted..

Q Wow, wAll you tell us what was the physical snd
neurelogiesl examinasion that you made. Cive us that
in detsll snd give us all your fimdings &s prodused
and made in those kinde of sxsminstiens.
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MR, OROWE: Just a minube. Has he finished with

Leopold?

MR. BACHRACH: Oh, no. I am addressing myself now
0 Nathan Leopeold, Jr.

A& There is to be found in Hathan Leopold, Jr.
considerable pathology. He is nineteen, and 7/12ths
years old. In June he weigbed 131 pounds. The things
of lmpoztance brought ouy by the routine physical ezx-
amingtion are, firet, the condidion of his gkin., He
is very dark and swarthy. He has geveral lavge
pigmented flat moles on the back, lower back. The
skin is dry, harsh.

The heir developsment ie pronounced. The
eyebrows are heavy, and meet. The beard is hesvy. The
beody halrs are heavy. The pubic hairws sre heavy. The
blood pressure was low. On one exsminstion the systolio
pressure was 100, and the diastolic 55, with a pulse
pressure, or the difference between the two of 45, and
& pules rabe of 70,

Q Are thoss normal or abnoymsl?

B That is a low blood preasurs, 100. The sense.
of wmell waz impaired by a head 001d whioch he had a¥

Heinnline gl fime, O riTHecsye cexsntnation showed $hat aML'eme
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were somewhat unusual. His eyes are somewhat
prominent. One eyelid is lower than the other, so
that the two eyee are not exposed equally. The eye-
ballse move freely in all directions. Pupils are of
average size, round, even, equal. They did react
to 1light, and inaccormodstion. The near point is
four inches.

" Tactlle tension is normal.

In the reactﬁon the right pupilhad & somewhat
lesger exoursion than the left., )

The examination of the fundus of the eye
with an opthalmosoope showed the physiological ocups
+0 be somewhatdepressed.

The veins in the retina of the eye are unus~
ually large in proportion to the arteries, and they
aro deeply niched by the arteries on eachgide.

The veine are about twice as large ae the
arteries, in the proportion of four to two, while in
the normal person the proportion 4a about three %o
two.

His vision is aoute.

Checking up the fielde of vision, the form

field was of practically normal outline, but the field
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for red wae somevhat contracted, sepecially on the
lower temporal part, They a2re charted in our
report. The rest of the oranial nerves were normal,
Sm except that there were some tremora of the tongue.

Reflexes were slightly increacsd, except the
abdominal reflex whicgh was diminieshed over the appen-
4ix,

There wer no disorder of the muscles except
the tremores noticed above, of the tongue, and some

tremorsg of the hands, partioularly the rigat.

His heart sounds wers olear; no disease of
the lungs; aome ourvature of the ﬂpin§..

He is rather round shouldered.

The abdomen protrudes,
He is flatfcoted, Ther¢ls a tendency to that.
The thyreoid glend lg¢palpable, or mey be felt,

He hes dermogrsphla or a dlaorder of the ner-
ibﬁé control of the btlood vsessels,

From all of wnhich it was concluded, vearing
the biatory in wmind, that he hae neuro=ciroulatory=
agthenda or vasomotor instability,

His feos ie not thw same on thy two cideg,
theras being acymetry,.

Q@ Did you say, inetability of the sympathetic ner-
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,vous systenm?
A Yes, and its oontzrol over the blood veseelas,
There ig an asymetry of the face; an overgrowth of
hair, obviously a sympathetic and endocrine condi=
tion,
His basal metabolism was measured in the

same way a® desoribed yesterday, and the result was
7a minus five percent, which is low normal, but not

belowW normal.,

Blood pressure reading tsken before the

basal metabolism test gave a blood pressure of
80 eystolic and 30 diastolic, which is abnormally

iow,
He was given the sugar tolsrance test,
Q How 48 thot given, doctor?
A On an empty stomach he was given 100 grams. of
dextrose in a big glass of lemonade,

Q VWhat is dextrose?

A Grape sugar. His urine uxdxe was examinsdat

the time he took this, and a specimen of blood was
Withdrawn fzom the arm at the same tizs, and every
half hour thersafter a specimen of blood vwas With-
dra®n from the arm %0 determine the azount of sugar

in the blood, and a spoocimsn of the urine wes taken
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to determine the presence, if any, of sugar, and the
amount, if any, of sugar ln the urine,

Q VWhet did you find as to the result of yocur sugar
tolerance test?

A His body does not metabolize sugar properly,
his blood sugar tolsrance was high., 1t should range
from 80 to 100, 2nd in his case 1% ran up from 100
to 210 milligrams of #uger per one hundred cuble

coentimeters of blood, which is definitely high,
8ugar aleo appaarad in his urine after this

test, which is abnormal.

A specimen of blood was withdrawn for a
Wasserman, and I took it to the laboratory and

watohed it examined, and it was negative.

In the blood phyeics I withdrew a drop of
blood from his ear and found that he was somevwhatl

snenioc, but not abnormally so,

The coagulation at the time of hils blood
18 two minutes, which is approximately normal,

In the noneprotein nitrogen blood chemistry
test, the result Was 44 milligrams per 10D oublo
centimetere of blood, whioh was definltely high,
showing a tendency to Bright's Disease whioch runs, .

in the family. In the blood chemistry test for
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carbon dioxids or alkali reserve we find hin defie
clent; hs has 53:2 volumes of carbon dloxlide and
the normal ie €5, which shows a tendenoy to Bright's
Disease, but ho has no Bright's Disease 8t the pre=
sent timoe there being no cedema and in the urine |
there ie no albumin,

In the urine sugar test there wae no sugar

before the taking of the gluoose dextroses. There

wag non# thirty minutee afferwards, but it wvas pre-
Bent Obviously sixty minutes afterwards and 2 trace
of sugar still perslieted in hie urine two hours

after taking. X=ray examinations vwere mads.

Q Before you oome to that, doctor, did you give
him the adrenal test?

A Yes,

Q W%ill you tell ue what the adrenal test is?
& In certain disorders of the sympathetic ner=
vous system whioh we know as vagatonia, the olinical
proof may be established in one way by giving 2

hypodermic of adrelanin, whioch is the external of
the sdrenal endocrine gland, which is gotten froa the
adrenal gland of a sheep and is a preparation which

w¢ can buy in the market and which is used to cheok
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During this test with adrelenin the patient
has to 1lie quietly and he has to be obsarved for ten
minutos, and for five minutes before ths hypodermic
is gliven, and he has to be obscrved every two and a
half minutes thercafter for ar hour, to esee what
changee if any take place in the pulee rate, in the
blocd pressure, gyetolic and diastolioc, sweating,

10: tho ghange in color, such as pallor or flushing of the

face, ocoldneme of the extremities, throbbing of
the nock vessels, palpitation of the heart, gasping

for breath, apprehonsion, restleseneae, and whether
the pupiles dilate or not, andlastly, if there is any
local reaction in the ekin where the adrelanin is
given.,

Q ¥hat is the normal response to that test, if -
there ie such & thing?

A Thee® should bo no pronounced fluctuation in
any of these characteristice, blood preamsurs, or
pulee rate, et ceatera,

Q@ what resction did you find in Nathan Leopold?.

A He did not give a positiva rezcticn to thie,

I havo the figures, I think they sre in wy report--
ne, they sre not. His pulso rate ten minutee be-

fore the test was 89, went up to 75 £five minutes
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before and then went to 80 at the time of the test.
Every two and a half minutes thersafter the pulae

rate fell as foliowse; 76, 68, 68, 86, 686, 64, 68, 68,
64, 686, and hal? an hour after the test he had approxi-

mately the same pulse rate that he had st the beginning,

62, The blood pregsure did not fluoctuate very much.

It wes 116 to start with, and throughout the test it
oscillated from 106 to 1165, most of the time being 110.
The diastolio blood pressure did not fluctuate muoh,
It was 45 before the test, 60 at the test, and fluctuated
between 55 and 60 during the test. Ve can conclude then,
in so far ae this test vwas d1  ostloc, that the sympa-
thetic nervous dlgorder ias not of the form known as
vagotonia. |

Q Did you make any x-ray examination of Nathan
Leopold, Jr.?

A Yes, an x-ray examination wag made.

Q What parts of his body did you make an examination
of by the x-xay.

A Examinstions by the x-ray were made of hig thorax,
or chest, of his wrist, of the skull and the Jaw.

Q Did you lcok through a fiuoroscope at those paris
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of his body with & view of determining the condition
of those parts of his body?

A T did. T looked through the fluoroscope and
savw,

@ Have you compared the things which you saw while
looking through the fluoroscope with what you now lsa’
on the x-ray films before you?

A They are the asame.

@ How willl you take ‘these various x-ray filmg and
explain them ¢o the court as indleating what they
reflect s0 far as the defendant Nathan Lsopold, Jr.
is concerned?

A The z-ray of the skull revszled the most pathology.
The tables of the skull, the bony tables of the skull
are of normmal thiokness, but the union betwsen the
various bonea of the skull has beocme firm and ossified
at the age of 19.

Q Vhat in normsl life is the time at whioh such
ossification takes place?

A It varies, but ususlly st full maturity.cr when
e uza ie in his prime.

Q In tsrm of years when doss that usually take place?
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A I would say from thirty to forty-five.

Q What do you mzan by oeeifiocation?
A I mesn that the ocartilage betwemn the bones of

the skull where they join has become bone itself,
The penis pineal gland in this x-ray throws

a definite shadow, typical of a ;alcified Pineal
gland.

Q ©%hat is the pineal gland?

A The pineal gland iz ons of the endocrine glands,
looated at the base of the skull, and should not
caloify until about the age of thirty, &0d has

already caloified in this man, st what &ge we cannot

vell,
Q What ie the funotion of the pineal gland #0

far as it i# known to science?

A To stimulate mugcle control, It tends to re~
tard the mental phase of onoe's sex 1life and it stim=
ulates mental development,

Q Can you indicate by pointing to yourself
the seat of the pineal gland in the head of skull?

A Approximately, yes. It 1s about where these
two 1ines would meet, (Witness pointe to forehead and

back of head.)

Q Can you point out to the court on the xerly'

'
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x=ray shows a caloification of the pineal g;aqd
of Nathan Leopold, Jr.?
AIOan.

Q Will you please do so?
A (witness explalns x-ray picture to the court,

ir an undertone). The x-ray of the skywll further
showed that the sella turcica ig emall,
Q That is the oradle of the pltultary?
A That is the bony oradle of the pitultary gland,
Do you want %o see that, your Honor?
(¥itness explaine x-ray pioture to

the court).

Q Have you got some photographs or pictures or
reproductions made from these films, indicating the
calcifiocation/of the pineal glend in Nathan Leopold,
Jr., and the ossification of the BKUll.OI tha part
between the bony parts of the skull?

A I have, I took these filme mycelf to Sweet Wallach
Company, on VWabash Avenue, the Fastman Kodak people
here, went to their dark room, explained to their
teohnioisn what I wanted done, and had these piotures
nade in my presence. I then went from the dark

room to the trisming room and stayed with these pio-
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tures always in my observation until they had dried

and were out.

Q@ Do these gorrespond oxactly to whatis showm in

the x—ray film?

AThey correspond exactly, ae any print is almost
a8 good as the oxiginal negative.

They show the same pathology and they are
in that exhibit that you have,

Q Have you marked on these photographs with pen
and ink the pineal gland which is calcified and
tne sella turcica and thepituitary? Have you
done that?

A In one half of them I marked the pineal gland
which 15 caloified or the shadow of it and the
shado¥ of the small eelle turclca, and the other
helf is untouched,

Q That is what I mean., But it is indicated on
thoae photographs 20 that the cowt and opposing
counsel can 8es bthem?

4 Yes, The x-ray of the skull further shows numere
ous streaks Jownward sndlaterally, which have no
medical significance, They are the streake from the
preparation which he usaed to keep hie hair in order,
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I have never #een them before on an x=ray plate.

I also asgisted in ta2king and had made an
x=-ray of the thorax,

The x-ray film does not ehow any shades in
the mediastinum or upper thorax of the thymus gland,
One only observes the vertebrae and the large blood
vessaels, There is no additional shadow there
of the thymus gland,

Q Show us with reference to yourself where the

thymus gland comes,

A (Witness indicates),

Q Vhat ie the mxmxixzfxde course of development

ordinarily of the thymus gland?

A The thymus gland usually disappears about the
age of slx, or gete so small .that it does not throw

an x-ray shadow except in certain cases of disocase,

and after the age of Eix or ten it ha® no further

importance in the 1life hlstory of the individual,
MR. CROVWE: It had disappeared here?
THE WITNESS: It does not show at all,
MR, WALTER BACHRACH: Q What other facts did you fiml
of a pathological character from an a;amination of
" the x-ray film of Leopold?
A 1 examined his wriets to see if there was anf

fault in the skeletel bony davelopmantJ and there d¢ems
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Q Did you make any other x~ray examination than
you have described?

Q The fluoroscope, and these f£ilms, snd then
fhe photographio prints. |

Q You have now given us a2ll of the pathological
findings disclozed by these filme?

A Yes,

Q Did you find any endoorine disturbances other
than you have already enumerated?

A From the history, and not from the examination, it
,ﬁicml that his adolescence or puberty eame on early,
and wae very pronounced, couming on ét thirteen, and
well developed at fourteen, and those characteristiocs
have baen strongly pronounced in his l1life. An

examination would not show that,

Q OGive us in full the endoorina findings as;to

, Lsopnld..

Hei nOnl i ne --

A From my ezaminatian and study of thiz and similar
oases I bolisvrs that the thysus gland ianvoluted unusu-
ally early, for the following reasone: Hie soxual
meturity ocams on early; he had a very low reaist-

ance to infections, those in 1930 and 1931 being very
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severe to him, although in most persons {they would
be mild.

There is = tendency to acidosis, which i
confirmed by the blood ochamistry test, low carbon

dioxide; by hig early permanent teeth, by bis early

gecondary hailr, his short body, stock frame, rathsr

vigorous at periodse, but not comsistently eo; and

by the normelcy of the 8igze and shap2 of his genitealia,
I have oconcluded from my examination of this and other
oases that the pinsal gland has involuted early, be-
cause 0f the x-ray showing that 1t has already ocaloi-
fied at the age of ninetesn, wnereas it normally
should not caloify until about the age of thixrty; by
the muscular fatigue, his mental prscocity, the
dieorder in hie blood, the asugardisturbance, in the
blood sugar tolerance test.

From ny sxamination and study of thizs and

other cases I conolude that the thyroid gland has been
definltely diseased; that it has been an over-aotive
thyroid; that the over~aotivity has now subsided,
because of the definite history of a rapid pulse, at
one time observed to be 130 without any exercise;

by the condition of bis skin, which is thiok and dry, ,
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with coarse halr; by his large teeth and their
poor condltion; by his slow pulse now, tending
to prove that the thyrcid function has subsided;

by his low tempersture, 10w blood pressurs, low
metabolien rate «- although not abnormally low;

by his mild anemia, hise early sex developmont, both
primary and secondary, the seoondary including

the growth of halr, the voice changing, ete.; by

his skin reactions, dermographis, by his sugsr intole
erance, by the increase of ursa in hie urine.

From ny study of this and similar ocseos I

have oome to the conclusion that he has a disorder

of the adrenal glands, medullsry insuffiociency. In
other words, the medular pert of the adrenal glands

iz not funotioning up to normal, and I cocnclude

that because he has a 108 blood pressure, at one
time as low a3 80, with quiok changes in his blood
pressure, with a low systolic pressure, WwWith a slow
pulse; because he ie not resistant to disease infece~
tion, his tendency to skin eruptions, hives, urtiocaria;
the low oarbon dioxide in the blood; and by the
olinical finding of neuro=circulatory asthenia, f%S!n
4

a study of thie and similar cases I conclude thet ths
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pitultary gland is over-functioning, because the x-ray

ghowe the sella turcics to ba somewhat small and orowde

ing, probably congesting it; by hiz sexual develop-

ment and a¢tivity, his sugar fntolerance, hias teeth
and halr dsvelopment; and although it is not oonolu-
sive, the field of vision observed suggests but does

not prove pitultary involvement.

From a study of this and other casges I have
come to the conslusion that his sex glands are over

functionlag, because of his short stocky build, ﬂis

early and complete sexual development in both primary .
and secondary charaoteristiocs, and the strong sex
urge.

Q What relation is there between the abnormal
funotioning of his endoeorine glands and hie magtal
condition?

A The effeot of the endocrine glands on the mental
condition is definitely established in the minde of
medical men in certain points and is 8%lll a matter
of dispute in others, But from my obsexrvations qf
this and @imilar cases, and my studles thercof, I

would say that his endoorine disorder ie responsible
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for the following mental findinge; His precooious
mental deveIOpEent, his rapid advance through sohool,

his ease of learning, are of endoorine origina, The
faot that the oruel instincts show but 1little inhibi-

tion, ie of endocrine origin.
He is far advanced for hie years, while young

intellectually.

#

The fact that his mental hablts arxe fixed

early in 1ife, ls of endocrine origin,
Thet his mind angbody are everlastingly buey,

aot only with the present probleme, but antiocipeting
tomorrow ‘s as well, knowing no rest or relaxation, is
of endocrine origin, \

That he fatigues if he over«exerts hiumself
and 18 nonwaggressive, the prey of hidden fears,
nourotic and unmoral, and at the same time ksen and
witty, 18 of endoorine origin,

The early development and etrength of his
sex urge is obviously of endoorine origin.

His shallow mood and hi® good bearing, are

0f endoorine origin, and partioularily his mental

activity and early mental development are of endoorine

origin.

Q Now, you refer to intsllectual precocity taking
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place at a very early age, apd & drive forward of.
that tendenocy.

A Yes.

Q What would be the effect of that upon him,

where there was not a correeponding maturity of

hie emotional 1ife and his judgment?
A The effeot of the intellectusrl drive of endo-

orine origin, judgment,immaturity, and emotional
shallowness, iz that he now has mentally a decided
degree of disorepanoy a diseased disorepanocy between
hie judgmont and emotione on the ons hand and his ine

tellsot on the other hand.
\
THE COURT: We will resume thie hearing until

next Monday morning at ten thirty, gentlemen.

¥nereupon an adjournment was here taken
%o Monday, August 11th, 19234, at the
hour of 10:30 o'clock A.N,
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Monday, August 1llth, 1934.

10830 oYclock A.N.

Court convenad =2t 10:30 o'clock A,Y, Monday,
Migust 11th, 1924, pursuant to adjournment

heretofore taken.

Present: Same as beifore,

DR, H. 8. HULBERT,
& Witness called on beghalf of the Defendants, having
been previously sworn, resumed the stand for further
examination in chief by Mr. Walter Bachraoh, snd

testified as follows:

MR, WALTER BACHRACH: Q Doctor, fzom the various
neuro=paychiatric and endocrine examinations that
you have mede of the defendant, Nathan Loopold, Jr,.,
and which youhave described here on the witnesas
gtand, have you an opinion as to the mental condition
of Nathan Leopold, Jr. on May 31st, 19347

A\ I have.

Q What 1s that opinion?

A My opinion is that at that tims dus to hie oonsti-
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tution and experiences in 1ife, that he is not
normal mentally because intellectually he was abnore
mally highly developed.

In judgment he was definitely immatmnre;
in constitution his body was not well balanced nor
in a healthy state, and this disorder of constitution
had a direct relation on hie mental condition,

That his ‘emotions were so slight in relation
to oxdinary thinpge of life, that they,kn relation to
higs judgment, permitted him to act in an abrormal
Way,

Q@ In your opinion was Nathan Leopold, Jr. on tﬁé;‘;
3lat day of May, 1934, mentally diseassd or mentally
healthy?

A Nentally diseased,

Q@ What if any effect did the diseased mental gone
dition of Leopold on Yay 3lst, 1524 bove in conneg~ -
tion wlth the Franks kldnaping and homicide?

A A very great deal. Hie mental disease at

that time caused him to be suggestible, responeive

to any suggeetion proper or otherwise from his agso-
oclate; caused him toogoperate With his as2o00igte

in carrying out any of these euggeetions.
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His mentel condition or disease at that
time would not primarily have caused him alone to
have ocarried out any such kidnaping or homiclde.

It osused him to ignore the ordinary restralnt

which individuals impose upon themselves beoauqe of
their oconsciousness of their duties they owe to
soclety; itorused him to react in the non-emotional
way he did et thattime and subsequently; ocsused him
to justify his own actions to himeelf, so that he

is unoritical of them; and his mental oconditionat
that time i8 one of the predominating factors in

this homicide and k#dnaping.

Q Would Leopold on May 21st, 1924 have been able
to commit the Franks k}dn;ping and homiocide but for
the presence of such mental diseace?

A He oould not have done it,

Q State whether the diseased mental condition of
Richard Loebd on May 3Xkst, 1934, entered into the
Frenks homiocids and kidnaping? |

A It did.

Q Will you tell us how?

A The mental condition of Richard RBoed on that
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date wae a direoct factor in thie kidnsping asnd
homioide in that largely he wa@ impelled by motlives
which had been nourished in his subsconscious mind,
his judgment was ohildish and uncritical and 4id not
restrain him,

His educetion, epeaking now of hie oollégé 
formal educatioﬂ, wae not a factor in this, but
his education aoQuired from his extraneous readings,
especlally in tender years of childhood, was a facto;.

His emotions are definitely immeture and

fohildiah, and he had only an academic realization

of what he owed to society, his feeling on the matter
being too slight to bind him or modify his conduot
and his mentally diseased condition at that time
based on his experiences and based on his gonstitu-
tion was a definite faotor in this kidnaping and
homicide,

Q Could Richard Loeb Wwut for the existence of
the mental disease existing in him on the 31st of
May, 1934, and which you have described in your

testimony, had committed the Franks kidnaping and
homiocide?
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A He oould not,
Q Have you those x-ray films there that you have
idontified in conne ction with your t=etimony?

A I have,

(Whereupon the Z-ray films were then

marked as Exhibits 1, 3, 3, 4, 5, 6 =

and 7 of August 1lth, 1934).

MR, WALTER BACHRACH: I will offer them in evie
dence as such exhibits, by their numbsrs,
Will you mark them, Yr. Snyder, please.
THE WITNESS: This is the lateral skull of Leopold,
and & lateral view of the skull of Loeb,
The thorax of Leopold and %the thorax of
Leob;
The writs of Leopold; <the wriste of Loeb;
The face and jaw of Loeb, showing his baby teeth
had not been replaced by adult teeth; and then I
have the general filme taken by Dr, Eigendrath, whioh
I did not teke, but vaich he gubmitted to me -= ta'ken

about a year ago.

MR. WALTER BACHRACH: Q You have the x-ray here for
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these?
A VWell, these are more distinct than the originals.
Do you want this envelope, Nr. Bnyder,to put those in?
MR, WALTER BACHRACH: We offer in evidencs, 1if
the Court plsase, Defendants! Exhibits 1 to 7 of August
11th.
THE COURT: If there is no objection, they may go in.

MR, WALTER BACHRACH: You may cross eXxamine,

- mm Res .-
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CROSS EXAMINATION

BY MR, CROWE,

MR, CROWE: | Q You might glve those to me now,
lDootor, repcatedly through your testimony you have
eald in referring to the examination of theee de=
fendante, in this szamination, as in many similer '
examinations I have made, What other murderea did
you aver extmine in the manner you heve examined
these two defendante?

MR, DARROW: I object to that question, as to
what othsr murderer. He Qight inquire as o what
other people he examined,

UR, CROWE: No, what other murderers did you ever

examine,

THE COURT: You might change the forxm of that
RQuestion, and put the question:? what other pers&ns-
Lave you examined who have been charged with murder.

MR, WALTER BACHRACH: If your Honor please,
that is not the point. ®henthe witness was on the
@tand he s2id in some cavss, He means ondocrine

cages .,
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MR, WALTER BACHRACH: Thatis perfeotly obvious
because in other cases where they had endoorine trou-
bles he made endoorine examinations, Kot with res-
poct 10 «=

MR, CROWE: He is trying to make us believe that
on sccount of these conditiona the orime can be
explained. I want to know what other oriminsls he
has examined to see whether he knows anything about
criminals or not.

MR. DARROW: There is no objection to that partiocu~
lar Question, but there 1s objection to the words in
this question.

THE COURT:  All right,

MR, CROWE: Q Wwhat other oriminals or murderers
have you examined in the manner that you have exsmined
thease defendants?

A I have examined a great mqpy‘qgininill‘by'tﬁe
neuro-psychisatrio method.,

Q In wvhat institution?

A Beveral here. [Eight since the war, the most
prominent being Gens Gearfy.

Q And who else?

A It 4s Aifficult to recell the names of them all,
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I have examined several osees, Mr. DsStepheno was
defending, Italian people,

Q Did you use the same methods of those casees
that you used in %this case?

A I mad: a neurcwpsychiatric examination if that
wage indlcated,

Q No, that isn't the question, Did you use the’
same method with Geng Geary and in the Italian cases
as you dii in this case?

¥R, WALTER BACHRACH: I object th the quertion ae

ambiguous, If he means, did he.uae a2ll of the eams

methods that ie ome thing; 4f he meane similar to

thefcethod used here, that ie another thing.

MR, CROWE: & Fo, did you use the methods in
this oase that you ueed in the other casee that you
roferred to?

A BSome of the samé methods,

Q@ How many of them, what onea?

A I madesuch examination as esemed indicated in
these cases, No twoocases are exactly the same,

Q No, no, vwhat methodedid you use &nd enumerate

them in those other cases?
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10r A Neurological, physical and such laboratory

examinations as seeméd indicated and the opportunity
af forded.

Q vYhat were they?

A VWhat were the physioal examinations, is that
whét you mean?

Q No, such laboratory as you #aid you used?

A Well, there is some difference; 1in one ocase,
for inatance, in Gene Geary's case I did a lumbar punc-
ture for spinal fluid examination whith I did not do
here becsuse 1t was not indicated in this case,

Q Enumerate the varioue laboratory tests that you
nade in these other cases?

A Laboratory tests, blood, urine and x-ray when I
thought I suspected some pathology in the skull,

Q@ Did you ever examine any oriminal or person
charged with orime where you made ae elaborate an
exemination a8 you have in this ocase?

A In which case?

Q The case we are now trying?
|“A No sir.

Q And you hawnever knomn any other -= well, I will

withdraw that., Now, you say that these defendents
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sre abnormal, VWhat is a normal person?

A I never heard it definaed tut it is an intangi-
ble thing. We all have some genera}) idea of a
normsel person,

Q V¥What is your 1dea or definition of it?

A I never defined it, and I could not now.

Q It is intangible?

A Yes,

Q There is not any perfeotly normal person?

A I wouldn't say that,

Q Do you know of any?

AT don't know al]l persons,

Q Do you know of any absolutely normal person among
pour friende or acquaintances?

A I imagine mooct of them are normsl.

Q Wwhat are they; desoribe that?

A There 18 gproper balance between their intellectual
development; their judgment; a proper condition
of bodily health syporting the finotions of the mind
end brein; the instincts and sentiments, complex
emctions, well balanced, making them harmoniouse with

thexselves and their envirommmnt.
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Q It is & comparative term, is it not?

A It is more or lees a etandard for comparison,

Q@ What is normal in one part of the gountry
would not be normal in another part neaesearily?

A I don't understand.

Q A normel courso of oconduo% in one olage of
people would not be normal in another olaes of peapld?

A Thet 1s too vague.

Q The method of living in China, it ie normal for
2 Chimamen to live that way, isn't it?

MR, VALTER BACHRACH: Ve object. We are not inter-
ested in the way the people live in China.

MR. CROWE: I want to test his knowledge as to what
congtitutes normal and:zabnormal.

MR, WALTLR BACHRACH: He has not qualified as m:
expert on conditions in China. He has testified
a8 to what he found here and his service with the
Government during the war.

ER. CROWE: He say® he does not know nhat normai

m3aNs.,

MR, WALNER BACHRACH: Do you?

THE COURT: You may answsr, dootor.
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THE WITNESS: W®will you repeat th: question ¥
(Vhereupon the guzztion
was here read py the Court Reporter)

A I gusuae they are, bhoss that are yucceasful
Chinamen.

¥R, CROWE: Q@ And 1t would not be aonsidcxcd
norzal if a pereon, a Cawcasion or white person iﬁ?
Chicago lived in the game m-thod sf » Chinamen,
would 1¢?

MR, WALTER BACHRACH: I object to what 1t would be
coneidexed. We are not going into any question

THE COURT: He may answer ifihe osn,

THE WITNESS: Where?

¥R, CRO®WE: Q@ A person in Chicago, a White pere
son who copied the method of living of o Chipemen in
China would not bs considered a normal perton in Chi=
cago, would he? |

A I 2seume not,

Q These teste, these physicel teste you made, inde=

pendent of anything else, just the physiocal e xamina=

tion of Leopold, would that indicate to any dootor

whether cox maotouhe waeow: yoriminaldsyrior didd 3t wrdbeate:
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that to you?
A It would depend on the doctor,
Q Just divorcs éverything slse but the physical ex-

amination of Leopold , is there anything in that which
indicates he is abnormal mentally or that he has
criminal tendencles?

A Just a moment, please. (witness refers to book),

Q Cannot you anever that without looking at your
book?

A1l think I can,

Q@ Vhy don't you?

AT might do it bstter with my book,

Q Let us try it without your book first, .

@ As you will.

Q Can you answer thag question?

A There is nothing in the physiocal examination of
a person that would indlcate he is g ctiminal axocept
the faot that the examination was conducted in jail,

Q Was there a2nything in the phyeical examination
of Loeb that you ocould point out that would indiocate
hewasabnormal mentally or a criminal?

A Physical examinations do not prove mental abnor=

mality.

0 Will you answer that question? Ie there enything
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in your physical examination of Loeb that indicates

lthat he is a crimina) or abnormal?

A Yes,
Q What is it?

A The fact that he injured his knse in a baseball
game in jall, that would indicate he is a criminal,

Q That is your only conclusion, is 1t?

ﬁR. PAL TkR BACHRACH: What do you mean by physical
axamination, Mr. Crove?

MR, CROWE: Q Don't you know what I mean whon I
am talking aboul & physical execmination?

A If you vwould let meanswer the way I wanted to,

I would answer it a8 simply ae I could.

Q Don't you know what I hate in wmind when I say
phyeical examination, examination of %k his body?

MR, WALTER BACHRACH: External or internal or
what?

MR, CROWE: wait a minute. If the doctor dgaéngﬁ

undezrstang —=

b

MR, BACHRACH: I submit we have a right to kave

the question put 8o it can be understood by anybody.
THE COURT: If he says he cannot understand it,

we Will have it repeated.

4 I% Roi gRg ivh“‘l:ﬁal (Qurt Y&)Hk g&rﬂ? ﬂpgtﬂ ;nsgppvqe% d%%glgbegig(%% 1;24



16r =a087=
sey "physical examination of Loeb"? |

A Yes,

Q Is there anything in the phyeical examinasticn
of Loeb by whiah you would come to the gonclueion
that he was & criminel or abnornmal mentally?

A Nething in hie phyeioal examination that would
indicate he iz a orimipal'other than what I mentioned,
phyaic:i examination -

Q@ Or sbnorwsl wmentally?

A Physlcel exemlnatien would not show msntal abnormalidies,

N

Q@ So as a matter of faét; you have come to ths °
conclusions you hsve from vhat these boys snd their
friends have told you?

A No,

Q@  %hat have you added to 147

& All the data I could get froam all souroes phiysiocal
Luf otherwise, | | !

Q@ You have just ctuted that there waé nothing in
the phyeicul cxaminatlon'that would iudicate to you
that they were oriminals or abnormal mentally, Now,'

what else =- leaving out the physical examination ==

i3 there upon which you can base your epinion beyond
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what they or their friends have told you!
A Yeg =
Q Nothing else, ie there?
A Yes, thore 1s,

Q vwhat else?

A Laboratory examinations,
Q 0f what?
A Of the two boys,

Q Isn+t that a part of the phyeical examinat'on?

& If that ie what you meant, I did not understand
you, I presumed you meant the physical examination
of the body, such ae a physiolen ordinaridy makee,

Q@ Laboratory examination =-

A Those are very helpful in understanding the
kX boys,

Q What laboratory examinatione did you nake?

A Urine examination,

Q Now take the urine examination of Leopold, what
i¢ there ip that, the resulthf that examination to
indloate that he iz elther abnormal mentally oz

has criwminalistic tendencles?

A The main thing significant in hisa urine exemin-
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ation bearing on this point ies his intolerance to
sugar in the sugar tolerance test, showing that that

part of his brain, the pituitary gland doee not
function normally.

Q Outside of laying a foundation for the attorneys
calling him a sweet young man, doers the gugar in his
urine indicate tyat he has oriminalistioc tendencies?

MR, WALTER BACHRACH: I object to the forxrm of the
Questlon.

THE COURT: Strike out the sweet young man and
he Aay angwer the question,

MR, CROWE: Q Now, doctor, who made these Aiffer-

[ A 4

ent laboratory tests?
A1 did, in part, and had others with me. I super-
vised what was being done.

Q Which one did you doyourseif personally?

A We wore all working together,

Q Which one did you personally do if any?. .
A Unassisted?

Q Unaesiatcq, yes.

A The fluorogscope of the brain, thorax and wrists

I did alomne,

-
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'Q The fluorcscope, by that you mean you looked
through the fluoroscope and sa¥ thai what you sav
corresponded to what the picture later shoved?

A Yes,

Q You do not consider that a laboratory test,
do you, lookinz through the fluoroscope?

A Yes, ina general way, becduse the plates have fo
be developed later in the laboratory.

Q As a matter of fact, you did not take these plc-
tures?

A n;;ygﬁe person took the pictures, a group of us
took thenm,

Q Did you make the test for sugar tolerance?
« A Not entirely, myself, no.
Q ¥ho assisted you?

A The laboratory technicians in the National Pafpo-
logical Laboratory in my office building,

Q Who are they?

AT daon't know, they are on the sta:;\of J. J. ﬂﬁ&ib,
Dr. Moore®,

Q TWho examined the blood for sugar?

A The same people.

Q You don't know who they were?
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A I don't know the names,

Q Who examined the urine, for sugar, or anything?

A ve 4id; Dr. J. J. Moore, pathologiat in chqgg,
of the laboratory, and his staff,

Q Did he examine the urine?

A1 don,t know which one of u2 exémined the urine,

Q Did you?

A Not alone.

Q Do you know who did?

A One of the staff, or all of us,

Q Give us the names?

AT don't know their names,

Q ®ho made the Wasséraan test?

- A Dr.Bwan,

Q' You did not?

A No,

Q ¥ho made the chemiocal urinalysin?,

A The aame technicians, and Dr. Moore, snd I
think there is & men technioian in the laboratory ,too,
1% was the group of us,

Q You do not know which one mads that pn;ﬁ;qu;af

best? |

A No,

HeinOnl i ne -- 4% 11 3PN BADY, WPJQQ& ande 3 bess. of the urined 2001 1024
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A Three or four of ue wbrking together,
Q Don't you know?

A My problem wae to #ee that it was a proper apeci-

men Or urine, take it to the laboratory and see
that it w&s examined,

QI am trying to find out who made the test,
A The staff of the National Pathologic Laboratory

and myself.

Q Who mide the blood ochemistry test?

A The same group of us,

Q Glve us the names of the individuala?

A I don't kxnow the names,

THE COURT: Ho sald he could not give you all'the
nanmes,

MR, CROWE: Q Who made the basal metabolism test?

A Dr, Moore, Dr. Bowman and myself.

Q You remembar that one test?

A 1 remember it,

Q@ Did you make more théh onet’

A Yes, one on eaoh boy, and repeated on one of them,
There was an outside noise, The patrol wagon came indo
the jall, and we all began to talk, and the roonm

was no longer Quiet, so werepsated the test in a few
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Q As & matter of fact, you made Just one oomplete
test, and the reason you repeated ;as on account of
being disturbed?

A Yes, and we took t he averageof the two as & final
result,

Q whioh defendant did you make the two testa ont

A On Leopold we repeated the tezt three times,

" and took the average of the three, and on Loeb we

tocok tho test #Wige, end took the average of the
Twoe Those teets were continued ono right after
the other,

Q Don't you know you bave no wachine in Chicago
that can acouratsly make this test?

A I was quite satisfised with the machine we U8 d .
Q Wwhat kind was it7

A A jones,
Q & it not a fact that there ies no machine that
cen acourately take this teet, but they teke & great

many and average them in order to arrive at soms

conclusion?

]

A I don't know whether there ie & perfect machine
or not, Now, this machine was good enough.

Q If it was not perfect, then the result would qof
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?Sé perfect?

A It might or might not, depending on whether
the imperfection# balanoced sach other.

Q If it is not a good rellable test, it is not
of any use, 1s it?

A T would not use an unrcliable test,

Q The patient can cheat you while you are tak§hg
the test, 1f he wants to?

A1 don't know,

Q You do not know that a person if he wante to can
breath fast or slow at a glven tie?

A Do you mesan these boys?

Q Yes, When you were exsmindng these boys, if
they wanted to cheat you in that test they comld?

A No, because I am brighter than they are.

Q That is Eha only reason?

A Thatis enough.

t
P

Q@ Are you brighfar 1ﬁteilééﬁhgily or‘éﬁgfidﬁally?

A Both,
Q That goes for Lsopold, too?

Al eesunme =0,

™.,

Q If you did not make all these teste yourself,

how do you kno®¢ iy they are properly made?

veinonine . 4 B DE+ Hoore is one of the very best pathologists in
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Anerice, and probably ths best pald. His reputation
among pathologlists is unquestioned, and hies personal
repuation is unquestioned, The combination of the
two makse me belicve these teste to be absolutely
trustworthy.

0 Hae would be in a better position to tostify
as to the’/test being properly made than you?

A He might,

Q And if the test did not show what you told the
court 4t showed, he would not say so, would het

MR, VALTER BACHRACH: Objection,

THE COURT: He caunot eay what Dr, Moore would testi-

fy. I #il11 have him brought in if you want hiam,

genblenon,

MR, WALTER BACHRACH: I ey gest there is no use
waating time with this matter,

THE COURT: Time ouis no figure hera,

MR, WALTER BACHRACH: We will produce these persons,

if there is any question as to the corrsotness of

these testis,

YR, CROWE: Q In the blood chemistzry test

were the roagents and the apparatus both reliable,

to your knowledge?

L]
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Q@ You relisd on others to tell you the results and
give you the normal figures in most of theee tocts?

A ve workod together,
Q.Is it not a fact that you reiied on others,
wvhos¢ names you do not know, to tell you the reeulis

end give you the normal figures?
A In some of these taste.
Q Desoribe the Xsray apparatus and the t8chnique by’

wvhich these x=ray plotures were taken?
A Yo,

Q Why not?

A Beoause that is not a branch of medioine in whioh
I am a specialies,

Q@ You do not know anything about 1t?
A That 19 not wo.

Q Tell us What you know about the spparatus thﬁ.ﬁ:
you use and the technlidue.

MR, BALTER BACERACH: Objection.

THE COURT: Lot him anewer,

A The appaxratus we used was a portabls machine ~f1.u,-p-
ished by tl® Viotor X-ray pesople, one of She largest
x~ray manufaoturers in Amsrioa, brought to the jail
by Dr. Blaine, of the Nationel Pathologio Laboratory,

foraer radiologist at Cook County Hoapital for a
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number of years, and by Dr. Darnell, researoch patho-

logiet of the Victor Company, with their various assist-

ants, We pzoourad for this test a new x-ray tube,
The f£ilme were furnished in part by the Victor people,
and by the National Pathologic Laboratory. Triplicate
films were taken in all cases, The partes of the body
piciures woere studyed by me through the fleuroscope

for the purpoee of identifiocation, and the films were

~identified with my Veterans of Foreign Ware insignisa,

which I wear, so that there would be no doubt ae to their
identity. The pitures were ocarried to the laboratory

by the techniciana in the same taxl with me; they

were never out of my sight. I went into the dark room
8t the time they were developed, and stayed there
talking with Dr. Blaine while they were being devoloped,
MR,CROWE: Just a moment,
THE COURT: Let him answer,

.

MR, CRORE: He is now telling what he did, angin

'
\
¢
)

dindt
decorib ing the apparatus or techniqus, |

THE COURT: Let him finish,

A (Continuing) And thece films here are the films
taken at that time.

MR, CROWE: Q Do you know the name of the machine

you used?
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A A Victor portable,
Q What kind of & ourrent, direct or alternating?
ATl don't know,
Q what kind of a tube?
A ALl I know 18, it was a new tube suitable for the
portable machine, a Vioctor tube.
Q ¥hat transformer was useds?
A I don't know,
Q where was the transfosmar located on the machine?
MR, WALTER BACHRACH: Objection.
THE COURT: Let him tell.
A I only know we brought enough apparatus for this
teet, and 1t took three taxis to bring it out,
MR, CRO¥E: Q Wwhere was the transfoerm located?
A I don®t know,
Q 1Is it possible to sse a calcified ﬁineal gland
lthrough & fleuroscope?
A It nmay be.
Q Did you see it?
A I did not.
Q Did you ever see one through a flcuiondoﬁ%ﬂ

A I don't think so.

Q If ths parson developing the xeray happened to

1
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put his finger on the right spot on the wet film, one
of those glends would be immediately developed,
would it not?

A Ko, The gland dsvelops in the individusl.

Q In the pioture, there would bs a photographic
g.evelopmt?
A Not necessarily.

Q In soms instances?

A I will take your word for it.
You don?t know much about it?

Fingers on wet x-ray films? Ho,

Or what would result?

> O P O

No.
Q Can you see the sella turoioa through the flsuro=

BoOpe?

A Yes sir.
Q Did you?
A 1 414,
Q Did you uee ocassttes in taking these films?
A I beg pardon?
- Q pid you uss casettes in taking these films?
A 1 don't know what you mesnj
Q If you don't know what I msan then yc;ﬁ'wopld not
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knowwho fumnished them, wouRld you?

A If I don't know what you msan I don't{ lmovw what
you are talking about. .

Q ¥hat soresns wers usod, do you know?

A I don' know, eir,

Q was the Buckey diaphragm used?

Al am not & radiologliat,

Q I guess that is all, How did you estimate the
enotional age of Leopold?

A The emotional age of Leopold was eatimated to be
less than that --

Q No, no, how did you estimate 1t?

A I may finish my answer, may I not?

THE COURT: Yes, finish it in your own way.

A The emotional age of Leopold was estimated to
be lssa then that of the average boy of puberty or
adolesoencs, about twelve, because tho/charactar snd

degres of his emotional resotions were similar to that.

of the average boy of less than puberty within ay

aoqusin%anoo.

Q Now give us one of his emotional reactions thag
you ueed as the standard of comparieon.

A One that we have spoken of before was his

moTbid fear of physicel pain when I was about to take
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a drop of blood from his ear,
Q You sometimes f£ind that in men, don't you?
A You often find it in persons of mature years,
yes.,
Q@ In other worde, it i a questlionof courage regard-

les® of age; 4if a person is a covard why they show

feaxr} Af they are not a coward, they don't,
@ No eir, thers were rmany bdbrave acen in the wer in

ay exzperlence that werc afrald, that continued thelr
dutye. They were not gowards.

Q Wwell, that ie¢ very common, it 18 comson among
peopl@ of all ages, that seme fear, ien't 1t? It is

not c¢onfined to ohildren alone?

A It ia more marked in children,

Q Vhat other standards 4id you ueo?

A The amotione oOr sentiment of awe and reverence in
hie ocase particulariy toward things ordinarily re=
garded as divine were vhallovw, showing that these
eumot ione have not meturad,

R That is true of all atheists, lsn®t it?

AT don' know all atheiats,

Q If a man hasn't any belief in de, in heaven or

in the kxXxzx hereafter, you would not expaot him to
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show aWe when you are talking about divine things,

would you?

A Not alwaye, some do; usually not,

Q Ordinarily you would expéot a man holding thoee
views to ridicule divine thingse?

A Ridicule is cohildish or glse & glgn of deteri-
cration,

Q So the belief that there is no God or no herew
af ter was responaible for that, and not his ohildish-

noes?t

AT don't agree with that,
Q@ You don't. well, vhat else? What other

standards? Can't you answer that without = book,

dootor?

A Y suppose I ocan. I can answer muoh better from

ny notes. This was a very complex cass, particularly
because there were two persons involved.

Q All right., Go ahead and tell us,
& Another example of this boy ninetean yearé of

age 18 his very narrow emotional life of the fashion
knoﬁn veually as the love l1life, He has had no love
affairs, not ¥Ath any apprecisble degree of inteneity
of emotional feeling, uand in that wsy he is dafinitely

childish or hae not maturad like the average boy of
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Q Now you got that from him, did you?
Aln paxrt.,

Q Did you talk to any of the girls that he was
runaing around with?

A No eir, there was no psychiatric importance,

Q Don?t you think that they would be in a better
position to tell you whether he had a loving nature
than his father would or his brother?

A I did not need them,

Q %hy not?

A tell, my experience in the last six ysars has been
with 80 meny thousande of young men in the army and

navy that I aa gquite able to make o psychiatrio

opinion without talking to their variousr sweethearts

or elleged svweethearts,

Q Butif he had a lot of sweethearts then your con=-
.Glusion is vwrong there, ien't 147

A V¥No gir,my cunclusion is right.

Q Regardlees of what the faot is?

A No eir, based on the facts,

Q vthat other standard did you wee?
A Anothsr example of his emotional inferiority was

rezotion pit his fami
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Q@ Give ua an illustration of that or several illuse
trations,

A He had a very childlike, unoritical adoration of
his mother, who has since dled, and then for his
aunt, her cloeest zieter, who tcndad to assuae the
role of imporftance in the Leopold household atter the
uother's deabh; end & ohildish attitude toward hid -
father,

Q In what way?

kA3 a person toc distant to be regurded as a con=
fidante, but whose Word and wishes were practically
domeetlic lav within the household, He never made a

pal of his fathsr or of his older brothers, He
remelned 9owdrd them all in a rather ohildlike

attitude ae far as hic emotions toward them wero
cpncerned.
"Q D5 you reyard it ue childish for a boy to hafé;
an unoritvical love for his dead mwothor?

A" T dida't eay just that, or if I atd, I did not

¢xprass piysell a8 1 xX wished,. Thile his mother

“Was Mive he had a very ohildlike attituds toward

.hery and subsequent to her death he had the same

attituds toward his aunt,
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Q FNow, dooctor, you say that after hic wmother

died he lost faith in Cod and began t0 confuse him-

self with God, and his mother wae a Madonna.

A He owmfused his mother's picture =- or no,
he confused a picture of the Hadonne with his mother.
This confusion hae not been as Weoll worked out as

i frequently found in some cares more mentally dis-

eased than he.

MR, CROWE: May weé take a recesz now?

THE COURT: Recess for five minutes, gentlemen.

Rhereupon & shori recess was hers taken

by Court and Counsel,

f
e T e -
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Court convened pursusnt to shomt reoess

heretofore taken.

DR, H,8, HULBEZRT
resured the siand as a witness on bebhalf of the defendants,
and being further oross exemined by Mr. Crowe, testified

as follows:

MR. W. BAOHRACH: Have you finished, lir. Growe?
‘MR, ORO¥E: No, not for some time yet,

Q Dootor, you do not agree with Dr. Healy when he
states that the emotional age cannot be astimated or
measursd?

A I agree it csnnot be mesasursd. I think we estimated
i% individually ourselves.

Did you sese this nurse, Hisz Struthers?
‘A Yes, Mrs. Bighep.
fg Bhe is & pretty intelligent woman, fan't she?
'“A Yes, she 13 more inteliligent than the average.
*Q Bhe knows young Richard Loeb about ag intimetely ase
‘any other person on earth, doesn't azha?

4 Yes, I think so. I think she misinterprete some
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of the things she observed in him, that ig part of
knowledge --

MR, QROVEI: I ack that that be atrioken out. Dostor,
will you answexr my questions as respongively as you did
dz., Dachraol's or endeavor 40 40 mo.

THE WITHESS: Yes, I will try to.

Mii. CROWE: Q She knowe Richard Loeb as intimatsly
8 any other person on earth thal you know of?

A4 That answer must be qualified. She had more
oppoitunitias than otherg, probably, to observe him.
But I think she mlisinterpreted some things she observed
that warped her knowledge of him.

{ She was an educated lady?

A  Bhe had a high echool education, so I =a told.

Q@ Did you read the letter that che wrote to Losb,
that was introduced in e¢vidence, whioh I {hink one of
the doctore designated in a very distingulshing mgnner.
Do you know ths letter I asm talking about?

A No,

Q@ You did not see thet leliter at all?
A I don't know which letter --
Q

The letier she wrote Richard Losd in refszsnce
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%o his love affairs?

4 I don't know -

Q@ There was only one letier she wrote Losb whioh was
Tead in evidence. Were you here?

A To, I did not hear i%t.

Q@ Did you mee or read any letters that she wrote Loeb?

A I don't think so.

Q@ Asgume for the purposs of the question that in this
letisr she states, "Indesd, my deer Dickie, you are in
love, 1t is true, for your nature is rich and responsive,
and your temperament highly developed by your advanced
intelligence.”" Tould that be desoribing an infantile
emotion in Loeb?

A I don't know. May I see that?

Q I will resd it over to yon. As that she says
in thig letier, "Indeed, my desr Dickie, you are in love,
it 1s trus, for your nature is rich and responsive, and
your tesperament highly developed by your advanced intel-
ligence.” Would ¢that be a desoription of an infantile
emotion in Richard Loeb?

& I don't know., What sge was he when that letter was
recelved.
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Q Vhat difference would thet make?

A Infentilism iy always relative. If a ohild i3 an
infant, enyhow, of ocourss you would not regard his con-
dition as sbnormel.

Q@ If he wae six when he got that, you would say that
he had infantile emotions, and 1f he was Eighteen, that
he had the emotlions of a boy of Eighteen.

A Not necessarily.

Q Then what difference doas the age mzke?

A It is relative.

Q Assume that the ietter was written to hik in 1923.
Would that desoription by his nurse e the desoription of
an infantile emotion, or infantile emotional nature in
him?

A Xore or less. If a boy of Seventeen or Eighteen
years gets a note from his nurse saying, "Dear B Diokie,®
there ix a childish reaction between the two.

Q 8o you asmume or state that that sentence ipis
description of an infantile emotional nature?

A Let us guy, immsture.

Q@ You bese thet on the "Deer Dickis"?

A In part.
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Q Supposing she hed sald, "My dear Richard,® and had
s2icd the sams things about his love, and his rich and
responsive nature. Would your answer be differant?

A Burely.

Q Suppowing she did not address him at all, but merely
demoribed his nature as rich and responsive, and hin tenm-

perament as highly developed by his advanced intelligence.

What would your anewer bef
A I think I should smile and say she was in exrror,

becsuse intellectual development doss not necessarily

mean & parallel smotional development.

Q@ You do not think that ghe has confused his intelli-
genoe with his emotions, do you?

A  Apparently she thinks {they develop in a parallel

WaY.

Q@ I will read you the sentence again, leaving ocui ths

‘"Dear Diockie® because that bothers you. "Indeed, you ars

in love, 1%t &2 true, for your nature is rich and respon-
sive®. That 1s desoribing emotions entively, is 1% not?

A 1guss 0. One's nature of course ir a leymsn's
term,

Q Ars you guess, or 4o you know at 21l what you are
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A 1 only know whet dats you give me to talk sbout.
I would 1like %o mee the letier, and get its ooniext.

] "Indeed, you are in love, it is trus, for your
nature is »ioch and responsive.' Iz she talking about
his emotionsl nmiure, or hig intellectusl development?
| b 1 don't know. Ehe is talking sbout his naturs.

Q When she says, "Your tomgrmm highly developed
by your sdvanced intelligense,” what ic ghe talking
sbout there, intellect or emotion?

& I take i%, appsrently she thinkg they both develop
equally, that inteliectusl development will cause s
parallel emotional develcpment, which is not the fact in .
this case, as we ssientific men sse it.

MRl. WALTER BACHRAON: I objsct %o any exsmination gbhout
viat Misz Ssruthers thinks.

MR. GROWE: But even her picturs has bean introduced as
& mitigating eireumstanse in this ease.

MR. WALTER BAONRAOK: That dees not warrant this cross.
examinatien. _

THE COURT: I jhﬂ.ﬁ;l‘: he ought to be permitted to ses ¢he
letter. It would only be fair 40 let the doetor resd the
whole letfer, and then yeu mey ask him about any ssntencs.
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MR, ORC¥E: Q When and whers was the report known
&2 ths Hulb@xﬁ—ﬁomm report written?

A Parte of 1 were writien et several different
times. From my 1ittle notebock I find that on Satur-
day, June Slsd, Dr. Bowsan and I oonferred on writing
& Teport; and the report was finfshed and signed by
both Dr., Bowmsn and myself on June 34%h. The report
was writdéen largely at ¥r. Bachrach's office, and
peartly written at wy office at 5 South Wabash.

Q@ VWhat 13 pvberiy?

Adolescence.

Are they the amme thing?

I used them synonysously here.
¥hat 4o they msan?

» © » © »

The change from s child's physical s mental
makewp 1o that of & wore mature sdult imdividual.

Q Fow do you know when that change is completie?

A . By s physical examimation of the body, for one
thing.

Q  What do you find thexe ¥kad tells you whetker 1%
is or is met cemplete, tkat chamge, in the physieal
examivation?
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‘K The physioal exemination of the body where
one observes that there ie no longsr any growth in
height, where the weight ourve becomes rather,stabilized,wﬁgre
the segondary sexual characteriotiocs such a® body
hair and body form =snd as he develope dermataris ars
in adult form, where all the functions of the body
have assumed the normsl adult Tole such &% when men~
etruation 18 well eatabliehed in the female, when the

voioce has geased to ohange, and mentally when the

individual ha® grown beyond the point of view where
thoy regerd themeslves individually =& all important,
and where they have attained a polint of view ace
quired by education and experience in life and realize
that they are definitely members of scoiety and owe
sosiety oertain obligations as socliety owes them
certain obligations, I regard the maturity of
the soolal viewpoint as one of the definite -1@ni§§¥£
completion of puberty.

Q. Is normsl sexusl activity evidence of completion'
of puberty?

A Ho sir, because normal sexusl activity is only

found in those that sre married and are trying to

{
k4!
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raise & normal family.

Q Oh, then a man Who is not narrlAd navef oombletcp
his puberty?

A I didn't say shat,

Q Te¢ll, unless & nan is married, there 1s ro0 normal
scxual aotivity?

A That 12 my viewpoint , yes sir, That 312 unless

\ M,
LR

he 18 married snd deoires t© raleo a family nazuraliy;
Q And theme disoiples of birth control, =- why,
he doeen't got in?
A He i¢ not normel in his sexuel 1ife, no sir.
Q then is the average age of pubsity 4in voys?
A Despending or the race & and locality, out

hexreabouts hetwesn twelve and fourteen puberty

Starta; in soms okEe0 much sarliaer,

Q Did yu takes into consideration in passing on the

pubaxty of Loab the fagt that ho had gonorzhea when

N

he wos fif%een?
A No air.
Q@ You did not take that intc consideration., You say

you oniy discuseed the sex 1ife of these defendsnte

with them but slightly?
A Yoz 2ix,
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A That is a relevant term, too,

Q I know, but tell us the disoussion you had?

A That hes been taken up in court withpreviocue
witnesses, Dr., Healy and others, and I covered to
gomg extent, not so amuch, the same ground, and
I agree with them that material le not presented best
in open court.

Q No, I am talking about 8lightly; you say you
discussed it slightly, and I am ssking you what your
discussion with these two dofendants consisted of?

MR, WA‘ter BACHRACH: I object, if the Court
please,

MR, DARROW: I want to objeot, your Honor,

THE COURT: We will adopt the saumeg ruling in the
exanlnution of thie witnese as we did with ¥z Drs,
Healy, White¢ and Glueok, You may come forward
and discuse it, gentlemen, here, vo it w%ill bve
in thoe record.

MR, CROVE: Q As¢ a matter of faot, your report
convaina two pages devoied to the sex 1life of
Loeb, doosn't 1t? I think you will find that on
pago 89, or, I beg your pardon, that is another

reference,-~ 45 and 46,
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A Yes sir,
Q And Leopold from 51 to 63, eleven pages?
THE COORT: Those are the pages of Losb and Leopold?

MR, CROWE: Yes, Loopold 51 to page 63,
THE COURT: 7Yes, Ihave théem hers, That is in the
]

report of Hulbert-Bowman,

THE wITNESS: Yes .,

MR, CROWE: Q Do you consider a disoussion whigﬁ”f

covers elsven pages a slight discuseion?

& TYes sir, it might be,
Q Well, is 1t7

A Yes, in this oc2se, yes eir.

' Q What is dermagraphia?

A Skin writing.

Q What ig 1t related to?

A Vasoamotor dnetability.

Q Is it evidence of mental disorders?
A Often assoolated with 4it,

Q No, i8 1t evidence of a mentzl disorder?

MR, WATER BACHRACH: I submit that is an answer, if

the Court pleass.

MR, CROWE: No, I submit it is not.

¥R, WALTERBACHRACH: He says it is often associated
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THE COURT: 1In 1tself.
THE WITNESS: Oh, no one thing is evidence of mental
disorder in itself @0 far se¢ the phyeical body

ie oonocernsed.

MR, CROWE$ Now, if your Hoﬁor please, I would like
to have my Question answered, ;g it, dermagraphia,
evidencd or any aevidence of mental dlsorder?

THE WITNESS:  Well, if you mean any evidence,
has it any eignificence, yee sir.

MR, CROWE: Q Neo, I 2m talking of evidénce, not sig=

nificance. Is it, dermagraphia, zvidence of mental

disordsr?

MR, WL TER BACHRACHX: Then I submit, if the Court
please, that couneel be redquired to say what ho meane
by evidence. To all of ue, or ordinarily, the word
“significance® 1s thoroughly synonymous with evidsnoce,

THE COURT: 1.0t the doctor explain it. You may
angwer lt,x aoctor, and give an explansation of
your answer, if you sce fit,

MR, CROWE: Q What is youyanewer, dootor?

A Dermagraphis hag some significance in mental

disorder becsuse it is & deliberatc test to provoke

HeinOnline -- 4 Illinois. Crimnal Court. Cook County. Trial Transcript Leopold and Loeb 2117 1924



' «3118-
478 3l

the saue resction largely that we find in blushing,
changes in pallor, &nd reflection of the fros,
and #o forth, which we know are related 10 the meqt&],,
' phase of one's emotional life,
Q Does it occur in people Who have no ‘mental
. ¢rouble or disorder?
A Oh, yes,
Q@ It does?

A Yee,

Q Just like red kgxm hair. You find that sometimes
on insane people and sometimes on people perfectly
. ‘wane?
A Yes sir,

Q@ And it has about the same signifiocance as blushing,

about in the same way?
| ; ‘A I didn't hear you.
Q And blushing ..1-6;%
T‘t‘ A Yes.
Q People who are disordered mentally sometimes
blush, and a great many people who are not mentally

didexrdered sometimes blush, isn't that true?

A Yes, othor than that blushing does indicate an .
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smotional change in the individual, and not neceosarily
" & mentel disorder,
Q No, that is not the point, 1 amadking you

whether or not people who sare mentally sound do not

blusgh.,

A Bome do.

Q So dermagrephis has 25 much to do With menta\i’iﬁ,rg
disorder a8 red halr?

A 1 4didn't say that,

¥R, PALTFR BACHRACH: I object to counsells statement,

MR, DARROW: W%ell, ho ha# answered thuat,

THE COURT: 7Yes, the dooctor has answered it,

MR, CROWE: & Doae the low carbon dioxide coeffioclent

in Loab mean ths 3ame thing ‘in Loeb ag it does in
Leopold?

A That necesearily muet be qualified by saying that

‘the low carbon dioxide tension =

Q No, 18 it necessary, if yu know, and if you can~
n;t ansvwer say you cesnnot, and then Qu;lify it.,
@ That in & Qulified way ~-
Q FNo, can you answer Yes or No,?

MR,WAATER BACHRACH: 1 submit he is ensvwering the
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question.
¥R. CROWE: I am entitled to know whether he can

answer Yyes Or no. Does it mean the same in Loeb
a® it does in Leopold?

A Yee uand no.,

Q tell, now, Quelify 1%,

A The low carbon dloxide teneion in the one, in,
the one, in order to understand ite meaning, must
be taken into oonslderation with the other findings
in the stme individual,

Q But it of itself doos not mean anything?

A Yec,

Q well, what doee it meant® That 1, coes 1%
neen the same thing in Loeb am it doese in Leopold?

A‘I objeot to that on the ground it hez been

anevered,

MR, CROWE: No, it has nét.

THE WITNESS: That question ades not pe‘rmi'gfof"‘a)‘
yos or no answer, |

MR, CROWE: He saye taken in conneotion with & grth
many cther things, it means something.

THE COURT: Read what the dootor just waid,Read the
text of hio answer.

410 Tinois. Orim M!U&%thﬂ quesftlon was read by the:Reportez),
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MR, CROWE: Q W¥Why does it indiocate aoidosis in one
and not in the other?

A A low carbon dioxide tension indiocates a low
2lkall reserve in the individual,whioch of course ie

a tendsnoy toward acidosis, but the diagnosis of

acidosis muet be based, if it exists, cn other things
beesides just this alone.

Q@ But in your testimony you said that it indicates
acidoels in one and =not in the other. Now, I em
asking why 1£ does .,

A The low carbon dioxide in Leopold, with a family
history of Bright's Digease, and with & high non=pro-
tein nltrogen in the blood is of aignifioanoce as
showing a tendency toward aoidosis. In the case of
Lo2zb the lov carbon dioxide not having other confirme
atory findings has no important significancs.

Q@ 80 you are in arror, ‘doctor, when you say that
the lov carbon dioxide indicates acidosis in oné g9¢
not in ihe other?

A Yo,

MR, WALTER BACHRACH: I objeat to counsel's comnent.

THE COURT Objeotion sustained,

UR, CROWE: Q Doctor, teking all these thinge, they
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4] in themsslves you esy do not mean anything exoept as
you would associate them with famlly histories and
conversetione and various things. That iz like a
humpback, if you found one of the defendants was
humpback and the other wes not humpbacked, why, 1t
would nod indicste anything until you go waok to the
story of the orime and & lot of thinge that they and
thelr friends {old vou?
MR. . BAOHRAUH: Ig that a question or & statement?
HR. CROWE: Yes, that is e quesiion,
R Isntt that a feck?
"% Yo
'@ ¥ow, will you point out any one physioal defect
that either one of these defendenis has which in itself
aocounts for this crime?
L ¥o, sir.
4 TWhat iz the function of the pineal glend?
A Stimulation of menisl developzent and in a sense
& zégulation or balance or the other endoorine glands.
Q@ Is that all?
A That is enough.
Q@ Well, iz that all?
el nCnline -~ 4 |11 noig. od qnpl ot i it YR J7 @ TTAnSCr Pt Leopol d and Loeb 2122 1924
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Q@ You will stand on tﬁi’c. Now how do you know when
1t is caloified?
By the x-287.
How do you know when it showld oaloify?

By my studies.

O B L =

Oen you mske it any olesrer than that, doctor?

4 Teg, the man in wedicine who have o non-slastic
mind have devoted a great deal of timse the last Tew years
to endoorinology end several msn have disbinguished thene
gelves 1n Amerlos s lezders snd teachers whose statements
are oredible, and arong the suthors that I have read and
the persons that I have aet I have gathered the idea that
the pineal gland should celoify at sbout the age of Thirty
and the x-ray in this oase seems to indioate that 1% hes
caloified prematurely.

Q@ Doctor, you do no¥ know aof your own knowledge that
14 should oaloify at any certain age in either one of
thess defendants? |

A I don't know how that quesiion could he answersd.
| Q@ Do you or don't know?

HR. TALTER BAUHRACH: Do you know whet the question
means, dootox?

THE WITNESS: Do I know of my own knowledge?

4 11linois. Crimnal Court. Cook County. Trial Transcript Leopold and Loeb 2123 1924



-2 34~
S3r ‘

MR, CROWE: Q Do you know When this gland should
caloify, at what age it should calcify in either one
of these defendants?

A Yes, I think I doo

Q At what age ought 1t to oaloify in Leopold?

MR, WALTER BACHRACH: In a normal individual =

MR, CROWE: I am talking about Leopold.

THE WITNESS: What age should 1t oaloify?

MR, WALTER BACHRACH: If normal or abnormal?

¥R, CROWE: I am talking about Leopold, He says he
can tell, He has examined Leopold and I want to
know from him what i8 the age at which it should’
calolfy in Leopold.

MR, WALTER BACHRACH: Counsel's question ==
MR, CRO®E: Oh,no «=

THE COURT: Can thht question be answered?
THE WITNESS: Yo,

KR, CROWE: Q You don't know when it should ob.i-'-
cify in Leopold?

KR, BALTER BACHRACH: I objeot to ocounsel's etatsment,

MR, CROWE: Q Do you know when it should caleify?
THE COURT: He said #  2°°
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MR, GROWE: If your Honor please, he stated he knéﬁ”
of his own kmowledge when it should caloify in a
person and I am asking him =~

THE COURT: Did he say that or &id he say from his
reading and from his expefience w-

MR. CRO®WE: After he told about talking to dootore .=

THE COURT: Read it.

MR, CROWE: Q Do you know of your own knowledge
when it should calcify == well I will go ahead with
gomething elso and I will come back to that, Ie
it not & faot that medical men know practically
nothing of the funotion of this gland?

A Some af them know practiocally nothing,
Q Medical men as a group?

A No, some of them know & great doal,
 ‘Q Isit not a faot that thers is even s question as
6 vhether 1t is s gland at 3117
A It 18 in some persons' mingde.
Q@ tat do you m2an by emotion, doctor?
A The feeling, the tone that acoompanies an 1dq$,*
Q If a person hae no emotions, how doss he strive

to suppress then?
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naturally.

Q when talking about Ijepold ==
A I have not finished my enswer,

THE COURT: Finish, Dootor,

THE WITNESS: -=- unless he suppresees their develop-
ment, | |

MR, CROWE: Q He hat to have emotions to supprésh
them?

A Not necesserily. He might have a start of them
snd repress the etart, represe tﬁe development of
them.

Q If be hag not any he Wont have to' suppress
them, will he?

A No, he wont have to suppresa them a# 18 but would
have to puppress them as they might be,

Q How can & man suppress a development in himself?

‘A That 18 the basks of self disoipline to & very
large extent.
Q Well, how is it done?

A By resolution, bearing on some future time that
he will be ae unemotional as he poasibly dan bs at.
that time as far as he foresees the situption at

that future time.
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Q Is not resolution an emotion itself?
A Fot necessarily.
Q What is 1t7
A Itis an idea. It may be with & great deal of enmo=
tion and firm resolution or with slight emotinn,
Q Then if & firm resolution it ie highly emotional,
A The emotion would be in propoxrtion to the fizme
nees, yes,
Q And if it 15 not mo firm, then the emotion
i® not so highly developed?
. A That emotion, yes,
© Q nswer the question, as to Whether FésGlutidh inm.
_iteelf 18 not an emotion?
A It 48 not. It is an idea, accompanied by an
emot Bon.,
Q Had you consulted with lawyera ss to shat use
the report was to be put?
A Yet, Mr. Benjamin Bachrach and Mr. ®alter Bachrach,
Q Before you wrote the report?
A Before I even made the examination. |
Q You knew that it was to be used az a basis for

and in ocomneotion with thedefense here?

A ﬁoo i knev 1% was to be 0d to i'd'd:'a'n Lge .2127 1924
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families ae to how to evaluate these boys of tﬁg;#é%
who were in deep troubls,
Q But your oconversation &8 to the use it wa® to bs

put to was with the lawyers and not the familiesa?
A Yea,

Q And you had not sny ides of their going to use
"4t 88 a basis of their defense?

A 0f course not, until it wae written, and we
83¥ the findings we found in the boys e~ Whather
it would be used for & defense ornot.
Q And that did not enter into the makeup of the.
report at all? |
A I don't eay that, Wo oconsidered ¢verything in
relation to the report.
Q  Did you not consider the plan of defense 10 MK
ing up your report? ‘
A The plan of defense was no affdir of mind., fﬁ??f‘
asked me what was the oondition of these boye, and
I worked 1t out and told thes,
Q Have you included in your testimony here al}v
tho easontial pointe contalned in the report? |
A 1 think s0, unless we have Overlooked a s trifla
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Q 2 am talking about the essentisl pointe, .

A I think so,

Q@ Are you quite sure you have inocluded in your
testimony here all the essential matters in your
report?

ATl gam, for ths re=sdon that this report which ygu\
refer to as the Aulbert-Bowman report was prepared
by Dr. Bowman and myself to cover the ground in
& preliminary Way for further studies, if any, were
necessary, by Dra. Healy, White and Clueck, sand 30 ve
put in the things which would bse of interest to them,

Q And all the essential points you have testi-
fied to?

A You mean, when the report went int?

Q In your testimony now, and sincs you have been
on the witness etand, have you told us zll the ee- '

sential matters contained in your repoxt?

Al think so.,

Q You have not suppressed any?
A No. I have tried to anewer everybody's questions

as bestI could.

.

Q You have not added to your testimony anything

that ia not contained in thet report?
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AOh, yss; any obgervations I have made of the
boye since the 24th, or whenever ii{ was we signed
that. Let us get those dates right. June 30, 19234,

we signed the report on Leopold, and June 34th on
Loeb.

Any observations I have made of the boys since then
I have felt free to testify about, of course.

Q The report on Leopold contains no record of
tests for adrenalin, atrophine, or pilo-carpin?

A 1% does not, bscause we only mads one of those
thres tests, although I had planned to mske them &ll,
The case came on 80 suddenly we did not make the
others, The teat was made on June 33rd,

Q Why did you not make thees tests?

A ¥We did not have time.

Q In your report you have left a space to fill in

| for the result of the test on those three things,
1f you had made them}

A Yes,

Q Do you think it was more imporisnt 4o make the
ays exsmination than & test for those drugs?

A Slightly, although I wish I had time fox

them 21l1.

Q Do you think it was more important to examine their
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urine than to ascertain the use of drugs?

A What do you mean, their reaotion to certain tests
for drugs.

Q Yesm.

A Yes, indesd.

Q@ The report also ocontaing nothing on the special
eye examinetion of Laeopeold.

A Then you do not have a complete epori. I have
in my notes in front of me an eyc.examination of Leopold.

MR. WALTER BACHRACH: Mr. Orows has cur copy.

MR. OROWE: 1Is ik thim a complets copy?

THE WITHESS: 1If it has this pioture (indicating) in it.
IZ 1t hae no%t, I will Le very glad to lend you mine.

MR. OROVE: Q Is that the only thing that is left out
of the report that we have goi?

‘A I don't know wlat report you havs. ,-

Q  The one that has besn introduced in evidsiice. ;t:i
that your complete report there?

A This is my complete report.

@ Have you any objsctions to our looking at it during
the lunch hour?

A Yo. Anybody ocan read anything they want that bears

HeinOnline -- 4 Illinois. Crimnal Court. Cook County. Trial Transcript Leopold and Loeb 2131 1924



2133
on the case. That is what I s heve for.

THE GOURT: The dootor says you may have it.

THE WEITNESO: You will 2ind that on page Td-4, Bt
insert.

THE OCURT: Look ot page 74-A snd let me ses it.

YHE WITNEGS: There io euother report heze, and that
ig the anihropologicsl, or measuremont of the skwll
Atemetors. It iz hers, but not insertsd in there.

¥R, OROVE: If vou will just let ws take your notes--

THE WITHESG: Surely.

MR, OROWE: We would 1ike to rum throwgh ths report.
Kay we adjourn now?

THE COUMT: That is 74-A, in addition to this, so
the docter ssys. We will suspend at thism dime unédl

m atolotk,
B Whereupon an adjeVETeent was taken
" until Two o'eleck P.M. August 11, mw :

L2 L] L. -5 L
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VYonday, August 11th, 1934,
A:00 o¥clook P.M,
Court convened at 3:00 o'clock P.M, Monday,
August 1lth, 1934, pursuant to adjournment

heretofore taken.

Present: Same as before.

\

DR, H, S, HULBERT,

& Witnees called on behalf of the Defsndents, having
been previously duly eworn, resumed tlie stand for
further oross examination by lr, Crowe,(%nd testified

ag followns:?

MR, CROWE: Q Now, dootor, the conclueions
you camo Yo a8 to the mentel state.of theses two
defendantsc was based principally upon the stories thgj
told you, was it not?

A That was one large factor, yes.,

Q One largs factor, You assuméd in arriving at
your oonoclusion that the thingsthey told you was

the tzuth?
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Q Do you think they lied to you?.

A To some oxtent.

Q well, to what extent?

ﬁ By keeping baock cextain facts whioh I asked for,
and they said they had no knowledgs of,

Q And their purpose in lying to you was to lead
you to the oonclusion you ultimately came to, was.
it not?

AT don't Imow What their purpose was.

Q@ They had talked to their lawysr2 before they
talked to you? .

" A I think so.
Q And they had talked to other alihniste? 
A No,

'Q Are you sure of that?-

*

A1 am pretty sure.

- Q You are sure they had not talked to Dr. Hall?

"' A No, on that I dori't know how often Dr. Hell

8a¥ them. I understood thst Or, Bowman and I vers
the first to see him, that was my impression,

Q Do you know if Dr. Hell had ssen them before
you did or not?

A MUy ispression was he had not.
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Q Now, did Dr. Hall £iret ses them?.
AI don't know.

Q i&d you se¥ them when?
A Frigey, June 13th,

Q Well, that waa neerly two weeks after they had
secured counseds Now there are two ways of lying;
cither they could suppress and hold back certs$in
facts whioh 1f you kauew them might lead you %o g dif-
fsrent conclusion, that is one, isn't 147

A Yece,

Q@ And you gre inolined to beliove that they held
vagk certain feolsy

A Yes.

Q How important those faots are, you don?t know,
and they might be suoh facts thst they would lead
you to an entirely different conclusion?t

A It depends on whbat they were, of ooursQ.

Q Tell, I gay 4t i¢ possible they might leed 3
you to an entirely different ocnolusion?

A Yes,

Q And it is very probably in bolding back these
facte they did it for the purpose of preparing

& defense?
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A It is possible. I dontt know,

Q Now another way of lying to you Would bs to say,

gomething that was nol trus?
A Tas,

Q In other words, this king and slave phantasy,
do you know of any other psrson that ever kneWaboﬁt

thie king and slave phentasy that Leopold t0ld you
about prior to the time hs confessed to the nmurder?

A No, I don®t know of anyons that he told it to.
Q Supposing some emart la¥yer or some smert
dootor told him that if he was ¥ being exemined by

you and other aslienists end he told them that he had

a king and slave phanftasy, he hae sufflociont
intelligence and memory to remember the details of
it andlater repsat it to you, haan't he?

A No sir, because of the wealth of it. On that’
point there 16 no doubt in my mind the boy was wbso-,
lutely speaking truly becauss he gave such a very,
very extensive sascoount, whioch hag all the earmarks
to an exzporiencod person of sincereity. The vari-
atione, the changea he rang in ths variety and the
way the phentasy amodified his conduot, the origin

of 1%, the duration, and so forth, ie all too
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natural to be attempted in any attempt to mislead
@ pereon like myself.

Q They bothhave good momoriss?

A Yes,

Q They are both well eduocated?
A Yes,

Q Leopold hae an exceptionally good meno:?ﬁ

A He has,

Q If you give him twenty-five words he can repeat
them buckward or forwerd, and then you can take any
one of the twenty~£five and he can tell you the words
preceding and following 1t7?

A 50 he says, and so Dr. Healyp told ms, yes,

I didn®t do that test with him,

Q It is poesible that some of thess things he
told you upon which you based your opinion, and Losb
alao, had basen told to them, and they had been in=-
struocted and drilled in preparing their defense, and
they started out to fool you?

A No, there wers no earmarks of malingering in that
part of their story to me,

Q@ In your report on Loeb, page €6, you say, "Dur~

ing this axamination, in hiec reoitation of his orimin-
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7a1 career, he was not altogether frank. Without
any indication, facial or otherwlse, he would lie
dr suppress ocertain instances unlesg he imagined
that the examiner was previously aware of thcse
instunces,

When quectioned about this later, he said
he failed to wentdion certain things becausse he
elther thought it advizable not to mention them
or beocause he had been advised not to mention them,"

Icthat a true statement?
A Yes, if it ic in my report/

Q@ It is apparent from that,then, ihat he was working.
on a defense, and he hadbeen advised as to what to

tell you, and what not to tell you?

A To sone extent, yes.
Q Let me read again your report:
"When questioned about this later?®,
"%'h'aft 18, withholding stuff froa you,
| | *he said that‘ho failed to nmention ocertain’
thinge because either he¢ thought 1t advie-
able not to mention them or because he
had been advised not to mention them, "

I¢ that & correct statement of your conversation with

HeinOnline -- 4 Illinois. Crimnal Court. Cook County. Trial Transcript Leopold and Loeb 2138 1924



3130
7T o

him?

A Yes, ond that was ==

Q Then you go on --

MR,VALTER BACHRACH: Let him finish,

THE WITNESS ¢ A (Continuing) -~ and that was in
relation to having set fire to a shack. I asked him
if holhad cemmitted any other delindquenclies, and he
eaid no,

MR, CROWE: Walit a moment,

MR, VALTER BACHRACH: Lat him finiah,

THE COURT: Let him finish hie anewer,

MR, CROWE: When I ask him a question, he ought.ito.

anawer it, and not make a speech,

THE WITNESS: I hsd nctfinished.

THE COURT: Go ahead.

A 1 asked him if he had committed any other delin=-
quenoles, and he told me no, The next day I asked him
Af he had set fire to any shaock, ond he said, "I beg
your parden. Didn®t I tell you about that yesterdey?
I meant to," He 1ied t0 me, I believe, when hs
8444 he had meant to tell me thst; it ¥wae ny impres=-
sion that he had deliberately refrained from mention-

ing setting fire to a shack in & vacant yard the
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previous day.

MR, CROWE: Q Did he 1lie when he tola you that he

had been adviced not to mention certain things

to you?
A I don't know.

Q You don't think Mr. Bachrach or anybody oonneoﬁedﬁ
with the defence would advise him not to tell‘you
about setting fire %o a ochack, do you?

A I don't know,

Q You wrote this report after you had your convers
pation with hin?

& Abors the shgck, yes,

Q You begin the paragraph by éé}ing, ‘Dﬁriné this

examination in hie recitstion of his criminal career

he was not altogether frank.e Without any indica-

tion, facial or otherwiee, he would lie or repress

certain instances unle#s he imagined the exaniner

wag previouely aware of those instances.®hen questioned

about this later, he ssid that he failedlto mention
certain thing because he thought it advisable not
to montion them or becsuss he had been advizad not
to mention themt® You do not state anythingfih'

there aboutthe burning of the shack?
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gommant.

Q All right. Then don¥t you go on, on pege &7%

"So obvicusly thexe are gaps in his story
of the development of the orime"?

A TYes, I sald that.

Q ¥het are those gape?

‘A I don't know.

Q There are things he has not told you up to date?

A Yes,

Q And he might have been advised not to tell yoﬁ
;hase things?

" A He might have.

Q Then don't you go on, "His oldectbrother, Allenm,
does not know of there untold stories, but the patient
#ayd he will not tell them unless Allen advises him
toldn g0."

A Yes, thot lo just what I wrote,
'Q Ang thet is true?
A,Yes.
Q 8o just how importent those matters are that he had
,béon kdviced not to tell you, you don't know?

A No, I don®t know,
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Q And you dont't Imow what effeot they would have

upon your conclueions if you did know them?
ATl don®t know.

Q Then you go on and say, "On the other hond, there
is & certaln legal advantage in minimiﬁng»t&e broagd-
casting of his episodea’,

¥hen you use the exproession "There is a certain
legal advantage®, you are thinking about his defense,
are you not?

A Yee,

Q In other words, importing matters of mitigation
to Judge Caverly heres, it 1s to the advantage of
the defendantea to have withheld certain information
irom you 80 that the conclusion you now have errived
at wont be disturbed, is that true?

A 1 was intereeted in thie orl me, the Franks mxmsx
crime.,

Q And don't you further state, "Even keeping them
secret from his attorney, examiners or relatives, con=-
geduently no great effort should be made to bring
forth detalls whioh he wilfully repressed."”

A That 1o the way I felt about it.
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Q@ Kow, doctor, do youthink an opinion based upon
8 partial statexent of the faot when that opinion
might be changed by your knowing all the facts, don®t
you think that is a mighty unsafe guide for the
court to go on?

A No, I tbhink the eseantial facts in relatiun to
this partiocular orimeé are brought out.,

Q You say you don’t lmow what the facts are that
ho withheld or how important they might be?

A No,

Q And they might be important enough to lead you .
to a different oonclusion?

A They might.

Q Now, doctor, on pages 83 and 94, I don't Imow
whioh pago that is, =-— Dr. Healy, Dr. White and Dr.
Glueck testified that in making up their minde in
this matter they had taken into consideration yong'
report ~« snawer that.

THE WITNESS: What iz the quwstiony

€@ Do you know that Dr. Healy, Dr. White and Dr.
Glueck testiflied that in coming to their oonoclusion
they had oconsidered your repoxt?

A Yes, they told me 0.
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Q@ DNow, you say he denlecd being implicated in
the so=cglled gland robbery of Mr. Rean, denied having

been in Geneva in the case of the ragged stranger
who wa® found with hie hands and face mutilated, which
orime is usually attributed tv Warren Lincoln, and
he denied having participated in any othex delinquenoyJ
but later referred to four episodss where the lettexrs
A, B, C and D were suggested. Have you anything
&leo in your rqport about these¢ A, B, C and D epi-
sodes?

A Fo.

Q Well, that would not be very illuminating to
the other dootors to read about withholding informa~
tlion and later talling.VOu about four eplsodas whioh

you refexr to as A, B, C and D, would 1t?
A Not very illuainating,

Q Then you add, "It was found forenoically inedvis-

able t0 question him about theze.”  Now, by "foren-

pioally®, you mean what, legally, don't you?

A Just a pregeure of time, W8 were conoentrating
on this cese to get our repoxt in befors these
doctors came from the East,

Q@  What doer “"foreneic" msan?
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A From the forunm,

Q It meana legal?

A Yew, legal or pulpit.,

Q So t his might heve read, "It vas found legal® and
the only thing the lawyers are thlnking about is the
trial of this cage in this connsotion?

A Yoo,

*Q It was found legal or in referencs to this
partioular trial inadvissable to qQuestion him sbout
these?

A Yes, we had 80 much to get out in relation %o
this trial we did not go into anything elas,

Q Oh, no, you 4idn't zay you didn't have time. Jggf
get this; 4t waz found forenelcally --

A Yee, that was the reasson.

Q Not that you didn't have time, but foreneically it

,Was found?

A That 4s the forensic reason.

Q And legally it was found?

A That is the fozensio reaaon.‘

Q Yes, but logally it wao found inadvisable to
Question him about these. Now, just what didyou

mean by that, that 1t would not help his case
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eny if you went into it?

A Mo, to get the report through by the 3lat if ws
could poesibly do 1t.

Q And you want us to understand that that 1s the

meaning of those words, that you did not have tinme
to go into thess aattors?

Al did not have tinme.,
Q Why didn't you eay that? A8 %o these matters,

didn't have time to develop them; why didn’t you
say that?

A That 1z the way I felt about it.

Q You thought it would sound micer to eay it was
found legally inadvieable to question him about

then?
ER, WAlter BACHRACH: I objaoct to the form of

the Question.

THE COURT: Let him mnswez,,

MR, CROWE: Q 1Is that true?

A Oh, sppraximately.

Q 4ind you thought the court andthe rest of us
would understand that by thet sentence you msant you
did not have tims to go into these matters?

A Absolutely not, for this reason; this report
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was not prepared fox you, it was prepared for other

physiocians who Were coming on from the East. I had
no idea this report would be submitted to the publio
or to you. It is & medioml report.

Q Now, doctor, directing your attention to Nathen
Leopold, you testified on yowr direct examination

that as a toy he vwas getting too f& and he reduced
by dieting?

A Yes,

Q He reducsd by diet?

A That 12 what he told me,

Q Lock on poge 9 of your report, in the middle,
*In 1930 when fifteen years of age he wae
someWhat overwelght, weighing 143 pounds,

By hard sxeroiee he reduced his weight
fifteen or twenty pounds."
Thatis oorreot, isn't 1t 17
A Yes,

Q So yourzsport and youwr testimony do not agree?

A Not at all, they do agres. A person reduoing

their welght usually diete ae well as oxercises.
Q Fot what they usually do; 4t 1s what you said.

A They are not autually excluaive, those two,
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Q Now, in your direot examinstion you said by the
misoular fatigue and disorder in his blood, sugar
disturbonce, and you dra® certain conclusions, that
ie true, icn't 4i%7

A %ell, in ralation to what?

Q Sowme disturbance, endoorine dleturbance?

A vwell, I answer yes., Everything I hove sald 48
true, but I don't know what you pre speaking aboiut':

in partioular there,

Q well, you were talking about s disturbance 1£
the pineal gland and about other things that you
found in him, andyou attiftbute it you say®to the
musocular fatigue, disordsr in his blood, sugar dls-
turbance and the blood sugar tolerance tests,
and fron my exgaination and study of these and otper
case® I concluded the thyroid gland had been
definitely diseased.” |

MR, WALTER BACHRACH: Of vaich défendant are
you pow spesdking?

¥R, CROWE: We are now speaking of Nathan Leopold,

THE WITNESS: Which gland, pinesl or thyroid glend?

MR, CRORE: Q Thyreid. But you took into consid-

eration his muecular fatigue, did you not?

A Just a moment, Not in rolation to the thyroid,
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I think you have that misquoted,

Q Well, in reference to any of them, I aén*# 8@%0”
whioh,

A Yes, all right,

Q Now, in your report on page 11, about Laoppld:ﬁ;

A Yes, |

Q -~ didn't you meke the following statement, *With
regard to physioal endurance generally he feele |

that in taking long tramps or mountaln olicbing or
going witnout sleep he is better then theaversge
indi vidual A"z

A Thet is pert of the ssatence,
Q Yea.

. Q@  *But in other respsots he hae less than the
ordinary amount of physical endurance",

Q Yes, 1ot me finizh, pleass,
, Now, he cun take long tramps, olimb pountaine
and go without sleep better than the avefage indi-

vidual? | |

A He says he oan,

Q TYou believe him, didn®t you?

AT go,

Q Then ga pags 50 you say:  "But at the same time%e- Vell,
wait, I will resd a 1ittle more, or you can resd any=-
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Idon't read. I will stsrt at the point I want to

gt at:
*But at the same time he osn hike sand run
snd osmp very well. Whatever he attempts

t0 do he A4id well™?
A Yes, I said that.
MR, CROWE: I beg your pardon, your Honor, I have

got two doouments that I have to refer back and forth
to, and it take o 1ittle time for that reason.

THE COURT: All right, plenty of time.

MR, CROWE: Q Now, dootor, im your testimony on
direct examination you stated, did you not, that
Leopold told you thet he had gotten glasees to see 11" |

They ¥ould relieve the headachs, but they did not?
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A Yesm, siz.

@ In your rsport you zefer to ths glasses in the
following langusge on pags 10: "He thinks hesdaches
ney have heen dus somevhal to eyesiraln, and he hes
had glasses prezoribed for his eye condition. He
miled serdonically while mentioning 3km this and
oedd, 'I wish I hadnt$ goiten thewm.'"

A Yes, that i in the repors.

Q Assume {hat 1t ig also in evidencs that the only
time the defendant had headaches, according to his
own statement, was last fall, that he atiributed the
hesdaches to sysstzain, that he had glasses prescribed,
and wex: wors them for several months, and the hesadaches
dissppeared, and he qui¥ wearing them beoauss he no
lenger had need for them or had hasdaokes. Asaums that
that is 4n the testimeny as a siatement made by Leepold
himself in the state's attorney’s office. He either
lied %0 you or 1lled to the stats’s atiermey, did he not,
sbout his viclent hesdaches, thai contiwue to the presexs
time?

A ¥ot nesessarily 1iek, but it is Aifflevit to assume
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nuree, that he has been having headaches, especially
when he was sick, Or had intestinal trouble ox fever,
Q What was the reason that he gave you for leaving
the public school, without looking at your notes,
MR, DARROW: He may look at his notes if he wants
to.
iR, CROWE: I withdraw the question.
Q@ Did you not testify day hefore yesterday in
your direct examination that after two years in
this school, referring to the Spaid School, bhe was
tried out in & public school , but he did not get
along well, and the famlily put him back in tpo 5}5;2}“
school for the rest{ ofths school year.
A Yea, |
Q So the reasén he left the public school was,
ﬁh didn*t get along well in schoolt?
A No, he hardly got in., He was put in on trial,.
and went teock,
Q He did not get along well, 18 that not oorrect?
A Only in & far fetched sense, He did not leave

it because he had not really entered it. He entered
asan oxperiment and he wes doing better in the private

scholdl, 8o he went back.
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Q@ On page 33 of your raport did you not aseign as .
a reason for his getting out of the public sohool, .

notthat he vwas merscly experimenting and did not get

&long vwell, Tbut the following reason:
"At the end of the first ysar he wae
entered in the Douglas Publio Schadl, but

laft in o few days t0 return to Mies
Spaid's School, The putient? —-

that is Leopold,
--"feele that the reason for this was,
his mother aid not want him to associate

with the negroes and tough boys who were
in this school, "
Which 18 correot?

A Thay are both sorrect; thay are not inconsistent,

Q@ You stated that he told you at one time his,

pulee ran 1307
A Yes,

. Q And that was about the time he took fﬁ%”bhyéf?%fx‘
examination and entered College?

A No, at the time he took the physical exemination
at Ann Arbor, £o enter the junior year there, ox a
Bpeclel oocurse of study thero, All inooming students,
freshmen and epeoiak studentis are gl ven a physical
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week of sohool,
Q Ny question was whother the time his pulse ran’

130 was at the time he took the physical examination

to enter college?

A No, not to anter college, but to enter the
other school, the Univaraity of Miohig&n.

Q It wes g physical examination given for the
purpose of finding out whether he was physically fit

to go aﬂbngt
A Tesn,

Q He passed that examination?

A Yes.  geveral commented on his pulse rate at

" that time, he said.

Q The only comment that you mske in your report

on that is,
"Ne immediately went over for a physical

examination, and was told he had a puise
rate of 130. However, he wss passed
on hie physical examination. Thie wase
Septsmbaor 36, 182L"%

K‘Yhe.

Q You used that pulae rate of 1éo as & basis to

#8ho¥ that he had an overaotive thyroid, did you not?
A At that time, yes,
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Q Emotion i# interest, is it not?
A You have 1t the wrong way around.
Q@ Interest ie an emotion?

A Yes, ouriosity or intereat are emotione,

Q@ Leopold, you state, has suppressed all his
emotions?
A No,

Q Or attempted to suppresds them?’
A Yes,

Q He took quite an intereet in this caee, did he
not?

A In the preparst ion of this report?

Q No, I am talking about the Franks osse generally,

A Be a b more spooific. In the trial or in the

orine? or whet?

Q Well, the trial, the orime, everything?

A Tes, he took scme intere# in it,

Q@ He ia taking interest in 1t now?
A Variably so, yes.

Q@ You have zeen hinm frequently 1eap over and talk.
to his attorneys? |

A You,

Q Offering suyggestione, and so on?’
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A Yes,

1y

Q He ie aleo interested in knowing what is goifig fo

'
»

happen to him, isn't he?
A He bas spoculatdd on it.

Q And he iz interested?

A Yen,

Q Do you remember in your report on page 33 &t

the bottom, referring %o Leopol , it sald:
*the newspapers have stated that he
quoeationed some of hig lg¥W profeeeors
about points of law which now seen to
have a direot bearing on his delinq§ano¥§ﬁ
By delinduency you mean the Franks amurder?

A 1 do.

Q "And he deocided that he had dlsocovered an
imperfeotion in the Illinols law, namely,
that the penalty for kidneping was death
andthe penalty for murder was Axzikky death,

ghd‘therefore there was no extra penalty for mur~
| dering a kidnaped peraon,"
That 18 evidence of interest or emotion, isntt it?
A No, that is evidence of what the newspapers

sald about him. That i from the newspapers.,
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T don't know about that.

< Didn't you ask him whether he had disciussed

this matter with his law profeesor?
A Yo, I wrote thie &0 that the other dootors Would
not have to read all the stuff in tho newWspapers,

I took out what I thought should be brought to their
attention later and put it in there,

Q A great deal of this then is 1dle goasip?

4 Not any of it.

Q Or newspaper goesip?

AT don't know that newe is geesip.

Q Assume that Professor Puttkammer testified that
after the murder, the profeeaor in criminel law teati-
fisd that Leopold had discucesed penalties in conneotion
with thie orime, that would show interest, would it

not?

A ASsumd the profeasor dlacussed it?
Q Assums that the Professor Puttkammer testified

on the stand in this trial that efter the murder

Leopold duestioned him in regérd to the various pen-
alties, that might be imposed in thia caee, That
would show interest, wouldn't 1t?

A Yes,

4 1Ri Bew o idootex,  inrefexrenced hasthe pioture of the
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Madonna you testified on your direct examination,

did you not:e
"He visited a churfh in Duluth® --

I am no® concormed sbout the name of the town -«

"one time when the family wos there, and
s stalned glass Window of the Madonna

soomed to be a pioture of his mother,
and he attempted to identify himself with
the older ohlld, there being two children
there, probably the Chirst Child and
St. John, the Baptiet, his couein, and he
attempted to identify himself with the
elder ohild and he identified himeelf
with the older ohild snd called it Jesus,
the elder brother? *®
A TNo, Jesus is the elder brother, I meant to say,
Q Wwell, that may bte a mistake of the stenographer,
"There has been confusion in his mind as to
the difference between his mother and the
Madonna and himself and Chirst., He does not
frankly say %1 am Chirst?, but he does say
that he is the supsrior pereon of the world.,"

How, that is substantially what you teotified to in
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37 reference to his confusing the Madonna and his

mother?

A Yea,

Q And hinself with the Chirst?
AYeq,

Q Now, w»ill you turn to page 34 of your report,
and ien't this the account you heave given?

"Then he wue six yeare o0ld he yas

visiting in Joliet at thut time® =«

A No, in my notes uy you will find that ie crossed

out and Duluth i written in,

Q well, I don't care about the town.

"He was much impressed by a stained glases
window, possibly of the Madonna, ocertainly
of a young lady seated, the upper part of
who3e body vas visible above soms cloud,
Thuere was soms similarity in the appearance
bstween this religious psreonage and his
aunt, Birdie, snd bis mother.*

Is that corxeot?

'+ A Yeos,

Q He does not oonfuse his mother in your notes

With the Medonna, does he?
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A Thet is the point I had iphind that there was &

similarity of appsarance. That ia what I sald, between
thies religious personage and the mother, 1 said that
he seemed to confése the identity =X of the two,
his mother, the Madonna, and his aunt, Birdle.
Q (Reading): VHe remembered feelng someploturer
in the family Bible at home, one of vhich

ie a pioture of the Chirst and Mary and

Joseph and san older brother of Chriat".
A Yes, that is what he told me.

Q *In tifie pioture Christ has & baby and his .

brother Wwes about two years old. In the

profane and sacred history® =- I don't
think it will serve any purpoee to read
the rest of it ~= you have not any note here
where he confuse2 himself with the Christ,
have you, &nd if you have will yoyread 1t?
A This note brings to mind the faot he told me that
it scemed to him in studying these --
Q T%hat note ie that?
A The one you wers just reading. It bringe %o

ny mind whaet he told me when he said that looking
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. the older brother of Chikat,
Q@ There is not any statement to thet effect here,
A Juet what you roead.
Q 'That he sesmed to think that he was Christ?
A I did not say that. He seemed to confuse himself ==
Q Where have you a note that says he confuses him=
self with Chriet, outside of your epoken testimony?
A That is sufficient,

Q@ That is sufficient?

A These notes are used to refresh my memory.,
©Q If thst were important, and you made a note that
Dr. Healy and Dr. White oould read, that would be
important to them, would it not?
A  Why, yos,
Q And you made no suph note?
A Just these notes here that you are reading now,:
]égge 35,
| Q Who mentioned Leopo2d &8 the suprems beingof ?ho
wozld? ’
A He regurds himself as suoﬂ.
Q %ill you show me in youwr report there s whezre
you have a statement to that effsci.

A I{fuay or may not be in hers,
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Q Well, you know it is not,don't you?

A I eay, it may or may not bs in heré.

Q@ Do you know whether 1% ie or not?

THE COURT: Walt, walt, let him see.

A Some refercnce to it may be found on page 134 of
thin report which you have in which it shys he empha=-
£ized his own mental superiority in every possible
wEYs

MR, CROWE: Q Emphasized his own mental superiority
in every possible way?

& TYes,

Q Iz that eQuivalent in your judgment to saying

his final opinion of himeelf as the supreme being
of the world i8 definitely normal?

A I don't understand your question.
(Fhereupom dhe question was here read

by the Reporter)

- ‘”

Q4 Not exactly the same. I am testifying orally
from my whole knowledgs of the boy, and in part
from the report you have there in front of you.

Q You stated in your testimony that he confused
his mother with the Madonns and himeolf ae the suprens

being ©of the world, being above all man-made laws, 6tc,.?
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A lYéBo
Q0 You have no note to that effect, have you?

A No, my testimony is not limlted by my report, It
iz 1imited by my knowledge of the boy,

Q You amplify your report oconsiderably?
& ), . ' ' .
A Yea, of couree.

R And you add %o 1%?
A From further data, yae.

Q Did he ever allude to himself ae Chilat?

A No,
. Q The only porson whohas alluded %o him as the Christ
iz yourself?

A I don't know about that. It was signiflcent along
that line that he paid 80 much attention to the oTUCL~

f1xion and even decorated hie notebooks with drawings

of the orucifixion, This is particdarly abnormal

when one conaiders his racse and the fact that he

| vould not ordinarily be expectegio believe in the oxue

oifixion,

Q As s metter offact, he does not, does he, he
ie an atheist?
A He tays he is an atheisti.

Q Is he telling the truth when he aays he 18 an
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atheist, or is he lying?

A You must remember at nineteon years of age

his philosophyhadbesn developed over a number of
YEATH =

Q You don't think he is lying when he seye be is an
atheist, and doeen't believe in a God or hereafter,
You believe that, don*t you, when he tells you?

A I believe in his sincerety,

Q@ Did he tell you thathe has a faeling of bsiﬁg

ill=treated by others?

A Yes, of course,

Q Did he ever tell you he vas suepiocloug?

A I don't know about that.

Q Thet he thought that other pesople were trying

to harn him?
A No, they did not try to harm him,

Q@ Are you rure?

A That is as I recall 1if.

Q You seid they aid not try to harm him,';iﬁfﬁéiér‘
some qualification there? '

A I don't recall the incident you ere describing.

Q Did you agk him that Question?

MR, WALTER BACHRACH: He e2ays he does not reocall it.

HeinOnline -- 4 Illinois. Crimnal Court. Cook County. Trial Transcript Leopold and Loeb 2164 1924



-3165=
33y
MR, CROWE: V¥ait a minute.

n

THE WITNESS: I don't recall it.
MR, CROWE: Q Did you aek him whether he ever

thought that people were trying to harm him?
AT might have, I don't recall,

Q Do you know what his answer wus?
MR, WALTER BACERACH: I object to that Question. "THE'
witnese says he does not reca)l,
MR, CROWE: Q That would be & delurion end maybe that
i8 important,
THE COURT. Go ahbead.
THE WITNESS: I cmnotanewer a Guestion I don't redall
having been agked.

MR, CRO¥E: Q You don?t recall any answer having

been nmade?

A If I ocannot recall a question, I cannot recall

the answer,

Q Did you ever ask him if he ves in fear of bgiggw

poisoned?

A Fo, I don't recall this reference that you had

[l

in mind,

Q HNow, if he had & fear that people were going to
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mistreat him or polson him or do bodily injury to
him, that Would be 2 delusion and abnormal?
A It vwould depend whether it was bassed on faot,

or what?

Q Aessume that 1t was not based on faot, you don't

think anybody wanted to poison him, from whet you
had learned of him, I mean, prior to the murder,

of course?

A No, I don't 1magina*anybddy wanted to poison hin,

Q Prior to that time ismals nobody wanted to injure
him in any way?

A No marked way, no, of course.

Q On pege 133 of your report didn't you eay, that
he had no feeling that perszons are against him or
that he ie being treated unfairly, He never had any
ides that poison was being placed in his food or
that persons were plotting to 1njure‘him.

A Yes, that is here,

Q Why didn%t you testify to that? Those fre all
normal feelings, arem't they in his case?

A Oh, that is not the reason; I aid not testify
to it because I did not recall it. This ie o most

gomplex case,
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Q You had your books befora you, didn't you, end
you hed your notes all during your teetimony, .

didn't you?

A Yes, most of 1%,

Q And this would tend to show thet he vas normal.
and you did not tell the court about 1t?

A1 wae not asked sbout 1t but that ie not why,

'
'
4

Ildid not tell the oourt, 1
Q No + Vere you not asked to tell us everythiﬁg
you know about this case?
A Not Leopold's, no, because after I had gone
a ways you remember the whole report was introduced %p
evidence at your redquest, , |
Q But you had your original repofé’with you all
the time? . |
A Yes,but we did not go through all the details
after that time.
\Q Ana you were asked to give his inner mental
iﬁ:e, were you not? |
A I don't know juet where we stopped, but I knoﬁ
we did not go into the details of Leopold 1like ve did

of Loeb, becauze the report was submitted, I an

not trying to keep thhs out, Mr, Crows, I dontt
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recall certain things,

Q A1l right%. UNow, if a person hag & phantasy

thet he cen diemiss like that (snapping fingers), it

is not a very dangercue phantasy, is it?

A Not 1f he does dismise it.

Q Well, 1f he cau, it ought not to be a dengerous.
phantasy, ought it1?

A If he can and does, his phantasy ®ould not
be dangerous., If he can and did not =-

Q Now listen, if a men cen and don't then he ought
to be held responeible, oughtnit he?

MR, WALTER BACHRACH: I object to the Question as’.
to whether he ought to ba.held responaibles That
18 not pertinent to this cross examination,

, MR, CROWE: He ie testifying about hie responsi-
bility.

THE COURT: Let him anever,

MR, CROWE: If a man can dismiss a phantasy
and does not do it and acte undor the influence of
that phantasy, he ought t0 be held responsibla,
oughtn't he?

MR, VALTER BACHRACH: I objeot to that question,
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1; not for the dogtor to say, He may tell us =-
MR, CROWE: What is your judgment of 1t?

¥R, WALTER BACHRACHS I object to what his

judguent ie,
MR, CROWE: VWell, iz he reaponsible,
MR, WALTERBECHRACH: I object to ghat question,
THE COURT: No, he may snswar,
MR, CROWE: Is he responsible i1f he can dismies
it and does not dismiss it} _13 he reeponsible?

MR, WALTER BACHRACH: Do you mean mentally respone
sible? |

MR, CROWE: Yes, sir.

THE WITNESS: The mere fzot he does not probably
showe he cannot. I place Ebkk 11t tle credence in --

4 MR, CROWE: Q Well, a litile while ago you oaild if

he could and did it was one thing.

A Yes,

Q Can a man dismigs =2 phantasy at all?

A Bome do, yes, often. Most of us do.

Q And if he can dismies it and does not disaiss 1%,
he i® responsible, isn't he?

M
MR, WALTER BACHRACH: Do you mean mentally
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'responaible?

MR, CRO®E: Certainly,

¥R, DARROW: He has answered that.

MR, CROWE: No, he has not. He has evaded it.

MR, DARROW: I say he has,

THE COURT: No, Iwould not esy he evaded it. Let
him ansvwex,

THE BITNESS: T don't mee how I can because it would

depénd on the intenszity ¢f the phanvasy, its repe-
tition and so on,

MR, CROTE: Can we have a short adjournment, your
Honor? |

THE COURT:  Yas, We will have a short reocces

now, gentlemen..

(Whereupon a short reoess was here

'taken by Court and Councel,

1
- e W e - em @b = -
i
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1m Jourt reconvened pursuant %o |
short recess horetofore itaksn.

DR. HAROCLD 8, HULBERT
resuned the stand ae & witness on behalf of the
defendente, and being further oross exanined by
Mr., Orowe, testified ms follows:

MR. CROWE: Q Dootor, in your tesiimony you sald
that he beoame an athelst efter his mother died.

A Definitely he did, yes. He had been formulating
thig idea of —

MR. CROVI: Vait.

UR. DARROW: I object. Let him finish his answer.

MR, OROWE: X will read all he sald.

"UR, D OW: He started to answer.

MR, CROWE: He is giving an sexplanation.

THE OOURT: Let him sxplain his answexr. I will give
you all the time you nnt'on oross examinstion,

MR, OROWE: I would like to have hin wmaks hig explana-
tion latsr. They will have a chance to reexsming him,
and after I get through with any one particuler subject,
if he wants to make an explenxtion, let him do it then.
I do not want to stop him from eéxplaining, but
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I think he ought to do it at the proper tine.

THE COURT: Ho, I think &% only fair for the dootor
to explain his answer. You may explain, doctor.

A He had been formulating his religious idess for
gaversl years, and by the tike hie mother hod died he
had new dats of religious imporiance 4o put into his
whole religious pioture, and he h2ad definitely become
an athelisgt by that ¢time, and definitely called himself
an atheipt, because God had mude Yoo serious a mistake
in taking his mother for any perfeot Cod to do.

Q You testified as follows, did you not: "In hf;}m'«"
religious studies he was intengely interested in
classifioation, as he was in other things, and he
firally found fault with God, and as far ae he was
ooncernad, he abolished God, because God made migctakes;
God & great mistake when he took his mother, an
aimopt perfect woman, and left others not so perfect.
He then becane an athelst, and atheism'is something
that troubled him for some time."

Ak A Yen.

\Q Fow, vhen did hie mother die?

A About two yearz ago.
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m ; Q That was before he registered at the university
or after. _

A Yhy, he was attending after becauss he was attend-
ing =chool at Ann Arbor and came home zeveral times
during thet fall to see her and was home in her last
sioknses and for her funeral.

MR. VALTER BAOHRACH: Whioch university do you mean,
Mr, Orowe, Ohicago Univewrsity or Ann Arbor, University
of Miashigan?

MR, CROWE: @Q VWhich ons do you mean in your report,
dootox?

A Vell, bis mother Adied while he was at Ann Arbor.

¢ VWhen you gpeak about the reglstratlion at collegs,
do you spesk ghout Ann Arbor or do you gpezk about the
Ohicago Univeramity?

A ©Oh, yes. As I recsall 1t, he was regliesiered in a
‘post graduate texm at the University of Ohloago at the
tine this quesition came up how he should f1ll in the
-blank on religion. He tock one post graduate courss,
I bslieve, one term, baifore he piarted his law course.

'Q Xow, as 2 matter of fas%, dogtor, this regiatration

" that you speak of was before his mother died.
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™ ,:'Q Wasn't 1t?

A I don't know., I don't have 1t that way in
Ky Bemory,

Q@ Let me read from your reéport on page 49:

"He often discussed religion with
his parents and friends.!

i Yea.

Q@ And he never agreed — and they nsever could
agres with him., For exsmpls hs had to £ill out &
osrtein paxrt of a blank form for reglstration at
college in the cpace left for religion, and he wanted
to write "atheist".

A TYas.

Q From that you would infer that his mother was
still alive.

A Oh, because of the plural of the word "pareni"?t

QR Yes.

A That docse not agres exaotly with my memory of
the whole thing. I say he disoussed it with his father
and make no msntion of having disoussed it with his
nother.

Q As a matter of fact, dooctox, 1t is in evidence
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which he states to be Eleven years, he was an atheist
from that time on.

A It is in evidence, you eay?

Q@ Yes. Yow gasuming that that 4s in ovidence and
assuning that whén he made that statement he wam spesk-
ing the %ruth, his mother's death at the sge of Soventeen
dld nov make an atheist out of him,

A That is the saums point I wae +trying to make, that
1t definitely confirmesd this attitude of his toward
religious matters.,

Q TFNow, as I understand, dootor, from your testimony,
the initiative in the plamming of the crime was taken
by Loeb?

A Yes,

Q@ And that lLeopold, while he spparenily went slong
with 14, aidn't want to, he was hoping that he would
get in Europe before the orime was committed?

A Yes,

Q Refor;ring to page 95 of your report, dootor, which
was the inception of this crime, when he stole the type-~
writer, spesking of Loeb, didn’t you say s follows:—-
or Leopold xather: “In Yovember, 1933, the patient's
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cospanion® - and by gompenion you msan Loeb,

A I do.

Q — "Suggested they rob the companionis Irsternlty
house 3%t Ann Arbor. The patient demurred at first but
finelly sgreed to 1% on condition that they rob 2 second
fraternity house with whioh hs was especially familiay.®

A Yesn.

Q “The plans were slaboratsly worked out and every—
contingency wes provided for. They worked out plausible
exousss to the family for being away and pl d the
robbery for late Saturday night following the football
game because they £l d thers would be visitors at the
fraternity house and they would thuz be lsss liable +to
be dstescted and also thsy would be sble to securs mere
a8 the visitors night easily havs considsrable sums of
#oney. They carried with them two flaadlights, two
loaded revelvers, and & rope %0 tis up anybody who u(ht
interfere. The patient's companion carried 2 chisel
wrapped with tepe with which to hit anybedy on the head
who discovered them. The patient carried one ¢f %

loaded vevolvers. He seld if anybody had recognised
them he would havs shet to kill.
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;] ¢ . "The robbery of his compsnion's fratsrnity

i

house yant off successfully., They took everything

they could find of value and s number of things of

no especial value merely to make it aore unpleasant
for the fraternity bvoys, The patient picked up a
typevriter and brought it along. He had no spooiiikc
purpoge for taking it but seeing it there he simply
picked it up and brought ia long,”
Now, doctor, on the second robbery there

the initiatiwe wae taken by Leopold, wasn¥t 1t7

MR, BENJAMIN BACHRACH: One moment. If the court
please, I object upon the ground that the first part
of the question in a very low tone of voice there waw .

put into the Question,
"At the beginning of this crime, Which weas

the getting of the typewriter",
MR, CROWE: No, you are mistaken.
MR, BRNJAUIN BACHRACH: The reportexr osn read it:
MR, CROWE: You are mistaken, The statement
about the typewriter is not a part of the question
but a pary of his statement,

MR, BENJAMIN BACHRACH: I know that,
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ﬁR; CROWE: "The patient pioked up a typewritgr{‘

and brought it along.®

MR, B, C, BACHRACH: Yes,

MR, CROWE: "He had no specific purpose for taking
it buf seeing it there he simply plcoked it up and
brought it along."
| Now %ill you read the questiont

MR, B, C, BACHRACH: From the beginning.

MR. CROWE: No, I am talking about the last question,

MR, B, C, BACHRACH: That is the very beginning of 1it,

MR, DARROW: You said "At the inception of this
" ortme."

MR, CROWE: Well, read the Questién.
(Whereupon the question wae here rdaa by
the reporter).
MR, B, C, BACHRAGH: That ic what I am objeocting
‘%o, that part of it.
© THE COURT: Just strike that part of it, the inogp-
tiop of thie orime, out. Now go on, Mr. Crowe,

and ask your question,

MR, CRO¥E! Q The second burglary thore was at,
" the suggestion of Leopo}d? |
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:’ Q Wwhen he was telling youabout plcking up the
typewriter and he had no purpose for taking it, you
believaed him, didn't you?

A Yes, sir, I did. I said they also plcked up
o kodak in that same write up, didnit It
Q I see, but you say about the typewriter:
"He picked up & typewriter and brought it
alohg, He had no speoific purpose for
taking it, but aseeing it there he simply
picked it up and brought it along.®

@  Yes, that is Wwhat he told me.

Q Now, dootor, would you change your opinion as
to whether the patlient was telling you the truth if
you knew that the reason they stole the typewriter
wa® 80 that they could write the raneom letters on 1%,
end the lettersoould not be traoced back to that typee
writer.,

A Why, I suppose I would change my op@gipn, ;pt*I
believed him when he said this o ne,

O Now, doaotor, it wae right at that time that they
bogan %o plan this orime, the Franke murder, wasn't it 17

A Thebevening I think they started or the next
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Q'In yoir report you state on that?

"While the patient snd his companion were
driving home from the robbexry of the
fraternity house they hod one of their
worst quarrels., They had been drinking
at the time. They made various accusations
against each other. For a time it appeared
their friendship would break down,®

And then you go on and s#tate that they began to plen

the big crime.

A Yes,

Q And the corime that they were planning at that
time was the kidnaping of the boy and seonring ransom?

A Yen,

Q Now Leopold had been stiffling hie feelings and
smotiond for sons time, or attempting to?

A Yes,

Q And had succeedsd pretty well?

A He thought he had,

Q Iaireot your attention to page 103 of yoﬁr robbft
on Leopold.

A Yen,
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Q "The patient described in detall the carrying
out of the kidnaping and the murder, Told
how the viotim was lured in the automobile,
hit over the head wWith a taped chisel and
knocked unconscious., It wae necessary to ni%
the viotim over the head and he bled sonse,
This upset the patient a great desal."
This upset the patient a great deal; that was during
the recital of the detailes of the murder to you that
referred to, wasn't it 7
him =2 great deal,
Q Well, during the cosmission of the orime he
was upset o great deal?
A Yes, that is vhat I meant,
,[Q<T§ax iz glving a¥ay to his emotions, 1§p%pﬂ;§ﬁﬂx
A Yes sir. | :
Q  And ho seid to his oomhanion, "My God, This
i awful™?
A And then in another plsce here my notes road —-
Q No, thst is giving away to hie omotions, len't it?

A And then in another place he eald, "My Gog,
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This 1s terrible,*

Q I know, but look at page 103,

A Yes, I am looking at it.

.Q That 1& an indication of emotion when hejeaﬁé, "My
God, this is awful",

A Yes, it is,

Q"He experienced a sinking fecling in the p;t of his

stomach,"

That is an indication of emotion?

A Yee,

Q “His hands trembled.” Thatin ép 1nuc§§;§'gg¢x
of intense emotion? ’

A Indication of emotion, yes,

Q And he lost some of his self controlf

A Yes,

.9 That 1s 8n indication of grotion?

A Yes sir, o L

Q 4And Leopold told you those things th"ia.'c’f‘fr‘:ou ﬁévp
detalled here?

A vell, I don't know whether he did or the other
boy did.

Q Now, who dod you think told you? Fhen you are
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‘writing up Leopold's inner mental 1ife who ars you

getiting the faote from TLeopold or Loeb?

A Mos$ly Leopold., This is not the inner menial life,

Q Now when you were telling the court, doostor,
avout the Leopold laok of emotione and st tempting to
suppress them, why didn't you tell him 2bout this
that I have juet read to you?

A This ia np very excellent example of what I hod
in mind. That is why =--

Q That is tha reason you did not =
MR, WALTER BACHRACH: Let him answor.

A (Continuing) -= boosuse within a fev minuteo
after this orime he wa2 aqhite himeelf agaln, and that
shows, aslthough he was amotional at thst tiame, he
actually 1s not as ewdotiondl as most pereons, besoause
he bscame culet sc very quickly.

MR, CROWE: Q That is the reason you did not give
that oxcellent exemple to the court, beceuee it wae an
excellent enraunple, ie that 147

¥R, VALTER BACHERACH: 1 objeaﬁ to bis arguing with
the wituness,

KR, CROFE: Q As further desling with Leopold's
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end emotions, I will direct your attention

to your report on pages 107 and 108, beginning on

page 107

Then you

"He does not think he is insane, He

states that he kney What he wae doing at tle

tiwe. He knows what the law eaye in regard

to it. Asked whetherxr he would commit

ancther suoh orime if he were certain that

he could escupe deteotion, he replied,

'I Qoula notcommit another such crime because

I reaiize that no one can ever bs aure 9f
escaping detection'",

"Hil feels that this vwould be

the only reason that %ould keep him from
another sucgh attempt, that there would be

no questicn of remorse Or gullt wnter into
the thing."

go on at the bottom of the page and state,
"He 18 rather fond of small children; he has

always wanted %o take a orying child in his

arme and comfort it?*

That 1s emotion, 4e it not?
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A fqu liﬁﬁ:out two other parts related to tho@%,

that you reed.
Q The desire to fkx take a small, oryiné child into

his arms and comfort it, that 1s emotion, is 1t not?
A A Thut 43 the emotion cf tendernese,

G And oympathy?
A No, eymputhy ic sentimont.

Q@ It ie ﬁighly developed, isn't 1t?

A It is igkoet of us, based on ths amotion of ten-
dernees, parental instinct,

Q@ Theo desire on the part of tha young man %o take
& ohild in his aruwe and comfort it and almost notice

ing the funoctioning of the lachrymal glands, would
show that his tendernsss ig highly devoloped? |

A No, not bsoause it shows an intensity of
tenderness present, If wve wmake a comparison it
wae very posrly developed because he says that he -
almoat noticed the funotioning of the lachrymal \
glande, tears in his eyce, whereas moat peoples
picking up a ohild to comfort it would feel tenderly,
and 1f ths child ig distressed tears viould come

to the normal person's eyes, Thg faot that he almoit

§ \
noticedl tears in hie eyss wWould show a shallow degro»
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of tendernese.
Q And doee a¥ay with the feeling he had that he

wanted to pick up achild and comfort it because he
merely noticed and did not actually blubber oui?

A No, blubber is not menticned,

Q FNow, continuing:

"While in the jail the patient hae oleerly
been unaer oonsiderable emotional tension?®
A Yeso

Q That is emotion, isn't 4t7?
A ¥hy, bfoourse.

Q "And is rather irritableat times " -
is that like the tears or near %tears, did that 1rritabilsty

kill the emotion he was under?

A That queetion is not phrasedso that I can anawer it,
‘Q "The newspapers report that he ie a cold-
blooded scientist with no emotion znd enfirely
unconcerned, is completely wrong",.
That 1s/§gur repoxrt.
A That i2 in my report.
Q "The patient *-= roferring to Leopold --

%ordinarily is able t0 make a calm and sglfe-
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5§onseesed appearance end before reporters
and visitors seeme perfeootlyself-poszesssd
.and unconcerned, On the other hand, when
he does not fsel the need for doing this and
when he 18 talking frankly with people a=nd

ne longer posing, he showe agreat deal of

irritability and nervous tension?,
A A good dsal.
Q In other words, when he is not posing, when that
super-intellect is not in command of the gusrd and he
is telking frankly to people he has considersble

emotion? . N

A Hehas more emot ion,

Q Ien't that a fact?

A The boy has more emotion in him than he himself
acknowledges existe,and his emotione have been kept
in check so much all the time that & grgat deal of
his 1ife is non-emotional,

Q Yes, since he has béen preparing this m fanoy
mentel fefenee, he has kept his emotions more compietely
in check than he ever did before, isn*t that true?

MR, WALTER BACHRACH: I objsot to the queation, if
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the Court pleame, assuming that this is a fancy
defenve whioh is being prepared by him or by anybody.
I submit that this is a highly improper

queetion, and Hr, Crowe knows it,

¥R. CROWE: What ie the ruling?

THE COURT: Strike it out.

¥R, CROWE: Q Leopold was dolng conaiderable
posing in jail, wasan't xa= he, while you were examining

him?

A Yes and no., Leopold has so long assumed a oexrw
taln attitude towarde the world that it has becoms
a very part of him, and this shows iteelf in jalil as
well as outside, The reason he shows this pose, if
you wish to use that phrase, is bqoaulel it 18 &
magnification of hie own defects. |
Q Now, the ransom did not mean anything to Leogggj

13
A

did it?

A 1 swppose 1% meant five thousand dodlars, but
it wee not a determiniang factor in this,

Q Did the ransom of five thousand dollars mean,
snything to Leopold in oconneotion with this oxime?

He wanted to getthat five thousand dollars and was
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not thet one of the oontrolling features]

A Fo, it was not a controlling feature, it was
an afterthouvght.

Q Now, doctor, I direot your attention to your

report, page 87, this 1s the timo away back in Noveamber,
when they sre stealing the typewriter. Didn't they

tell you and didn't you record in your report
that on thie return trip from Ann Arbor the patientfs -

companion first broached the questionof kidneping

& boy and securing the ransom?
A Yee, that was meantioned.

Q Ths ransom wae talked about ag soon ag the orime

_ itself wee talked sbout, isn't that true?

A Bkt not necegsarily equally &8s I understand it «-

Q HNow, why --

MR, WALTER BACHRACH: Let hix finiseh his answer.

MR, CROWE; He can make his explanatione later,

THE WITNESS: The answer ie no, if I cannot qualify
it,

MR, OROWE: Q Now, dogtor, the orime originatea,

you 8ay, in Loeb's mind?

A Yes, he was the firet one to spask of it,
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Q On page 100 of your report, speakkng of Leopold,
don¥t you say, “"The patient suggested that they

pacure 2 girl instead of a boy and that he
rape her before he killed her. Then

askod why he suggested this, he said it

vw&8 the thing to do, and this would also
bring up his phantasy of a French girl
being attacked by German soldiers, and
hencs he would derive a great deal of
pleasuro fzom it. The patient's companion
objectdd to this ides g& 1t was discardsd,”

\ §

A Yes, I have that in my notes,

Q Th at is true, is it?

A He told me so.

Q How, this is 2 phantasy that you did not tell
ue about on Leopold's part?

AT gried t0 explain to youy befare that‘ny
examination of Leopold was not as complete as Loeb,
because my whole report went ine-

Q But you mid did tell about his phantasy about
the king and the slave?

A Yes,
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Q Why didn't you tell us about bis phantasy
absut the German doldier raping the French girl,

end that was Wiy he wanted to firct get a little
girl and rape hoxr, and then nmurder her?:
A Because I didn't have an opportunity , and. be-
cause It wage in my report,
| Q %ho stopped youtaliing sinee you have been on
the stend?
A You didg.
Q Haven'V I been asking you right along, to tell
‘the s8t0ry and give us all the details?
4 You interrupted and asked to have the zwport put in,
Q I asked you a number of times about the story of St.
Christopher, did I not, and you promised befo;o you
got through to tell ;t to me,
. A Onge, Tthink.

Q Tell it now and What effect it had upon making

"thees two men commit this murder, Tell the connsotion

with thie ocase, iI any,in your mind.
A The rtory of 8t. Christopher was told to the boy
by hie 1ittle Irksh nurse maid when he was very young.

It 18 the old story of an O'Perxo who vanted to
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find such a ong, and to be a perfeot slave to that
PeTOD: 55 he aid serve a king until the king bacame
very poworful, butwien he found the Xking was afrald
of the devil, he left the king to enter the service
of the devil, and cerved him for meny years unqueztlone
ing in many mischievious vwaya, deairing only to be the
perfect slave of thh2 most suprems master, %hen
he found the devil was afrald of Chriast, and shied from
the orucifix, then he left bhe devil'e service and
wanted %o find Christ so he could servs him. He was
directed to a 1life of service by a wonk, helping pevple,
and at one time carxried a child acxose the river, and
this turned out to bs the Christ child, whereupon
ho was given the name of 'Chriet-O0'Forxze', or Christopher,
or the Chikst carrier. That is the story, and of
all the stories of the salnts, this one probubly
had the greateet influence on the boy's life, gl ving
him & pattern, that of being a perfect slave to a
most superlior mester,

Q@ As tothe sorvaat girl who told him this etory
of 5%, Christopher, that phantasy or story did not
unbalanoca her, to the extent that shemurdered anybody,

did 1&?
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did 1t? -

Hei nOnl i ne --

A As far #8 I know, ehe didn't murder anybody.

Q Goling back to the question of ransom again, on
page 116 of your report on Loeb, in the middle of
the pagoe, did you not etate the following:

"He &% had no hatrsd toward the boy (the
Franks boy); as the hate of his firass

planned viotim disappeared, the exocltement
of the planning grew, and the money devel-
oped aez an afterthought, Nstierh he
nor his aseociate would have done it without
the meney.That extra five thousand dollars
would have been sscurity, and 'five thousand
dollars is five thousand{”,

Thatis correct, is 1t not?

A Yes,

Q Did you not also state that the z:;”mthoy
wors not going %0 XssX kill their parénts was, if
they did they oouldn't get the money?

A Yos sir,

Q Nr, Ransoa wa2g working protiy busily at that time,

was he not?

MR, WALTER BACHRACH: Objecticn.
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| Mﬁ. CROWE?® \Q The thought of ranwom wae strong
atthat time when they excluded their parents from
participating in this thrlll, because if they did
kill them they would have difficulty in getting the
money. That is what they told you, is it not?

A Yes 2ir, just that,

Q On page 118 of your report on Loeb, Quoting Loeb
directly, did you not say, "'We anticipated especially

tho money' with a facial expression of
interest,"

The words, "facial expression of interest® ars in

parenthedis and are your words ahowing that he meant
whathe saiqd,
A Yes,
Q That is emotion?
A Yes,
2 "We antioipated capeoially the money} we
thought we had it all #so oleverly vorked
out we felt certain of not being caught,
or w@ Would not have gone into it. I hud
considered the poesibllity of being caught,
and I was afraid my father, a esiok men, could

ot etand the shook; but I felt 20 certain
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"of not, Being caught that we Went on with 1t;"

That shows he was interestéd in the raneom, does it
not?

A Not the second part; tho firzat part does..

Q And tho geoond part shows that he viap ooncernaed
in his father's welfaco, and afraid if he was oaught,
it might have a bad effeot upon hia siok father;
that 1a emotion, 18 it not?

A A1l I can say iu, 4t i & vory ohildish amount of
emotion, or charsctor of emotion.

Q@ well, concern for his sick father is oympathy.
and gaction?

A It is an omotion,

Q And we do not lote our concérn for ouk parents when
we get old, beosuse that ooncexn lg a ohildish emotion,
do we?

B No., Uéually &g Ve gét older our attitude toward H
our parents beoomes more mature in certain oharaotef?l”
iotioce,

Q TYou gathered fzom what be t01d you a@ raferred to

there, that the zaxx reason they persisted in this

oriwe wae, they thought they would not be caught?
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‘84r A No, it was like this? The plenning of the orime
vas the most important thing itself, and the ransom
wae an afterthought. But ot the time they were
conteuplating the ransom, it for the moment wee the
moet important part.,

@ They fslt secure at this partioulsr part of their
oenversation when they said, P"¥es thought we had it.

all 80 @leverly worked out, and we felt

certain of not baing caught, or »e
would not have gone into it"?
The feeling of security ie whal brought thea intolt,
is 1t ao%? .
A Noe
Q@ Loeb has told you if this report is corract:
"wa folt certain of noy being caught,
or we vould not have gone into 1t",
A‘ That does not mean the security attracted them
to it, The ocleverness of planning is what atvracted

them firast, Tho senee of security permitted them to

indulge themselves in 1%,

HeinOnline -- 4 Illinois. Crimnal Court. Cook County. Trial Transcript Leopold and Loeb 2196 1924



—a161-

ebz

Q Do you think, dootor, from your conversations
with Loeb, as you have recorded them here, that if
they thought they ware sure to be caught they would
have gone ahead with this job?

A TNo, if they had been sure they would be caught,
they would not have gone ahead with it.

Q 8o they had the power %o baok oul any time they
wanted %07

A They thought they had.

Q@ Well, you thought they hed, did you not, and you
think they had?

A That is an impoasidle guesiion. It secnp %o me
as though the driving force towards this orime was 30
enorrous 8o comparad to their Judgment, thet 1t is a
watter of question whether or not they could have with~
drawn themselver Irom 1%.

Q How, reading: "He expressed remorse at being
caught. When asked if he would go through with this
crime agein if he felt certain he would not be digoovered,

"he replied, 'I believe I would if I could get the momey! ¥,
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' He was thinking of the rensom then, was he not?
 A Yes.,
Q And he was also thinking of the chances of not
being caught, was he not?
A TWhy, yes, —— 1f he should have repeated 1t, yes.
Q Now, when they were telling you the things that
you recorded as follows, on page 131, was not the
queetion of raneom an important question with them in
the commigsion of thims orime, — and I will read:
"He had proposed and with his association(thet
is Leopold) had contemplated using Dick Rubel, &
very close friend of the patient and his assooiate,
towerds whom neither the patient nor his assoclate
hed any 11l feeling or grudge, as a victim, The
patient (Loeh) stated that he enjoyed this idea
immengely, because since he was a close and trusted
friend of the family he would undoubtedly he asked
t0 be a pall bearer at the funerel, and 'This gave
me & tremendous kick.'! The plan of kidngping Rubel
was given up because Dick Rubel's father was so
tight we might not get any money from him.®

Did they have ranssm in mind then?
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' Q And the tremendous kick that he was going to
get out of thig, which you thought was the driving
force, wag not sufficlient to make him go shead and
k41l his most intimate friend, beoause he thought
hiz father was toc tight tc coume aoross with the
31.0,0007
A * He oxpleined to me that unless he could ccllect
a ransom, it would not bs a perfect oxime, and if
Mr, Rubel would no% pay the renscm monsy, that ruled
out Dick es & vistim,
Q@ Now, another thing that kept him out of this
tremendous kiock in killing Dick Rubel was not only
the fact that they did not think they could get the
noney, but they were afraid they might be apprshended,
was 1t no%? Directing your attention to page 123 —
A Yes, I as looking at it.
Q "Alwe, they fol% that since he was such & oclose
friend they might be gsupezvissd, and be expectsd
4o he around, and therefore oould not carry out
the plan suoocessfully. TFurthermore, they might
be suspectsd heozuse they were sush olose frisnds

and associated so mwh with him., Therefore, they
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would be wure %o be questichsd if Dick Rubel
dissppeasred.®

In cther words, did they not impréss you with ke faoy

thet in ploking & victim heve, firet they wanted some-

bedy thet they could get the Ten Thousand Doliars frowm,

grd second, they didn't want to be csught and suffer

the consequences of their oriwe.

4 Xo, thet iz not my understsnding. My understanding
is they wenisd %o make a perfect plam. Thet was the
Pringry ORUER.

Q Wow, were not the two slements of the perfeot Qxiggv-»,
or the three elomsnts, am you have it, the kiok, the
Tansow, and not being caughi?

A Thome were all olements, yos.

@ ¥ow, weren't they the t’hm; big slements in $his?

A T¥o. The biggess one is the having swerior kuewledge
of 3 orime whieh no one elss in the werld might have kmew-
ledgs of axespt themsslves. That was so large $% over-
shadowed the otbers, both in development ef thowght and
the amouny of thought given to 1§. The otber iwo, howsver,

are sonsidezable, the sesurity and the ransom.
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Q@ Now, in the exsmination of Naethan Leopold, Jr., on
the witness stand you testified am follcws:
"Thare 18 to be found in Nathan Lecpoid, Jr.
coneglderable pathology; he is nineteen and
seven-trelfthe yeare old." |
How much pathology is thers in his age? |
MR. W, BACHRAOH: I object to the questlon.
MR, OROWE: Q Well, is thers any?
MR. W. BAOHRACH: Just a moment. The objeotion ’éo
the quention 18, that it is silly.
MR, CROWE: Q IXe there any pathology in it7
. A The question does not permit of a yc; or no sniwer.
Q Now, I an reading your testimony?

A Yesn.

Q  You are talking about Nathen Leopold and finding
| pa.tholog:y in hin?
ﬁﬁ. DARROW: Have you got the date?
MR. OROWE: FXow, wait & nminute. I will come to that.
Q@ WTHE WITNESS: There im to be found in Nathan
Leopold, Jr. conglderable pathology; he iz Ninetesn and

Saven-twelfths years old." Is thers sny pathology in
his age?
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MR, ¥. BAOHRAOE: 1I object to that, unless he g:!._pg'
%hat follows.

THE QOURT: Oh, yes.

MR, OROWE: I am going to give 1t ail.

MR, W. BAOHRAOH: Give the first.

THE OOURT: No. He pzld he 1lives at 5431 Ellis Avsnue.
You don't coneider that? .

MR, OROWE: I Iknow, but, your Hono,r,l,hp is now talking
about pathology.

THE COURT: I know,

MR, CROWE: He is not talking about where he lived at
all,

THE CQURT: I know he didn't. He 1is giving his age,
and he has got something else following there.

MR, CROVE: Let me read it,

THE COURT: Yes, read 1%, and that vwill be all right.

R, OROWE: Q@ "In June he weigh#d 131 pounds." There
is not any pathology in that, is there?

MR. W, BAOHRACH: I object to the question of pathology
until he reads pomething.

MR. OROWE: Q "The things of ixportance brought cut
by the original physical ezaminatlon ars, first, the
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condition of his skin, he was very derk end swarthy.*
Is there any pathology in thatt

A It all depends on what would be normsl for him,
judged by him familiy. ,

Q@ Thip is vhat you are giving as pathology?

MR. V. BACHRAOH: I objeot to soungel stating that

the witnecs has given 1t a_g pathology.

M. OROWE: Vell, now, walt, I wlll read it.

MR, W. BAOHRAOH: Give the whole ansver.

ME. OROVE: Wait a minute.

Q@ THow tho question you are answering is as follows:
"Now, will you tell us t}u.t wes the physiocal and
neurological examination that you wmade, give us
that in detaid, give us 3ll of your findings as
produced and made in those kind of examinations?i"

Then you answered as follows: as I read, saying that

there iz considerable pathology, then you state: "The

' things of importance brought cut by the original

physioal examinstion are, firgt, the condition of his

skin, he is vezy dark and pmarthy." Is that pathology?
A T have anawsred that before by saying it depends

on how dsrk hig is and how swarthy hd is, coupared with

reinonline -- otherssof i his Lamily; cdt may oxmay nob b@d Loeb 2203 1924
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Vell, do you regard it as pathology?
Hig skin condition, yes.
From what you know —— what?

His okin condition, yes.

Eo B A >

Have you ocompared his color with the other members
of his family?

A I have looked at hie dbrother's.

Q@ And you think thet is — pathology is a l;gq‘gf
diecage, isn't 147

4 It upunlly is, yes.
Well, iantt 147 ¥ak Vhat is pa.tholog;y?
A sign of diseace.
A gign of dissase.

» O b O

Yos. |

Q And in Leopold's oase, the fact that he is do.rk
and pwarthy ig the sign of disease, im i1

A T d4dn's say that. He has not a healthy skin, I
have mentloned it in my report.

Q A1l right, "He has ssveral large, pigmented, flat
moles on the back, lower baock.'! Is that pathology?

A It 1e ;.pu:t of his gkin condition.

Q@ Is it pathelogy?
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A As s part of his skin condition, it is:

Q Is it 2 sign of Gipeaxs?

A Ag e part of his skin condition, it is.

Q "The akin is dry and harsh; +the hair development
is pronounced." Is that pathology?

A It is.

Q "The eyebrows are heavy and meet." Is that
pathology?

A  Ag part of his general akin conditlon, All the
parts of it are pathology. The conditlon 9, yes.

Q “The beard ig heavy." Is that a sign of pathology
or disease?

A As a par? of his general akin condition, yes.

Q Vell, ig it a sign of digease in him, to have &
hesvy beard?

A Az a part of his general skin condition, yes.

Q And in Loed it is & #ign of digease because he
only has to zsxm ghave twice a week?

A As 2 part of hip secondary sexunl chareoteristio
of immaturity, it is, yes.

Q@ It is & pretiy convenlent theory of medicine which
makee it a sign of disease to have one thing, and a sign
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10m of diseass for the other defendant not to have 1%,
ittt that true?
MR, ¥, BAOHRACGH: I object to that as highly improper,
and ap avgumenty with the witneas.
MR. CROWE: May we suspend at thim  time?
THE COURT: We will suspend until tomorrow morning
at 10:30 o'clock.

Thereupon an adjournment was here
taken until 10:30 otolock AWM.
Tuesdsy, August 13th, 193¢.
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